
PWYLLGOR CYNLLUNIO

10.00 AM - DYDD MAWRTH, 28 GORFFENNAF 2020

O BELL TRWY TEAMS

RHAID GOSOD POB FFÔN SYMUDOL AR Y MODD DISTAW AR 
GYFER PARHAD Y CYFARFOD

Rhan 1

1. Datganiadau o fuddiannau  

2. Gwneud cais am ymweliad(au) safle gan y ceisiadau a gyflwynwyd  

Adroddiad/Adroddiadau Pennaeth Cynllunio a Diogelu’r 
Cyhoedd

Adran A - Materion i'w Penderfynu

Ceisiadau Cynllunio wedi'u hargymell ar gyfer Cymeradwyaeth

3. Cais Rhif. P2020/0362 - Nant Helen a'r Tir Amgylchynol  
(Tudalennau 5 - 80)
Gwaith cloddio adferol ategol i greu 2 lwyfan tirffurf dolennog (rhan 
ohono mewn cloddiad a rhan ohono ar lethr) gydag isadeiledd 
draenio cysylltiedig ac ardaloedd wedi’u tirlunio a chreu 
cynefinoedd i greu ardal o dir hyblyg ac addasadwy y gellid ei 
ddefnyddio ar gyfer amrywiaeth o ddefnyddiau gan gynnwys 
amaethyddiaeth, cadwraeth natur, hamdden, twristiaeth a defnydd 
diwydiannol, ymchwil a datblygu/busnes (o bosib yn cynnwys 
cyfleuster profi rheilffordd, ymchwil a datblygu a storio arfaethedig). 
(Cais trawsffiniol - gweler cyfeirnod Cais CB Powys 20/0738/FUL) 
ar Dir Safle Glo Brig Nant Helen, Powys ac o'i gwmpas a Chanolfan 
Ddosbarthu Onllwyn, Castell-nedd Port Talbot.

AGENDA



4. Cais Rhif. P2020/0486 – Canol Tref Castell-nedd  (Tudalennau 81 - 
124)
Canolfan Hamdden, yn cynnwys pwll nofio, ystafell iechyd a 
champfa ynghyd â chaffi ategol, 6 uned fasnachol (defnydd A1, D1) 
yn ogystal â llyfrgell gyhoeddus ar y llawr cyntaf. Ynghyd ag iard 
wasanaeth gysylltiedig, gwelliannau i fannau cyhoeddus a thirlunio 
ar dir yn Stryd y Dŵr, Castell-nedd. 

5. Cais Rhif. P2020/0538 - Canolfan Tecniwm  (Tudalennau 125 - 
158)
Adeiladu Canolfan Dechnoleg, parcio, tirlunio a gwaith cysylltiedig 
ar dir gerllaw Canolfan Technium, Central Avenue, Parc Ynni Bae 
Baglan SA12 7AX.

6. Eitemau brys  
Unrhyw eitemau brys yn ôl disgresiwn y Cadeirydd yn unol ag 
Adran 100B(4)(b) o Ddeddf Llywodraeth Leol 1972.

S.Phillips
Prif Weithredwr

Canolfan Ddinesig
Port Talbot Dydd Mercher, 22 Gorffennaf 2020



Aelodaeth Pwyllgor: 

Cadeirydd: S.Paddison

Is-Gadeirydd: S.Pursey

Aelodau: Councillors C.J.Jones, D.Keogh, R.Mizen, 
S.Bamsey, R.Davies, S.K.Hunt, A.N.Woolcock, 
C.Williams, S.Renkes a/ac M.Protheroe

Aelod Cabinet: Councillor A.Wingrave

Gwneud cais i siarad yng nghyfarfod y Pwyllgor Cynllunio

Mae gan y cyhoedd hawl i fynd i'r cyfarfod ac annerch y pwyllgor yn unol â 
gweithdrefn gytunedig y cyngor sydd ar gael yn www.npt.gov.uk/planning.  

Os hoffech siarad yn y Pwyllgor Cynllunio ynghylch cais yr adroddwyd 
amdano i'r pwyllgor hwn, mae'n rhaid i chi:

       Gysylltu â'r Gwasanaethau Democrataidd yn ysgrifenedig, naill ai 
drwy'r post yn: Y Ganolfan Ddinesig, Port Talbot SA13 1PJ, neu'n 
ddelfrydol drwy e-bostio: democratic.services@npt.gov.uk.

       Sicrhau eich bod yn gwneud eich cais i siarad ddau ddiwrnod gwaith 
cyn dyddiad y cyfarfod fan bellaf (erbyn 2pm ar y dydd Gwener 
blaenorol os yw'r cyfarfod ar ddydd Mawrth). 

       Nodi’n glir rif yr eitem neu'r cais rydych am siarad amdani/o a 
chadarnhewch a ydych yn cefnogi'r cais neu’n ei wrthwynebu.

       Rhoi eich enw a'ch cyfeiriad (a fydd ar gael i'r cyhoedd oni bai fod 
rhesymau penodol dros gyfrinachedd).

Sylwer, dim ond un person sy’n gallu siarad ar ran pob 'categori' ar gyfer 
pob cais h.y. y gwrthwynebydd, y cefnogwr, yr ymgeisydd/asiant, y 
Cyngor Cymuned/Tref. Ceir manylion llawn yng ngweithdrefn gytunedig y 
cyngor.

Yn ogystal, os yw gwrthwynebydd yn dymuno siarad, hysbysir yr 
ymgeisydd/asiant gan y cyngor.

Os ydych yn dymuno trafod unrhyw agwedd ar siarad cyhoeddus, 
ffoniwch dîm y Gwasanaethau Democrataidd ar 01639 763313.

http://www.npt.gov.uk/planning
mailto:democratic.services@npt.gov.uk


Cyflwyno sylwadau ar geisiadau cynllunio yr adroddir amdanynt i'r 
pwyllgor

Os ydych yn dymuno cyflwyno sylwadau ar gais a gyflwynir i'r Pwyllgor 
Cynllunio hwn, sylwer bod rhaid i'r Adran Gynllunio dderbyn y rhain erbyn 
2.00pm ar y dydd Gwener cyn cyfarfod y pwyllgor fan bellaf (yn seiliedig 
ar y cyfarfod dydd Mawrth arferol). Os nad yw'r cyfarfod ar ddydd Mawrth, 
dylid eu derbyn erbyn 2.00pm ar y diwrnod gwaith olaf ond un cyn y 
Pwyllgor Cynllunio fan bellaf. 

Caiff sylwadau a dderbynnir yn unol â phrotocol y cyngor eu crynhoi a, lle 
y bo'n briodol, gwneir sylwadau arnynt ar ffurf Taflen Ddiwygio, a 
ddosberthir i aelodau'r Pwyllgor Cynllunio drwy e-bost ar y noson cyn 
cyfarfod y pwyllgor, a'i chyflwyno ar ffurf copi caled yn y cyfarfod.



   

SECTION A – MATTERS FOR DECISION 
 
Planning Applications Recommended For Approval 

 

APPLICATION NO: P2020/0362 DATE: 22/05/2020 

PROPOSAL: Construction of complementary restoration earthworks to create 
2 looped landform platforms (part in cutting and part on 
embankment) with associated drainage infrastructure and areas 
of landscaping and habitat creation to create a flexible and 
adaptable area of land that could be used for a variety of uses 
including agriculture, nature conservation, leisure, tourism and 
industrial, research and development/business uses (potentially 
including a proposed rail testing, research and development and 
storage facility). (Cross-boundary application - see Powys CC 
Application ref. 20/0738/FUL) 

LOCATION: Land at and surrounding the Nant Helen Open Cast Coal Site, 
Powys, and Onllwyn Distribution Centre, Neath Port Talbot 

APPLICANT: Mr Rob Thompson, Celtic Energy Ltd, 

TYPE: Full Plans 

WARD: Onllwyn (also affecting Seven Sisters) 

 
BACKGROUND INFORMATION 
 
This proposal relates to a significant development site within the Dulais Valley which 
straddles the Neath Port Talbot and Powys administrative border.  The site is largely 
within Powys but sections along the southern boundary are within Neath Port Talbot. 
Therefore, an identical application has been made to Powys CC, which is to be reported 
to PCC’s Planning, Taxi Licensing and Rights of Way Committee on 27th July 2020 (the 
outcome of which will be verbally reported to Members at Committee). 
 
While this report largely seeks to address only those matters which affect the land within 
the administrative boundary of Neath Port Talbot, due to the size of the development 
and the complexities associated with such a cross-boundary application, notably the 
assessment of the ‘planning balance’, the report also inevitably incorporates overarching 
assessments of impact which relate to the whole development and thus to both NPT 
and Powys (and the Brecon Beacons National Park beyond).   
 
SITE AND CONTEXT 
 
The application site comprises land at and surrounding the existing Nant Helen Open 
Cast Coal Site (OCCS), Powys, and Onllwyn Washery Distribution Centre, Neath Port 
Talbot.  The plan at Figure 1 below identifies the extent of the overall site and that area 
of land lying within NPT (to which this application relates). 
 
The application site is located approximately 1.1km east of Penrhos; 1km east of Cae’r-
bont; 100m south of Caehopkin; 750m south of Abercrave; 150m south-west of 
Coelbren; 350m north-west of Onllwyn and 450m north of Seven Sisters. The Brecon 
Beacons National Park lies to the north, the closest point being some 90m from the 

Tudalen5

Eitem yr Agenda3



   

application site.  The Nant Llech SSSI lies within the National Park at approximately 
115m to the north of the application site (Powys) boundary. 
 
 Figure 1: Site Location Plan (NPT boundary in red, Powys boundary in dotted red line) 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

The application site as a whole (i.e. PCC and NPT) covers an area of some 416 h 
ectares and forms part of the Celtic Energy Ltd landholding at the Nant Helen Opencast 
Coal Mine. A substantial area covering the western half of the application site has been 
subject to opencast coal working of the Middle Coal Measures west of the Pwllau Bach 
Fault, starting with the Abercrave/ Gwaunton site between 1963 and 1973. Opencast 
mining at the Nant Helen series of sites (south of Abercrave/Gwaunton), began in 1986 
and has moved in a westerly direction up until the present day. In the period between 
1972 and 1982 opencast mining was undertaken in the Lower Coal Measures (east of 
the Pwllau Bach Fault) at the Onllwyn site which is in the eastern half of the application 
site. 
 
Celtic Energy Ltd currently operate the Nant Helen Remainder Opencast Coal mine 
which covers the western end of the application site and further land to the west. The 
current opencast excavation void is located outside the application site, but the 
overburden storage mounds, the coal preparation plant, stocking area, offices and 
workshops are located within the application site (in Powys’s administrative area).  
 
Coal extraction operations will cease in 2021 at which point Celtic Energy Ltd will be 
required to restore the land in accordance with the approved restoration scheme. 
 
The area of NPT land covered by this application does not lie within the Nant Helen 
OCCS site. 

Tudalen6



   

 
The site has a number of designated and non-designated historic assets within or 
nearby, of which the asset of most significance in itself and due to the potential impacts, 
is ‘The Tramroad at Ystradgynlais (Claypon’s Extension) (CH001)’ which is a nationally 
important earthwork dating to the 1830s designated as a Scheduled Ancient Monument 
(SM), and located on the boundary between Powys and NPT. 
 
The southern area of the site is crossed by high voltage overhead lines with associated 
towers running roughly parallel to each other, the northern line carries Western Power 
Distribution’s (WPD) 132kV cables, the southern line carries National Grid’s (NG) 400kV 
cables.   
 
A part of the site (in Powys) also falls within the Mynydd-y-Drum Common over which 
Commoners rights are currently suspended. In addition, a number of Public Rights of 
Way cross the site but these are currently suspended due to the ongoing opencast 
coaling operation.  
 
The SUSTRANS National Cycle Route 43 Celtic Trail East follows the northern and 
western boundary of the site. Access to the site is gained from the A4221 at Coelbren, 
along a 1.2km access road which heads west before turning south towards the 
office/workshop area. There is also an internal haul road link which runs south from the 
office/workshop area before turning east towards Onllwyn Washery.  
 
DESCRIPTION OF DEVELOPMENT 
 
Although outside of the NPT administrative area, it is of note that the Nant Helen OCCS 
amended restoration scheme was approved by Powys CC on 8th June 2020 (subject to 
a Section 106 Agreement) and the purpose of this application at this time is that in 
combination they will create a flexible and adaptable landform that would be suitable for 
a variety of end uses including agriculture, nature conservation, leisure, tourism and 
industrial, research and development/business uses (potentially including a proposed 
rail testing, research and development and storage facility). It should be noted that the 
timing of this application seeks to ensure that the construction of the landform and the 
restoration of the surface mine can be undertaken in tandem as there are significant 
cost benefits to undertaking the work at the same time. 
 
Engineering Operations 
 
The proposed development (taken as a whole) includes a combination of cuttings and 
embankments, with associated drainage works, creating a loop form (inner and outer 
loop) that integrates with the restored land created following the completion of existing 
coal mining operations. The materials for the earthworks would all originate on site and 
represent a cut volume of approximately 3,255,000m³, of which 1,765,000m³ will be 
used for the construction of the embankments and the remainder will form part of the 
restoration of the Opencast Coal site. As these numbers would suggest, the majority of 
the proposed loops are in cutting but there is a significant section of embankment 
proposed along the northern section of the outer loop. Small sections of embankment 
are required in the south, east and west but their height is relatively limited (9m, 10m 
and 3m respectively). 
 

Tudalen7



   

The finished levels can be found on the following links :- 
 

 Finished Levels 1 

 Finished Levels 2 

 Finished levels 3   

 Finished Levels 4 
 
The extent of ‘cuttings’ and ‘embankments’ (fill) are shown on Figure 2 below, with 
typical sections shown at the following link: - 
 

 Track embankment and cutting typical sections 
 

 Figure 2: Cuttings and Embankments Aerial (NOTE: The ‘red line’ shown is NOT the 
application site boundary for the current application which is correctly identified on 
Figure 1 above) 

 
 
The earthworks include embankment gradients of typically 1:3 and cuttings typically 
1:2.5, with some 1:1 gradient cutting in rock. The northern embankment  (in Powys) 
extends to over 40m in height and the deepest cutting is 15-20m deep. 
 
It should be stressed that although the application site overlaps with the latest coal mine 
boundary, the restoration scheme still proposes restoration to a mix of agriculture 
(upland common and enclosed pasture), woodland/hedgerows and nature conservation 
habitats.  
 

Tudalen8

https://maps.npt.gov.uk/iDocsPublic/ShowDocument.aspx?id=677714
https://maps.npt.gov.uk/iDocsPublic/ShowDocument.aspx?id=677717
https://maps.npt.gov.uk/iDocsPublic/ShowDocument.aspx?id=677713
https://maps.npt.gov.uk/iDocsPublic/ShowDocument.aspx?id=677716
https://maps.npt.gov.uk/iDocsPublic/ShowDocument.aspx?id=677718


   

Proposed After Uses 
 
As referred to above, the engineering works would provide a flexible and adaptable 
landform which has the potential to facilitate the land as a whole being used for a variety 
of end uses including agriculture, nature conservation, leisure and tourism. 
 
It would also potentially facilitate industrial, research and development/business uses 
including a proposed rail testing, research and development and storage facility being 
promoted by Welsh Government. In this respect it is notable that the proposal seeks to 
enable and de-risk that potential development whilst at the same time provide 
opportunities for recreation, leisure, agriculture and nature conservation should such a 
proposal not come forward. 
 
Key components of such a rail facility could include an external loop for high speed 
performance endurance testing, together with a lower speed internal loop for testing rail 
equipment, and to facilitate the potential use as rail test tracks, track gradients need to 
be no steeper than 1:100 gradient, whilst the connection from the main railway line is to 
be no steeper than 1:50 and the earthworks have thus been designed with that in mind.  
 
To enable the potential for test tracks to be established on the site to the speed and 
length required, a number of options have been considered in terms of horizontal and 
vertical alignment, considering topographical variation and to avoid diverting both NR 
and WPD overhead cables.  Alignments have been identified which keep away from the 
NG overheads, traverses under the WPD overheads but avoids the towers and follow 
existing topographical features to reduce the scale of the earthworks as much as 
possible. Due to the speeds to be tested and therefore the horizontal alignment of the 
track, together with the position of the scheduled ancient monument in the south, 
avoiding this feature is not feasible. 
 
Whilst the landform created would allow for future leisure, tourism and industrial 
opportunities, which could include industrial uses such as a proposed rail testing, 
research and development and storage facility, these are not proposed in this 
application and would be subject to separate planning applications in the future. In this 
respect, the creation of the proposed landform while facilitating the necessary landform 
for such a proposal, in no way prejudges planning applications which may be submitted 
for future uses which would have to be considered on their merits. The proposed 
landform has to be considered on its merits. 
 
Notwithstanding the potential rail use, the proposed earthworks would thus provide a 
comprehensive, flexible and adaptable landform across the entire site that could support 
a wide range of future uses including agriculture, woodland and nature conservation 
and/or amenity, leisure, tourism and employment. The proposed earthworks would also 
provide a landform that is compatible with various leisure opportunities, such as 
mountain biking, walking and other outdoor pursuits complementing the site's location 
close to 'waterfall country' and the wider Brecon Beacons National Park. 
 
Ultimately, Celtic Energy's intention is for the proposed earthworks to provide a flexible 
landform that maximises options for the beneficial reuse of land associated with Nant 
Helen Surface Mine, whilst ensuring not to preclude appropriate future uses that are yet 
to fully emerge with any degree of certainty. In this respect it is important to note that 

Tudalen9



   

the restoration of the surface mine is time-bound and the applicant wishes to carry out 
the earthworks at the same time as restoration in order to minimise cost and disturbance. 
The intention is also to enable and de-risk the rail proposal but in the knowledge that if 
that proposal does not materialise the landform will facilitate other forms of development.  
However, at this juncture the Authority is specifically being asked to consider only the 
acceptability of a flexible and adaptable landform which integrates with the approved 
surface mine restoration scheme. 
 
Timescales 
 
With the exception of the Northern Embankment (located in Powys), works are proposed 
to be carried out between 0600 and 2200 hours Monday to Friday, and 0700 to 1300 on 
Saturday with no working on Sundays (which is the existing site operation times for the 
opencast mine). Due to the closer proximity of the northern embankment to residential 
receptors (in PCC), works on this area would be restricted to between the hours of 07:00 
and 18:00 (weekdays) and between 08:00 and 13:00 hours on Saturday. 
 
On the assumption that the Complementary Restoration Earthworks would take place 
at the same time as the works needed to return some of the overburden back into the 
void on the site (part of the restoration requirements includes the reduction in height of 
the overburden mound that currently exists to the east of the existing void), together with 
the required site preparation works (ecological, archaeological and drainage works), this 
would result in a combined works programme of 73 weeks (approx. 18 Months) with 
approximately 300-600 on-site vehicle movements a day (internal movements).   
 
Common Land / Rights of Way 
 
A part of the site also falls within the Mynydd-y-Drum Common over which Commoners’ 
rights are currently suspended. In addition, a number of Public Rights of Way cross the 
site but these are currently suspended due to the ongoing opencast coaling operation. 
It is intended to restore the common land (a separate legal process will need to be 
undertaken to seek common land consent for these works) and to reinstate the Public 
Rights of Way (with possible diversions where appropriate).   
 
SUPPORTING INFORMATION 
 
The application has been identified as an EIA application as defined by the Town and 
Country Planning (Environmental Impact Assessment) (Wales) Regulations 2017, (‘the 
EIA Regulations’) and an Environmental Statement (ES) has been provided. The EIA 
process aims to ensure that any significant effects arising from a development are 
systematically identified, assessed and presented to help local planning authorities in 
determining planning applications. If measures are required to minimise or reduce 
effects then these are clearly identified. 
 
The submitted Environmental Statement (comprising non-technical summary, main text 
and technical appendices) has identified ‘the baseline conditions’, and assessed the 
potential effects of the development, in relation to: 
 

o Socio-Economic 
o Water Environment 

Tudalen10

https://www.legislation.gov.uk/wsi/2017/567/contents/made
https://www.legislation.gov.uk/wsi/2017/567/contents/made


   

o Ground Conditions 
o Biodiversity 
o Cultural Heritage 
o Landscape and Visual Impact 
o Noise and Vibration 
o Cumulative effects 

 
The ES and all other supporting information is available to view on the Council’s Online 
register. The assessment below has had regard to all environmental information 
submitted within the ES along with the comments of statutory consultees on the 
information supplied, and the comments, observations and representations provided by 
members of the public have been taken into consideration in the recommendation.  
 
NEGOTIATIONS 
 
Discussions in respect of the site in connection with this earthworks application and 
potential subsequent application for a rail testing facility have been ongoing for some 
time with Celtic as landowner, and as part of a Joint venture between NPT, Powys CC 
and Welsh Government. 
 
As part of these discussions, a decision was made by the landowner to submit this 
planning application in advance to create the necessary platform which, subject to 
planning permission, would undoubtedly add significantly to the ‘business case’ for 
bringing forward the rail testing facility at the site. 
 
PLANNING HISTORY 
 
The Nant Helen OCCS has a detailed planning history, primarily (but not wholly) relating 
to land in the Powys administrative boundary, dating back to 1996, including (but not 
limited to) the following: - 
 

 N1996/0112 
(NPT) 

Extract coal by open cast methods incl. Washing of coal 
bearing material (access only in Neath b.cl. Area). Approved 
01.01.1997 

 P2001/0405 
(NPT) 

Vary condition 1 of previous planning application P96/0112 
- to extend the period in which the development is begun 
until 31st July 2003 

 P/2011/0217 
(PCC) 

Western extension to Nant Helen surface mine for the 
purposes of coal extraction along with completion of coaling 
at existing site and associated ancillary development 
including restoration and subsequent aftercare of the full 
development site - Planning Permission Granted subject to 
S106 Agreement – 9th March 2012 

 PP 106-98-
005/PP 106-12-
001 (PCC) 

Nant Helen Extension – Planning permission Granted at 
Appeal – 21st July 1998 

Tudalen11

http://appsportal.npt.gov.uk/ords/idocs12/f?p=Planning:2:0::NO::P2_REFERENCE:P2020/0362
http://appsportal.npt.gov.uk/ords/idocs12/f?p=Planning:2:0::NO::P2_REFERENCE:P2020/0362


   

 18/1070/REM 
(PCC) 

Section 73 application to vary condition 2 of P/2011/0217 to 
allow an extension to time to allow extraction of all the coal 
and completion of restoration.  
 
PCC resolved to grant subject to section 106 agreement 
(outstanding) 

 19/1899/REM 
(PCC) 

Variation of condition 45 of planning approval 18/1070/REM 
to allow for a revised restoration scheme. 
Planning Permission Granted subject to a Section 106 
Agreement – 8th June 2020 

 
In addition, a Scoping Opinion for the proposed Global Centre of Rail Excellence 
(GCRE) was issued in November 2019 (NPT ref. P2019/5455 ; Powys CC App. 
No:19/1619/SC). 
 
CONSULTATIONS 
 
Neath Port Talbot Internal Consultees 
 
Environmental Health (Air Quality) - Notes that the EIA has scoped out air quality for 
the following reasons:  
 

The nearest sensitive receptors are located approximately 500m away from 
proposed dust generating activities. In human health terms, background annual 
PM10 concentrations are low (9-10ug/m3). There is a very low risk that air quality 
objectives will be exceeded by the proposed activities provided that good practice 
measures are followed. An assessment of mineral dust impacts on human health 
receptors is screened out.  
 
The mineral type at the proposed site is soft rock according to the British 
Geological Survey. Due to the nearest sensitive receptors being more than 500m 
away from the proposed dust generating activities and the low background 
annual PM10 concentration it is considered that, in accordance to the IAQM 
mineral dust guidance (IAQM 2016, Guidance on the Assessment of Mineral Dust 
Impacts for Planning), a detailed dis-amenity dust impact assessment is not 
required.” 

 
Based on previous knowledge of receiving complaints from Heol y Felin when the Nant 
Helen mounds were being formed (shifting of overburden) raises no objection but 
recommends that opencast style bowsers be used to minimise dust emissions in the 
same manner has been the case at Celtic Energy’s opencast sites (such matters to be 
addressed through the CEMP) 
 
Environmental Health (Land Contamination)   - After reviewing the Environmental 
Statement and in particular Chapter 6 Ground Conditions and its associated appendix 
(Land at Nant Helen and Onllwyn Coal Washery Geotechnical and Geoenvironmental 
Desk Study). Noting that the proposal may relate to a proposed Global Rail Centre of 
Excellence, nevertheless emphasis that the site could be used as public amenity land 
which from a land contamination point of view would be considered much more 

Tudalen12

http://appsportal.npt.gov.uk/ords/idocs12/f?p=Planning:2:0::NO::P2_REFERENCE:P2019/5455
https://pa.powys.gov.uk/online-applications/applicationDetails.do?keyVal=PYQUSMMP00700&activeTab=summary


   

sensitive. This would then need a desk study with a conceptual site model based on the 
most sensitive potential end use. Accordingly raises no objections subject to imposition 
of contaminated land conditions due to the need for contaminated land reports based 
on the specific end use. 
 
In addition, while the application indicates that all backfilling will take place with site won 
material, recommends a condition preventing the importation of material unless it is 
approved in writing first so that we could ensure that it is chemically suitable for whatever 
the end use would be.  
 
Environmental Health (Noise) -  raises no objections subject to a robust Construction 
Environmental Management Plan (CEMP). 
 
Countryside & Wildlife (Ecology) -  A combined response has been issued on behalf 
of the NPT and Powys Ecologists, which is summarised as follows: - 
 
The ES identifies that a full suite of ecology surveys have been undertaken for the site 
and surrounding vicinity over the 2018 and 2019 survey seasons and the assessment 
of the findings and impacts has been undertaken following current recognised guidelines 
with surveys being undertaken at the optimal time of the year with the effort employed 
appropriate for the nature and scale of the site affected by the proposed development. 
 
In addition to the surveys identified above consideration was given to the potential for 
the proposed development to result in negative impacts – directly or indirectly – to 
statutory designated sites in accordance with Regulation 63 of the Conservation of 
Habitats and Species Regulations 2017 (as amended) including European Sites: -
Coedydd Nedd a Mellte SAC – with two compartments approximately 4.2km and 6.7km 
east of the proposed development site; Cwm Cadlan SAC – 9.5km east of the proposed 
development site; and Blaen Cynon SAC – 6 compartments, with the closest being 
approximately 10.4km east of the proposed development site. 
 
Having reviewed the report and associated information they are satisfied with the 
approach and scope of the HRA Screening Assessment and agree with the conclusion 
that there would be no likely significant effect to the SACs and their associated features 
either alone or in combination with other plans or projects and that no further 
assessment under the Conservation of Habitats and Species Regulations 2017 (as 
amended) would be required. 
 
It is noted that NRW have identified in their response dated 18th June 2020 that subject 
to the outlined pollution prevention measures being implemented the proposed 
development would not be likely to damage the features for which the Nant Llech SSSI 
is designated and have recommended that a pre-commencement condition requiring 
the submission of a detailed Construction Environmental Management Plan is included. 
We agree with this recommendation and consider that this requirement is necessary in 
order to ensure the development complies with the requirements of PCC LDP Policy 
DM2 and NPTC LDP Policies EN6 and EN7. 
 
The conclusions regarding the lack of potential for impacts to the other SSSIs identified 
within 15km of the proposal is considered to be acceptable.  They are also content that 
the conclusion of no negative impacts to locally designated SINCs is appropriate. 

Tudalen13



   

 
Having reviewed the evidence and assessment provided with regards to the area 
identified as PAWS Ancient Woodland habitat on the Ancient Woodland Inventory we 
are satisfied that the habitat present does not actually meet the requirements which 
would qualify it as ancient woodland habitat and therefore would not require the level of 
protection afforded to habitats of this type under National and Local Planning Policies 
and is instead dealt with in terms of general woodland habitat loss. It is also 
recommended that the Applicant approaches NRW with the supporting evidence 
submitted with this application to request that the area identified as PAWS is removed 
from the Ancient Woodland Inventory to avoid future confusion. 
  
The ES identifies that the construction and associated site clearance with regards to the 
proposed development will result in the loss of existing habitat within the site boundary 
including habitats of conservation significance. Table 7.13 of the ES identifies the extent 
of habitat loss as a result of baseline and restored site which totals 87.6 Ha as well as 
extent of habitats to be created (of greater value) and habitats to be enhanced which 
totals 226.12 Ha. With the exception of semi-improved acid grassland the extent of 
habitats of note present on the site which will be lost as a result of the proposed 
development have been identified as being re-created/enhanced over an area which 
exceeds the area that would be lost.  
 
The ES identifies that the long term maintenance and monitoring of newly established 
habitat and other habitats which will be retained and protected will be detailed within an 
Ecological Management and Monitoring Plan (EMMP),  and it is therefore recommended 
that a condition to secure the submission of a detailed EMMP building on the principles 
outlined in Section 7.20 of the ES for approval by the LPA is included to ensure 
compliance with Powys LDP Policy DM2 and NPTC LDP Policies EN6 and EN7– it is 
recommended that the condition states that the EMMP covers a period of 25 years. 
  
The assessment and identified mitigation for target species are considered to be 
appropriate, and it is noted that there is a need for an Invasive Non-Native Species 
Management Plan to ensure control and prevention of spreading of INNS during and 
post construction. No objections subject to submission of detailed versions of the 
EMMP, CEMP, INNSMP and EPP through pre-commencement planning conditions – it 
is recommended that the EMMP covers a period of 25 years. 
 
Given the proposed development description identifies that the resulting development 
could be used for a variety of uses including agriculture, nature conservation, leisure, 
tourism and industrial, research and development/business uses (potentially including a 
proposed rail testing, research and development and storage facility) the EMMP should 
pay particular attention to the risk of ‘double handling’ in relation to any future 
development proposed. 
  
In conclusion, having reviewed the information and associated assessments submitted 
to support the application it is considered that the proposed development would not 
result in the loss of biodiversity in the long term subject to implementation of the 
proposed mitigation and enhancement measures through detailed pre-commencement 
conditions. 
 
 

Tudalen14



   

Head of Engineering & Transport (Highways) advises as follows: - 
 
This application is supported by an Environmental Statement (ES). Table 2.2 of the E.S. 
makes clear that the transport considerations in relation to the project have been 
“scoped out” as the proposals will not require materials to be either imported in or 
exported from the site and as such, the vehicular impacts on the surrounding highway 
network are considered to be minimal. The ES does not however, consider or quantify 
the level of plant and operatives that will be required to undertake the works and it does 
not clarify where such movements will occur. Further detail/clarification on this matter is 
requested. 
 
Have subsequently confirmed that if all traffic is to remain within the site and there is no 
increase in traffic to and from the publically maintained highway then they have no 
objection and do not need a condition. 
 
Head of Engineering & Transport (Drainage) advises that SuDs Approval Body (SAB) 
approval will be required prior to any work commencing.  
 
Public Rights of Way - Note that NPT has a bridleway (BR26 Dulais Higher) that travels 
along the old tramway that’s also a listed structure.  This bridleway is also registered on 
the Powys Definitive Map so it’s on 2 Definitive maps which is very unusual. We also 
have 1 footpath that is within the site boundary (FP15 Dulais Higher) although this can 
be accommodated quite easily if its affected at all. 
 
Powys will need to divert their path network and should Bridleway 26 also require 
diverting they can also deal with this as it’s theirs as well as ours, which could also 
include our footpath 15 should that need realigning.  The diversion order should be 
confirmed before works affecting footpaths.  
 
Given the cross-boundary issues, the following response from the PCC Countryside 
Access & Recreation Officer is also noted:  
 

The developer has identified that a number of public rights of way cross the site and 
will be affected by the proposed earthworks, being footpaths 40, 19, 90, 49, 7, 11 
and 17 and bridleway 45. 
 
Most of these paths are currently suspended via an Order under the Opencast Coal 
Order. During construction, an additional temporary closure of parts of bridleway 45 
and footpath 19 will be required, to ensure public safety. The public rights of way 
that are suspended under the Opencast Coal Order are to be reinstated as part of 
the revised restoration scheme for  the Nant Helen opencast coal site. As the 
applicant has identified, the earthworks will impact on the reinstated routes of the 
paths, due to the gradient of the slopes of the earthwork. Legal diversions will be 
required to allow for the earthworks to be constructed. 
 
Planning permission does not, in itself, grant permission for the diversion of a public 
right of way; a separate legal process must be followed, which requires the making 
and confirmation of a public path Order. As noted in the Environmental Statement, 
the options for diverting these paths are under consideration and will be subject of 
a pubic consultation exercise. The proposed earthwork must not be constructed 

Tudalen15



   

over the existing lines of the paths, until such time as the legal diversion process is 
complete as it is an offence to develop over the line of a public right of way. 
 
In addition, the proposed earthworks will affect registered commons BCL78 
(Mynydd-y-Drum) and BCL136 (Land near Abercrave Station.) There are grazing 
rights recorded in the Register of Common Land as being exercisable over BCL78 
(Mynydd-y-Drum) common; no grazing rights are registered over BCLI36 (Land near 
Abercrave Station.) 
 
Both commons benefit from a right of access on foot for recreation, under the 
Countryside and Rights of Way Act 2000, although the Nant Helen opencast coal 
site area is excepted from that right of access. 
 
Common land does benefit from a high degree of legal protection. Under section 38 
of the Commons Act 2006, it is unlawful for 'restricted works' to take place on 
common land without prior consent. Construction of the earthworks and associated 
drainage is likely to constitute restricted works: a separate legal process will need 
to be undertaken to seek common land consent for these works. 

 
External Consultees 
 
Natural Resources Wales advise that they have reviewed the information submitted 
including the following documents: 
 

 Nant Helen Complementary Restoration Earthworks  Environmental 
Statement. Arup, April 2020 - in particular Chapters 5 and 6, 7, 9 and 11 with 
associated appendices and figures. 

 Nant Helen Complementary Restoration Earthworks - Planning Statement - 
Arup, April 2020. 

 Nant Helen Complementary Restoration Earthworks - Drainage Strategy - 
Arup, April 2020. 

 Planning drawings CG1020 to CG1023 P01, Proposed Finished Levels - 
Arup, 06/12/2019 

 Planning drawing CG1024 P01, Proposed track embankment and cuttings 
cross section - Arup, 06/12/2019 

 
They advise that they continue to have significant concerns with the proposed 
development as submitted; have provided landscape impact advice which will be 
material to consideration of the application; and recommend that we should only grant 
planning permission if we attach a condition requiring a Construction Environmental 
Management Plan (CEMP) and include the following document within the conditions 
identifying approved plans and documents on the decision notice: 
 

 Arup, 4th May 2020, Environment Statement 

 Arup, 29th April 2020, Appendix 3B, Outline Construction Environmental 
Management Plan. 
 
 
 

Tudalen16



   

Welsh Government Department for Economy and Infrastructure raise no objection 
but in order to ensure that there are no significant impacts to the trunk road network 
during the construction phase, directs that the following condition is applied to any 
consent: 
 

Prior to development a Construction Traffic Management Plan (TMP) shall be 
submitted to and approved by the Local Planning Authority in consultation with 
Welsh Government (Transport), as highway authority for the Trunk Road Network 
(TRN) in Wales. The TMP shall detail the proposals for the movement of the 300-
600 identified construction traffic trips to site with regard to proposed delivery 
routes and timing on the network. 

 
NOTE: Following clarification from the applicants that the 300-600 traffic movements 
referred to are on-site traffic movements, they have advised that they have no significant 
concerns on the trunk road network and their request for a directed condition is 
withdrawn.  
 
Powys County Council No observations received as the impacts are being 
considered in detail under the identical application made to that authority. 
 
Brecon Beacons National Park Authority (BBNPA) notes (in summary – see their 
detailed Decision Letter) that the site measures 416 hectares and is circa 100m from 
the Brecon Beacons National Park Authority (NPA) boundary at its closest point.  
 
BBNPA identify (that Section 63 of the Environment Act (1995) sets out the statutory 
purposes of the National Park as follows: - 
 

 To conserve and enhance the natural beauty, wildlife and cultural heritage of 
the National Park; and 

 To promote opportunities for the public understanding and enjoyment of the 
special qualities of the National Park 

 
In accordance with section 62(2) of the Environment, any relevant Authority shall have 
regard to National Park purposes when performing any functions in relation to, or so as 
to affect, land in a National Park. The Special Qualities of the National Park may be 
significantly impacted by development proposals on the fringes of the National Park. 
PPW states that "planning authorities have a statutory duty to have regard to National 
Parks and AONB purposes. 
 
The submitted Environmental Statement (ES) includes a Landscape Visual Impact 
Assessment (LVIA) which concludes that there will be significant adverse visual impacts 
during construction on 14 viewpoints (out of 18), 5 of which are noted to be recreational 
receptors within the National Park.  On completion of the works (year 1), significant 
adverse visual effects are noted on 8 viewpoints (out of 18), 3 of which are noted to be 
recreational receptors within the National Park. 
 
Given that significant adverse visual effects on the National Park are outlined in the ES 
from the north (areas within Powys County) the NPA has significant concerns with the 
impact the proposal will have on the special qualities of the National Park from this 
direction — namely the National Park's 'sweeping grandeur and outstanding natural 

Tudalen17

https://maps.npt.gov.uk/iDocsPublic/ShowDocument.aspx?id=684278


   

beauty' and 'working, living "patchwork" of contrasting patterns, colours, and textures' 
special qualities. These impacts around the northern areas may be significant for a 
considerable length of time, in advance of any landscape mitigation establishing.  
 
Whilst it is up to the decision-maker regarding how the requirement on planning 
authorities to give regard to the purposes of the National Park and the National Park's 
identified special qualities are taken into account in determining this cross-boundary 
planning application, it is recommended that the decision-maker requests further 
information from the applicant to understand the visual impacts upon the National Park 
(from the north which is most relevant for Powys County Council's decision) and that a 
detailed and an effective landscape mitigation strategy is provided as part of this 
planning application. 
 
The Coal Authority has reviewed the proposals and confirm that the application site 
falls within the defined Development High Risk Area. The Coal Authority records indicate 
the presence of recorded shallow coal mining; coal seams of workable thickness that 
may have been historically worked at shallow depth by illicit means, 73no. recorded 
mine entries (shafts and adits) and the site is within the boundary of a site from which 
coal has been removed by surface mining (opencast) methods. 
 
The Coal Authority considers that an in-depth assessment of coal mining legacy has 
been undertaken by the applicant's technical consultants: ARUP. Therefore as per their 
recommendations, the exact ground conditions should be confirmed in order to inform 
the extent of remedial / mitigatory measures required to ensure that the development 
platforms are suitable for the development proposed and will be safe and stable for each 
respective land use (Planning Policy Wales paras 6.9.23 — 27).  
 
The Coal Authority has no objections to this proposal subject to the LPA imposing a 
suitably worded condition to secure the site investigations as recommended by ARUP 
— Section 15.3 of Appendix 6A: Environmental Statement, May 2020). 
 
Dwr Cymru Welsh Water notes that the proposed development site lies adjacent to a 
strategic asset in the form of a 500mm trunk watermain located to the west and north, 
along with various other public sewer and watermain assets. In this instance whilst it 
does not appear any part of the site lies within the protection zone of the 500mm 
watermain, measured 6 metres either side of the centreline, the site is located within the 
boundary of the permission granted for the wider restoration scheme of Nant Helen 
Surface Mine (Ref: 19/1899/REM) and in this respect we remind of the requirements of 
conditions 23 – 30, relating to water management, alongside conditions relating to 
blasting and vibration (15 – 19).  Therefore offer no objection in principle subject to 
inclusion of Condition and Advisory Notes to ensure no detriment to existing residents 
or the environment and to Dwr Cymru Welsh Water's assets. 
 
CADW notes that the Environmental Statement (ES) has identified that the proposed 
development will have a minor, but not significant, impact on the setting of scheduled 
monument Bryn Llechwen Ring Cairn (reference BR327) and whilst there may be 
temporary impacts on the settings of the other scheduled monuments these will cease 
once the development is completed.   
 

Tudalen18



   

The ES also explains that there will be a direct and permanent, major adverse impact 
on the scheduled Tramroad at Ystradgynlais (GM399). This adverse impact will be 
significant and is contrary to national planning policy contained in section 6.1.24 of 
Planning Policy Wales 2018.  Therefore, your authority will need to weigh this direct 
significantly adverse impact against the economic and other benefits. It is for the local 
planning authority to weigh our assessment against all the other material considerations 
in determining whether to approve planning permission.  
 
Glamorgan Gwent Archaeological Trust (GGAT) –  State that the ES work was 
undertaken to an agreed methodology, stated in the Written Scheme of Investigation 
(November 2019), and meets the current professional standards.  The proposal will 
require historic environment mitigation. 
 
In assessing the information concerning the historic environment, historic assets of both 
designated and non-designated status were identified. The Scheduled Monument of the 
Tramroad at Ystradgynlais (Cadw reference GM399) will be directly affected by 
elements of the proposal with a significant adverse effect, and as noted within the 
document, Scheduled Monument Consent must be obtained from Cadw prior to any 
development works to the Scheduled Monument, and we understand that the SMC 
application is in process. Should SMC be granted then any subsequent archaeological 
mitigation should be undertaken to an agreed methodology within a written scheme. 
 
Non-designated historic assets within the development boundary that will be affected 
are listed in the assessment and ES chapter, and detailed in the mitigation section 8.10 
and the tables 8.2a&b, and 8.4. This details that areas named would be subject to an 
archaeological strip, map and record, with a watching brief on Areas B and C (i.e. those 
unaffected by the modern mining operations). For those features which fall within 
GGAT’s area and remit, we concur with the proposed mitigation and recommendations 
and recommend that the programme of archaeological work as mitigation should be 
undertaken to an agreed methodology within a written scheme, to be submitted to us as 
the archaeological advisors to Neath Port Talbot. This is following the Welsh 
Government Legislation and Policy. We therefore recommend a condition to be attached 
to any consent granted, recommending the submission of the written scheme and the 
programme of work to be implemented. 
 
This will ensure detailed contingency arrangements, including the provision of sufficient 
time and resources to ensure that any archaeological features or finds that are located 
are properly investigated and recorded; it should include provision for any sampling that 
may prove necessary, post-excavation recording and assessment and reporting and 
possible publication of the results. 
 
REPRESENTATIONS 
 
190 individual letters of notification were sent out to properties in and around Onllwyn / 
Seven Sisters on 22nd May 2020.  In addition, numerous site notices were displayed in 
prominent locations in Onllwyn and Seven Sisters on 22nd May 2020 (as well as the 
associated publicity undertaken by Powys CC on their application).   
 
The application was also advertised in the Evening Post on 27th May 2020 as an EIA 
development, affecting Public Rights of Way. 

Tudalen19



   

 
In response, to date one representation has been received by NPT, albeit that letter has 
been submitted by a resident who appears to be from Powys (and focussing on that 
area).  Nevertheless as it has quoted this NPT application the issues raised are 
summarised as follows: - 
 

 Serious concerns regarding the lack of transparency for community consultation. 

 There has been limited notification to a few select households by post I have 
since heard and no opportunity for other residents of the ward to link in with their 
local community and county borough councillors to request socially distanced 
opportunities to discuss and consider any proposals;  whether furloughed or 
working flat out throughout, covid measures has not allowed communities to meet 
as freely as needed to process complex proposals that are likely to have 2 to 3 
decades of effect on our local community and quality of lives. 

 There has not been the opportunity for a site visit by local community councillors 
with key people, experts and full community engagement. 

 The current proposal seems pre-empt WAG’s plans for GCRE but there are grave 
concerns re the size of the proposed embankment directly above Caehopkin and 
Brooklands Terrace re continued sloping and in the event of any future spillage 
due to construction failure and the proposed embankment sitting on top of historic 
coal mining activity which could add to any potential instability. 

 Further the ‘lagoons’ pose further threat to instability of these embankments in 
the event of any leakage and water entering the embankment structure. The 
proposal to open old waterways, which were made redundant during the first 
phase of restoration, increases the possibility of flooding in the village and 
surrounding areas; Caehopkin already suffers from excessive run-off water and 
there does not seem to be a permanent commitment to the maintenance of these 
waterways. 

 Common land should be re-instated to its original state, as per contractual 
agreement when consent for open cast mining and coal washing was originally 
given, as it is questionable whether the local community would wish to embrace 
the WAG final proposal when it becomes fully aware of the actual impact that the 
currently proposed site preparations are pre-empting. 

  
PRE-APPLICATION CONSULTATION (PAC) 
 
As a ‘major’ development, the applicant undertook formal public consultation in 
accordance with the requirements of the Planning (Wales) Act 2015 and the Town and 
Country Planning (Development Management Procedure) Order 2012 (as amended), 
such period running from 18th February to 16th March 2020 (extended to 25th March in 
response to a request by one of the statutory consultees). 
 
The consultation was extensive and involved information being sent out to:  
 

 182 community consultees, including 142 local ward members and chief officers 
of both Powys County Council and Neath Port Talbot County Borough Council 
and 40 community councillors at Onllwyn Community Council, Ystradynlais Town 
Council, Tawe Uchaf Community Council and Severn Sisters Community Council 

 Eight local stakeholders including two MPs, two AMs and other local stakeholder 
groups 

Tudalen20



   

 Two landowners 

 902 residents; 

 25 businesses neighbouring the site; and 

 All relevant Statutory Consultees 
 
The applicant has provided the required Pre-Application Consultation Report (PAC) 
setting out who was consulted; how they were consulted; how they were informed about 
the consultation; the feedback received and how comments have been responded to or 
taken into account in the final application. 
 
REPORT 
 
National Policy 
 
The Well-being of Future Generations (Wales) Act 2015 (WFG) imposes a duty on public 
bodies to carry out ‘sustainable development’ in accordance with the ‘sustainable 
development principle’.  
 
“Sustainable development” means the process of improving the economic, social, 
environmental and cultural well-being of Wales by taking action, in accordance with the 
sustainable development principle, aimed at achieving the well-being goals. 
 
‘Sustainable development principle’ means that Local Authorities must act in a manner 
which seeks to ensure that the needs of the present are met without compromising the 
ability of future generations to meet their own needs. 
 
In order to achieve this principle the Act introduces five ways of working to support 
decision making which ensures public bodies take account of:  
 

a. Long-term thinking – balancing the need to take action to address current issues 
with the need to the meet long term needs of Wales.  

b. An integrated approach – considering how a body’s objectives may impact upon 
the social, economic, environmental and cultural well-being and considering how 
an individual body’s objectives impact upon other public bodies’ objectives. 

c. Engagement – involving the people and communities with an interest in the 
wellbeing objectives, engaging them in finding sustainable solutions.  

d. Collaboration – acting collaboratively with other bodies, or different parts of a 
body acting together in a co-productive way, to assist in the achievement of the 
body’s objectives. 

e.  Preventative action – deploying resources to undertake action now in order to 
prevent problems occurring or getting worse.   

 
Well-being goals identified in the Act are:  
 

 A prosperous Wales  

 A resilient Wales 

 A healthier Wales  

 A more equal Wales 

 A Wales of cohesive communities  

Tudalen21

https://maps.npt.gov.uk/iDocsPublic/ShowDocument.aspx?id=677723


   

 A Wales of vibrant culture and thriving Welsh language 

 A globally responsible Wales 
 
The Environment (Wales) Act 2016 has been designed to complement the WFG Act. It 
imposes a duty to require all public authorities, when carrying out their functions in 
Wales, to seek to “maintain and enhance biodiversity” where it is within the proper 
exercise of their functions. In doing so, public authorities must also seek to “promote the 
resilience of ecosystems”.  
 
Section 38 (6) of the Planning and Compulsory Purchase Act 2004, requires that, if 
regard is to be had to the development plan for the purpose of any determination to be 
made under the Planning Acts, the determination must be made in accordance with the 
plan unless material considerations indicate otherwise.  
 
Building Better Places: The Planning System Delivering Resilient and Brighter Futures.  
 
On 16th July 2020 the Welsh Government published Building Better Places: The 
Planning System Delivering Resilient and Brighter Futures which provides planning 
policy guidance for local planning authorities and the development industry on priorities 
for the planning system to deliver post Covid-19. 
 
The guidance is to be read in conjunction with PPW, which contains the principles and 
policies needed for Wales to recover from Covid-19 in a positive manner, putting 
placemaking at the heart of future development.  
 
It also empathises the importance of planning (and Planners) in the implementation of 
policies to aid in the recovery period, identifying opportunities, and bringing people 
together, thinking systemically and working strategically to shape the vision for better 
places and lead positive change. 
 
The guidance includes a WG a commitment to follow through on infrastructure 
obligations which will go a long way in ensuring that the developments envisioned are 
delivered and the wider public benefits are maximised. 
 
It also emphasises that development management decisions should focus on creating 
healthy, thriving active places with a focus on a positive, sustainable future for our 
communities.  The planning system has an important role in supporting healthier 
lifestyles and reducing inequalities. This includes both direct and indirect opportunities 
such as the allocation of land for health facilities, ensuring good design and barrier free 
development, jobs and skills, improving air quality, soundscapes and protecting and 
improving access to recreation and natural green spaces. These can provide both 
physical and mental health benefits, improve well-being and help to reduce inequality. 
 
WG will thus play its role in supporting the vibrancy of places and helping this people-
focussed and placemaking-led recovery. 
 
National Planning Policy Context 
 
Members’ attention is drawn to the following relevant national and local planning policies 
together with supplementary guidance. 

Tudalen22

https://gov.wales/planning-policy-covid-19-recovery
https://gov.wales/planning-policy-covid-19-recovery


   

 
Planning Policy Wales (Edition 10) 
 
PPW is supported by a series of more detailed Technical Advice Notes (TANs), of which 
the following are of relevance: - 
 

 TAN 5 Nature Conservation and Planning (2009) 

 TAN 11  Noise (1997) 

 TAN 12  Design (2016) 

 TAN 13  Tourism (1997) 

 TAN 15  Development and Flood Risk (2004) 

 TAN 16 – Sport, Recreation and Open Space (2009) 

 TAN 18  Transport (2007) 

 TAN 20  Planning and the Welsh Language (2017) 

 TAN 23  Economic Development (2014) 

 TAN 24  The Historic Environment (2017) 
 
Local Planning Policy Context 
 
Neath Port Talbot Local Development Plan 
 
The Development Plan for the NPT area comprises the Neath Port Talbot Local 
Development Plan which was adopted in January 2016, and within which the following 
policies are of relevance: 
 
Strategic Policies: 
 

 Policy SP1  Climate Change 

 Policy SP2  Health  

 Policy SP3  Sustainable communities 

 Policy SP4 Infrastructure 

 Policy SP6  Development in the Valleys Strategy Area 

 Policy SP11  Employment Growth 

 Policy SP14  The Countryside and the Undeveloped Coast 

 Policy SP15 Biodiversity and Geodiversity 

 Policy SP16  Environmental Protection 

 Policy SP20 Transport Network 

 Policy SP21  Built Environment and Historic Heritage 

 Policy SP22  Welsh Language 
 
Detailed Policies: 
 

 Policy SC1 Settlement limits 

 Policy I1  Infrastructure Requirements 

 Policy EC5  Employment Uses in the Valleys  

 Policy TO4  Walking and Cycling Routes 

 Policy EN2  Special Landscape Areas  

 Policy EN6 Important Biodiversity and Geodiversity Sites  

Tudalen23

https://gov.wales/sites/default/files/publications/2019-02/planning-policy-wales-edition-10.pdf
https://gov.wales/technical-advice-notes
https://www.npt.gov.uk/media/7321/ldp_written_statement_jan16.pdf
https://www.npt.gov.uk/media/7321/ldp_written_statement_jan16.pdf
https://www.npt.gov.uk/PDF/ldp_written_statement_jan16.pdf#PAGE=35
https://www.npt.gov.uk/PDF/ldp_written_statement_jan16.pdf#PAGE=35
https://www.npt.gov.uk/PDF/ldp_written_statement_jan16.pdf#PAGE=37
https://www.npt.gov.uk/PDF/ldp_written_statement_jan16.pdf#PAGE=41
https://www.npt.gov.uk/PDF/ldp_written_statement_jan16.pdf#PAGE=48
https://www.npt.gov.uk/PDF/ldp_written_statement_jan16.pdf#PAGE=61
https://www.npt.gov.uk/PDF/ldp_written_statement_jan16.pdf#PAGE=70
https://www.npt.gov.uk/PDF/ldp_written_statement_jan16.pdf#PAGE=72
https://www.npt.gov.uk/PDF/ldp_written_statement_jan16.pdf#PAGE=74
https://www.npt.gov.uk/PDF/ldp_written_statement_jan16.pdf#PAGE=83
https://www.npt.gov.uk/PDF/ldp_written_statement_jan16.pdf#PAGE=87
https://www.npt.gov.uk/PDF/ldp_written_statement_jan16.pdf#PAGE=89
https://www.npt.gov.uk/PDF/ldp_written_statement_jan16.pdf#PAGE=38
https://www.npt.gov.uk/PDF/ldp_written_statement_jan16.pdf#PAGE=39
https://www.npt.gov.uk/PDF/ldp_written_statement_jan16.pdf#PAGE=64
https://www.npt.gov.uk/PDF/ldp_written_statement_jan16.pdf#PAGE=69
https://www.npt.gov.uk/PDF/ldp_written_statement_jan16.pdf#PAGE=70
https://www.npt.gov.uk/PDF/ldp_written_statement_jan16.pdf#PAGE=73


   

 Policy EN7  Important Natural Features 

 Policy EN8  Pollution and Land Stability  

 Policy M1  Development in Mineral Safeguarding Areas  

 Policy M3  Development in Mineral Buffer Zones  

 Policy TR2  Design and Access of New Development  

 Policy TR3  Safeguarding of Disused Railway Infrastructure  

 Policy TR4  Safeguarding Freight Facilities 

 Policy BE1  Design  

 Policy BE2  Buildings of Local Importance  
 
Supplementary Planning Guidance: 
 
The following SPG is of relevance to this application: - 
 

 Planning Obligations (October 2016) 

 Pollution (October 2016) 

 Open Space & Greenspace (July 2017) 

 Renewable and Low Carbon Energy (July 2017) 

 Design (July 2017) 

 Development and the Welsh Language (July 2017) 

 Landscape & Seascape (May 2018) 

 Biodiversity and Geodiversity (May 2018) 

 The Historic Environment (April 2019) (incl. Schedule of Buildings of Local 
Importance and SPG: Schedule of Designated Canal Structures) 

 
EIA and AA Screening 
 
The application site exceeds the Schedule 2 threshold for development of this type as 
outlined within the Environmental Impact Assessment Regulation, and as identified 
above the application has been accompanied by an Environmental Statement. 
  
The proposed development is not located within a zone of influence for any SAC, CSAC 
or Ramsar sites and as such it is considered that an Appropriate Assessment as set 
down within the Conservation of Habitats and Species Regulations 2017 is not required.  
 
ASSESSMENT 
 
Issues 
 
Having regard to the above, the main issues to consider in this application relate to the 
following: - 
 

 Landscape and visual impacts 

 Geotechnical / Land Stability Issues 

 Impacts on Local Amenity including nearby residential properties 

 Impacts on Cultural Heritage 

 Impact on highway safety and rights of way 

 Impacts on biodiversity 

 Ground water / contamination  

Tudalen24

https://www.npt.gov.uk/PDF/ldp_written_statement_jan16.pdf#PAGE=73
https://www.npt.gov.uk/PDF/ldp_written_statement_jan16.pdf#PAGE=74
https://www.npt.gov.uk/PDF/ldp_written_statement_jan16.pdf#PAGE=77
https://www.npt.gov.uk/PDF/ldp_written_statement_jan16.pdf#PAGE=77
https://www.npt.gov.uk/PDF/ldp_written_statement_jan16.pdf#PAGE=84
https://www.npt.gov.uk/PDF/ldp_written_statement_jan16.pdf#PAGE=85
https://www.npt.gov.uk/PDF/ldp_written_statement_jan16.pdf#PAGE=85
https://www.npt.gov.uk/PDF/ldp_written_statement_jan16.pdf#PAGE=87
https://www.npt.gov.uk/PDF/ldp_written_statement_jan16.pdf#PAGE=88
https://www.npt.gov.uk/pdf/spg_planning_obligations_oct16.pdf
https://www.npt.gov.uk/PDF/spg_pollution_oct16.pdf
https://www.npt.gov.uk/media/7239/spg_open_space_july17.pdf
https://www.npt.gov.uk/media/7241/spg_renewable_energy_july17.pdf
https://www.npt.gov.uk/media/7237/spg_design_july17.pdf
https://www.npt.gov.uk/media/7243/spg_welsh_language_july17.pdf
https://www.npt.gov.uk/media/9004/spg_landscape_seascape_may18.pdf
https://www.npt.gov.uk/media/9003/spg_biodiversity_geodiversity_may18.pdf
https://www.npt.gov.uk/media/11629/spg_historic_environment_april19.pdf
https://www.npt.gov.uk/media/11630/spg_bli_schedule_april19.pdf
https://www.npt.gov.uk/media/11630/spg_bli_schedule_april19.pdf
https://www.npt.gov.uk/media/11633/spg_canal_schedule_april19.pdf


   

 Common Land  

 Socio-economic impact; and  

 Whether any identified impacts are outweighed by any identified benefits of the 
development (i.e. the ‘planning balance’) 

 
Principle of Development 
 
The applicant states that the proposed earthworks would reconcile parcels of land that 
comprise the present day and wider past extents of coaling operations at Nant Helen 
Surface Mine. To all intents and purposes this includes land associated with the site’s 
western extent that will be restored at the end of current coaling operations and land 
associated with the site’s northern, eastern and southern extents that has already been 
restored following the end of past coaling operations. 
   
The applicant also considers that the proposed earthworks would provide a 
comprehensive, flexible and adaptable landform across the entire site that could support 
a wide range of future uses including agriculture, woodland and nature conservation; 
and/or amenity, leisure, tourism and employment.  
 
A core principle of achieving sustainable development is using previously developed 
land in preference to greenfield land where possible. The applicant considers that most 
of the site associated with the present-day extent of the surface mine would satisfy the 
definition of previously developed land and consequently development of it would be 
broadly acceptable.  However this view is not accepted since in this case provision for 
restoration has either been made by the imposition of a planning condition or it is land 
where the remains of the activity have blended into the landscape over time so that they 
can reasonably be considered part of the natural surroundings. In both cases these are 
exclusions from the definition of previously developed land and the proposal cannot 
therefore be considered to be on ‘brownfield’ / previously developed land.  
 
Nevertheless, the application proposes earthworks which are complementary to the 
Nant Helen site restoration and will include associated drainage infrastructure and areas 
of landscaping and habitat creation to create a flexible and adaptable area of land that 
could be used for a variety of uses including agriculture, nature conservation, leisure, 
tourism and industrial, research and development/business uses. 
 
LDP Policy SP6 sets out the main measures that will be taken to implement the strategy 
of reinvigorating the valleys area, noting that the local economy and communities will be 
enhanced and reinvigorated and the distinctive environment will be protected through 
measures including taking a flexible approach to encourage employment uses, an 
objective echoed by Policy SP11 (Employment Growth). 
 
Given its Valleys location and relationship to numerous communities surrounding the 
site, both in Neath Port Talbot and Powys, this proposal is not only considered to accord 
with the wider objectives within PPW and the LDP to place sustainable placemaking at 
the heart of the planning process, and notably in the NPT Valleys area, but also the 
WG’s recent policy guidance Building Better Places: The Planning System Delivering 
Resilient and Brighter Futures which focusses on post Covid-19 recovery in Wales. In 
this respect, the scheme will deliver healthy, thriving active places with a focus on a 
positive, sustainable future for our communities. This would be whether it is focussed 

Tudalen25

https://gov.wales/planning-policy-covid-19-recovery
https://gov.wales/planning-policy-covid-19-recovery


   

on leisure and tourism opportunities which improve access to recreation and natural 
green spaces, or through creation of direct and indirect opportunities for barrier free 
development, jobs and skills. 
 
In this respect, while this application does not propose specific tourism or industrial uses 
(that would require separate consent), agricultural, conservation or leisure uses on the 
new landform would amount to development appropriate for a countryside location 
which accords with the above national Policy objectives.  In this respect, the supporting 
text to Policy SC1 (settlement limits) emphasises that whether specific development 
proposals are appropriate or suitable outside settlement limits will be assessed with 
reference to the relevant topic policies within this Plan and national policy, while in 
principle the proposal is considered to accord with the objectives of Policies SP6 and 
SP11 to reinvigorate the Valleys. 
 
The acceptability of the proposals thus comes down primarily to an assessment of 
impacts.  While this largely considers the specific impacts of the works themselves, the 
reasoned justification behind submission of the application at this stage (relating to the 
potential for a rail centre of excellence at the site) is considered as part of the overall 
planning balance at the end of the assessment. 
 
Landscape and Visual Impacts 
 
PPW states that the countryside is a dynamic and multi-purpose resource. In line with 
sustainable development and the national planning principles and in contributing 
towards placemaking outcomes, it must be conserved and, where possible, enhanced 
for the sake of its ecological, geological, physiographic, historical, archaeological, 
cultural and agricultural value and for its landscape and natural resources.  
 
The need to conserve these attributes should be balanced against the economic, social 
and recreational needs of local communities and visitors. Fostering adaptability and 
resilience will be a key aim for rural places in the face of the considerable challenge of 
maintaining the vibrancy of communities and availability of services as well as 
contributing to the Cohesive Communities well-being goal (para 3.34). 
 
PPW states that LANDMAP is an important information resource, methodology, and 
monitoring baseline for the landscapes of Wales, which can help inform planning for the 
sustainable management of natural resources in an area. LANDMAP describes and 
evaluates the physical, ecological, visual, cultural and historic aspects of the landscapes 
of Wales, and provides the basis of a consistent, quality assured national approach to 
landscape assessment (para 6.3.19).   
 
PPW also states that where adverse effects on landscape character cannot be avoided, 
it will be necessary to refuse planning permission (para 6.3.4). 
 
The proposed development’s landscape and visual impact has been considered within 
Chapter 9 of the Environmental Statement, its figures and appendices which include; 
Context Plan, ZTV Plan, Viewpoint Map, Landscape Character Area Plan and Viewpoint 
Photography; Assessment Methodology, LANDMAP Analysis, Baseline Environment 
and Assessment Tables. The ES advises that the impacts have been assessed based 
on worst-case winter conditions where screening by vegetation is least effective. 

Tudalen26



   

 
Effects on landscape and visual receptors are closely related but separately assessed. 
Landscape receptors are its characteristics, key features and special qualities, and 
visual receptors are people and changes to their visual amenity.  
 
Landscape Character 
 
Landscape Character Areas (LCA’s) are derived from existing landscape character 
assessments (where available) and from analysis of LANDMAP aspect areas.  
 
The part of the overall site within NPT is designated by the LDP as a Special Landscape 
Area (Policy EN2 refers) wherein development “will only be permitted where it is 
demonstrated that there will be no significant adverse impacts on the features and 
characteristics for which the Special Landscape Area has been designated.”  The SLA 
does not extend into Powys CC, but the ES has assumed that the defining features and 
characteristics of the SLA would continue beyond the county boundary.  
 
Other than a small area in the south eastern part of the site which extends into the Head 
of Dulais Valley Landscape Character Area (medium value), the site falls within the Nant 
Helen Reclaimed Uplands Landscape Character Area, a landscape defined by past and 
present mining activity. Present mining activity dominates the north and eastern extents 
of the character area and there is evidence of previous mining activity to the south.  
Areas of upland moorland with predominantly rough grassland and bracken landcover 
and further areas of marsh and grassland. Large areas are used for grazing. The 
overburden mound associated with the mining activity stands as a prominent and 
evidently man-made feature visible from the wider landscape. A number of PRoWs 
cross the character area, many of which are temporarily suspended through the mining 
site. Mining activity within the character area is a detractor from its use for recreational 
purposes. Pylons run from east to west along the southern extent of the character area 
and contribute to the overall large-scale industrial character. The Ystradgynlais 
Scheduled Monument Tramroad is further evidence of the industrial history of the 
character area and the importance of mining in the historical development of the wider 
landscape. The value of this Landscape Character Area is assessed as Low. 
 
In Powys, a small area of the north western part of the site also extends into the Wooded 
Tawe Valley Landscape Character Area, which has a medium value. 
 
The ES assessment concludes that the Nant Helen Reclaimed Uplands LCA has the 
capacity to accommodate the Project without affecting its overall integrity across much 
of the LCA, however it is susceptible to the loss of its key features. The LCA would 
experience a moderate adverse effect resulting from the proposed development, where 
earthworks would reduce the legibility of key features such as the Tramroad at 
Ystradgynlais and the alteration of previously restored land. During the construction 
phase the impact on the Wooded Tawe Valley (PCC) would be minor adverse and the 
impact on the Head of Dulais Valley (NPT) would be negligible. 
 
Post construction, the introduction of engineered earthworks will result in the loss of key 
features of the landscape character area such as the Tramroad at Ystradgynlais and 
landcover that has already been restored. However, in combination with the Nant Helen 
Restoration, the loss of restored landcover will be offset by the removal of the existing 

Tudalen27



   

opencast void and creation of approved restoration landform, and loss of mining activity 
and the reduced prominence of the overburden mound and increased naturalistic 
character of the landform. In this respect the completed proposals in combination with 
proposals for restoring the surface mine, would plainly achieve betterment compared to 
the current environmental baseline and the negative effects these operations have on 
the landscape.  
 
The proposed earthworks have been assessed in combination with proposals for 
restoring land currently subject to coaling operations at Nant Helen Surface Mine. The 
mine currently dominates and has a significant adverse effect on the area’s landscape 
character and fundamentally its restoration will improve the landscape character.    
 
On balance, it is concluded that the earthworks in combination with the restoration of 
Nant Helen Surface Mine will have a mix of adverse and beneficial effects on the 
landscape character area and any adverse construction phase effects will be sufficiently 
limited in temporal scope and are considered acceptable.   
 
Visual Impact 
 
The Environmental Statement (ES) considers 18 different viewpoints surrounding the 
site, of which three (VP16, 17 and 18 are within NPT – see Figure 3 below). The 
methodology for the assessment considers the sensitivity of the receptor, the magnitude 
of change and the significance of the effect. The overall significance of effect is based 
on the combined overall magnitude of change as a result of the completion of both the 
Project and Nant Helen Restoration. 
The NPT Viewpoints are as follows: - 
 

 Viewpoint 16 View north / north-west from properties on the A1049. This 
viewpoint is representative of views experienced by 
residential receptors. 

 Viewpoint 17  View west from Onllwyn, Cemetery. This viewpoint is 
representative of visitors to the cemetery  

 Viewpoint 18  View north from Sarn Helen Roman Road and Byway 
28/39.N.Hi/1, along the ridge of Hirfynydd. This viewpoint is 
representative of recreational users of the footpath. 
  

 
Figure 3: Viewpoints (Extract from ES) 

Tudalen28



   

Construction Impacts 
 
The ES identifies the extent of impacts at construction (during the 73 week construction 
period) on the viewpoints within NPT as follows: - 
 
 Table 1: Potential Visual Effects due to Construction Impacts 

Receptor 
Sensitivity  

of Receptor 

Magnitude 
(prior to 

mitigation) 

Significance 
(prior to 

mitigation) 

VP16 Medium High (Adverse) Major (Adverse) 

VP17 Medium Low (Adverse) Moderate (Adverse) 

VP18 High High (Adverse) Major (Adverse) 

 
For example, at VP16 construction will be visible within 500m of the viewpoint and there 
will be direct views of construction activity which will be visible across a wide section of 
the view, and will be extended beyond the existing Nant Helen restoration programme. 
The overall significance of effect is thus considered to be Major (Adverse). 
 
At VP17 construction activity will be visible within 250m of the viewpoint, with the closest 
construction activity being the construction of the retaining wall to the north (albeit with 
intervening vegetation filtering views).  Other works will be visible including excavation 
and transportation of material from the prominent overburden mound. 
 
For VP18, due to the central location of the site in the wider panorama, in combination 
with the Nant Helen Restoration works, the overall magnitude of change will be High 
(Adverse) with excavation and transportation of material from the prominent overburden 
mound visible. 

 
On Completion 
 
The ES identifies the extent of impacts at on completion on the viewpoints within NPT 
as follows: - 
 
 Table 2: Potential Visual Effects due to the on completion impacts of the Project. 

Receptor 
Sensitivity  

of Receptor 

Magnitude 
(prior to 

mitigation) 

Significance 
(prior to 

mitigation) 

VP16 Medium Negligible (Beneficial) Negligible (Beneficial) 

VP17 Medium Negligible (Adverse) Negligible (Adverse) 

VP18 High Low (Beneficial) Minor (Beneficial) 

 

 

Tudalen29



   

The above impacts are ‘prior to mitigation’, and the ES notes that the incorporation of 
mitigation would result in reduced significance of effects and a slight reduction in 
adverse effects within the first 5 years due to mitigation planting. Once mitigation 
planting has established in 10 – 15 years it is anticipated there will be no residual 
significant landscape and visual effects. 
 
The ES also states that once the future use of the earthworks has been established, the 
development of a Landscape Strategy is recommended to ensure the surrounding 
landscape is fit for purpose and gives consideration to the local landscape character.  
While a significant focus will be on the planting of the northern embankment  (given the 
National Park impacts described below) the landscape strategy will be expected to 
consider the whole of the site including areas in NPT. 
 
Having regard to Policy EN2 (and general countryside protection policies) it is thus 
concluded the landscape and visual impacts of the development, while major (adverse) 
during construction, would – even prior to mitigation – not have a significantly adverse 
impact on the features and characteristics for which the Special Landscape Area has 
been designated, such that the proposal would comply with Policy EN2. 
 
Impact on National Park 
 
PPW confirms that planning authorities have a statutory duty to have regard to National 
Park’s purposes. This duty applies in relation to all activities affecting National Parks, 
whether those activities lie within, or in the setting of, the designated areas. The 
designated landscapes should be drivers of the sustainable use and management of 
natural resources in their areas, and planning authorities should have regard to their 
identified special qualities in the exercise of their functions and any relevant 
management plans (para 6.3.5).  
 
In this case the site is on the periphery of the Brecon Beacons National Park which is 
located approximately 96m away from the development at its closest point, and 
therefore, while the impacts arising from the development are predominantly (if not 
wholly) due to the site extent within Powys, the Authority will nevertheless need to have 
regard to the impact on the National Park both directly and on its setting.  
 
In this respect both NRW and BBNPA have expressed concerns in relation to its visual 
impact when viewed from the Brecon Beacons National Park.  BBNPA state that the 
proposals would be prominent from several areas within BBNP which are of high scenic 
quality and sensitivity, with the Environmental Statement (ES) confirming that there 
would be significant adverse visual effects on views from the BBNP (specifically 
viewpoints 1, 2, 3, 4, 5 and 11) and towards the BBNP (specifically viewpoint 18 in NPT) 
during construction.  
 
These effects will result from the visibility of construction activity. Receptors will have 
views of the removal of coniferous woodland plantation on the northern side of the 
opencast mining site and overburden mound. The transportation and placement of 
material for the formation of the embankment will be visible to the east. To the south-
east, direct views of the excavation works for the cutting will be visible, this includes the 
removal of material from the south-eastern corner of the overburden mound.  
 

Tudalen30



   

The ES also confirms that there would be major adverse visual effects on views from 
viewpoint 5 (within BBNP) and moderate adverse visual effects from 5 other locations, 
3 of which are in BBNP (specifically viewpoints 2, 3 and 4) immediately after completion 
of the construction period.  
 
The loss of woodland plantation and mature vegetation / field boundaries to the south 
of the A4221 will be noticeable. The view will instead comprise the grassed slope of the 
northern embankment of the Project that changes the gradient of the topography. There 
will be a noticeable difference in the scenic quality of the view due to the loss of 
complexity and the introduction of engineered form. 
 
The proposed mitigation planting of the northern slopes of the northern embankment will 
help integrate the development into the surrounding landscape at approximately 15+ 
years, which the applicant states could be accelerated if larger stock is used for planting 
which would lead to a perceptible integration of the engineered landform within the first 
5 years.  However BBNPA are not convinced that this would be the case. In addition 
NRW considers that to be effective, the planting needs at least 15 years to establish in 
order to achieve a non-significant effect on the National Park, which is largely due to the 
challenges of establishing trees and shrubs on colliery spoil. Therefore, they request a 
condition to provide for a minimum 15 year period to achieve the desired effect. 
However, even after 15 years, assuming all mitigation planting has established 
successfully, NRW considers that this will leave an engineered rather than more 
naturalistic landform.  Indeed BBNPA agree that the planting would reduce but not totally 
alleviate the significance of adverse effects until at least year 15. 
 
The assessment recommends that a detailed Landscape Strategy is developed, which 
will be key to the establishment of the tree and woodland planting that ensure the 
successfulness of the mitigation planting becoming adequately established on colliery 
spoil. While a significant focus will be on the planting of the northern embankment  the 
landscape strategy will be expected to consider the whole of the site including areas in 
NPT. 
 
While BBNPA has recommended that the proposed Ecological Management and 
Monitoring Plan (EMMP) and landscape strategy should be combined into one 
Landscape Ecological Management Plan (LEMP) to ensure consistency in delivering 
the mitigation objectives, Officers consider that these should be retained as two 
separate documents albeit they would work together to deliver on the required ecological 
and landscape objectives. 
 
Given the comments of NRW, BBNPA and notably the Council ecologists, it is 
considered reasonable the landscape strategy/Plan should cover a period of 20 years 
(5 years establishment plus 15) given that it would potentially take that long to mitigate 
the impacts and also include a mechanism for its extension should the planting need 
longer term management to achieve the desired effect.  This is therefore the subject of 
an appropriately worded condition. 
 
It is thus clear that there will be an adverse visual impact of receptors in the BBNP during 
construction and potentially for at least 15 years post-construction. That impact must be 
given significant weight in the planning balance to be applied in this case. 
 

Tudalen31



   

Brecon Beacons National Park Authority has significant concern that the proposal will 
have adverse impacts on one of the National Park's statutory purposes namely "to 
conserve and enhance the natural beauty, wildlife and cultural heritage of the National 
Park". The NPA also have significant concern that the proposal will adversely impact on 
two of the Special Qualities of the Park — its "sweeping grandeur and outstanding 
natural beauty" and the "working, living "patchwork" of contrasting patterns, colours, and 
textures".  
 
It should be noted that PPW states that in National Parks or AONBs, special 
considerations apply to major development proposals which are more national than local 
in character. Major developments should not take place in National Parks or AONBs 
except in exceptional circumstances. This may arise where, after rigorous examination, 
there is demonstrated to be an overriding public need, refusal would be severely 
detrimental to the local economy and there is no potential for locating the development 
elsewhere or meeting the need in some other way. Any construction and restoration 
must be carried out to high environmental standards.  
 
Consideration of applications for major developments should therefore include an 
assessment of:  
 

• the need for the development, in terms of national considerations and the 
impact of permitting it or refusing it upon the local economy;  

• the cost of and scope for providing the development outside the designated 
area or meeting the need for it in some other way; and  

• any detrimental effect on the environment and the landscape, and the extent 
to which that could be moderated and/or mitigated. (para 6.3.10). 

 
It therefore stands to reason that if these exceptions would apply inside National Parks 
then they can also reasonably be applied to developments in areas which may impact 
on the setting of National Parks.  
 
Accordingly the harm arising from the development in landscape and visual terms  - 
which as concluded above would be adverse for the first 15 years -  will thus need to 
form part of the overall assessment of the proposals (‘the planning balance’ – see later 
in report). 
 
Geotechnical / Land Stability Issues 
 
PPW10 recognises that development can result in instability which may affect both the 
development itself and the land surrounding it (para 6.9.22).  
 
It states that when considering development proposals planning authorities should take 
into account the nature, scale and extent of ground instability which may pose direct 
risks to life and health, buildings and structures, or present indirect hazards associated 
with ground movement, including mine entry collapse. Slopes, embankments, cuttings 
and underground cavities can themselves be put at risk from inappropriate neighbouring 
development and, where relevant, land stability should be addressed, and appropriate 
mitigation measures secured to protect both existing assets and proposed development 
itself (para 6.9.23).  
 

Tudalen32



   

PPW10 also recognises that made ground, the presence of tips and shallow coal 
workings are extensive in some parts of Wales and their proximity to the surface could 
present potential instability risk to future development (para 6.9.24).  
 
PPW10 therefore states that planning decisions will need to take into account:  
 

• the potential hazard that instability could create to the development itself, to 
its occupants and to the local environment; and  

• the results of a specialist investigation and assessment by the developer to 
determine the stability of the ground and to identify any remedial measures 
required to deal with any instability (para 6.9.25)  
 
 

PPW10 concludes that where acceptable measures can overcome instability, planning 
permission may be granted subject to conditions specifying the necessary measures. If 
instability cannot be overcome satisfactorily, the authority may refuse planning 
permission (para 6.9.27).  
 
The geological impact and potential hazards of the proposed development has been 
considered within Chapter 6: Ground Conditions of the Environmental Statement and its 
appendices.  The potential impact/hazards have been assessed in the context of 
geological, land instability, contamination and remedial requirements. It is recognised 
that ground water and surface water have a close interrelationship with geology, but 
these are considered separately in this report within the Hydrological section below.   
 
It is noted that significant public concern has been expressed by Powys residents on the 
Powys application regarding the size, height and stability of the proposed embankment 
along the northern boundary and the perceived danger that embankment poses to the 
residents of Caehopkin and users of the Sustrans Cycle Route (in particular) should it 
fail. That perceived danger has given rise to speculation of possible outcomes 
comparable with the Aberfan Mining Disaster of 1966. Objectors refer to the long history 
of underground and surface mining, sloping ground, drainage issues and surface ground 
conditions as the basis for their concerns about the stability of the proposed 
embankment. 
 
Although the majority of such issues do not affect the land within NPT, nevertheless the 
following assessment (as due to be reported to PCC) is included for purposes of clarity:  
 
The concerns of local people in relation to the stability of the embankment above their 
properties are understood. However, it must be noted that this proposal is not 
comparable to the situation of the coal tip which gave way and resulted in the Aberfan 
Mining Disaster over 50 years ago. The Inquiry into the Aberfan Mining Disaster 
identified specific reasons why that disaster occurred, primarily (but not exclusively) 
relating to construction methods, the lack of drainage infrastructure and the composition 
of some of the material within the tip. Some 50 years on there is a greater understanding 
of the technical engineering requirements for tips and embankments and detailed 
consideration will be required in relation to ground conditions and construction methods. 
It should be noted that a significant number of roads are successfully built every year on 
embankments with varying underlying ground conditions. 
 

Tudalen33



   

The desk-based assessment undertaken in Chapter 6 of the Environmental Statement 
has identified the ground conditions expected beneath the embankment – old mine 
workings and mine entries; opencast backfill of varying depths; the stratigraphy of the 
undisturbed areas of the Middle and Lower Coal Measures Formations and the local 
hydrology. Parts of the site have been extensively worked through surface mining 
activities since c.1946 with opencast activities still ongoing within the Nant Helen site.  
Coal mining activities have constantly altered the topography of the site over the last 
century and the geological environment is varied with many features largely pertaining 
to coal mining, such as outcropping, entries, drifts, shafts and seams. It is accepted that 
all these features can potentially create land instability that could constrain the proposed 
development if not properly considered.  
 
The submitted assessment considers that sufficient published information is available 
to create a preliminary ground model and identify the required mitigation measures. The 
assessment concludes that no constraining geological features have been identified and 
suggests that planning conditions would be an appropriate mechanism for securing the 
detailed design and ongoing monitoring of both ground instability and contamination on 
completion of the proposed earthworks. This is considered by the applicant to be 
sufficient at the initial design stage to inform the environmental impact assessment. It 
also acknowledges that specific intrusive and non-intrusive ground investigations may 
be required to inform the detailed geotechnical design of the proposed scheme. 
 
The detailed geotechnical design of the scheme would ensure slope stability of the 
ground, cuttings and embankments are adequate for the selected development option. 
The design would consider ground hazards associated with historical mine workings and 
subsidence due to potential change in groundwater conditions. This would include a 
detailed mining and hydrogeological impact assessment, and potentially treatment of 
shallow mine workings. Should mine workings treatment be required any impacts on 
hydrogeology would be assessed through detailed studies on design mitigation. The 
requirement for the Local Authority to approve a detailed geotechnical design can be 
imposed by condition which will ensure the appropriate safeguards are in place. The 
design will also consider the stability of the former opencast backfill of the Abercraf/ 
Gwaunton site, although having been in situ for over 45 years it is anticipated that any 
ground settlement associated with the opencast activity will have long since ceased.  
 
The above assessment demonstrates that even for the substantial engineering 
operations on the northern embankment, detailed geotechnical and drainage solutions 
can be conditioned to provide the required level of certainty that there would be no 
unacceptable impacts arising from the operations.  Accordingly, and given that the 
extent of ‘cut and fill’ on the NPT side is limited, as are the nearby areas in Powys’ area, 
it is concluded that sufficient information has been submitted to demonstrate that there 
are technical solutions capable of ensuring ground stability is remediated where 
necessary. Conditions are thus imposed to address such matters. 
 
Impact on Coal 
 
The Coal Authority has confirmed that the application site falls within the defined 
Development High Risk Area, and that their records indicate the presence of recorded 
shallow coal mining; coal seams of workable thickness that may have been historically 
worked at shallow depth by illicit means, c.73no. recorded mine entries (shafts and adits) 

Tudalen34



   

and the site is within the boundary of a site from which coal has been removed by 
surface mining (opencast) methods. 
 
Whilst the Coal Authority has made no specific comments on the proposed restoration 
works, as the proposal is to include the construction of a landform that could be used 
for a number of purposes once restored (ES section 6.3.1), they advise that the applicant 
will need to ensure that all coal mining legacy has been fully assessed and all risks 
mitigated to ensure any future platforms for built development are suitable for the 
development proposed and will be safe and stable (Planning Policy Wales paras 6.9.23 
– 27).   
 
They further note that the applicant’s technical consultants (ARUP) have carried out an 
in-depth review of extensive range of coal mining / geological information and highlight 
the risks associated with former mining activities as ‘risk zones’ (ES Figure 8) and in 
relation to the design of any potential testing track (Appendix 6A of the ES - Section 9).   
Accordingly they welcome the comments made (Section 15.3) that both intrusive and 
non-intrusive works are to be undertaken in order to confirm the exact ground conditions 
(to include location / condition of mine entries; alignments of opencast highwall(s)) and 
to inform the extent of remedial actions required (including layout to avoid mine entries 
/ opencast highwalls) to mitigate the risks to the future development at this site.  Subject 
to conditions to secure such site investigations (as recommended by ARUP – Section 
15.3 of Appendix 6A: Environmental Statement, May 2020), they therefore offer no 
objections. 
 
They further advise that the nature and extent of the ground investigations and any 
subsequent treatment works will require the Coal Authority’s written consent (from their 
Permitting team) prior to commencement of the works as part of the permitting process.  
 
Land Contamination 
 
In relation to land contamination, PPW10 states that where land contamination issues 
arise, the planning authority will require evidence of a detailed investigation and risk 
assessment prior to the determination of the application to enable beneficial use of land, 
unless it can already be established that remedial measures can be employed. Where 
it is known that acceptable remedial measures can overcome contamination, planning 
permission may be granted subject to conditions specifying the necessary measures 
and the need for their implementation, including provision for remediating any 
unexpected contamination which may arise during construction (para 6.9.19)   
 
Features of made ground and backfilling of mining excavations could contain 
contamination, especially considering the extensive period of mining operations at the 
site which could have included contamination arising from fuel spillages etc. During 
construction any likely significant effects will come from transporting potentially 
contaminated material including residue from plant and machinery that can pollute the 
environment, both onsite and offsite where there are pathways to external receptors. It 
has been considered that by using best practice measures within an industry standard 
Construction and Environmental Management Plan the significance of effects during 
construction will be mitigated to negligible.  After completion, any land contamination 
encountered during construction will have been remediated and therefore the final 
landform, left undisturbed, will not pose a risk to human or environmental health.   

Tudalen35



   

 
The Contaminated Land Officers from both NPT and Powys have liaised and raise no 
objections.  Nevertheless, they also note that while the proposal may relate to a 
proposed Global Rail Centre of Excellence, the site could be used as public amenity 
land which from a land contamination point of view would be considered much more 
sensitive. Accordingly, this would need a desk study with a conceptual site model based 
on the most sensitive potential end use. This can be conditioned to ensure the 
appropriate reports are based on the specific end use. 
 
In addition, while the application indicates that all backfilling will take place with site won 
material, a condition is recommended preventing the importation of material unless it is 
approved in writing first so that we could ensure that it is chemically suitable for whatever 
the end use would be.  
 
NRW has reviewed the Desk Study within the ES from which they note that further site 
investigation for land contamination will be undertaken. While suggesting that targeted 
sampling in areas of known contamination risk is undertaken, they state that the 
controlled waters at this site are not of the highest environmental sensitivity and 
therefore have not provided detailed site-specific advice or comments with regards to 
land contamination issues. They recommend that the requirements of PPW and the 
Environment Agency Guiding Principles for Land Contamination (GPLC 1, 2, and 3), 
March 2010, should be followed.  
 
Having regard to the above, it is considered that subject to conditions, the proposed 
development would raise no significant detrimental impact to the wider environment, 
and through suitable remediation would not result in harm to the quality of controlled 
waters or human health. The proposal therefore broadly accords with Policies SP16 
and EN8 of the Local Development Plan. 
 
Impact on Amenity 
 
Policy EN 8 seeks to ensure that any proposals which would be likely to have an 
unacceptable adverse effect on health, biodiversity and/or local amenity or would 
expose people to unacceptable risk will not be permitted.  This includes from noise 
pollution. 
 
In specific reference to developments which could create noise, TAN 11 states at 
Paragraph 8 that "Local planning authorities must ensure that noise generating 
development does not cause an unacceptable degree of disturbance. They should also 
bear in mind that if subsequent intensification or change of use results in greater 
intrusion, consideration should be given to the use of appropriate conditions.” 
 
Noise Impacts – Construction 
 
The proposed development’s impact in respect of noise has been assessed within 
Chapter 10: Noise and Vibration of the Environmental Statement.   The assessment of 
significant environmental effects has focused on impacts arising from construction of the 
proposed northern embankment (in Powys) and identified 5 sensitive receptors for which 
assessments are made, all of which are to the north of the site (as shown on Figure 4 
below) and in Powys. Receptor 1 is at Caehopkin, Receptor 2 is at Brooklands Terrace, 

Tudalen36



   

Receptor 3 is at the Scout Hall, Receptor 4 is at Cefn Byrle and Receptor 5 is at 
Llwyncelyn Cottages.  
 

 
 Figure 4 : Nearest (assessed) Noise Sensitive Residential Receptors 

 
The potential for noise disturbance at residential receptors due to heavy plant and 
equipment that could be used during construction (notably of the embankment) has 
been considered in line with the recommendations of BS 5228, Part 1, 2009. Under this 
approach, the adverse impact threshold at an existing residential dwelling is given as 65 
dB Laeq during normal weekday working hours (0700 to 1900 hours) and between 0700 
and 1300 hours on Saturday. The proposed hours of working for the construction of the 
embankment fall within these hours and therefore these levels are considered to be the 
maximum that should apply to those works. 
 
Noise levels have been predicted based upon the construction plant sound power level 
and typical percentage on-times, with corrections applied to allow for distance, 
reflections and screening attenuation where appropriate. Without mitigation, the noise 
levels predicted at Receptors 2, 3, 4 and 5 (57, 60, 54, 51dB respectively) were well 
within the 65dB threshold but 66dB was predicted at Receptor 1 in Caehopkin. A noise 
fence measuring approximately 50m in length and 5m in height is therefore proposed 
between the embankment and receptor 1. This mitigation reduces the predicted noise 
level at receptor 1 to 61dB.  
 
The operation of the Nant Helen Surface Mine is subject to a noise condition which 
specifies the following:   
 
‘Noise arising from operations at the site as measured at any noise sensitive location 
shall not exceed background (LA90) plus 10dB LAeq,1hr or 55dB LAeq,1hr (free field), 
whichever is the lesser, during normal working hours (0700 to 1900 hours Monday to 
Friday excluding Bank/Public Holidays and 08.00 and 12.00 hours on Saturdays). At all 
other times the noise arising from operations at the site shall not exceed 42dB LAeq, 
1hr (free field) at any noise sensitive location.’  
 

Tudalen37



   

Within the ES, the only identified significant noise impacts arising from construction are 
in Powys’s administrative area, although with mitigation on the perimeter of the site (in 
the form of a 5m screen referred to above) noise levels to receptor 1 would be controlled 
and prevent a significant effect.  Such matters are, however, dealt with by PCC in their 
assessment / report, along with specific working hours restrictions on development in 
that area (which are imposed on this application only for purposes of consistency). 
 
Looking specifically at properties within NPT, the ES (10.3.3) indicates that residential 
properties located on the southern side of the site boundary (i.e. in NPT) were not 
assessed due to the distance separation between the main embankment construction 
works and the residential properties.  It states that “it is unlikely the embankment 
construction works would result in a significant effect at residential properties located in 
these areas”.   
 
Nevertheless, the Council’s EHO has liaised with the applicants’ noise consultants in 
respect of the potential for impacts on residents in NPT related to the construction of the 
southern embankment in the southern end of the site boundary which is relatively close 
to the residential properties on Onllwyn Road (see figure 5 below). 
 

 
Figure 5: Proximity of southern embankment to Onllwyn 

 
In response, the consultants have clarified that in the ES no significant effect was 
identified at receptor 4 (see Figure 4 above) where an approximate shortest distance 
used for the assessment was 95m. The predicted construction noise levels at Receptor 
4 is about 10dB lower than the threshold level.  Therefore they have stated that the 
construction activities associated with the works in the southern area is unlikely to 
exceed the threshold levels at the residential properties on Onllwyn Road, directly facing 
the site based on the following assumptions:  
  

 The footprint of the southern embankment is relatively smaller than the 
northern embankment, therefore it is likely similar or less construction 
activities would be undertaken in this area; 

 On the existing ground profile across the site, it is understood the geometry 
in this area is similar to the north; and 

 An approximate shortest horizontal distance between the southern 
earthworks and those properties on Onllwyn Road is 180m  

 

Tudalen38



   

Subject to a robust CEMP being submitted under condition (a draft having been 
submitted to date), the Council’s EHO has confirmed he is satisfied with the consultants 
submissions and thus the impacts during construction. 

 
Noise Impacts – After Use 
 
In terms of the potential after use for the site, it is considered that only the potential rail 
testing facility would be likely to have impacts on residential receptors or users of the 
public rights of way, although any such impacts are neither assessed nor up for 
consideration as part of this application.  Leisure after uses (such as walking, cycling 
and horse riding) would, by their very nature, open up the site for public benefit but would 
lead to greater enjoyment of the area without having any demonstrable impact on the 
amenity of nearby properties. 
 
Noise – Conclusion 
 
In view of the foregoing, subject to the inclusion of a condition requiring a robust CEMP 
(including working hours) to control construction and operational activities in the 
interests of local amenity, it is considered that the proposal would not lead to 
unacceptable levels of noise to warrant refusal of the application on these grounds such 
that the development would accords with Policy EN8 of the Local Development Plan. 
 
Air Quality 
 

For the construction phase, the most important consideration is dust, since without 
appropriate mitigation, dust could cause temporary soiling of surfaces, particularly 
windows, cars and laundry.   In respect of such matters the ES advises as follows: - 
 

The nearest sensitive receptors within NPT are located approximately 500m 
away from proposed dust generating activities. In human health terms, 
background annual PM10 concentrations are low (9-10ug/m3). There is a very 
low risk that air quality objectives will be exceeded by the proposed activities 
provided that good practice measures are followed. An assessment of mineral 
dust impacts on human health receptors is screened out.  
 
The mineral type at the proposed site is soft rock according to the British 
Geological Survey. Due to the nearest sensitive receptors being more than 500m 
away from the proposed dust generating activities and the low background 
annual PM10 concentration it is considered that, in accordance to the IAQM 
mineral dust guidance (IAQM 2016, Guidance on the Assessment of Mineral Dust 
Impacts for Planning), a detailed dis-amenity dust impact assessment is not 
required.” 

 
It is recognised that the principal sources of dust are likely to be associated with the 
excavation and deposit of soil and overburden and the movement of vehicles within the 
site.  In this respect mineral dust coarser than 10µm may constitute a ‘nuisance’ due to 
soiling of surfaces but does not pose a risk to human health. Fine particles of 10µm or 
less, referred to as PM10 can be inhaled and depending on the concentrations and the 
nature of the particles, they can be associated with health impacts. The very fine 
particles of 2.5µm or less are referred to as PM2.5.  

Tudalen39



   

 
There are no statutory or recommended levels of dust deposition which constitute an 
acknowledged nuisance, but 200 mg/m²/day is often quoted as a threshold for nuisance 
dust. Large dust particles, which make up the greatest proportion of dust emissions from 
this type of earthwork proposal (up to 95%) will largely deposit within 100m of the source. 
Intermediate particles can travel further but it is unlikely that adverse impacts will occur 
at distances in excess of 250m. Fine particles can travel further from the source so for 
PM10 the potential human receptors within 500m are considered.  
 
While the Council’s Air Quality Officer raises no objections to the development, he does 
note that based on previous knowledge of receiving complaints from Heol y Felin when 
the Nant Helen mounds were being formed (shifting of overburden), he would 
recommend that opencast style bowsers are used to minimise dust emissions in the 
same manner has been the case at Celtic Energy’s opencast sites. Such matters can 
be adequately addressed through the submission of a Dust Management Action Plan 
which along with a condition requiring approval of a final Construction Environmental 
Management Plan (CEMP) which would include dust management controls, would 
ensure the proposal would be acceptable in terms of air quality and accord with Policy 
EN8 of the Local Development Plan. 
 
Impact on Heritage Assets 
 
The Historic Environment (Wales) Act (2016) stands at the centre of 
an integrated suite of legislation, policy, advice and guidance for the 
historic environment, with National policy incorporated within Chapter 6 of Planning 
Policy Wales (Edition 10) and guidance in Technical Advice Note 24: The Historic 
Environment (May 2017. 
 
In addition to the above, Cadw has the following guidance which is of relevance to this 
proposal: - 
 

• Conservation Principles for the Sustainable Management 
of the Historic Environment in Wales - sets out six principles for conservation, 
including that historic assets will be managed to sustain their values and that 
understanding the significance of assets is vital.  
 

• Heritage Impact Assessment in Wales – emphasises principles for creating a 
Heritage Impact Statement, in particular the need for ‘sufficient information to 
enable both the significance of the asset and the impact of change to be 
understood’. 

 
• Setting of Historic Assets in Wales - explains what setting is, how it contributes to 

the significance of a historic asset and why it is important. 
 
PPW states that the planning system must take into account the Welsh Government’s 
objectives to protect, conserve, promote and enhance the historic environment as a 
resource for the general well-being of present and future generations (para 6.1.5). 
Therefore, any decisions made through the planning system must fully consider the 
impact on the historic environment and on the significance and heritage values of 
individual historic assets and their contribution to the character of place (para 6.1.9) 

Tudalen40



   

 
TAN 24: The Historic Environment, elaborates by explaining that there is a presumption 
against proposals which will have a significant impact on the setting of remains. 
 
The relevant Policies in the NPT LDP are: - 
 

• Policy SP21 Built Environment and Historic Heritage; 
• Policy BE 1: Design; 

 
Additionally, heritage issues are addressed by the Council’s approved Historic 
Environment SPG (adopted April 2019). 
 
The proposed development’s heritage impact has been considered within the Chapter 
8: Cultural Heritage of the Environmental Statement and its appendices; which include 
a Historic Environment Baseline Assessment, Written Scheme of Investigation 
submitted to Clwyd-Powys Archaeological Trust and Glamorgan Gwent Archaeological 
Trust, and a pre-application enquiry submitted to CADW, along with subsequent 
responses.   
 
Affected Historic Assets 
 
Section 8 of the ES identifies 113 heritage assets (listed buildings, scheduled 
monuments and a historic park and garden) within the inner and outer study areas, of 
which there is one SM and 35 non-designated heritage assets located within the site 
boundary (NPT & PCC).  Also located particularly close to the site is the Bryn Llechwen 
ring cairn (BR327), a funerary monument probably of Bronze Age date.  Additionally, 
eight historic landscape areas were identified within or in proximity to the site. 
 
Of the above, the asset of most significance in itself and due to the potential impacts, is 
‘The Tramroad at Ystradgynlais (Claypon’s Extension) (CH001)’ which is a nationally 
important earthwork dating to the 1830s designated as a Scheduled Monument (SM). 
Potential impacts are on the SM and its setting. The Tramroad is 6.44km in length and 
runs from Ystradgynlais across Mynydd y Drum through the application site towards 
where the Onllwyn Washery is today. The extent of the SM in the location of the site is 
shown on figure 6 below (being located on the joint boundary of NPT and PCC), which 
also shows designated heritage assets (extracted from the ES Fig 8.1). 
 
The tramroad was built using a hybrid of horse-drawn and steam-driven technology, 
making it a historically significant feat of engineering, and formed part of the Brecon 
Forest Tramroad which was a vitally important route for the movement of raw materials 
for the flourishing iron trade in the area.  
 
The ES acknowledges that it is a heritage asset of high value whose National importance 
is derived from its potential to enhance and illustrate our knowledge and understanding 
of the raw materials transportation network from nineteenth century iron industries.  
 

Tudalen41



   

   
Figure 6: Designated Heritage Assets 

 

 
Potential Effects on Historic Assets 
 
Section 8 of the ES identifies those aspects of the Project which may have an effect on 
cultural heritage assets including: 
 

• Ground preparation work, including the removal of topsoil prior to the building up 
of embankments; 

• The excavation of cuttings; 
• The excavation of trenches for drainage works; 
• The alteration of the setting of heritage assets. 

 
Impact on Tramroad / Scheduled Monument 
 
Given that the extent of site within NPT is limited, the primary heritage impact for this 
report to address concerns the impact on the scheduled tramroad (and its setting), with 
the alignment of the proposed earthworks intersecting the Tramroad SM at limited 
intervals along the southern extent of the application site. 
 
The proposed earthworks would cross the Scheduled Monument near its eastern end, 
permanently burying 450m section of it, with three drainage pipes also required to be 
installed across the Scheduled Monument where the embankment crosses it. Trenches, 
circa 2.1m in width and 15m in length would also be cut into the surface of the Scheduled 
Monument prior to its burial. It is noted, however, that the exact details will be subject to 
Scheduled Monument Consent. 
 
The extent of the works are identified on figures 7 and 8 below. 

Tudalen42



   

 
Figure 7 :  

 

 
Figure 8 :  

 

Although the 450m stretch would equate to only 7% of the monument’s entire 6.44km 
length, the cutting of the trenches and the burial under the embankment would interfere 
with the existing linear nature of the feature and lead to a loss of legibility as well as the 
removal of part of its physical fabric. Given the archaeological and historical values of 
this monument, the ES identifies that this would constitute a permanent major adverse 
significance of effect. 
 

Tudalen43



   

In order to mitigate this, no topsoil would be removed during the construction of the 
embankment and any benches required to provide the necessary gradient would be cut 
outside of the scheduled area. Although the Scheduled Monument would remain largely 
intact beneath the new embankment, there would be an interruption in its legibility, with 
the east and western sections of it divided. This would have an adverse effect on how 
the monument can be understood.  
 
It is noted that the applicant’s agent has liaised with Cadw throughout the pre-application 
stages and as part of the statutory Pre-Application Consultation (PAC) to identify the 
impacts and understand their views. In this respect, Cadw have consistently 
emphasised that the conservation of archaeological remains and their settings is a 
material consideration in determining a planning application, whether those remains are 
a scheduled monument or not. Where nationally important archaeological remains are 
likely to be affected by proposed development, there should be a presumption in favour 
of their physical protection in situ. It will only be in exceptional circumstances that 
planning permission will be granted if development would result in a direct adverse 
impact on a scheduled monument (or an archaeological site shown to be of national 
importance). (Paragraph 6.1.24 of Planning Policy Wales (Edition 10).  
 
Moreover Technical Advice Note 24: The Historic Environment further states that there 
is a primary presumption against proposals which would involve significant alteration or 
cause damage, or would have a significant adverse impact causing harm within the 
setting of the remains.   
 
To that extent, the socio-economic section below summarises some clearly defined 
positive impacts associated with a potential rail proposal and a 
leisure/recreation/tourism end use for the site in terms of employment and economic 
regeneration transformative impacts which the applicant considers indicate that 
exceptional circumstances arise in this case. 
 
Cadw’s formal response on this application has reiterated such earlier advice, noting 
that the ES explains that there will be a direct and permanent, major adverse impact 
on the scheduled Tramroad at Ystradgynlais (GM399).  Accordingly they further state 
that “this adverse impact will be significant and is contrary to national planning policy 
contained in section 6.1.24 of Planning Policy Wales 2018.  Therefore, your authority 
will need to weigh this direct significantly adverse impact against the economic and other 
benefits”. 
 
In this respect they note that Planning Policy Wales explains that it is important that the 
planning system looks to protect, conserve and enhance the significance of historic 
assets. This will include consideration of the setting of an historic asset which might 
extend beyond its curtilage. Any change that impacts on an historic asset or its setting 
should be managed in a sensitive and sustainable way. 
 
Having regard to the above it is of note that, irrespective of any planning permission that 
may be forthcoming for this development, the works identified above to the Scheduled 
Monument cannot lawfully be undertaken until such time as Scheduled Monument 
Consent (SMC) is granted by the Welsh Ministers.   
 

Tudalen44

http://gov.wales/topics/planning/policy/tans/tan-24/?lang=en
https://gov.wales/sites/default/files/publications/2019-02/planning-policy-wales-edition-10.pdf


   

During the PAC process Cadw stated that they had “significant concerns about the 
permanent major adverse and significant impact on the Scheduled Monument of the 
tramroad at Ystradynlais unless the scheme is redesigned”, considering the proposals 
to be contrary to TAN 24 and PPW.  Cadw thus “recommended that the scheme is 
redesigned” and the application for a Scheduled Monument Consent (SMC) be “made 
before submitting the planning application to ensure the setting is acceptable”.   
 
In light of the above concerns the agent continues to liaise with Cadw and is currently 
preparing the application for SMC to allow Cadw to fully consider this matter.  
 
The ES has identified that physical constraints on the site, together with fundamental 
design parameters associated with the potential rail test track proposal, have dictated 
the proposed earthworks design and ultimately made it impossible to implement the rail 
proposal (should it be granted) and avoid the monument in its entirety. In the 
leisure/tourism development scenario, however there is more scope to design facilities 
such that the monument is left undisturbed. 
 
Cadw’s formal response on the current application has thus now stated that each 
Authority “will need to weigh this direct significantly adverse impact against the 
economic and other benefits. It is for the local planning authority to weigh our 
assessment against all the other material considerations in determining whether to 
approve planning permission”.  
 
For the purpose of this assessment, however, it is considered that the identified major 
adverse effects for this application would only be outweighed in the event that Cadw is 
satisfied with the justification for such works (through the SMC process).  In this respect, 
it is considered that the extent of works and leisure afteruse proposed by the current 
application would not constitute the necessary exceptional circumstances to outweigh 
the harm to the heritage asset, and thus development (in the scheduled area) would be 
contrary to PPW and TAN24.   
 
Nevertheless, the earthworks proposed under this application also form part of potential 
enabling works to facilitate industrial uses including the Welsh Government’s proposed 
rail testing, research and development and storage facility, called the Global Centre of 
Rail Excellence (GCRE). The Pre-Application Consultation (PAC) for that project is due 
in August / September 2020, and an application to both LPAs is due to be made shortly 
after closing of the PAC period. 
 
Such an industrial proposal could potentially provide the additional justification for the 
works to the Scheduled Monument necessary to amount to exceptional circumstances 
- albeit it is emphasised that this does not form part of this application and would require 
careful and detailed assessment at application stage.  As detailed elsewhere in this 
report, facilitating the approval of the required earthworks at this stage would provide 
such a rail project with the greatest opportunity for success through enabling advanced 
earthworks to be undertaken. Refusing the application on the basis of impact on the 
scheduled area would therefore potentially fatally undermine the potential to deliver such 
a project in future, with its likely substantial economic and other benefits.  
 
 

Tudalen45



   

In this respect, while the extent of works close to the SM would have no unacceptable 
impact on its setting, in the absence of such exceptional justification (which can only be 
considered under the later application), or SMC being issued, it is concluded that works 
should not be allowed within the scheduled area of the SM.   
 
This, however, is considered to be easy to address through the imposition of a Grampian 
condition that will prevent any works that will impact upon the scheduled area until such 
time as SMC has been granted.  This means that Cadw will retain control over the works 
to the scheduled area, but will also allow for permission to be granted at this stage and 
for works to continue on the earthworks under this application outside of the scheduled 
area, and for such works within the scheduled area to then be implemented swiftly 
following any issue of SMC (should it be forthcoming).   
 
Such a condition will also afford the applicants the opportunity, should SMC not be 
forthcoming, to apply under that condition for amendments to the landform in that area 
(including drainage, landscaping etc.), thus allowing further assessment and public 
scrutiny of impacts of the changed landscape but without the need for a formal 
application (under s73). 
 
Archaeological monitoring would also be required during construction to ensure that no 
physical damage is done to the Scheduled Monument during construction. 
 
In terms of its historic landscape setting, LANDMAP shows that almost all of the site is 
within the Onllwyn Historic Landscape Area – which includes both modern and historic 
extraction. It has been evaluated as of low value. In terms of its archaeological setting 
the area is known to have had small to medium scale extraction in the post-medieval 
and modern periods. There is no evidence that any features of importance have survived 
at ground level.   
 
Settings of other Scheduled Monuments 
 
Six other Scheduled Monuments, all prehistoric in date, have been identified as having 
the site within their settings.  The closest of these, the Bryn Llechwen ring cairn, is 
located c130m west of the site (in PCC) and there is the potential for an adverse effect 
arising from the change to the cairn’s setting as it would have clear views across the 
entire site.  
 
The ES identifies that there would be no permanent effects on the cairn arising from the 
creation of the Project, however during construction and until the embankments have 
grassed over, there would be a temporary adverse effect resulting from the increased 
noise, lighting and appearance of construction activities happening only a short distance 
from the cairn. Overall there would be a minor magnitude of impact, resulting in a 
temporary minor adverse significance of effect. This is not significant. 
 
Cadw has confirmed that they have no concerns about the impact on the Bryn Lechwen 
Ring Cairn (BR327) as a temporary impact on setting will cease once development is 
completed. 
 

Tudalen46



   

Impact on Listed Buildings  
 
Section 66 of the Planning (Listed Buildings and Conservation areas) Act 1990 requires 
Authorities considering applications for planning permission which affect a listed building 
to have special regard to certain matters, including the desirability of preserving the 
setting of the building. 
 
The ES identified 18 heritage assets as requiring further assessment in relation to 
impacts arising from changes to their setting (section A4.1.32 of Appendix 8A heritage 
Desk based Assessment) 10 of which are scheduled monuments (and as such an 
assessment of the setting has been made by Cadw), the remaining 8 are listed buildings 
of which 7 are within Powys County Council and one within NPT. 
 
The ES has made an assessment on the setting of these assets, which is accepted and 
on which basis, and having special regard to the s66 matters, it is concluded that the 
setting of the identified listed buildings would not be harmed by the proposal. 
 
Other Matters 
 
In addition to the known heritage assets within the site there is the potential for 
previously unrecorded archaeological remains to be removed during construction. While 
the archaeological potential for much of the site is negligible, due to past open cast 
mining, two areas in the north and south of the site (Areas B and C, Figure 8.4) were 
identified with greater potential. In both cases, 19th and 20th century mining activities 
were identified, which make the potential for archaeological remains pre-dating the post-
medieval period unlikely. However, there is a high potential for archaeological remains 
of late post-medieval and modern date within these areas.  
 
The full details of any archaeological mitigation should be agreed with the archaeological 
advisors of GGAT (and CPAT in Powys) and be undertaken under an agreed Written 
Scheme of Investigation approved by CPAT and GGAT and carried out by an 
appropriately qualified archaeological contractor. 
 
Impact on Non-Designated Heritage Assets 
 
While there are other archaeological remains (non-designated assets) within the site 
(see figure 9 below) notably for NPT the majority are outside of the current site boundary.  
Moreover, the ES identifies that there would only be a minor adverse significance of 
effect.  GGAT raise no objections to such impacts subject to the conditions detailed 
above. 
 

Tudalen47



   

 
 Figure 9 : Non-Designated Heritage Assets 
 

Heritage - Conclusion 
 
The above assessment emphasises that the degree of impacts arising from the 
development on designated and non-designated heritage assets would not be 
significant in the majority of circumstances.  The exception to this is the impact on the 
scheduled tramroad, which is considered to be permanent and significant adverse.  
Moreover, the benefits of this development, while not insignificant in themselves and as 
part of the potential industrial after use, would at this time not amount to the exceptional 
circumstances necessary to justify the permanent works required to create the land 
platform in the scheduled area. 
 
Nevertheless, with the exception of the actual works affecting the tramroad, the 
development would not have any unacceptable adverse impacts, and having regard to 
the benefits of granting permission for the earthworks as a flexible landform for future 
use, and for the potential rail centre delivery timescales, this assessment recommends 
that planning permission is granted subject to a specific Grampian condition which 
precludes any works within the scheduled area (together with an option to submit 
alternative details of the amended landform in and around this area should SMC not be 
granted) alongside other archaeological conditions to protect the archaeological 
resource. 
 
Parking and Access Requirements and Impact on Highway Safety 
 
Welsh Government Transport initially directed that a condition be imposed requiring a 
Construction Traffic Management Plan (TMP) to be submitted to and approved by the 
Local Planning Authority on the basis that 300-600 vehicle movements were proposed 
per day. The applicant has subsequently clarified that these movements are internal site 
movements and the proposals will not generate any significant additional traffic on the 
highway.  
 

Tudalen48



   

As a consequence, WG have confirmed that the direction to impose the condition is 
therefore removed, a stance which the Council’s highway Officer agrees with. 
 
The existing access road (in Powys) will be retained and any change to the number of 
vehicle movements is considered to be minimal as the activity will be carried out in 
combination with the proposed restoration works, without any significant change in the 
number of items of plant or plant operatives. 
 
Accordingly there are no highway objections to the proposed development. 
 
Impact on Public Access and Common Land 
 
The proposed development’s impact on public access has been assessed within 
Chapter 4: Public Rights of Way (PRoW) and Common Land of the Environmental 
Statement.  Impact has been assessed in the context of the PRoW that cross the site 
and the extent of common land associated with Mynydd-y-Drum that falls within the 
site’s boundary.   
 
In Planning Policy Wales, PRoW and other publicly accessible recreational areas that 
are natural or semi natural in character, such as Common Land, are treated as forms of 
green infrastructure, collectively with other features of a similar nature including wildlife 
corridors.  
 
PPW also specifically identifies Common land as a finite resource that should not be 
developed unnecessarily. Access to it should not be prevented or impeded 
unnecessarily to ensure its proper management (para 6.3.17). It should be noted that, 
in addition to planning permission, certain works which prevent or impede access to or 
over common land or involve new resurfacing require consent from Welsh Ministers. 
 
National Planning policy requires that green infrastructure is treated as being important 
in facilitating opportunities for people to improve their health and wellbeing. The planning 
system should protect and enhance green infrastructure assets and networks on this 
basis.  The PRoW and common land are predominantly located within Powys but extend 
into Neath Port Talbot, albeit beyond the limits of the site. Notwithstanding that, the 
contiguity of features and uninterrupted cross boundary usage by the public will be 
important to preserve.   
 
Many of the PRoW were suspended or diverted to facilitate the operation of Nant Helen 
Surface Mine. The Environmental Statement includes the suspension order and 
mapping which was applied for by Celtic Energy under Section 15 of the Opencast Coal 
Act 1958 to suspend some routes and to provide alternative routes. These have been 
in place since 1997. Access to the Common Land has also been extended by legal 
agreements in place between the Commoners and the applicant. 
 
Both PRoW and common land suspension conditions are expected to persist during 
construction of the proposed development and potential for further adverse effects are 
therefore limited during this time. Post completion, the baseline used for assessment is 
that created by the restored state of Nant Helen Surface Mine, reinstating both access 
to common land, and PRoW in accordance with the definitive map.     
 

Tudalen49



   

The proposed earthworks would in the applicants’ view complement the restoration 
scheme, allowing for the reinstatement of PRoW and common land access to re-
establish the function of the site as an area of public use for recreation, alongside 
commoner use for agriculture.  
 
Some of the PRoW will not be reinstated along their historical alignment and modest 
diversions will be required to facilitate the earthworks. It is not considered that these 
diversions will undermine the holistic function of the PRoW network or impinge on public 
rights of access, whether within or across the site, or where PRoW may form contiguous 
links beyond. . A statutory process for the diversion of the definitive routes will however 
have to be followed. Notwithstanding statutory processes required, it is not considered 
the there is any conflict with policies within the Local Development Plan. 
 
Specifically in respect of rights of way within the NPT boundary, the Rights of Way 
Officer has advised that there is a bridleway (BR26 Dulais Higher) that travels along the 
old tramway (scheduled monument) which is also registered on the Powys Definitive 
Map (being on 2 Definitive maps is very unusual).  There is also a footpath within the 
site boundary (FP15 Dulais Higher).  Both of these are shown on the plan extract below. 
 

 
 Figure 10: Rights of Way in NPT 

 
 
In Powys a number of public rights of way cross the site and will be affected by the 
proposed earthworks, being footpaths 40, 19, 90, 49, 7, 11 and 17 and bridleway 45. 
Most of these paths are currently suspended via an Order under the Opencast Coal 
Order. During construction, an additional temporary closure of parts of bridleway 45 and 
footpath 19 will be required to ensure public safety.  
 
The public rights of way that are suspended under the Opencast Coal Order are to be 
reinstated as part of the revised restoration scheme for the Nant Helen opencast coal 
site. As the applicant has identified, the earthworks will impact on the reinstated routes 
of the paths, due to the gradient of the slopes of the earthwork. Legal diversions will be 
required to allow for the earthworks to be constructed. Such legal diversions can include 
any proposal relating to NPTs PROW network as above. 
 

Tudalen50



   

In terms of timescales, it is of note that planning permission does not, in itself, grant 
permission for the diversion of a public right of way; a separate legal process must be 
followed which requires the making and confirmation of a public path Order. As noted in 
the Environmental Statement, the options for diverting these paths are under 
consideration and will be subject of a pubic consultation exercise. The proposed 
earthwork must not be constructed over the existing lines of the paths, until such time 
as the legal diversion process is complete as it is an offence to develop over the line of 
a public right of way. 
 
In addition, the proposed earthworks will affect registered commons BCL78 (Mynydd-y-
Drum) and BCL136 (Land near Abercrave Station.) There are grazing rights recorded in 
the Register of Common Land as being exercisable over BCL78 (Mynydd-y-Drum) 
common; no grazing rights are registered over BCLI36 (Land near Abercrave Station). 
Both commons benefit from a right of access on foot for recreation, under the 
Countryside and Rights of Way Act 2000, although the Nant Helen opencast coal site 
area is excepted from that right of access. 
 
Common land does benefit from a high degree of legal protection. Under section 38 of 
the Commons Act 2006, it is unlawful for 'restricted works' to take place on common 
land without prior consent. Construction of the earthworks and associated drainage is 
likely to constitute restricted works: a separate legal process will need to be undertaken 
to seek common land consent for these works.  
 
Biodiversity / Ecology  
 
The proposed development’s impact on biodiversity has been assessed within Chapter 
7: Biodiversity of the Environmental Statement and its appendices which include an 
extensive collection of habitat and species surveys, reports and figures.  
 
The Chapter documents survey work undertaken in relation to habitats and species in 
addition to reporting the value of receptors and assessing the effects arising from the 
site construction (and associated enabling works such as vegetation clearance), and the 
operation of the proposed development. The chapter also documents measures to 
mitigate and compensate these effects. Enhancement measures, which go beyond 
mitigating effects, are also identified. The residual effects following the inclusion of these 
measures are then assessed. 
 
Impact has been assessed in the context of designated sites, the habitats present within 
the application site, the biodiversity that it supports currently (to inform impacts during 
construction) and would subsequently support after Nant Helen Surface Mine has 
ceased operations and the land has been restored.   
 
‘Notable’ species and habitats considered include species and habitats of principal 
importance for the purpose of maintaining and enhancing biodiversity in relation to the 
requirements of Section 7 of the Environment (Wales) Act 2016. This is in addition to 
any species considered to be of significance for nature conservation such species listed 
in red data books, the Royal Society for the Protection of Birds (RSPB) ‘Birds of 
Conservation Concern’ lists and or Local Biodiversity Action Plans (LBAPs). 
 

Tudalen51



   

Policy on biodiversity is based on a range of European directives transposed into UK 
legislation that make provision for designated European sites (SSSI, SACs, SPAs and 
Ramsar) and regulations for controlling the effects of development.  It is also based on 
a range of national legislation not necessarily borne out of European directives, but 
domestic drivers.   
 
Planning Policy Wales bases its policy position on the Environment (Wales) Act 2016, 
which was introduced to maintain and where possible enhance biodiversity and the 
resilience of ecosystems (Section 6 Duty). PPW sets out that planning authorities must 
seek to maintain and enhance biodiversity in the exercise of their functions. This means 
that development should not cause any significant loss of habitats or populations of 
species, locally or nationally and must provide a net benefit for biodiversity. 
 
Subsequent guidance issued by Welsh Government has clarified that in light of the PPW 
and the Environment (Wales) Act 2016, where biodiversity enhancement is not 
proposed as part of an application, significant weight will be given to its absence, and 
unless other significant material considerations indicate otherwise it will be necessary 
to refuse permission. 
 
Within the LDP, Policies SP15, EN6 and EN7 seek to protect, conserve, enhance and 
manage biodiversity and geodiversity and, where harm is unavoidable, to ensure 
effective mitigation measures are required to ensure there is no reduction in the overall 
value of the area or feature; and to protect important natural features. 
 
Protected Sites - Special Areas of Conservation (SAC) / Sites of Special Scientific 
Interest (SSSI) 
 
The site is an active surface coal mine and there are no designated sites within its 
boundary. There are several designated sites beyond, Coedydd Nedd a Mellte SAC is 
4.3km from the site and Cwm Cadlan SAC is 9.5km from the site. The potential effects 
on these sites arising from the proposed development, whether during construction or 
after completion, are negligible due to the lack of source-pathway-receptor linkages.  
NRW and both Council Ecologists agree with the conclusion that there would be no likely 
significant effect to the SACs and their associated features either alone or in 
combination with other plans or projects and that no further assessment under the 
Conservation of Habitats and Species Regulations 2017 (as amended) would be 
required. 
 
The same is true for all bar one of the SSSI within 5km of the site. The Nant Llech SSSI 
is the only one that is hydrologically connected to the site and as such there is potential 
for the site to be affected by pollution events and surface water run-off containing high 
sediment loads. In light of the nature of the proposed development the ES concludes 
that any adverse effects would be temporary, and reversible. Pollution control measures 
have been identified within the ES and Appendix 3B – Outline Construction 
Environmental Management Plan, the outline measures identified are considered 
acceptable and appropriate to minimise the risk of impacts from the proposed 
development. It is noted that NRW have identified in their response that subject to the 
outlined pollution prevention measures being implemented the proposed development 
would not be likely to damage the features for which the Nant Llech SSSI is designated 
and have recommended that a pre-commencement condition requiring the submission 

Tudalen52



   

of a detailed Construction Environmental Management Plan is included should the 
Authority be minded to approve the application. The Council Ecologists agree with this 
recommendation and consider that this requirement is necessary in order to ensure the 
development complies with the requirements of LDP Policies SP16, EN6 and EN8. 
 
Locally-Designated SINCs 
 
There are 5 SINCs within 2km of the site but there is significant spatial and physical 
separation between the site from these SINCs, and as such no effects (either direct or 
indirect) are considered likely.  The Council Ecologists are satisfied that this conclusion 
is appropriate. 
 
Ancient Woodland 
 
There are a number of areas of ancient woodland, within 1 km of the site and there is 
one area of recorded PAWS ancient woodland within the (Powys) site boundary.  
However, the submitted evidence would suggest that the area of conifer plantation to be 
lost as a result of the project is not PAW as it was worked in the 1970s as part of the 
Abercrave/Gwaunton surface mine and therefore any ground flora, soils and seed beds 
have been destroyed. The woodland has been demonstrated to be on backfilled 
material/overburden and not, in-situ woodland soils.  The Council Ecologists have 
reviewed the evidence and assessment provided with regards to the area identified as 
PAWS Ancient Woodland habitat on the Ancient Woodland Inventory and are satisfied 
that the habitat present does not actually meet the requirements which would qualify it 
as ancient woodland habitat and therefore would not require the level of protection 
afforded to habitats of this type under National and Local Planning Policies and is 
instead dealt with in terms of general woodland habitat loss. 
 
Habitats 
 
Past habitat surveys associated with the consenting of the current operations at the site 
indicated the presence of plantation woodland, broadleaved woodland, hedgerows, 
scrub, acid marshy/grassland, mire, ephemeral/short perennial, watercourses and 
standing water. Recent habitat surveys indicated little change besides fluctuating water 
levels within water bodies and the extension of mining operations.  
 
Earthworks will result in habitat loss, where cuttings and embankments are constructed. 
In addition, temporary works such as construction compounds and access may require 
habitat loss. Habitat loss will directly affect notable habitats, protected and notable 
species known to occur within, and adjacent to, the site. Indirect effects to species may 
also occur such as reduced breeding and foraging success, as a result of reduced 
habitat availability, and which may lead to extinction where populations are small and or 
isolated. Habitat loss is not anticipated to directly or indirectly affect any protected sites 
in the wider area.  
 
The revised restoration scheme (Figure 1.2) includes the creation of new habitats within 
parts of the site including acid grassland, enclosed pasture and broadleaved woodland. 
As such, these areas of the site will be re-established as acid grassland (once the 
restoration scheme commences).  The restoration scheme (Figure 1.2) also details the 
retention of existing habitats namely acid grassland and waterbodies (as shown on the 

Tudalen53



   

restoration plan), as well as purple moor grassland and heathland (shown on the Phase 
1 plan) within the site boundary. These habitats will be lost during construction.   
 
Thirty-eight habitat types were identified within the site boundary.  Habitats lost within 
the site boundary during construction would total 72.03ha in area. The proposed 
earthworks would interface with the approved mine restoration scheme in such a way 
that would lead to a loss of an additional 12.21ha of habitat that would have otherwise 
been retained. Severance and fragmentation of habitat would cause indirect effects over 
an area of 3.35ha leading to a total habitat loss of 87.59ha.   
 
Through mitigation, any adverse residual impacts from the construction of the proposed 
development can be minimised and bring about enhancements compared to the existing 
site context. Proposals to restore land after coaling operations have ceased will provide 
a mosaic of habitats and waterbodies that in and of themselves enhance biodiversity. 
To mitigate the proposed earthworks interface with this, and to ensure the cumulative 
effect maintains this enhancement, a series of pre-site clearance and construction 
measures are proposed.   
 
A habitat creation and restoration plan illustrates a series of notable habitats to be 
created include fen-mire, heathland, waterbodies and broadleaved woodland, in areas 
currently of less nature conservation value or which will be disturbed during the works.  
The design facilitates the creation of a habitat mosaic using a varied landform. This 
includes the creation of shallow scrapes of varying sizes within the small enclosed area 
in the south east of the site, and immediately north of this, which will facilitate the 
establishment of wetlands and aquatic emergent vegetation, and likely shallow peat 
(over time).  The re-profiled overburden mound within the larger enclosed area, will 
facilitate the establishment of heathland on its slopes and marshy grassland on its 
plateau. To compensate for likely impacts on the fen-mire habitat (and mosaic of open 
water and wet heath), because of hydrology changes from the project, it is proposed 
that a similar habitat complex could be created within the site and secured by planning 
condition.  Tree planting of native broadleaved tree species is proposed in the north 
western corner of the site (in an area of existing conifer), in an area designated as 
plantation on ancient woodland, therefore improving the nature conservation value of 
this woodland and providing connectivity to new planting proposed as part of the 
approved restoration plan. In combination, measures to create and enhance habitat will 
benefit an area of approximately 226ha.  
 
The Council Ecologists note that the ES identifies that the long term maintenance and 
monitoring of newly established habitat and other habitats which will be retained and 
protected will be detailed within an Ecological Management and Monitoring Plan 
(EMMP), and the proposals with regards to creation and enhancement of habitats to 
address the identified habitat loss as a result of the proposed development are 
considered to be appropriate and acceptable. In addition the principles outlined with 
regards to the EMMP are considered to be acceptable and it is therefore recommended 
that a condition to secure the submission of a detailed Ecological Management and 
Monitoring Plan building on the principles outlined in Section 7.20 of the ES for approval 
by the LPA is included to ensure compliance with LDP Policies EN6 and EN7 which it is 
recommended that the condition states that the EMMP covers a period of 25 years. 
 

Tudalen54



   

Impact on Protected Species 
 
The ES has incorporated an assessment and associated species survey reports 
including Bats, riparian mammals, dormouse and amphibians, along with an evaluation 
of impacts on important ecological receptors. Details of the identified impacts and 
proposed mitigation have been summarised in Table 7.14 (Appendix 7O of the ES).  
 
The Council Ecologists have advised that the assessment and identified mitigation are 
considered to be appropriate with regards to the impacts identified for each species 
considered. Section 7.20 of the ES identifies the production of detailed CEMP, 
Ecological Management and Monitoring Plan (EMMP) and Ecological Protection Plan 
(EPP) and outlines measures which would be implemented to deliver the identified 
mitigation measures. The outline measures include pre-commencement surveys for 
breeding birds, bats, otter, badger and reptiles, implementation of a reptile trapping and 
translocation programme, identification of species translocation protocols, Ecological 
Clerk of Works supervision, protection of retained habitats.  
 
Based on the survey results and the mitigation measures proposed, NRW has also 
confirmed that they are satisfied that the proposal is unlikely to affect European Protected 
Species (EPS), however the potential for species such as bats and otters to be present 
could not be fully discounted.  Noting that due to the nature and scale of the proposal 
works will be carried out at different phases, they agree with the recommendations 
made in section 7.20 of the ES that pre-construction surveys for bats and otter will be 
required to establish whether these species are going to be affected. Pre-construction 
surveys will form part of the CEMP. 
 
The Council Ecologists have similarly concluded that subject to the implementation of 
the identified mitigation and enhancement measures within a EMMP, CEMP and EPP, 
the proposals would comply with national and LDP Policies. However it is essential that 
submission of detailed versions of these documents are secured through appropriately 
worded pre-commencement planning conditions including appropriate details of 
mitigation, monitoring and remediation protocols.  Further that the management and 
monitoring plans will need to be of sufficient duration to ensure establishment of the 
relevant habitats/features of ecological value and in this repect they recommended that 
the EMMP covers a period of 25 years. 

 
Biosecurity 
 
NRW has advised that biosecurity is a material consideration owing to the nature and 
location of the proposal. In this case, biosecurity issues concern Invasive Non Native 
Species (INNS) due to Extended Phase 1 Habitat Survey confirming the presence of 
Japanese knotweed (Fallopia japonica), montbretia (Crocosmia x crocosmiiflora), wall 
cotoneaster (Cotoneaster horizontalis) and rhododendron (Rhododendron ponticum).  
 
While the locations of the INNS identified in the survey are outside of the planning 
application boundary, there is potential for some of these species to become established 
in the development site prior to construction commencing. Therefore, it is necessary to 
consider the potential effects and prepare accordingly. 
 

Tudalen55



   

They further note that while the PAC report stated that an INNS Management Plan will 
be produced as part of the CEMP, the outline CEMP (Arup, April 2020) is not included. 
Accordingly they state that the INNS Management Plan should be integrated within the 
CEMP and its submission and implementation secured via Condition. 
 
Biodiversity Conclusion 
 
Having regard to the above assessment, it is concluded that the impacts of the 
development both during and post construction and ongoing future management and 
monitoring can address the impacts on biodiversity to an acceptable degree. 
Accordingly, it is concluded that subject to the submission of a CEMP, EMO and EPP 
and associated supportive documents to ensure necessary management measures are 
agreed prior to commencement of development, or phase of development and 
implemented for the protection of the environment during construction, the proposed 
development would broadly accord with the policy objectives of PPW and with LDP 
Policies SP16, EN6 and EN7. 
 
Ground Water / Hydrological Impact (sustainable drainage, water quality and flood risk) 
 
The proposed development’s impact on the water environment has been assessed 
within Chapter 5: Water Environment of the submitted Environmental Statement. For the 
purposes of the ES, the water environment has been considered to comprise the 
following elements within the study area:   
 

 The water quality and hydromorphology of surface waters;   

 Groundwater quality, level and flow;   

 Terrestrial ecosystems that are dependent on groundwater; and    

 Flood risk to and resulting from the project. 
 
As for the geotechnical section above, significant public concern has been expressed 
(by Powys residents) about the impact of inadequate drainage on the stability of the 
proposed northern embankment as well as the exacerbation of surface water flooding 
currently being experienced in areas to the north of the site, especially Caehopkin.  
 
Concern has also been expressed about the potential impact from the two water 
features to be created by the Nant Helen Opencast Mine Restoration Scheme. However, 
these features have already been approved as part of the mine restoration scheme and 
fall outside of the application site (and NPT boundary).  
 
Planning Policy Wales generally requires the location of development to account for the 
sustainable management of natural resources, ensuring resilience in the context of 
environmental risks, such as those posed by flooding, water quality and water 
ecosystems, mitigating any negative effects accordingly.   
 
It also states that planning authorities should be aware of the risk of surface water 
flooding, usually caused by heavy rainfall, and ensure developments are designed and 
planned to minimise potential impacts. Development should not cause additional run-
off, which can be achieved by controlling surface water as near to the source as possible 
by the use of SuDS (para 6.6.27). The Drainage Officer has confirmed that SuDS will 

Tudalen56



   

be required in this case and that pre-application discussions in respect of the required 
application are ongoing. 
 
The site is located almost entirely in the headwaters of the Afon Tawe and Afon Dulais 
catchments, with a very small area to the east of the site draining to the Afon Pyrddin 
catchment. The larger part of the site drains towards the Afon Tawe to the north, with 
the southern part of the site draining to the Afon Dulais to the south.  
 
The northern half of the site sitting within the Tawe catchment contains several small 
unnamed streams which drain in a northerly direction towards the River Tawe. The River 
Tawe is the largest watercourse within the vicinity of the site and flows roughly from east 
to west approximately 500m to the north of the site boundary. 
 
The southern half of the site sits within the Dulais catchment. The River Dulais flows 
roughly from east northeast to west southwest. The Dulais is fed by several tributaries 
most of which are unnamed. One of the tributaries, the Nant Ystalwyn, originates in the 
southwestern corner of the site and flows in a south-westerly direction towards its 
convergence with the Dulais. A collection of other unnamed tributary streams, which 
originate within the southern and central portions of the site, flow in a southerly direction 
to their respective convergences with the River Dulais.  
 
The drainage from the existing Nant Helen Mine site is managed via a series of lagoons 
and settlement ponds prior to discharge into surrounding watercourses. These 
discharges are controlled by NRW under an Environmental Permit. However, during 
restoration the position will change and the ES concludes that there is little to be gained 
in using the current situation as a baseline. 
 
The baseline for the assessment is created by the approved restored land profile and 
features associated with Nant Helen Surface Mine, comprising:  
 

 Six watercourses restored from before coaling operations began;  

 Introduction of two new wetlands;  

 Introduction of attenuation ponds that will discharge to watercourses at 
greenfield run off rates or below greenfield run off rates;  

 Removal of ponds associated with mine workings; and 

 Removal of drainage ditches associated with mine workings.    
 
Having established the baseline position the ES considers the following additional 
elements of the proposed development that have the potential to impact the water 
environment include:   
 

 culverts to tributaries of the River Tawe and River Dulais and drainage ditches;   

 cascading features associated with the culverts;   

 diversions to drainage ditches on site; and   

 removal or relocation of ponds.  
 

The impact of these features has been assessed in the context of surface water quality, 
ground water quality and flood risk. These are assessed following the source – pathway 
– receptor approach, a recognised best practice methodology.    
 

Tudalen57



   

Surface Water Quality  
 
The most likely sources of surface water impacts are:  
 

a. Disturbance of silt/soil generating surface runoff with high sediment 
concentrations (mobilised suspended solids);  

b. Accidental spillage of fuels, oils and chemicals (e.g. concrete, plant fuels/oils, 
lubricants, hydraulic fluids and floating solids such as litter) resulting in pollution 
of watercourses and potential impacts on fish; and   

c. Dewatering discharges containing high levels of suspended solids. 
 
Groundwater Quality  
 
Sources of potential pollutants to groundwater include accidental spills (e.g. fuel from 
vehicle/plant), silt laden waters from excavation activities or from water contaminated 
during specific activities, such as concrete pouring/washing. Potential pathways for 
these pollutants include movement of earth and excavation causing creation of new 
pathways, direct infiltration at source or in the case of spillages, infiltration from the 
surface water features during periods of low flow. 
 
Flood Risk  
 
The site is classified as being at low risk of flooding from coastal and fluvial sources. 
Areas at risk of fluvial flooding are localised to the areas adjacent to the River Tawe, 
River Nant Llech and River Dulais, outside of the site boundary. Although the earthworks 
will involve changes to ground levels, it is not considered that this will present a flood 
risk to the proposed development as the site is not within an area deemed as high flood 
risk. Surface water run-off has the potential to exacerbate the risk of flooding at the River 
Tawe, River Nant Llech and River Dulais, however, site run-off will be captured within 
the attenuation features and discharged at greenfield run-off rates, or to a lower 
discharge rate as specified for particular catchments as part of the restoration scheme.   
This will be dealt with via SuDS. 
 
The most likely sources of hydrological impacts relate to the direct physical modifications 
to surface water features including:  
 

a) culverts to tributaries of the River Tawe and River Dulais and drainage ditches;   
b) cascading features associated with the culverts;   
c) diversions to drainage ditches on site; and   
d) removal or relocation of ponds and drainage ditches. The modifications are 

detailed in the Drainage Strategy that has been submitted in support of the 
planning application.  
 

Design Mitigation  
 
There are several measures built into the proposed development which seek to minimise 
the impact on the water environment. These measures include:  
 

Tudalen58



   

 Attenuation features installed as part of the drainage design to collect surface 
water run-off, the features will be restricted to discharge at greenfield run off rate 
or to a lower discharge rate as specified for the restoration scheme; and  

 Maintaining vegetation adjacent to the streams within the redline boundary is 
necessary to reduce flows and prevent mobilisation of soils.  

 
It is concluded in the ES that by using best practice measures within an industry 
standard Construction and Environmental Management Plan (CEMP) the significance 
of effects on water quality and flood risk during construction will be negligible.  An outline 
CEMP is submitted with the application but a condition requiring a fully detailed CEMP 
to be submitted and approved by the LPA is recommended 
 
After completion, the earthworks are not considered to have an impact on surface water 
quality, groundwater quality or flood risk. Therefore, any significant impacts are limited 
to the effect of the earthworks on hydromorphology and how surface water flows over 
the land.   
 
Introducing culverts, cascading features and diverting ditches will change the drainage 
solution underpinning the design of the approved Nant Helen Mine restoration. 
Mitigation will be required within the detailed design of the embankment and these 
details will be required by condition, and there is no reason to believe at this stage that 
an adequate and acceptable drainage design cannot be provided. Ongoing 
maintenance of the system provided will be the responsibility of the landowner. 
 
NRW has confirmed that as surface water drainage from the site will be discharged via 
a variety of methods into the local water course network and infiltration to natural ground 
will occur on the rest of the site, they have no objection. 
 
In terms of groundwater and surface water, it is expected that the proposed scheme will 
have no adverse impact and is anticipated to be beneficial on the basis that the surface 
water drainage element of the scheme will be designed to reduce the current flooding 
being experienced at Caehopkin. 
 
Cumulative Effects 
 
The ES has also considered whether there would be any cumulative effects in respect 
of other projects under construction or permitted within the scheme 
area, as consideration needs to be given as to whether in combination these impacts 
would result in greater impacts than they would, should they occur independently. 
 
The only projects of note were the Nant Helen Restoration works (committed 
development), and the Global Centre of Rail Excellence (GCRE) (likely development).  
 
The restoration scheme for the site is linked to the planning consent of the open cast 
coal mine at Nant Helen and is therefore development that is committed. Moreover, as 
the restoration is committed to take place the baseline for the ES in any event is in most 
cases the restored site. Consequently, it is accepted that the assessment for the Nant 
Helen Complementary Restoration Earthworks has already included consideration of 
the restoration works into the assessment.  
 

Tudalen59



   

In respect of the potential ‘Global Centre of Rail Excellence’, as identified earlier in this 
report, the GCRE is a Welsh Government proposed Scheme which would use the Nant 
Helen Complementary Restoration Earthworks as the basis for the development of a rail 
testing facility. Should the GCRE project be moved forward, there would likely be 
environmental effects that would need to be considered cumulatively with those of Nant 
Helen. However, at this stage, it is accepted that it is not appropriate to avoid making 
any assumptions within this assessment in regards to cumulative effects.  
 
Socio-Economic Impact 
 
The socio-economic assessment within the submitted ES provides an overview of the 
economic impacts which would arise from the proposed development which, it is 
emphasised, relates at this time only to the creation of a flexible and adaptable landform 
which integrates with the approved restoration scheme for the surface mine. The current 
after uses would be agriculture and nature conservation, however, the landform is 
intended to be flexible and adaptable in order to enabling some form of future 
development and that aspiration needs to be afforded some weight, especially given 
that this would accord with the underlying objectives within Planning Policy Wales for 
sustainable development and creation of healthy, thriving active places with a focus on 
a positive, sustainable future for our communities.   The potential after uses are noted 
in the description of development and must therefore be considered when looking long-
term and in considering the possible socio-economic benefits. 
 
Socio and economic benefits of a proposal underpin both national and local planning 
policies for sustainable development. The scope of the assessment includes potential 
impacts and effects arising during construction of the development and its after use. 
 
This section seeks to identify and assess the proposed socio-economic benefits arising 
from the development, but members should note that the overall ‘planning balance’ is 
considered at the end, having regard to the identified impacts of the development 
throughout this report. 
 
It is of particular note that this proposal is considered an enabling development which 
has the potential benefit of de-risking any proposal for a Global Centre of Rail Excellence 
(GCRE) that may come forward in the future. It has to be stressed that this proposal 
does not consider the acceptability or otherwise of a specific GCRE development and 
in no way seeks to prejudge any planning application that may be made for such a facility 
in the future. However, it is noted in the description of development as a potential end-
use and must be considered when considering the landform proposed, especially since 
it is clear that the landform has primarily (but not exclusively) been designed with such 
an end use in mind as a fundamentally important part of the wider economic and 
business case for such a centre to be located on this site. 
 
The applicants have thus presented within their submissions the positive impacts 
associated with a GCRE proposal in terms of employment and economic regeneration 
locally and the potentially transformative impacts across the rail industry for Wales, UK-
wide and beyond and set out the wide reaching benefits of Celtic Energy’s vision for a 
leisure/recreational/tourism legacy end use for the site 
 

Tudalen60



   

GCRE End Use Benefits 
 
There are several industry-specific issues that a GCRE rail test and research facility 
(wherever it is located) will address which principally are: 
 

• Supporting UK train manufacturers and encouraging the establishment of further 
UK manufacturing facilities and capacity. 

• Supporting the development of a UK digital railway industry by providing high 
quality and safe testing facilities for digital signalling, train control and asset 
management technologies. 

• Delivering high-tonnage endurance testing of railway infrastructure particularly 
track and structures. Such a facility will enable infrastructure to be rapidly tested 
and verified and would be unique in Europe, potentially attracting customers from 
around the world. 

• Removing risk from the introduction of new trains and other assets by allowing 
them to be thoroughly tested prior to introduction.  This would avoid the need for 
new trains, etc to be tested on the national network or rushed into service before 
all performance risks had been dealt with (note issues with new inter-city trains; 
certain electrification assets; and projects such as Crossrail). 

• Tackling ever-rising costs across the rail sector by allowing new technologies to 
be effectively tested and commissioned rather than committing them to 
operations before they are fully developed. 

 
The submissions have emphasised that the UK does not possess anything approaching 
such a high-quality facility as that planned under the GCRE proposal.  It therefore has 
the potential to not only to solve some fundamental industry issues, but to deliver wide-
reaching benefits across a broad spectrum including the local community, the UK (and 
European) railway industry and the Welsh and UK Governments. 
 
There are essentially six main components to the proposal that form an integrated rail 
infrastructure project, which in combination, would make this a unique facility in the UK 
and Europe. Those components in summary are: 
 

• Infrastructure Testing 
• Vehicle Rolling Stock Testing 
• Maintenance and Refurbishment 
• Research and Development 
• Decommissioning 
• Power and Energy 
• Education and Training 

 
Government’s recent Rail Sector Deal has identified the potential of the UK rail industry 
for driving innovation, employment and exports.  Government is also aware of the urgent 
need to improve efficiency, performance and capacity across the UK’s railways. The test 
facilities and associated R&D activities at the proposed GCRE would be instrumental in 
both establishing UK industry at the leading edge of modern railway technology and 
enhancing performance, increasing efficiency and removing risk from the introduction of 
new trains and digital management and control technologies.  

Tudalen61



   

 
Within this broad economic context which has seen the outline business case recently 
submitted to the UK Government, it is of note that the current application (as opposed 
to any future application for a GCRE) forms a fundamental part of the advanced planning 
for such a facility, and of the business case put forward through the welsh Government 
to the UK Government for such a facility to be developed in the South Wales valleys, 
with all its obvious socio-economic benefits.  Simply put, approving such earthworks at 
this time, and allowing these to be undertaken as part of a comprehensive and co-
ordinated development alongside the Nant Helen OCCS restoration, places the GCRE 
project at a significant benefit of delivering the benefits described below.  And yet failing 
to do so would quite probably prejudice the opportunity to do so, given that this 
application is made by the landowners (Celtic) who are willing to undertake such works 
as part of their joint venture with WG. 
 
In terms of benefits, the applicant states that making provision for a landform that would 
facilitate a GCRE facility at this site will potentially assist in delivering great benefits to 
the local community, with over 100 permanent jobs be created at the facility alone, some 
of which would be highly qualified positions for research and development and skilled 
engineering workers. In addition, there would also be direct construction jobs, and in 
terms of Gross Value Added (GVA) the total 10-year benefits plus construction will 
deliver between £31m and £70m to the regional economy (2020 prices).” 
 
Potentially, GCRE would thus not only bring high-quality employment to a deprived area, 
but also help to reduce the productivity gap which exists between the region and the 
rest of the UK. For example, in 2016 the GVA per head in Powys and Neath Port Talbot 
was around £17k, compared to the UK average of £27k.  
 
In addition, the facility would boost the importance of South Wales in the national railway 
industry and create opportunities for local colleges and universities to become more 
active in railway research and training. For example, Coleg y Cymoedd, with its Centre 
of Excellence for Railway Training, could benefit greatly from GCRE by giving its 
students second-to-none practical experience. 
 
GCRE would also generate a consistent flow of inward investment into Wales, 
contributing to policy goals by the DfT of “enhancing our global competitiveness by 
making Britain a more attractive place to trade and invest” (Transport Investment 
Strategy, 2017) and the Welsh Government by “promoting and protecting Wales’ place 
in the world” (Wales National Strategy, 2017). 
 
GCRE would be a unique facility not just in the UK, but in Europe, with European railway 
organisations accelerating their R&D investments through programmes such as the EU-
supported Shift2Rail, the need for testing facilities is increasing, especially for 
infrastructure, which is currently not available anywhere on the continent. By building (or 
in this case facilitating / enabling) GCRE now the facility could position itself as a leader 
in the field of railway infrastructure testing, attracting investment from all over Europe 
and beyond. 
 
Within the context of R&D investments, it is also noted that the UK Government sees 
the decarbonisation of transport as critical and the rail industry of significance in 
achieving a net-zero economy by 2050.To deliver on this objective, the strategy 

Tudalen62



   

identifies the importance of taking up new technologies and the requirement for 
investment in both rail infrastructure and rolling stock. GCRE would provide a testbed 
for new, green railway technologies, hence helping the UK to becoming net-zero by 
2050.  This also demonstrates that GCRE is in line with the Well-being for Future 
Generations Act. 
 
Tourism / Leisure End Use Benefits 
 
On the completion of restoration and following the cessation of coal extraction at Nant 
Helen and processing at the adjacent Onllwyn Washery, approximately 170 jobs (mostly 
local) will be lost. In wishing to ensure a long-term and sustainable socio-economic 
legacy for the site, Celtic Energy has been actively engaging with PCC and NPTCBC 
on setting out the vision for a regeneration strategy for the site and the wider locality.  
 
In this respect, a rail industry proposal is not the only option put forward under this 
application, since if the GCRE development does not happen for whatever reason there 
are alternative uses put forward in the form of Tourism/Leisure End Use Benefits.  
 
The site lies close to several settlements within NPT and Powys and a key foundation 
of the applicant’s vision is the fact that the application site sits adjacent to the National 
Park and enjoys excellent road access from several entry points into the locality from 
the strategic road network. There is a clear opportunity here to take advantage of those 
locational benefits to establish a visitor destination that can help to both complement 
existing resources, help extend the season, whilst also relieve pressure on more 
traditional ’honey pot’ locations within the national park itself. 
 
The vision for the development also focuses around a leisure and tourism offer that 
includes visitor accommodation which will both help create employment, retain spend 
and lengthen the season through a 30-60-bedroom hotel along with self-catering holiday 
lodges nestled in the landscape.  
 
This accommodation offer is one that could come forward separately but also alongside 
the GCRE proposal as it would be a complementary use and one that could be master 
planned accordingly into the site. The in-combination benefits to the economy in terms 
of serving the rail test facility and activity-based tourism including walking, cycling and 
horse riding both on the landform being proposed and in the surrounding area are clear 
and strengthens the business case for the market/investment potential. 
 
There is immense pressure on the National Park with high visitor numbers and this 
development has a clear role to play in alleviating some of that pressure by developing 
a destination based around outdoor leisure activities offering a broad package of ‘play 
and stay’ cycling, walking and horse riding which in turn deepens the activity tourism 
focus of the area.   
 
Overall, the potential socio-economic impact is multi-faceted and could be 
transformational in impact. 
 

Tudalen63



   

Section 106 Planning Obligations 
 
Local Development Plan Policy SP 4 (Infrastructure) states that “Developments will be 
expected to make efficient use of existing infrastructure and where required make 
adequate provision for new infrastructure, ensuring that there are no detrimental effects 
on the area and community. Where necessary, Planning Obligations will be sought to 
ensure that the effects of developments are fully addressed in order to make the 
development acceptable”. 
 
Policy I1 (Infrastructure Requirements) then states that “In addition to infrastructure 
improvements necessary to make a development acceptable in health, safety and 
amenity terms, additional works or funding may be required to ensure that, where 
appropriate, the impact of new development is mitigated.  
 
In this case, and in view of the type and form of development proposed in this location 
and its potential end uses, it is considered that there is no requirement for any planning 
obligations to make the development acceptable in planning terms. 
 
OVERALL ASSESSMENT – ‘THE PLANNING BALANCE’ 
 
PPW10 refers to the need to assess the Sustainable Benefits of Development and (at 
2.24) emphasises that Planning authorities should ensure that social, economic, 
environmental and cultural benefits are considered in the decision-making process and 
assessed in accordance with the five ways of working to ensure a balanced assessment 
is carried out to implement the Well-being of Future Generations Act and the Sustainable 
Development Principle.  
 
Paragraph 3.34 of PPW states the countryside is a dynamic and multi-purpose resource. 
In line with sustainable development and the national planning principles and in 
contributing towards placemaking outcomes, it must be conserved and, where possible, 
enhanced for the sake of its ecological, geological, physiographic, historical, 
archaeological, cultural and agricultural value and for its landscape and natural 
resources. The need to conserve these attributes should be balanced against the 
economic, social and recreational needs of the local communities and visitors. 
 
There may be occasions when one benefit of a development proposal outweighs others, 
and in such cases robust evidence should be presented to support these decisions, 
whilst seeking to maximise contributions against all the well-being goals. 
 
Key factors in the assessment process include: 
 

 Social Considerations,  including: - who are the interested and affected people 
and communities; who will benefit and suffer any impacts from the proposal; what 
are the short and long-term consequences of the proposal on a community;  
 

 Economic Considerations including: - the numbers and types of long term jobs 
expected to be created or retained; whether, and how far, the development will 
help redress economic disadvantage or support regeneration priorities, for 
example by enhancing local employment opportunities  

 

Tudalen64



   

 Cultural Considerations including: - how far the proposal supports the conditions 
that allow for the use of the Welsh language; whether or not the development 
protects areas and assets of cultural and historic significance; have cultural 
considerations and their relationships with the tourism industry been 
appropriately maximised;  
 

 Environmental Considerations including: - will important features of the natural 
and built environment be protected and enhanced; are the environmental impacts 
of development on health and amenity limited to acceptable levels and the 
resilience of ecosystems improved;  

 
At 2.26 it further refers to the need to have an integrated approach to balancing priorities 
against policy on an individual basis, which enables the full range of costs and benefits 
over the lifetime of development to be taken into account. 
 
Section 5 of PPW10 provides further emphasis on the need to develop ‘Productive and 
Enterprising Places’ which promote our economic, social, environmental and cultural 
well-being by providing well-connected employment and sustainable economic 
development. 
 
The role of the Local Planning Authority is therefore to balance the weight to be 
attributed to each of the positive and negative impacts of the development and come to 
a balanced conclusion as to whether the development is acceptable or not. 
 
Balancing Environmental, Social and Economic Impacts 
 
The assessment above has concluded (amongst other things) that: - 
 

 the proposed development would not result in the loss of biodiversity in the long 
term subject to implementation of the proposed mitigation and enhancement 
measures which can be required by condition; 

 Amenity impacts from noise and dust are temporary during construction and can 
be adequately controlled via planning conditions in order to avoid significant 
negative impacts; 

 While some of the PRoW will not be reinstated along their historical alignment 
and modest diversions will be required to facilitate the earthworks, it is not 
considered that these diversions will undermine the holistic function of the PRoW 
network or impinge on public rights of access, whether within or across the site, 
or where PRoW may form contiguous links beyond. Moreover, a statutory 
process for the diversion of the definitive routes will however have to be followed 
in relation to PRoWs and in relation to temporary disturbance via engineering 
works on Common Land. 

 
However, as described earlier in this report the proposed development will have adverse 
local impacts, notably in respect of the following: - 
 

 Landscape / Visual Impacts - the assessment has identified major adverse 
visual impact for at least 15 years when viewed from the north and Brecon 
Beacons National Park in particular, and also from VP18 (within NPT) in views 
across the site towards the National Park. This will potentially have adverse 

Tudalen65



   

impacts on one of the National Park's statutory purposes namely "to conserve 
and enhance the natural beauty, wildlife and cultural heritage of the National 
Park". The NPA also have significant concern that the proposal will adversely 
impact on two of the Special Qualities of the Park — its "sweeping grandeur and 
outstanding natural beauty" and the "working, living "patchwork" of contrasting 
patterns, colours, and textures". 
 
While the magnitude and severity of such impacts will soften over time through 
strategic landscaping (controlled by condition), and could subsequently be 
mitigated by year 15, it has to be accepted that the development will introduce 
large-scale and permanent landscape and visual change. 
 

 Heritage Impacts - The development as proposed would have a major adverse 
impact on the Tramroad Scheduled Monument, with the loss of a section of the 
earthwork under the new embankment leading to a loss of legibility as well as the 
removal of part of its physical fabric. Given the archaeological and historical 
values of this monument, this would constitute a permanent major adverse 
significance of effect. For the purpose of this assessment it has been concluded 
that the extent of works and agricultural/nature conservation after use proposed 
by the current application would not constitute the necessary exceptional 
circumstances to outweigh the harm to the heritage asset, and thus development 
(in the scheduled area) would be contrary to PPW and TAN24.   
 
A future proposal such as the GCRE could potentially provide the additional 
justification for the works to the Scheduled Monument necessary to amount to 
exceptional circumstances - albeit it is emphasised that this does not form part of 
this application and would require careful and detailed assessment at application 
stage.   
 
In this respect, in the absence of such exceptional justification (which can only 
be considered under the later application), or SMC being issued, it is concluded 
that works should not be allowed within the scheduled area of the SM at this 
juncture.  However, the report has also concluded that the major adverse impacts 
would be mitigated through the imposition of a Grampian condition that will 
prevent any works that will impact upon the scheduled area until such time as the 
Welsh Government has issued Scheduled Monument Consent for such works.  
Accordingly, while it is recommended that planning permission is issued for the 
development (based on the overall consideration of impacts, including the 
‘balance’ within this part of the assessment) such adverse impacts would only 
arise in the event WG is satisfied with the detailed case put forward under the 
Scheduled Monument application (which will have regard to the economic case 
for the GCRE referred to below). 
 
It should also be noted that Cadw’s formal response stated that each Authority 
“will need to weigh this direct significantly adverse impact against the economic 
and other benefits. It is for the local planning authority to weigh our assessment 
against all the other material considerations in determining whether to approve 
planning permission”.  
 

Tudalen66



   

Set against these significant impacts, however, are the potential wider economic 
benefits that would arise from the project.  In this respect, for planning purposes the 
Welsh Government defines economic development as “the development of land and 
buildings for activities that generate sustainable long term prosperity, jobs and incomes”. 

 
Having regard to the above and all identified impacts within this report, the following 
matters are of particular note and should be given appropriate weight in the ‘planning 
balance’: -  

 

 The proposal in combination with the amended Nant Helen restoration scheme 
would provide a flexible landform that can be used or adapted for a diverse set 
of future uses. This could range from the traditional agriculture, woodland and 
nature conservation uses, to amenity, leisure and tourism uses (including the 
potential for future tourist accommodation to add to the existing offering within 
the BBNP) that would be designed to help take visitor pressure off the BBNP.  In 
this regard the landform would also make an ideal bridleway / footpath for 
walking, cycling and horse riding. 
 
There are considered to be benefits in providing a flexible and adaptable landform 
as a legacy of opencast mining developments, which has the potential to benefit 
the wider communities in NPT, Powys and the Brecon Beacons, providing long-
term benefits in terms of recreation/leisure and the contribution those 
opportunities make to well-being.  Such uses will positively contribute towards 
the WG vision for creation of healthy, thriving active places with a focus on a 
positive, sustainable future for our communities.   
 

 As outlined in the socio-economic section above, an opportunity has arisen to 
provide a development which would potentially enable future development of 
national importance. At the same time as the Government is seeking a site for a 
Global Centre of Rail Excellence the Nant Helen Surface Mine is coming to an 
end. The Nant Helen site happens to have an existing rail link which is essential, 
along with an adjacent washery which provides the opportunity for associated 
built development for such a facility; earthworks can be aligned with site 
restoration thereby reducing costs; the land area is of sufficient scale to facilitate 
future development of a potential GCRE or future leisure uses, and the site is in 
the ownership of a single owner which simplifies any land deals necessary. This 
opportunity is unlikely to occur elsewhere in the Country. The only other site 
under consideration for a GCRE facility is understood to be in the north of 
England. 
 

 This application is part of a programme of applications (which commenced with 
the amended restoration scheme for Nant Helen and will conclude with a future 
application for a GCRE).  Facilitating the approval of the platform necessary for 
GCRE at this stage would not only provide such a rail project with the greatest 
opportunity for success through enabling advanced earthworks to be undertaken, 
but would demonstrate to potential organisations and partners that a significant 
obstacle to such development has been removed, thus providing a greater 
degree of certainty that such a project can be delivered at the site. 

Tudalen67



   

 It is anticipated that a planning application for the GCRE will be out to public 
consultation at the end of summer 2020, with an application following shortly 
thereafter. 
 

 Conversely, refusing the application on the basis of the identified impacts would 
potentially fatally undermine the potential to deliver such a project in future.As set 
out in the socio-economic section above, the potential economic benefits of the 
GCRE proposal are significant and if the GCRE does not materialise the 
proposed landform provides other opportunities for the regeneration of this area. 

 
As part of the generally positive and permissive National Policy context, Technical 
Advice Note 23 (Economic Development) emphasises (2.1.2) that where economic 
development would cause environmental or social harm which cannot be fully mitigated, 
careful consideration of the economic benefits will be necessary.  It further notes that 
“there will of course be occasions when social and environmental considerations will 
outweigh economic benefit”, but then emphasises the need to answer the following three 
questions in order to help clarity and balance the economic, social and environmental 
issues.  
 
1. Alternatives: if the land is not made available (i.e. the application is refused), is 

it likely that the demand could be met on a site where development would cause 
less harm, and if so where? 

 
In this case, no viable alternative sites have been identified in Wales for a 
proposed rail centre of excellence, and it is understood one possible alternative 
site exists only in the North of England. 

 
2. Jobs accommodated: how many direct jobs will be based at the site? 

 
It is difficult to quantify at this stage how many direct jobs would be created as 
this is an enabling development which seeks to de-risk future development 
aspirations. What can be said with some confidence however is that the potential 
to create direct jobs would be significantly greater if this development is 
approved. 
 

3. Special merit: would the development make any special contribution to policy 
objectives? 
TAN23 states that industrial development in a disadvantaged area could help 
fight social exclusion, improve run-down places and create job opportunities for 
people at high risk of unemployment. In addition, PPW advises that the planning 
system should particularly support the low-carbon economy, innovative business 
/ technology clusters. Developments that will provide space for these categories 
of businesses count as making special policy contributions. This development is 
seen as an enabler to a potential GCRE project which would support low carbon 
transport initiatives. 
 

Accordingly, in balancing the key planning issues, considerable weight has to be given 
to the role of the proposed earthworks in providing a comprehensive, flexible and 
adaptable landform across the entire site.  
 

Tudalen68



   

Post Covid-19 Recovery 
 
The above arguments are considered to be put into even greater focus at the present 
time, with the application considered against a backdrop of the Covid-19 pandemic.  In 
this respect it is notable that on 16th July 2020 the Welsh Government published Building 
Better Places: The Planning System Delivering Resilient and Brighter Futures which 
provides planning policy guidance for local planning authorities and the development 
industry on priorities for the planning system to deliver post Covid-19. 
 
Notably the guidance includes a WG a commitment to follow through on infrastructure 
obligations which will go a long way in ensuring that the developments envisioned are 
delivered and the wider public benefits are maximised, and commitment that WG will 
play its role in supporting the vibrancy of places and helping this people-focussed and 
placemaking-led recovery. 
 
Most pertinent to the economic benefits considered above, it states as follows: - 
 
“Through effective planning we can create a more resilient Wales where social, 
economic and environmental inequalities are identified and effectively addressed to 
create a more resilient and brighter future for all. This is a once in a generation 
opportunity for planning to have a positive effect on the future wellbeing of people in 
Wales and these policy considerations should be applied immediately to ensure we 
affect change in the most positive way possible.” 
 
Within this immediate context, and one which has seen the Valley communities 
especially hard hit (see NPT Community Impact Assessment), the opportunities that 
could come forward as a result of granting planning permission for this development are 
significant and, in the case of the GCRE have a hugely positive effect on the future 
wellbeing of people in this part of Wales.   
 
In this regard, and having particular regard to the advice in PPW and TAN23, along with 
the recent guidance on post Covid-19 recovery in Wales: Building Better Places: The 
Planning System Delivering Resilient and Brighter Futures, and having considered the 
likely significant effects of the development on the environment – which can largely be 
mitigated by conditions -  it is concluded that in the overall planning balance the proposal 
to create a flexible and adaptable landform in this location on a site previously worked 
for coal extraction would  meet with sustainable place-making objectives while also 
having the potential to create significant social, economic, cultural and environmental 
benefits which would contribute towards ‘reinvigorating the Valleys’, and outweigh the 
identified impacts caused by the development. 

CONCLUSION 
 
The decision to recommend planning permission has been taken in accordance with 
Section 38 of The Planning and Compulsory Purchase Act 2004, which requires that, in 
determining a planning application the determination must be in accordance with the 
Development Plan unless material considerations indicate otherwise.  The Development 
Plan comprises the Neath Port Talbot Local Development Plan (2011–2026) adopted 
January 2016.  In addition, the Council, in accordance with Section 3(3) of the Town and 

Tudalen69

https://gov.wales/planning-policy-covid-19-recovery
https://gov.wales/planning-policy-covid-19-recovery


   

Country Planning (Environmental Impact Assessment) (Wales) Regulations 2016, has 
taken all the environmental information into consideration. 
 
Having particular regard to the advice in PPW and TAN23, along with the recent 
guidance on post Covid-19 recovery in Wales: Building Better Places: The Planning 
System Delivering Resilient and Brighter Futures, and having considered the likely 
significant effects of the development on the environment – which can largely be 
mitigated by conditions -  it is concluded that in the overall planning balance the proposal 
to create a flexible and adaptable landform in this location on a site previously worked 
for coal extraction would  meet with sustainable place-making objectives while also 
having the potential to create significant social, economic, cultural and environmental 
benefits which would contribute towards ‘reinvigorating the Valleys’, and outweigh the 
identified impacts caused by the development. 
 
Accordingly, the proposed development is in accordance with Policies SP1, SP2, SP3, 
SP4, SP6, SP11, SP14, SP15, SP16, SP20, SP21, SP22, SC1, I1, EC5, TO4, EN2, 
EN6, EN7, EN8, M1, M3, TR2, TR3, TR4, BE1, BE2 
 
 
RECOMMENDATION APPROVE subject to the conditions listed below 

 

Time Limits 
 

1. The development shall begin no later than five years from the date of this 
decision.  

 
Reason:  
To comply with the requirements of Section 91 of the Town and Country Planning 
Act 1990. 

 
Approved Plans 
 

2. The development hereby permitted shall be carried out in accordance with the 
following documents and plans or as otherwise modified by any revisions or by 
other conditions, schemes or approvals by the Local Planning Authority:  
 

 Planning Application Validated on 15th May 2020.  

 Planning Statement – April 2020 

 Environmental Statement (including Figures and Appendices) – May 2020.  

 Drainage Strategy – April 2020 

 Proposed Finished Levels - Plans 1, 2, 3 and 4 

 Proposed Track Embankment and Cutting Cross Section (Drawing No 
CG1024) 

 Cae-Hopkin and Brooklands Terrace Embankments, Cefn Byrle Cutting: 
Plan and Sections (Drawing No CG1063) 

 
Reason: Required to be imposed pursuant to Section 71ZA of the Town and 
Country Planning Act 1990 (as amended). 

 

Tudalen70



   

Pre-Commencement Conditions 
 

3. Before beginning any development at the site, you must do the following: - 
 
a) Notify the Local Planning Authority in writing that you intend to commence 

development by submitting a Formal Notice under Article 24B of the Town and 

Country Planning (Development Management Procedure) (Wales) Order 2012 

(DMPWO) in the form set out in Schedule 5A (a newly inserted Schedule) of the 

DMPWO (or in a form substantially to the like effect); and  

  

b) Display a Site Notice (as required by Section 71ZB of the 1990 Act) in the form 

set out in Schedule 5B (a newly inserted Schedule) of the DMPWO (or in a form 

substantially to the like effect), such Notice to be firmly affixed and displayed in a 

prominent place, be legible and easily visible, and be printed on durable material. 

Such Notice must thereafter be displayed at all times when development is being 

carried out.  

 

Reason:  

To comply with procedural requirements in accordance with Article 24B of the 

Town and Country Planning (Development Management Procedure) (Wales) 

Order 2012 (DMPWO) and Section 71ZB of the Town and Country Planning Act 

1990. 

 

NOTE: Templates of the required Notice and Site Notice are available to 
download at www.npt.gov.uk/planning 
 

4. No development shall take place (including demolition, ground works, and 
vegetation clearance) until such time as a Dust Management Action Plan has 
been submitted to and approved in writing by the Local Planning Authority. The 
approved plan shall be implemented at all times for the duration of site 
preparation and construction of the earthworks hereby approved.   
 
Reason: To protect the living conditions of nearby residents in compliance with 

Policies SP2, SP16 and EN8 of the LDP. 

 
5. No development shall take place (including demolition, ground works, and 

vegetation clearance) until such time as a Noise Monitoring and Management 
Action Plan has been submitted to and approved in writing by the Local planning 
Authority. The approved plan shall be implemented at all times for the duration of 
site preparation and construction of the earthworks hereby approved.   
 
Reason: To protect the living conditions of nearby residents in compliance with 

Policies SP2, SP16 and EN8 of the LDP. 

 
6. No development shall commence or be undertaken within the area identified in 

green on plan NPT1/PCC1 until such time as the Welsh Ministers have formally 
issued Scheduled Monument Consent for all works within that area affecting the 
Scheduled Monument known as the Tramroad at Ystradgynlais (CH001). 
 

Tudalen71

http://www.npt.gov.uk/planning


   

Should Scheduled Monument Consent not be forthcoming for such works, no 
later than one year following commencement of development (as notified under 
condition 3), or such other period that may be agreed in writing by the Local 
Planning Authority, the developer shall submit to the Local Planning Authority for 
written approval full details, including levels, drainage and landscaping, of an 
alternative landform which excludes development inside the scheduled area and 
ties into the adjacent earthworks.  Development shall be undertaken in full 
compliance with the amended plans approved under this condition which for the 
purposes of clarity shall supersede any other plans which relate and identify the 
degree of disturbance to the SM within the identified area on plan NPT1/PCC1. 
 
Reason:  
Since the works proposed within the scheduled area of the tramroad at 
Ystradgynlais and within its immediate setting do not currently amount to the 
exceptional circumstances necessary to justify such development under PPW 
and TAN24, and will therefore only be acceptable on the formal issuing of 
Scheduled Monument Consent by Welsh Ministers, such consent process 
considering at that time all matters material to their assessment. 
 

 
7. No works shall commence on the construction development shall take place 

(including demolition, ground works, and vegetation clearance) until such time as 
the applicant, or their agents or successors in title, has secured the 
implementation of a programme of archaeological work in accordance with a 
written scheme of investigation, which has been submitted by the applicant and 
approved in writing by the Local Planning Authority.  The archaeological 
programme of work will be undertaken and completed in accordance with the 
relevant Standards and Guidance laid down by the Chartered Institute for 
Archaeologists. A copy of the resulting report should be submitted to the Local 
Planning Authority. After approval by the Local Planning Authority, a copy of the 
report and resulting archive should also be sent to the Historic Environment 
Record Officer, Glamorgan Gwent Archaeological Trust for inclusion in the 
regional Historic Environment Record and the National Monuments Record, 
RCAHMW.  
 
Reason: To protect the historic environment in compliance with Policy BE2 of the 

LDP. 

 
8. No development shall take place (including demolition, ground works, and 

vegetation clearance) until a detailed Construction Environmental Management 
Plan (CEMP) has been submitted to and approved in writing by the local planning 
authority. The CEMP must include (but not be limited to) the following: 
 

 Risk assessment of potentially damaging construction activities. 

 Construction Methods: details of materials, how waste generated will be 
managed. 

 General Site Management: details of the construction programme 
including timetable, details of site clearance, details of site construction 
drainage, containment areas, implementation of appropriately sized buffer 

Tudalen72



   

zones between storage areas (of spoil, oils, fuels, concrete mixing and 
washing areas) and any watercourse and surface water drain. 

 Resources Management: details of fuel and chemical storage and 
containment, details of waste generation and its management, details of 
water consumption, wastewater, and energy use. 

 Practical measures (both physical measures and sensitive working 
practices) to avoid or reduce impacts during construction (may be provided 
as a set of method statements). 

 Pollution Prevention Plan: demonstrating how relevant Guidelines for 
pollution Prevention and best practice will be implemented, including 
details of emergency spill procedures and incident response plan. 

 Invasive Non-Native Species Management Plan. 

 Details of task and security lighting to avoid disturbance of habitats of 
importance to crepuscular or nocturnal species. 

 Responsible persons and lines of communication and emergency contact 
details. 

 Use of protective fences, exclusion barriers and warning signs. 
 

The approved CEMP shall be adhered to and implemented throughout the site 
preparation and construction period strictly in accordance with the approved 
details. 

 
Reason:  
To comply with Neath Port Talbot Council Policies SP15, SP16, EN6 and EN7 in 
relation to the Natural Environment and meet the requirements of Planning Policy 
Wales (Edition 10, December 2018), TAN 5: Nature Conservation and Planning 
and Part 1 Section 6 of the Environment (Wales) Act 2016 

 
9. No development shall take place (including ground works and vegetation 

clearance) until an Ecological Protection Plan (EPP) has been submitted to and 
approved in writing by the local planning authority. The EPP shall include the 
following. 
 

 Risk assessment of potentially damaging construction activities. 

 Details of Pre-commencement Surveys, including methodologies and 
timing. 

 Identification of “biodiversity protection zones”. 

 Reptile trapping and relocation method statement including details of 
receptor sites. 

 Vascular Plant Species translocation method statements (specifically 
common wintergreen, lesser bulrush, floating bur-reed, greater tussock 
sedge and spiked water milfoil, royal fern and viviparous fescue). 

 Practical measures (both physical measures and sensitive working 
practices) to avoid or reduce impacts to retained features of ecological 
importance during construction (may be provided as a set of method 
statements). 

 The location and timing of sensitive works to avoid harm to ecological 
features of importance. 

Tudalen73



   

 The times during construction when specialist ecologists need to be 
present on site to oversee works. 

 Responsible persons and lines of communication. 

 The role and responsibilities on site of an ecological clerk of works (ECoW) 
or similarly competent person. 

 Use of protective fences, exclusion barriers and warning signs. 
 
The approved EPP shall be adhered to and implemented throughout the 
construction period strictly in accordance with the approved details. 

 
Reason:  
To comply with Neath Port Talbot Council Policies SP15, SP16,  EN6 and EN7 
in relation to the Natural Environment and meet the requirements of Planning 
Policy Wales (Edition 10, December 2018), TAN 5: Nature Conservation and 
Planning and Part 1 Section 6 of the Environment (Wales) Act 2016 

 
 

10. No development shall take place (including ground works, and vegetation 
clearance) until a detailed 25 year Ecological Management and Monitoring Plan 
(EMMP) has been submitted to, and approved in writing by, the local planning 
authority. The purpose of the plan shall be to detail the habitat creation and 
enhancement, management and monitoring protocols as outlined in Section 7.20 
of the Nant Helen Complementary Restoration Earthworks Environmental 
Statement produced by Ove Arup & Partners Ltd dated 4th May 2020. The 
content of the EMMP must include (but not be limited to) the following: 
 

 Purpose and conservation objectives for the proposed works. 

 Review of site potential and constraints. 

 Detailed design(s) and/or working method(s) to achieve stated objectives. 

 Extent and location/area of proposed works on appropriate scale maps 
and plans. 

 Type and source of materials to be used where appropriate. 

 Timetable for implementation demonstrating that works are aligned with 
the proposed phasing of development. 

 Persons responsible for implementing the works. 

 Details of initial aftercare and long-term maintenance. 

 Aims and objectives of monitoring to match the stated purpose. 

 Identification of adequate baseline conditions prior to the start of 
development. 

 Appropriate success criteria, thresholds, triggers and targets against 
which the effectiveness of the various conservation measures being 
monitored can be judged. 

 Methods for data gathering and analysis. 

 Location of monitoring. 

 Timing and duration of monitoring – appropriate to the habitat/feature 
concerned. 

 Responsible persons and lines of communication 

 Review, and where appropriate, publication of results and outcomes. 
 

Tudalen74



   

A Report describing the results of monitoring shall be submitted to the local 
planning authority at intervals identified in the EMMP. The report shall also set 
out (where the results from monitoring show that conservation aims and 
objectives are not being met) how contingencies and/or remedial action will be 
identified, agreed with the local planning authority, and then implemented so that 
the development still delivers the fully functioning biodiversity objectives of the 
originally approved scheme. The EMMP will be implemented in accordance with 
the approved details. 
 
Reason:  
To comply with Neath Port Talbot Council Policies SP15, SP16, EN6 and EN7 in 
relation to the Natural Environment and meet the requirements of Planning Policy 
Wales (Edition 10, December 2018), TAN 5: Nature Conservation and Planning 
and Part 1 Section 6 of the Environment (Wales) Act 2016 
 
 

11. No development, demolition, earth moving shall take place or material or 
machinery brought onto the site until protective fencing and warning signs have 
been erected on site in accordance with the approved Construction 
Environmental Management Plan and Ecological Protection Plan. All protective 
fencing and warning signs will be maintained during the construction period in 
accordance with the approved details. 
 
Reason: To comply with Neath Port Talbot Council Policies SP15, SP16, EN6 
and EN7 in relation to the Natural Environment and meet the requirements of 
Planning Policy Wales (Edition 10, December 2018), TAN 5: Nature Conservation 
and Planning and Part 1 Section 6 of the Environment (Wales) Act 2016 
 

12. No development shall take place (including ground works, and vegetation 
clearance) until a Materials Handling Strategy has been submitted to and 
approved in writing by the Local Planning Authority. The Strategy shall make 
provision for the stripping, conservation, management, storage and re-spreading 
of all topsoil and subsoil resources, and shall ensure that there is no importation 
of material unless it is first approved in writing by the local planning authority. 

 
Reason: To ensure that natural resources existing on the site are managed to 
avoid loss and/or destruction, ensure all material that might be required to be 
brought onto the site is chemically suitable for the proposed end use, and to 
ensure accordance with Policy EN8 of the Local Development Plan.   
 

13. No development shall commence until a preliminary investigation and 
assessment of the nature and extent of contamination affecting the application 
site area has been submitted to and approved in writing by the local planning 
authority. This investigation and assessment must be carried out by or under the 
direction of a suitably qualified competent person, in accordance with extant 
guidance and best practice, and shall assess any contamination on the site, 
whether or not it originates on the site.  
 

Tudalen75



   

The report of the findings shall include:  
 

 A desk study  

 A non-intrusive site reconnaissance  

 Formulation of an initial conceptual model  

 A preliminary risk assessment  
 
If the preliminary risk assessment identifies there are potentially unacceptable 
risks a detailed scope of works for an intrusive investigation, including details of 
the risk assessment methodologies, must be prepared by a suitably qualified 
competent person. The contents of the scheme and scope of works are subject 
to the approval in writing of the local planning authority.  
 
All work and submissions carried out for the purposes of this condition must be 
conducted in accordance with DEFRA and the Environment Agency’s ‘Model 
Procedures for the Management of Land Contamination, CLR 11’ and the WLGA 
document ‘Development of Land Affected by Contamination: A Guide for 
Developers’ (2012).  
 
Reason:  
To ensure that risks from land contamination to the future users of the land and 
neighbouring land are minimised, together with those to controlled waters, 
property and ecological systems, and to ensure that the development can be 
carried out safely without unacceptable risks to workers, neighbours and other 
offsite receptors in accordance with Policy EN8 of the Local Development Plan.   
 

14. No development shall take place until a site investigation of the nature and extent 
of contamination has been carried out, by a suitably qualified competent person, 
in accordance with a methodology which has previously been submitted to and 
approved in writing by the local planning authority. A written report of the findings 
of the site investigation shall be made available to the local planning authority 
before any development begins.  
The written report should include an appraisal of remedial options and 
identification of the most appropriate remediation option(s) for each relevant 
pollutant linkage. The report is subject to the written approval of the local planning 
authority.  
 
Reason:  
To ensure that risks from land contamination to the future users of the land and 
neighbouring land are minimised, together with those to controlled waters, 
property and ecological systems, and to ensure that the development can be 
carried out safely without unacceptable risks to workers, neighbours and other 
offsite receptors in accordance with Policy EN8 of the Local Development Plan.   
 

15. If the presence of contamination is confirmed in the report required by Condition 
15 above, no development shall take place until a detailed remediation scheme 
to bring the site to a condition suitable for the intended use by removing any 
unacceptable risks to human health, buildings, other property and the natural and 
historical environment shall be prepared and submitted to and approved in writing 
by the local planning authority. The scheme shall include all works to be 

Tudalen76



   

undertaken, proposed remediation objectives, remediation criteria, timetable of 
works and site management procedures. The measures proposed within the 
remediation scheme shall be implemented in accordance with an agreed 
programme of works The scheme must ensure that the site will not qualify as 
contaminated land under Part 2A of the Environmental Protection Act 1990 and 
The Contaminated Land (Wales) Regulations 2006, as amended by The 
Contaminated Land (Wales) (Amendment) Regulations 2012, in relation to the 
intended use of the land after remediation. The detailed remediation scheme 
should not be submitted until written approval for Condition 14 has been received 
from the local planning authority.  
 
Reason:  
To ensure that risks from land contamination to the future users of the land and 
neighbouring land are minimised, together with those to controlled waters, 
property and ecological systems, and to ensure that the development can be 
carried out safely without unacceptable risks to workers, neighbours and other 
offsite receptors, and to ensure compliance with Policies SP16 and EN8 of the 
Neath Port Talbot Local Development Plan. 
 

16. All work and submissions carried out for the purposes of this condition must be 
conducted in accordance with DEFRA and the Environment Agency’s ‘Model 
Procedures for the Management of Land Contamination, CLR 11’ and the WLGA 
document ‘Development of Land Affected by Contamination: A Guide for 
Developers’ (2012).  
 
Reason:  
To ensure that risks from land contamination to the future users of the land and 
neighbouring land are minimised, together with those to controlled waters, 
property and ecological systems, and to ensure that the development can be 
carried out safely without unacceptable risks to workers, neighbours and other 
offsite receptors in accordance with Policy EN8 of the Local Development Plan.   
 

Action Conditions 
 

17. Works shall not commence on the northern embankment, until such time as a 
Landscape Strategy and associated scheme of Landscape Mitigation Planting – 
which shall include but not be limited to the northern face of the embankment as 
shown on Figure 9.16: Landscape Mitigation – has been submitted to and 
approved in writing by the Local Planning Authority. Such landscape strategy 
shall cover a period of no less than 20 years, and shall include a mechanism for 
review and extension in the event planting has not mitigated the impacts on the 
National Park to the extent identified in the Environmental Statement. The 
scheme shall be implemented in accordance with the approved details. 
 
Reason:  
To ensure that an appropriate scheme of planting is provided to mitigate the 
visual impact of the earthworks, both from the Brecon Beacons National Park and 
from Neath Port Talbot and Powys area and to ensure compliance with Policy 
BE1 of the Local Development Plan.   
 

Tudalen77



   

 
18. Any remediation scheme submitted in relation to Condition 16 shall be subject to 

a monitoring and maintenance scheme to include monitoring the long-term 
effectiveness of the proposed remediation over a period of duration to be agreed 
in writing with the local planning authority and the provision of reports on the 
same must be prepared, both of which are subject to the approval in writing of 
the local planning authority.  
 
The initial report shall be submitted within six months following the completion of 
the measures identified in the remediation scheme and the achievement of the 
remediation objectives, reports that demonstrate the effectiveness of the 
monitoring and maintenance carried out must be produced and submitted to the 
local planning authority.  
 
This must be conducted in accordance with DEFRA and the Environment 
Agency's 'Model Procedures for the Management of Land Contamination, CLR 
11.  
 
Reason:  
To ensure that risks from land contamination to the future users of the land and 
neighbouring land are minimised, together with those to controlled waters, 
property and ecological systems, and to ensure that the development can be 
carried out safely without unacceptable risks to workers, neighbours and other 
offsite receptors in accordance with Policy EN8 of the Local Development Plan.   

 
 

19. In the event that contamination is found at any time when carrying out the 
approved development that was not previously identified, work on site shall cease 
immediately and shall be reported in writing to the Local Planning Authority. A 
Desk Study, Site Investigation, Risk Assessment and where necessary a 
Remediation Strategy must be undertaken in accordance with the following 
document:- Land Contamination: A Guide for Developers (WLGA, WAG & EAW, 
July 2006). This document shall be submitted to and agreed in writing with the 
Local Planning Authority. Prior to occupation of the development, a verification 
report which demonstrates the effectiveness of the agreed remediation, shall be 
submitted to and agreed in writing with the Local Planning Authority.  

    
 Reason:  

To ensure that risks from land contamination to the future users of the land and 
neighbouring land are minimised, together with those to controlled waters, 
property and ecological systems, and to ensure that the development can be 
carried out safely without unacceptable risks to workers, neighbours and other 
off site receptors, and to ensure compliance with Policies SP16 and EN8 of the 
Neath Port Talbot Local Development Plan. 

 
 
  

Tudalen78



   

Regulatory Conditions 
 

20. Except in an emergency which shall be notified to the Local Planning Authority 
as soon as practicable, development, which includes the starting up of plant and 
machinery, or other activities associated with the development (other than water 
pumping, servicing, environmental monitoring, maintenance and testing of plant) 
authorised or required by this permission shall be limited to 0600 - 2200hrs 
Monday to Friday and 0700 - 1300hrs on Saturdays.  
 
Reason:  

To protect the living conditions of nearby residents in compliance with Policies 

SP2, SP16 and EN8 of the LDP. 

 

 

21. Notwithstanding condition 19 above, works related to the construction of the 
northern embankment, including all ground works involving excavations, shall be 
limited to the following times, between 07.00 to 18.00 hours Mondays to Fridays 
(excluding Bank/Public Holidays) and 08.00 to 13.00 hours on Saturdays. 
 
Reason:  
This condition is included to ensure consistency with the associated decision of 
Powys County Council, and to protect the living conditions of nearby residents. 

 
 

22. Noise arising from operations at the site as measured at any noise sensitive 
location shall not exceed background (LA90) plus 10dB LAeq,1hr or 55dB 
LAeq,1hr (free field), whichever is the lesser, during normal working hours (0700 
to 1900 hours Monday to Friday excluding Bank/Public Holidays and 08.00 and 
12.00 hours on Saturdays). At all other times the noise arising from operations at 
the site shall not exceed 42dB LAeq, 1hr (free field) at any noise sensitive 
location.  
 
Reason:  

To protect the living conditions of nearby residents in compliance with Policies 

SP2, SP16 and EN8 of the LDP. 

 
 

23. Notwithstanding the noise level limits set out in Condition 21, between 08:00 and 
18:00 Mondays to Fridays (excluding Bank/Public Holidays) and 08:00 and 12.00 
the level of noise from operations consisting of the construction of the northern 
embankment shall not exceed the following levels, measured as dB LAeq,1hr 
(free field), at the noise sensitive locations specified below (as identified on Figure 
10.1: Noise Sensitive Receptors for Northern Embankment): - 
 
Receptor 1 - 61 
Receptor 2 - 57 
Receptor 3 – 60 
Receptor 4 – 54  
 

Tudalen79



   

These levels shall apply only between 08.00 to 18.00 hours Mondays to Fridays 
(excluding Bank/Public Holidays) and 08.00 to 12.00 hours on Saturdays 

 
Reason: This condition is included to ensure consistency with the associated 
decision of Powys County Council, and to protect the living conditions of nearby 
residents. 

 
 

24. Any approved remediation scheme must be carried out in accordance with its 
terms prior to the commencement of development other than that required to 
carry out remediation. The local planning authority must be given two weeks 
written notification of commencement of the remediation scheme works.  
If during the course of development any contamination is found that has not been 
identified in the site investigation, additional measures for the remediation of this 
source of contamination shall be submitted to and approved in writing by the local 
planning authority. The remediation of the site shall incorporate the approved 
additional measures before the development is occupied.  
 
Following completion of the measures identified in the approved remediation 
scheme, a verification report that demonstrates the effectiveness of the 
remediation carried out must be produced and is subject to the approval in writing 
of the local planning authority. The verification report contents must be agreed 
with the local planning authority before commencement of the remediation 
scheme.  
 
All work and submissions carried out for the purposes of this condition must be 
conducted in accordance with DEFRA and the Environment Agency’s ‘Model 
Procedures for the Management of Land Contamination, CLR 11’ and the WLGA 
document ‘Development of Land Affected by Contamination: A Guide for 
Developers’ (2012).  
 
Reason:  
To ensure that risks from land contamination to the future users of the land and 
neighbouring land are minimised, together with those to controlled waters, 
property and ecological systems, and to ensure that the development can be 
carried out safely without unacceptable risks to workers, neighbours and other 
offsite receptors in accordance with Policy EN8 of the Local Development Plan.   
 

Tudalen80



SECTION A – MATTERS FOR DECISION 
 
Planning Applications Recommended For Approval 

 

APPLICATION NO: P2020/0486 DATE: 05/06/2020 

PROPOSAL: Leisure Centre, incorporating Swimming pool, health 
suite and gym with ancillary cafe, 6 commercial units 
(A1, D1 uses) plus first floor public library. Together with 
associated service yard, public realm and landscaping 
improvements. 

LOCATION: Land At Water Street, Neath 

APPLICANT: Neath Port Talbot Council 

TYPE: Regulation 3 (Council Development) 

WARD: Neath North 

 
 
SITE AND CONTEXT 
 
The site is located within Neath Town Centre, as designated under 
Policies R1 and R2 of the Neath Port Talbot Local Development Plan. 
 
The site extends to both the area of the former multi-storey car park, 
Wilko, and Tesco Metro Stores, which have been demolished, extending 
from Wind Street through to Fairfield Way, and encompasses Fairfield 
Way itself to the side of the existing Wilko store, which was constructed 
under Phase 1 of this regeneration scheme.  
 
The site is bounded to the east by Prince of Wales Drive which provides 
one of the main circulatory routes around the Town Centre, and provides 
access to the south of the site to the multi-storey car park.  The site area 
incorporates proposed public realm improvements to Water Street to the 
West.  
 
Plan 1 below identifies the position of the development within the town 
centre. 
 

Tudalen81

Eitem yr Agenda4



Plan 1: Location of proposed development 

 

 
 
BACKGROUND 
 
Previously full planning permission was granted for the demolition of the 
Magistrates Court and adjacent demountable buildings, and the 
development of a 4 deck, 604 space multi-storey car park, 1 No. Retail 
unit (Class A1), and Shop mobility unit; together with associated 
permanent and temporary public realm improvements.  
  
In addition outline planning permission was granted for the demolition of 
existing multi-storey car park (incorporating Wilkinson and Tesco) and 
the Greyhound PH, and the development of 9 No. Retail units (Class A1); 
7 No. Retail/Food and Drink units (Classes A1/A3); 2 No. Retail/office 
units (Classes A1/A2); 1 No. Office/Community facility unit (Class 
B1/A2/D1), and up to 31 No. Residential Units, together with associated 
public realm improvements, reconfigured service yard and car parking. 
  
Development of the first phase (granted full planning permission) has 
been completed. This includes the existing Wilko Store and Multi-storey 
car park.  
 

Tudalen82



A further phase of that development, was granted full planning 
permission under P2016/0654 on the 9th January 2017 for a 3 Storey 
mixed use block comprising 6 commercial units (Class A1/A2/A3 with 12 
No. residential units and associated works, including changes to existing 
service yard and public realm improvements. 
 
In addition off site highway works to Water Street have being undertaken 
that allow for the stopping up of Fairfield Way whilst retaining access and 
Parking to those properties on Water Street, and access for service 
vehicles to the service yard serving Boots and other stores sited within 
the town centre.  
 
A more recent planning permission ref. P2018/1024 for ‘Redevelopment 
of Neath town centre consisting of 8 No. A1 retail units and 1 No. first 
floor unit (A1,A3 or D2 use) together with associated service yard and 
hard and soft landscaping’ was granted planning permission on 12th 
February 2019, although the proposals within this application are 
intended to supersede such development scheme. 
 
DESCRIPTION OF DEVELOPMENT 
 
This is a full application made under Regulation 31 for the next phase of 
the Neath Town Centre redevelopment. 
 
In total the development will provide 7,082 sq m of development providing 
a new leisure centre, with swimming pool, gym, health suite and ancillary 
café with 6 commercial units, plus library, together with service yard, and 
public realm  
 
At ground floor (5375 sq.m.) the development provides swimming pool, 
health suite and café, plus 6 commercial units, and foyer to first floor.  
 
At first floor the development proposes an additional 1,707m2 of floor 
space (First floor Gym within the leisure centre, and library over Units 3-
6) with separate access onto the main Water Street frontage to Unit 7 
serving the library.  
 
An illustration of how the proposed development would look is shown 
below. 
 

                                           
1 Town and Country Planning General Regulations 1992 (SI 1992/1492) - Consents issued under Regulation 3 
are for the benefit of the Council as applicant only. 

Tudalen83



Illustration 1: Artists impression showing the proposed development 

 

 
 
All plans / documents submitted in respect of this application can be 
viewed on the Council’s online register.   
 
PRE-APPLICATION CONSULTATION  
 
In accordance with the Town and Country Planning (Development 
Management Procedure) (Wales) (Amendment) Order 2016, statutory 
Pre-Application Consultation (PAC) was carried out by the developer.  
 
The consultation exercise took place between 23rd April and the 26th May 
2020. The consultation involved notifying local residents within the 
surrounding area, together with Ward members, and specialist 
consultees.  
 
In addition to statutory consultees, twenty six public responses were 
received, which have been outlined in the Pre-Application Consultation 
Report at section 4.3. 
 
PLANNING HISTORY 
 
The application site has the following relevant planning history: - 
 

 P2013/0863 Full Planning Application for the demolition of the 
Magistrates Court and adjacent demountable 
buildings, and the development of a 4 deck, 604 
space multi-storey car park, 1 No. Retail unit (Class 

Tudalen84

http://appsportal.npt.gov.uk/ords/idocs12/f?p=Planning:2:0::NO::P2_REFERENCE:P2020/0486


A1), and Shop-mobility unit; together with 
associated permanent and temporary public realm 
improvements.  
Outline Planning Application for the demolition of 
existing multi-storey car park (incorporating 
Wilkinson and Tesco) and the Greyhound PH, and 
the development of 9 No. Retail units (Class A1); 7 
No. Retail/Food and Drink units (Classes A1/A3); 2 
No. Retail/office units (Classes A1/A2); 1 No. 
Office/Community facility unit (Class B1/A2/D1), and 
up to 31 No. Residential Units, together with 
associated public realm improvements, reconfigured 
service yard and car parking. 
Approved 13th Nov 2013. 
 

 P2014/0196 Details pursuant to discharge Condition 6 
(Alignment of access and exit to car park) of 
planning permission P2013/0863 (Approved on the 
12/11/2013) 
Approved 7th March 2014. 
 

 P2014/0638 Details pursuant to Condition 5 (Site Waste 
Management Plan) of Planning Permission 
P2013/863 (Approved on the 13/11/13). 28th July 
2014 
 
 

 P2014/0639 Details pursuant to Condition 14 (Surface Water 
Drainage Strategy for Phase 1) of Planning 
Permission P2013/863 (Approved on the 13/11/13). 
Approved 24th October 2014 
 

 P2014/0651 Details pursuant to Condition 4 (Construction 
method statement) of Planning Permission 
P2013/0863 (Approved on the 12/11/13) 
Approved 16th October 2014. 
 

 P2014/0824 Details pursuant to Condition 17  (Bat and Bird 
Boxes) of Planning Permission P2013/0863 
(Approved on the 13/11/13) 
Approved 16th September 2014 
 

Tudalen85



 P2014/927 Details pursuant to the discharge of Condition 2 
(External Materials) of Planning Permission 
P2013/0863 (Approved on the 13/11/13) 
Approved 3rd October 2014 
 

 P2015/0083 Non-material amendment to Planning Permission 
P2013/0863 (Approved on the 24/09/2013) for the 
reduction of car parking spaces from 604 to 594, 
widening of exit door to stair tower, alteration to 
vehicular car park entrance, removal of feature 
structure at pedestrian access to car park plus 
removal of Conditions 18, 19 and 20 in respect of 
BREEAM. 
Approved 29th May 2015. 
 

 P2015/0354 Variation of Condition 3 (Timing of installation of 
advance car parking capacity signage) of Planning 
Permission P2013/0863 (Approved on the 13/11/13)  
Approved 9th July 2015 
 

 P2015/0545 Details pursuant to Conditions 2, 8, 10,15  (Service 
bay layout, landscaping, street lighting and external 
materials: Mesh screen) of Planning Permission 
P2013/0863 (Approved on the 13/11/13) 
Approved 7th July 2015 
 

 P2016/0654 3 Storey mixed use block comprising 6 commercial 
units (Class A1/A2/A3 with 12 No. residential units 
and associated works, including changes to existing 
service yard and public realm improvements. 
Approved 9th January 2017 
 

 P2018/0765    3 storey mixed use block comprising of 5 commercial 
units (Class A1/A3) with 12 No residential units and 
associated works, including changes to existing 
service yard and public realm improvements. 
Approved 6th November 2018 
 

 P2018/1024 Redevelopment of Neath town centre consisting of 8 
No. A1 retail units and 1 No. first floor unit (A1,A3 or 
D2 use) together with associated service yard and 
hard and soft landscaping 
Approved 12th February 2019 

Tudalen86



CONSULTATIONS 
 
Neath Town Council: No reply, therefore no observations to make.  
 
Head of Engineering and Transport (Highways): No objection subject 
to conditions  
 
Head of Engineering and Transport (Drainage): No objection, SABs 
application required 
 
Contaminated land: No objection, subject to conditions  
 
Gwent Glamorgan Archaeological Trust: No objection  
 
Welsh Water: No objection, subject to condition  
 
Crime Prevention Advisor: No objections details of design to be 
included within the development. 
 
Environmental Health (Noise): No objection, subject to conditions  
 
Biodiversity: No objection subject to conditions  
 
REPRESENTATIONS 
 
The neighbouring properties were consulted on 9th June 2020.  Site 
notices were also displayed on that date, with the application also 
advertised in the South Wales Evening Post on the 9th June 2020.  
 
In response, to date no representations have been received. 
 
REPORT 
 
The Well-being of Future Generations Act (Wales) 2015 places a duty on 
the Council to take reasonable steps in exercising its functions to meet 
its sustainable development (or wellbeing) objectives. This report has 
been prepared in consideration of the Council’s duty and the “sustainable 
development principle”, as set out in the 2015 Act. In reaching the 
recommendation set out below, the Council has sought to ensure that the 
needs of the present are met without compromising the ability of future 
generations to meet their own needs.  

Tudalen87



 
National Planning Policy: 
 
The main thrust of Planning Policy Wales (Edition 10, December 2018) 
is that retail and commercial centres are hubs of social and economic 
activity and the focal point for a diverse range of services which support 
the needs of local communities. They are highly accessible to different 
modes of transport and are the most sustainable locations for new 
development. 
 
Para 4.3.18 States “The Welsh Government operates a ‘town centres 
first’ policy in relation to the location of new retail and commercial centre 
development.” 
 
The Welsh Government identifies a number of overarching objectives for 
retail and commercial centres, which planning authorities should aim to 
deliver through their development plan and development management 
decisions ensuring their maximum contribution to the well-being goals. 
 
The planning system must: 
 

 promote viable urban and rural retail and commercial centres as 
the most sustainable locations to live, work, shop, socialise and 
conduct business; 

 sustain and enhance retail and commercial centres’ vibrancy, 
viability 
and attractiveness; and 

 Improve access to, and within, retail and commercial centres by all 
modes of transport, prioritising walking, cycling and public transport 

 
The following Technical Advice Notes  are also of relevance:- 
 

 TAN 2  Planning and Affordable Housing (2006) 

 TAN 4  Retailing and Commercial Development (2016) 

 TAN 12  Design (2016) 

 TAN 21  Waste (2014) 

 TAN 23  Economic Development (2014) 

 TAN 24  The Historic Environment (2017) 
 

Tudalen88

http://gov.wales/topics/planning/policy/ppw/?lang=en
http://gov.wales/topics/planning/policy/tans/?lang=en


Local Planning Policy: 
 
The Development Plan for the area comprises the Neath Port Talbot 
Local Development Plan which was adopted in January 2016, and within 
which the following policies are of relevance: 
 
Strategic Policies 
 

 Policy SP1  Climate Change 

 Policy SP2  Health  

 Policy SP3  Sustainable communities 

 Policy SP4 Infrastructure 

 Policy SP5  Development in the Coastal Corridor Strategy Area 

 Policy SP10 Open Space 

 Policy SP12  Retail 

 Policy SP16  Environmental Protection 

 Policy SP18  Renewable and Low Carbon Energy 

 Policy SP19  Waste Management 

 Policy SP20 Transport Network 

 Policy SP21  Built Environment and Historic Heritage 
 

Topic Based Policies 
 

 Policy SC1 Settlement limits 

 Policy I1 Infrastructure Requirements 

 Policy CCRS1Coastal Corridor Regeneration Schemes  

 Policy OS1  Open Space Provision  

 Policy R1  Retail Allocations  

 Policy R2  Proposals Within Retail Centres  

 Policy EN8  Pollution and Land Stability  

 Policy RE2  Renewable and Low Carbon Energy in New 
Development 

 Policy W3  Waste Management in New Development 

 Policy TR2  Design and Access of New Development  

 Policy BE1  Design  

 Policy BE2  Buildings of Local Importance  
 

Tudalen89

https://www.npt.gov.uk/PDF/ldp_written_statement_jan16.pdf#PAGE=35
https://www.npt.gov.uk/PDF/ldp_written_statement_jan16.pdf#PAGE=35
https://www.npt.gov.uk/PDF/ldp_written_statement_jan16.pdf#PAGE=37
https://www.npt.gov.uk/PDF/ldp_written_statement_jan16.pdf#PAGE=41
https://www.npt.gov.uk/PDF/ldp_written_statement_jan16.pdf#PAGE=45
https://www.npt.gov.uk/PDF/ldp_written_statement_jan16.pdf#PAGE=59
https://www.npt.gov.uk/PDF/ldp_written_statement_jan16.pdf#PAGE=65
https://www.npt.gov.uk/PDF/ldp_written_statement_jan16.pdf#PAGE=74
https://www.npt.gov.uk/PDF/ldp_written_statement_jan16.pdf#PAGE=78
https://www.npt.gov.uk/PDF/ldp_written_statement_jan16.pdf#PAGE=80
https://www.npt.gov.uk/PDF/ldp_written_statement_jan16.pdf#PAGE=83
https://www.npt.gov.uk/PDF/ldp_written_statement_jan16.pdf#PAGE=87
https://www.npt.gov.uk/PDF/ldp_written_statement_jan16.pdf#PAGE=38
https://www.npt.gov.uk/PDF/ldp_written_statement_jan16.pdf#PAGE=39
https://www.npt.gov.uk/PDF/ldp_written_statement_jan16.pdf#PAGE=45
https://www.npt.gov.uk/PDF/ldp_written_statement_jan16.pdf#PAGE=60
https://www.npt.gov.uk/PDF/ldp_written_statement_jan16.pdf#PAGE=66
https://www.npt.gov.uk/PDF/ldp_written_statement_jan16.pdf#PAGE=66
https://www.npt.gov.uk/PDF/ldp_written_statement_jan16.pdf#PAGE=74
https://www.npt.gov.uk/PDF/ldp_written_statement_jan16.pdf#PAGE=80
https://www.npt.gov.uk/PDF/ldp_written_statement_jan16.pdf#PAGE=80
https://www.npt.gov.uk/PDF/ldp_written_statement_jan16.pdf#PAGE=82
https://www.npt.gov.uk/PDF/ldp_written_statement_jan16.pdf#PAGE=84
https://www.npt.gov.uk/PDF/ldp_written_statement_jan16.pdf#PAGE=87
https://www.npt.gov.uk/PDF/ldp_written_statement_jan16.pdf#PAGE=88


Supplementary Planning Guidance: 
 
The following approved SPG  are of relevance to this application: - 
 

 Planning Obligations (October 2016) 

 Parking Standards (October 2016) 

 Pollution (October 2016) 

 Open Space & Greenspace (July 2017) 

 Renewable and Low Carbon Energy (July 2017) 

 Design (July 2017) 

 Biodiversity and Geodiversity (May 2018) 
 
Transforming Towns 
 
Transforming Towns is a Welsh Government Initiative to encourage 
investment within town centres, for businesses, housing, leisure facilities, 
commercial premises or community facilities. The scheme has been 
launched to increase viability, and to increase footfall and the 
attractiveness of town centers for multiple uses, thereby removing its 
reliance on retail alone, but complementing it with other uses that attract 
people and businesses into centres that have seen decline due to the 
changing retail market.   

The Transforming Towns package includes measures to increase footfall 
by making sure the public sector locate services in town centre locations, 
tackle empty buildings and land to help bring them back into use, and 
greening our town centres. 

Towns are vital to environmental, economic, social and cultural well-
being in Wales –around 40% of our population live in small towns of less 
than 20,000 people but nearly everyone identifies emotionally with a town 
– or city – in some way. 

Many towns are struggling in the wake of declining retail sales and the 
way we use town centres has changed. 

To help breathe new life into town centres, the Welsh Government 
unveiled a new ‘Town Centre First’ approach, which means locating 
services and buildings in town centres wherever possible. As part of this 
approach, all Welsh Government departments will put the health and 
vibrancy of town centres as the starting point for their location decision-
making processes. 

Tudalen90

https://www.npt.gov.uk/7315
https://www.npt.gov.uk/media/7239/spg_open_space_july17.pdf
https://gov.wales/support-improve-town-centres


Utilising this approach, the public sector is also being encouraged to 
support towns by locating offices, facilities and services within them in 
order to drive footfall and create or sustain vibrancy. 

Town centres play a vital role in Wales, and they have long been a hub 
of day-to-day life. However, it is no secret that they have faced huge 
difficulties in recent years in the wake of retail closures, online shopping, 
public sector cutbacks and continued lack of investment. 

The Town Centre First approach, which will ensure that their strategic 
importance is considered in any new planning and investment decisions. 
Local authorities recognise the value of town centres for whole 
communities, which is why many councils have decided to open new civic 
offices, public sector offices, one stop shops, or schools in their local town 
centres. 

Although a town centre location will not be appropriate for all services 
and facilities, this approach will ensure that these locations are given 
primary consideration, and that any decisions for locating elsewhere 
should be backed by evidence. 

EIA Screening 
 
The application site exceeds the Schedule 2 threshold for development 
of this type as outlined within the Environmental Impact Assessment 
Regulations. As such the application has been screened.  
 
The findings of the screening report were that the scale and nature of the 
potential impacts associated with the development both alone and in 
combination with other developments within the area would not be of a 
type that would require the carrying out of an Environmental Impact 
Assessment or the subsequent submission of an Environmental 
Statement in support of the application 
 
The proposed development is also not located within a zone of influence 
for any SAC, CSAC or Ramsar sites and as such it is considered that an 
Appropriate Assessment as set down within the Conservation of Habitats 
and Species Regulations 2017 is not required. 
 
  

Tudalen91



ISSUES 
 
Having regard to the above, the main issues to consider in this application 
relate to the principle of development, impact on visual amenity and the 
character of the area, the amenities of neighbouring properties, highway 
and pedestrian safety and the free flow of traffic, biodiversity, and 
pollution control including noise and nuisance.  
 
Principle of Development 
 
The principle of development has already been established with the 
granting of outline planning permission for the redevelopment of Neath 
town centre under planning application P2013/0863 in November 2013. 
This area was identified on the master plan as Block A which allowed for 
8,662 sq.m. for retail use, a figure which included development in the 
area proposed under this application for ‘future development’.  
 
The retail impact statement identifies that the previous hybrid application 
set out to assess the quantity of development proposed and a qualitative 
on the existing provision, and demand identified to enhance the existing 
centre.  
 
The main conclusions of that report are; 
 

 The new Neath Town Centre development will provide a wide 
range of benefits for Neath Town Centre; 

 It will provide much needed additional quality retail floor space, of 
appropriate size for current retailer needs, thereby helping Neath 
to extend its offer and choice. 

 It will deliver new and improved anchor stores.  

 It will deliver new improved customer facilities, including modern 
parking, modern shop mobility and a modern shopping 
environment. 

 It will extend the town centre offer and create a much needed 
circular route linking to other retail and non-retail anchors for the 
town centre. 

 It will provide a highly visible and impactful retail statement for the 
town centre. 

 It will complement and enhance the performance of existing retail 
offers including the Market Hall, Morrisons, M&S and established 
streets. 

Tudalen92



 The development will secure new retailers for the town and extend 
the choice and offer for its customer base. The development is of 
sufficient size to build on the attraction of Neath Town Centre, to 
generate additional trips, recapture lost expenditure and new users. 

 However it is also contained in size and is fully sustainable within 
the 2017 comparison goods available expenditure. 

 It is also fully compliant with both local and national planning policy 
and aspirations. 

 
The development as approved in 2013 remains extant and the quantum 
of development in respect of retail and other commercial floor space can 
be developed out, subject to the submission of a reserved matters 
application. 
 
This application seeks full planning permission, taking into account the 
demand from retailers currently interested in a presence within the 
centre, and advice from retail consultants on the scale of unit size 
appropriate. But in addition it now also provides a mix of potential uses, 
and notably a new destination Leisure Facility which will encourage 
activity and visitor to the town centre, in line with the emerging Welsh 
Government ‘Transforming Towns’ agenda.  
 
It is considered that the uses requested as part of this application, 
providing a modern leisure facility within the heart of the town centre, 
together with A1 retail and D1 leisure complementary uses at ground 
floor, together with a first floor use, which will provide a new library facility 
for the town would provide a significant enhancement to the existing town 
centre, and one that lies in close proximity to parking and public transport. 
 
The relocation of the leisure centre and library into the heart of this new 
phase of development within the town centre, will wholly accord with the 
objectives underlying this emerging strategy, and compliment other retail 
and commercial uses, together with enhanced public realm, and 
landscaping. That together with 21st century parking provision within the 
new multi-storey car park, and a location that is accessible to sustainable 
means of public transport, and for pedestrians, provide a destination with 
multiple uses that will enhance the offer available within the existing town 
centre, and increase its variety, its vitality and viability, and its standing 
within the retail hierarchy of the region.  
 
It is therefore considered that the provision of further development within 
the designated town centre, of a scale that would provide a mix of uses, 
will attract visitors and modern retailers and commercial operators to this 

Tudalen93



established centre, would complement the scale and offer of the 
commercial development within Neath and: 
 

 Encourage existing visitors to visit more often. 

 Encourage non-Neath users to visit and encourage repeat visits. 
Recapture leaked expenditure 

 Complement existing trade without impacting on existing trade or 
other centres. 

 Result in an overall positive enhancement of public realm and 
visitor expectance. 

 
As such it would accord with TAN 4 Retail and Town Centres, and 
Policies R1 and R2 of the Neath Port Talbot Local Development Plan. 
 
In addition the development is located within settlement limits as defined 
by Policy SC1 – Settlement Limits where development that is 
proportionate in scale and form to the role and function of the settlement 
as set out in the settlement hierarchy will be acceptable in principle. 
 
The site is part of an area designated as a mixed use regeneration 
scheme (CCRS 1/1) and allocated as a housing site under Policy H1 
Housing. This proposal is for retail and leisure development but part of 
the wider site is to remain which could be developed in the future for 
residential use, and there are other areas of the wider allocation 
remaining to deliver the residential element of the allocation. The 
proposal is therefore considered to be in accordance with Policy H1. 
 
The site is also located with Neath Town Centre which is covered by 
Policy R2 Proposals within Retail Centres. In this case the site partly 
fronts on to a designated primary shopping street (Water Street). A1 retail 
units are proposed to front this street, which is in accordance with Policy 
R2. Details of the design of these units is detailed later within this report. 
 
Taking into account the above it is considered that the principle of 
development is acceptable, subject to the impacts of the development 
being considered acceptable in accordance with the other policies set out 
within the LDP. 
 
Impact on Visual Amenity and Character 
 
The key objective behind the masterplan proposals was to regenerate 
this particular area of the town centre and in doing so stimulate economic 
activity and commercial enterprise in the town while delivering significant 

Tudalen94



improvements in place making and public realm provision. This was 
achieved through the masterplan proposals, featuring the reorganisation 
of this block of the town centre, reorganising and enhancing traffic and 
pedestrian flows in the process. 
 
This application seeks to deliver a new sense of place making, while 
creating high quality public realm, exhibiting appropriate proportions and 
scale which integrate the new development into the phase 1 development 
and provide a high quality development to further enhance the town 
centre, characterised by and consistent with Neath’s character, which 
consists of a series of linked, sometimes different buildings in a terrace 
to create an interesting and stimulating street scene. 
 
From a commercial perspective this would create a destination lined with 
active frontages to bring a new dynamic to the town centre, and provide 
a logical flow of pedestrians around the town centres, linking to existing 
transport and parking hubs.  
 
As members will be aware, the Phase 1 scheme was opened to the public 
in 2014, and  comprised a new store for the relocation of Wilko’s and a 
multi storey car park as well as defining a new public realm route in the 
form  of a wide plaza space – beginning the connection from the Civic 
Centre to Wind Street and the remainder of the town centre; with the new 
Wilko’s retail unit starting to define the new frontage line to accommodate 
and inform future phases of development down to the junction with Wind 
Street. 
 
The development exhibited appropriate levels of scale and massing 
relative to each frontage and juxtaposition with neighbouring properties 
within the established streetscene, whilst creating a new contemporary 
addition to this, reflecting the evolving nature of leisure and retail within 
the UK, whilst being sympathetic to the local character and traditions in 
the area.  
 
The alignment of the public realm and shopping environment  was as 
important  a design feature as the buildings themselves this, and this has 
necessarily also informed the frontage alignment of the Phase 2 
proposals, and the proposals put forward for the extended and enhanced 
areas of public realm under this application. 
 

Tudalen95



 
 
The retail elements of the new proposals seek to continue and, more 
significantly, evolve and refine the design principles, character and 
design parameters inherent within the Phase 1 built scheme.  The theme 
of continuity occurs throughout both the layout and elevations – in both 
scale and composition. Whilst allowing a variation within the length of this 
terrace to ensure that the rhythm of the existing pattern of the historic 
centre is respected.  Given the significance and nature of its use, the 
leisure centre necessarily exhibits a completely different form and scale 
while maintaining character and continuity with the adjacent retail units 
via relationship of external finishes, particularly the plaza elevation.  
 
Town centres should provide high quality place making – the public realm 
and street scene provide the network of routes, connections and nodes 
which are enclosed and defined by the buildings which line and front 
them. The proposals continue the public realm plaza from the Civic 
Centre and Phase 1 through to the intersection of the plaza and Wind 
Street.  The development frontage alignment along the plaza continues 
the Phase 1 alignment between Units 1 to 6, ensuring consistency of 
public route, street definition and enclosure.  The frontage to the leisure 
centre sits in a different plane to that of the retail units; this differing 
alignment, along with the other buildings fronting and forming the 
intersection with Wind Street, creates a new node within the Town Centre 
and is of appropriate scale and proportion as a space taking into account 
the heights and character of the enclosing building frontages.  This node 
space also forms a ‘breathing space’ in the street pattern and provides a 
gentle funnelling effect from the Civic Centre route into the Wind Street 
intersection.  It is considered appropriate to provide accessible parking 
provision along Wind Street, which is achieved within the red line with the 
leisure centre frontage being set back from Wind Street accordingly.  

Tudalen96



From a technical perspective this also provides further ‘breathing space’ 
in relation to the underground sewer pipework and additional clearance 
from the subterranean basement areas of now-demolished buildings. 
  
The form and spatial definition within the layout provided in the street 
scene and public realm represents an evolution of the original town 
centre masterplan proposals, and has both responded to, and developed, 
the principles set out therein. This enhances the public realm provision in 
providing safe, secure and attractive routes and node points as further 
improvements to the network and street pattern within the town centre.  
In doing so, the layout and, in particular, key frontages along the plaza 
and the return on Wind Street, provide both appropriately scaled 
enclosure to the public realm but also attractive active frontage 
opportunities for retailers and occupiers, which are vital features in 
today’s competitive retail markets.  The leisure centre presents its 
entrance and café at the key corner of the plaza and Wind Street; the 
opportunity exists to provide al fresco style seating and tables on the 
plaza as the café’s external space. 
 
Along Wind Street, the proposal for the leisure centre ends on the 
approach to Prince of Wales Drive.  The corner area between Wind Street 
and Prince of Wales Drive is allocated for a visual amenity soft 
landscaped area which will also incorporate the requirements arising out 
of the SuDS regulations.  This area will be securely enclosed, with a 
highly visually permeable fence or railings on the back of the widened 
public footpath at the front of the landscaped area and backed at the rear 
interface with the service yard by a solid and secure high fence.  This 
area will only be accessible for authorised maintenance personnel from 
within the service yard area.  
 
A 2m wide ‘shadow gap’ between the end of the leisure centre on Wind 
Street and the landscaped area will permit safe and secure access for 
staff, access to a dedicated staff cycle park shelter and also provides a 
critical underground services route linking the existing Wind Street 
infrastructure to this regeneration proposal. This route will be secured 
with an appropriate solid gate set back slightly from the end elevation of 
the leisure centre.   
 
The overall design of the built form represents a progressive evolution of 
Phase 1.  Key considerations of height, scale and massing have been 
integrated with appearance, texture and finishes to create a set of 
development proposals which cohesively and comfortably sit within the 
town centre context. 

Tudalen97



Units 1-7 
 
The town centre is generally characterised by a series of relatively small 
building units and accompanying frontages, thereby providing a human 
scale to the built environment.  The frontages naturally vary in width and 
height, and therefore overall proportions also vary however, while being 
distinctive they relate to each other as a series of cohesive street scene 
enclosures. 
 
The proposals for the retail units seek to continue and evolve this 
characteristic.  While exhibiting a wide overall frontage area onto the 
public realm plaza, the overall mass and scale of the frontage has been 
broken down to create a series of related, linked, yet distinctly separate 
and rhythmical elevational forms, representing the unit configuration 
behind the frontages as illustrated clearly on the floor plan layouts.  The 
architectural philosophy has been to evolve the Phase 1 built 
development, while still exhibiting human scale elements and 
proportions, thereby creating an interesting yet separate frontages linked 
through their overall composition fronting onto the plaza space. 
 

 
 
The design of the retail units has a series of horizontal parapets across 
Units 1 to 6 reflecting Phase 1.  The entrance to Unit 7 is via a separate, 
slightly recessed lobby enclosure; this is reflected by a lower parapet 
height and noticeable entrance composition.  This also serves to 
differentiate between Phase 1 and the evolved Phase 2 development.   
 
The main 1st floor Unit 7 floorspace is defined elevationally by a large 
horizontal picture window positioned in a strong enclosing frame feature 
clad with a diagonal pattern shingle system.  This creates a distinctive 
feature in the façade composition and will ensure that visual connections 
between the 1st floor occupier operation and the public plaza below will 
ensue, assisting with overlooking while providing an active frontage 
opportunity at the upper floor levels. 

Tudalen98



Leisure Centre 
 
The leisure centre generally occupies the site previously allocated as 
Retail Units 1 and 2 in the ‘old’ Phase 2 scheme.  A series of design 
strategy options have been explored, including organogram and 
relationship diagrams, to inform the proposal.  The main entrance and 
other key public areas e.g. café needed to front onto the main plaza and 
there has been a strong desire to align the pool and its distinctive roof 
form along Wind Street, providing interest and definition to the street 
scene.   
 
Relevant guidance has been utilised in assessing the design options 
available, most notably and primarily the relationship between the 
entrance, changing, pool entry on the one hand and the relationship 
between main pool, learner pool and public seating areas on the other.  
The location of the gym has also been an important consideration – not 
only its relationship within the floorplan configuration but also the private 
vs public debate about visibility into gyms from outside weighed up 
against privacy and security, particularly in today’s climate.  The team 
considered and explored whether the pool could be rotated 90 degrees 
from the final proposal and what that did to the plan layout and external 
appearance.  This was not considered to be a valid approach.  The team 
also explored various layouts for the ‘flipping’ of the main pool and learner 
pool and corresponding upper floor layout together with assessments as 
to whether the gym should be located at the front of the scheme or rear. 
 
The leisure centre proposal consists of two floors of accommodation, 
together with a small basement area for pool and building plant at the 
rear.  The ground floor footprint length is longer from the plaza to the soft 
landscaped area but has narrowed so that the main frontage to Wind 
Street has been ‘pulled in’ to permit space for angled, chevron-type 
accessible parking bays in close proximity to the main entrance and café. 
 
The ground floor primarily comprises entrance, café, wet changing, main 
pool, learner pool and public seating.  The first floor comprises the gym, 
dry changing and two flexible and different sized multi-purpose studios. 
 
The entrance and café front the plaza, with the café located at the corner 
with Wind Street, permitting external seating on the piazza, providing life 
and activity on the plaza in this location.  The pool is aligned along the 
Wind Street frontage with changing and ancillary areas set on the inside 
of the plan adjacent the retail units.  The pool location allows provision of 
an interesting elevational composition along Wind Street, including upper 

Tudalen99



level windows to allow light into the pool area while maintaining privacy 
for pool users.  At first floor level, the large 100 station gym fronts the 
plaza with visual connectivity achieved through the introduction of a large 
picture window.  Along the internal side of the leisure centre at the upper 
floor level sit the two multi-purpose studios and the corresponding dry 
change facilities.  The pool hall itself is full height from ground floor level 
to underside of roof. 
 
The mass of the leisure centre is defined externally by a distinctive 
feature curved roof profile; to provide a cohesive form sitting over a strong 
linear ground floor envelope.  A strong horizontal strip of curtain walling 
glazing on the Wind Street frontage creates the device of the roof 
appearing to float over the wall below, an appropriate use of solid and 
void in this context.  Roof-lights located over the pool area will allow 
natural light to flood the pool volume, providing an attractive environment 
for pool users.   
 
The different mass, scale and appearance of the leisure centre also 
serves to address the node point within the public realm and provides an 
appropriate sense of enclosure and height against this larger public 
space. 
 
Materials 
 
The proposed range of materials and finishes again represents an 
evolution from the Phase 1 development, featuring panels of masonry, 
stone facings or feature stonework, high quality cladding façade panels; 
all of which will be non-combustible of fire retardant graded, together with 
glazed shopfronts and entrance doors.  The feature leisure centre roof 
will be a natural curved standing seam system with raised rib profile.  Of 
particular significance will be the nature and high quality detailing at the 
junctions of the various components, providing a visually pleasing series 
of related detailing while delivering the levels of technical performance 
required of external materials and finishes including longevity and 
durability parameters.  Materials have been proposed which satisfy 
BREEAM criteria in conjunction with other key criteria including ease of 
minimum maintenance, durability, longevity and resistance to the 
environmental conditions.  
 
Accessibility  
 
All entrances to the leisure centre and adjacent units will be flush with the 
external plaza paving surfaces to ensure full compliance with DDA and 

Tudalen100



accessibility requirements under Part M of the Building Regulations.  
Given the significant level differences along the plaza and Wind Street 
frontages, coupled with the objective of creating a smooth, continuous 
plaza surface uninterrupted by flat plateaus and noticeable slopes, the 
units will exhibit a series of stepped floor slab levels to ensure a flush 
entrance approach in each unit.  The leisure centre reconciles the main 
entrance area with the café and ability to sit out on the piazza as the 
café’s external space. 
 
Accordingly, it is concluded that the proposals will reflect the overall 
design principles set in Phase 1 and further enhance the overall 
experience for visitors and the public realm within the Town centre, which 
accords with Policy BE1 of the Neath Port Talbot Local Development 
Plan, and reflects the aspirations for design quality within Planning Policy 
Wales and Technical Advice Note 12: Design (2016) 
 
Impact on Residential Amenity 
 
There are residential properties within proximity to the development, both 
sporadic residential flats and houses within the town centre itself, and 
larger areas of residential development to the opposite side of Prince of 
Wales Drive.  
 
The proposed development will be significantly lower than the previous 
multi-storey development that previously existing on the majority of the 
site, and the building line at the rear is set a greater distance from Prince 
of Wales Drive than the former building. As such the overall physical 
impact of the development in terms of overlooking or overshadowing is 
minimal, and it is not considered that there will be any unacceptable 
impacts.  
 
Noise 
 
The application site is located within the town centre however there are 
residential premises that bound the application boundary and the 
teaching rooms of a Primary School and a church are located less than 
50 metres away.  
 
The application has been assessed by the Local Authority’s 
Environmental Health Section who has advised that he is satisfied with 
the submitted Noise reports which adequately address the key elements 
of noise impact for both the construction and operational phases of the 
development.  

Tudalen101



 
In relation to potential noise and nuisance from the construction, a 
construction and traffic management plan will ensure that deliveries and 
noise and disturbance from this are minimised.   
 
Whilst all construction will lead to disturbance these impacts are transient 
in nature and short lived. Nevertheless, there will be controls within the 
construction method statement which will ensure these impacts are 
minimised, to appropriate levels. In addition a management plan for the 
service yard use, including consideration of quiet delivery strategies, will 
be imposed, ensuring that servicing for these units will minimise any 
potential disruption.  
 
The reports also considers the impact the development will have on the 
surrounding area; the impact the surrounding area will have on the 
development; and the impact of noise and vibration transmission within 
the units themselves.  The Environmental Health Officer agrees with the 
suggested conditions/standards proposed and contained within the 
Report and he is satisfied that operational noise e.g. from the gym and 
deliveries, plant and fixed noise and construction noise have been 
considered in detail by the applicant and appropriate mitigation is 
proposed. However, to protect current receptors within the vicinity of the 
development a condition is suggested to control noise from plant and 
machinery. In respect of the potential noise impact from internal sport and 
leisure facility he advises that music should be considerably below 
background noise levels and recommends conditions are imposed on 
any consent requiring music noise to be no greater than 5 dB(A) and 
windows to remain closed when music is playing.  
 
Subject to these conditions, the proposal is considered acceptable and 
accords with Policies SP16, EN8 and BE1 of the Neath Port Talbot Local 
Development Plan. 
 
Parking and Access Requirements and Impact on Highway Safety 
 
Policy TR2 identifies that proposals will only be permitted where there 
are appropriate levels of parking and cycling facilities are provided and 
that the development is accessible by a range of travel means, including 
public transport and safe cycle and pedestrian routes.  
 
Insofar as this site is located within the town centre where there are 
several public car parks, the main bus station, train station, and 
pedestrianised area of the town centre, the proposal is considered to be 

Tudalen102



easily accessible by a wide range of transport and therefore considered 
to comply with the above. 
 
In terms of the impacts from the proposed development; this can be split 
into construction and post occupation phases.  
 
Construction 
 
During the construction phase a suitable construction and traffic 
management plan (CTMP) will be implemented to ensure that disruption 
to existing businesses and residential properties from construction traffic 
including deliveries will be minimised. For example, deliveries and traffic 
avoiding peak times, especially school pick up and drop off periods. This 
will ensure that disruption is minimised and that the free flow of traffic 
around this confined construction site are minimised.  
 
Post Occupation 
 
Upon occupation of each unit, the applicant has advised that welcome 
packs to each operator addressing the following matters will be provided; 
 

 Promotion of active travel 

 Supporting public transport.  

 Managing parking and traffic.  
 
These packs will promote sustainable transport, and public transport, 
providing incentive, examples and key sources of information. 
 
It is also proposed to provide post monitoring of the development, 
especially the use of the adjoining mufti-storey car park. This will take the 
form of data collection on the use and capacity of the car park, with 
suitable triggers for mitigation measures to be implemented to address 
any issues of congestion arising from any capacity issues going forward. 
 
The Head of Engineering and Transport has assessed the submitted TA 
which is the same as that previously submitted and is satisfied that the 
proposed development will generate less traffic and will be below the trips 
threshold already approved in the original TA and that staff and visitors 
will use existing facilities within the town centre together with other modes 
of transport. Consequently, he has raised no objection to the proposal 
subject to the imposition of conditions in respect of a condition survey of 
the existing highway prior to the storage of any materials or plant, Road 

Tudalen103



Safety Audit and Management Plan for the operation of the Yard which 
will service all buildings in terms of deliveries.  
 
It is considered that subject to the mitigation and controls highlighted 
within this report, that can be dealt with through the imposition of suitable 
conditions, the proposals would accord with Policies SP20 and TR2 of 
the Neath Port Talbot Local Development Plan.  
 
Drainage 
 
Surface Water  
 
The application is accompanied by a Drainage Strategy Statement which 
confirms that surface water will be disposed of in line with SAB 
requirements and as such The Head of Engineering and Transport 
(Drainage) has raised no objection to the proposal subject to conditions 
in respect of ground water seepage, alteration of any ditch, watercourse 
or culvert, foul and surface water are discharged separately and drainage 
of adjoin land is unaffected by the development.  
 
Welsh Water advises that the proposed development is positioned 
outside the protection zone of the aforementioned public sewerage 
assets and acknowledges surface water flows will discharge to a culvert 
as detailed in the Drainage Statement. No objection is raised by them to 
in respect of surface water.  
 
Foul sewerage 
 
Welsh Water has raised no objection subject to the imposition of 
appropriately worded informatives.  
 
Water Supply  
 
Welsh Water advises that the site is crossed by a number of public 
sewerage assets and, in order to establish what would be required to 
serve the development with an adequate water supply, it will be 
necessary for the developer to fund the undertaking of a hydraulic 
modelling assessment on the water supply network and suggests that a 
suitably worded condition is attached to any consent requiring the 
submission of a potable water scheme.  
 

Tudalen104



Land Contamination 
 
Policy EN8 states that proposals which would be likely to have an 
unacceptable adverse effect on health, biodiversity and/or local amenity 
or would expose people to unacceptable risk due to the following will not 
be permitted: 
 

 Air pollution; 
 Noise pollution; 
 Light pollution; 
 Contamination; 
 Land instability; 
 Water (including groundwater) pollution. 

Proposals which would create new problems or exacerbate existing 
problems detailed above will not be acceptable unless mitigation 
measures are included to reduce the risk of harm to public health, 
biodiversity and/or local amenity to an acceptable level. 
 
The Local Authority’s Land Contamination Officer advises that the site is 
in close proximity to land formally used as a textile and products 
manufacturer and an animal production process whilst the site was 
previously used as builders’ yard. A Contamination Statement has been 
submitted with the application and assessed by the Land Contamination 
Officer who has raised no objection to the proposal subject to conditions 
requiring an assessment of the nature and extent of contamination, 
remediation scheme, verification report and unexpected contamination. 
 
Biodiversity and Ecology 
 
The proposed development has been supported by an ecological 
assessment which shows the development will incorporate additional and 
replacement landscaping and tree planting within the public realm, and 
this planting will be of a type that is of local provenance and wildlife 
friendly, to ensure that this does not only enhance the visual appearance 
of the street scene, but also provides enhancement for ecological 
reasons. 
 
Further enhancements are proposed through the introduction a 
Sustainable drainage scheme that will incorporate water features, 
including an area to the rear of the buildings adjoining the proposed 
service yard where a surface water detention basin will be developed, 

Tudalen105



that provides opportunities for enhancement through planting and habitat 
creation together with the provision of bird boxes to the building.  
 
The Local Authority’s Biodiversity Officer has assessed the proposal and 
has no objection subject to conditions relating to bird nesting provision 
and landscaping. These recommendations can all be imposed via 
suitably worded conditions. As such it is considered that the proposal 
would provide biodiversity enhancement opportunities within the town 
centre and as such the application is considered to be acceptable in 
ecological terms. 
 
Trees 
 
As part of the submission, a tree survey has been submitted. The only 
loss of trees are the four Birch trees in Area 2. Due to the scale of the 
development and the proposed replanting the loss of these trees will have 
a minor impact on the local landscape. They have recommend that the 
protection of the remaining five trees in Area 1 must be undertaken in 
accordance with BS5837:2012 Trees in relation to design, demolition and 
construction. This can be imposed via a condition. 
 
The trees to the rear of the site, in proximity to the proposed access to 
the service yard will need to be removed as part of the development. 
Street tree planting will occur to both the Prince of Wales Drive frontage 
and to Water Street as part of wider hard and soft landscape scheme to 
be submitted that will consider the most appropriate native and wildlife 
friendly planting in this location and secured by a suitably worded 
condition can be imposed to secure the above enhancements. 
 
It is considered that subject to the completion of the development, 
incorporating the above matters, that the proposals will enhance the 
biodiversity and ecological value of the site. 
  
Archaeology 
 
Glamorgan Gwent Archaeological Trust (GGAT) has advised that their 
records show that the proposed application is situated within the 
medieval town, with Water Street known to have been a major route 
through the town since 1557. The proposed application area has 
previously undergone extensive development, as evident from the 
historic Ordnance Survey maps dating from 1877 to 1935. The first 
edition OS map of 1877, shows the footprint of the Independent Chapel, 
which was built in 1849. The second edition OS map of 1899 depicts 

Tudalen106



Woollen Mills, adjacent to the Chapel with numerous Post medieval 
buildings situated to the east and west, across the proposed development 
area, as also illustrated on the third and fourth edition maps of 1919 and 
1935. 
 
They previously advised that the construction of the multi-storey car park 
at the site would have already had an adverse effect on any potential 
archaeological remains that may have been present in the area. 
Therefore, it is considered that it is unlikely that significant archaeological 
structures or features will be encountered during the proposed works. As 
a result, there is unlikely to be an archaeological restraint to this proposed 
development and consequently have no objection to the proposal. 
 
Renewable Energy in New Development 
 
Policy RE2 - Renewable energy and low Carbon development in new 
Development, requires proposals with a total floor space of 1,000 sq.m 
or more to submit an Energy Assessment to determine the feasibility of 
incorporating such a scheme and where viable implement the scheme. 
 
As such a Renewable Energy Assessment has been submitted as part 
of the application which concludes that the provision of solar array(s) to 
the large roof area would be practicable (and locations for this are 
indicated on the submitted plans), and that this could form part of a larger 
town centre provision, and/or supply renewable energy to the 
development or other buildings within the immediate area. This matter is 
therefore made the subject of a condition requiring the submission of 
details and the implementation of a suitable scheme unless this is not 
viable.  
 
The proposal would therefore comply with Policy RE2 of the Neath Port 
Talbot Local Development Plan subject to the imposition of the 
aforementioned condition. 
 
Waste Management 
 
Policy W3 – Waste Management in New Development states it should be 
demonstrated that provision is made for the design, layout storage and 
management of the waste generated by the development both during the 
construction phase and occupation. Industrial or commercial 
development proposals that would generate in excess of 1,000 tonnes of 
waste per annum will be required to produce a Site Waste Management 
Plan. 

Tudalen107



 
As such a Waste Management Plan has been submitted to show how 
waste will be dealt with, which aims to reduce waste by 10% and recycle 
where possible. It is considered that the Plan submitted satisfies the 
requirements of Policy WE3 
 
Section 106 Planning Obligations 
 
Local Development Plan Policy SP 4 (Infrastructure) states that 
“Developments will be expected to make efficient use of existing 
infrastructure and where required make adequate provision for new 
infrastructure, ensuring that there are no detrimental effects on the area 
and community. Where necessary, Planning Obligations will be sought 
to ensure that the effects of developments are fully addressed in order to 
make the development acceptable”. 
 
Policy I1 (Infrastructure Requirements) then states that “In addition to 
infrastructure improvements necessary to make a development 
acceptable in health, safety and amenity terms, additional works or 
funding may be required to ensure that, where appropriate, the impact of 
new development is mitigated. These requirements will include 
consideration of and appropriate provision for: Affordable housing; Open 
space and recreation facilities; Welsh language infrastructure (in 
language Sensitive Areas); Community facilities including community 
hubs; Biodiversity, environmental and conservation interests; Improving 
access to facilities and services including the provision of walking and 
cycling routes; Historic and built environment and public realm 
improvements; Community and public transport; Education and training. 
 
The Community Infrastructure Levy Regulations 2010 came into force on 
6th April 2010 in England and Wales. They introduced limitations on the 
use of planning obligations (Reg. 122 refers). As of 6th April 2010, a 
planning obligation may only legally constitute a reason for granting 
planning permission if it is:  
 
(a)  necessary to make the development acceptable in planning terms;  
(b)  directly related to the development; and  
(c)  fairly and reasonably related in scale and kind to the development.  
 
In this case, the proposal relates to a planning application for the 
development of 8 commercial units (use class A1) and 1 unit (use class 
A1/A3/D2), 9 units in total. 
 

Tudalen108



Having regard to the assessment above and the type and form of 
development proposed in this location, having regard to local 
circumstances and needs arising from the development, the only issue 
to consider relates to the provision of open space under Policy OS1 – 
Open Space Provision.  
 
This Policy requires (for employment / commercial development 
proposals over 1000sq.m) provision for associated amenity space (for 
staff), with the Open Space and Greenspace SPG stating that the level 
of requirement is related to the number of staff employed, as shown 
below: 
 

Category 

Requirement/1000 
additional 
employees 
(hectares) 

Requirement/1000 
additional 
employees 

(square meters) 

Requirement/ 
additional 
employee 
(square 
meters) 

Amenity 
Space 

0.55 5,500 5.5 

 
At this stage the likely number of staff is not known. In addition to the 
large grassed area adjacent to the enclosed service yard area, the 
development will enhance the associated public realm and provide ample 
opportunity for workers to relax and enjoy the town centre.   Accordingly, 
and having regard to the existing approval at the site which requires no 
such provision, it is considered that the open space needs of the workers 
would be met by the enhanced public realm proposed under this 
application, such that no further specific provision is required in this 
instance. 
 
CONCLUSION 
 
The decision to recommend planning permission has been taken in 
accordance with Section 38 of The Planning and Compulsory Purchase 
Act 2004, which requires that, in determining a planning application the 
determination must be in accordance with the Development Plan unless 
material considerations indicate otherwise.  The Development Plan 
comprises the Neath Port Talbot Local Development Plan (2011-2026) 
adopted January 2016. 
 
It is considered that the proposed development, having regard to the 
existing planning permission for retail development at the site, represents 

Tudalen109



an appropriate form of development that would have significant benefits 
to the existing town centre through further leisure- and retail-led 
regeneration, and which would have no unacceptable impact on the 
amenities of neighbouring residents, visual amenity of the area or 
highway and pedestrian safety. Accordingly, the proposed development 
is in accordance with Policies SP1, SP2, SP3, SP4, SP5, SP10, SP12, 
SP16, SP19, SP20, SP21 SC1, EN8, I1, CCRS1, OS1, R1, R2, EN8, W3, 
TR2 and BE1 of the Neath Port Talbot Local Development Plan. 
 
It is further considered that the decision complies with the Council's well-
being objectives and the sustainable development principle in 
accordance with the requirements of the Well-being of Future 
Generations (Wales) Act 2015. 
 
RECOMMENDATION - Approve 
 
Conditions:-  
 
Time Limit Conditions 
 
1  The development hereby permitted shall be begun before the 

expiration of five years from the date of this permission. 
 

Reason 
To comply with the requirements of Section 91 of the Town and 
Country Planning Act 1990. 

 
List of Approved Plans 
 
2  Development shall be carried out in accordance with the drawings 

hereby approved, unless otherwise agreed in writing by the local 
planning authority. 
Plans. 
A-90001 C01 Existing Site Plan 
A-90002 C02 Proposed Site Plan 
A-90003 C02 Proposed Site Plan - Roof 
A-00002 C02 LC Ground Floor Plan 
A-00003 C02 LC First Floor Plan 
A-00005 C02 LC Roof Plan 
A-00008 C02 Proposed Basement Plan 
A-00011 C02 Building Ground Floor Plan 
A-00012 C02 Building First Floor Plan 
A-00013 C02 Building Roof Plan 

Tudalen110



A-00100 C02 Proposed Sections A and B 
A-00101 C02 Proposed Section C 
A-00200 C02 N & E Elevations 
A-00201 C02 SW & W Elevations 
A-00202 C02 SE Elevation 
A-00203 C02 Leisure Centre Elevations 
A-01300 C01 Illustrative Image 1 
A-01301 C02 Illustrative Image 2 
A-01302 C02 Illustrative Image 3 
Design and Access Statement 
Planning Statement 
PAC Report 
Transport Statement 
Travel Plan/Sustainable Transport Statement 
Retail Statement 
Noise Assessment 
Ecological Assessment 
Tree Survey Update 
Waste Management Plan 
Construction Management Plan 
Energy Assessment 
Land Contamination Report 
A-00200 C02 N & E Elevations 
A-00201 C02 SW & W Elevations 
A-00202 C02 SE Elevation 
A-00203 C02 Leisure Centre Elevations 
A-01300 C01 Illustrative Image 1 
A-01301 C02 Illustrative Image 2 
A-01302 C02 Illustrative 
Reason 
In the interest of clarity. 

 
Pre-Commencement Conditions 
 
3  Prior to any development commencing on site, the developer must 

do the following:- 
 

a)Notify the Local Planning Authority in writing that you intend to 
commence development by submitting a Formal Notice under 
Article 24B of the Town and Country Planning (Development 
Management Procedure) (Wales) Order 2012 (DMPWO) in the 
form set out in Schedule 5A (a newly inserted Schedule) of the 
DMPWO (or in a form substantially to the like effect); and b)Display 

Tudalen111



a Site Notice (as required by Section 71ZB of the 1990 Act) in the 
form set out in Schedule 5B (a newly inserted Schedule) of the 
DMPWO (or in a form substantially to the like effect), such Notice 
to be firmly affixed and displayed in a prominent place, be legible 
and easily visible, and be printed on durable material. Such Notice 
must thereafter be displayed at all times when development is 
being carried out. 

 
Reason: 
To comply with procedural requirements in accordance with Article 
24B of the Town and Country Planning (Development Management 
Procedure) (Wales) Order 2012 (DMPWO) and Section 71ZB of the 
Town and Country Planning Act 1990. 

 
4  No development shall commence on site until an assessment of the 

nature and extent of contamination affecting the application site 
area has been submitted to and approved in writing by the Local 
Planning Authority. This assessment must be carried out by or 
under the direction of a suitably qualified competent person in 
accordance with BS10175 (2011) 'Investigation of Potentially 
Contaminated Sites Code of Practice' and shall assess any 
contamination on the site, whether or not it originates on the site. 
The report of the findings shall include: 
(i) a desk top study to identify all previous uses at the site and 
potential 
contaminants associated with those uses and the impacts from 
those 
contaminants on land and controlled waters. The desk study shall 
establish a 'conceptual site model' (CSM) which identifies and 
assesses all identified potential source, pathway, and receptor 
linkages; 
(ii) an intrusive investigation to assess the extent, scale and nature 
of contamination which may be present, if identified as required by 
the desk top study; 
(iii) an assessment of the potential risks to: 
- human health, 
- groundwater and surface waters 
- adjoining land, 
- property (existing or proposed) including buildings, crops, 
livestock, pets, 
woodland and service lines and pipes,- ecological systems, 
- archaeological sites and ancient monuments; and 
- any other receptors identified at (i) 

Tudalen112



(iv) an appraisal of remedial options, and justification for the 
preferred remedial option(s). 
Reason: 
To ensure that information provided for the assessment of the risks 
from land contamination to the future users of the land, 
neighbouring land, controlled waters, property and ecological 
systems is sufficient to enable a proper assessment, and to ensure 
compliance with Policies SP16 and EN8 of the Neath Port Talbot 
Local Development Plan. 

 
5  No development shall commence on site until a remediation 

scheme to bring the site to a condition suitable for the intended use 
by removing any unacceptable risks to human health, buildings, 
other property and the natural and historic environment shall be 
prepared and submitted to and agreed in writing with the Local 
Planning Authority. The scheme shall include all works to be 
undertaken, proposed remediation objectives, remediation criteria 
and site management procedures. The measures proposed within 
the remediation scheme shall be implemented in accordance with 
an agreed programme of works. 

 
Reason: To ensure that risks from land contamination to the future 
users of the land and neighbouring land are minimised, together 
with those to controlled waters, property and ecological systems, 
and to ensure that the development can be carried out safely 
without unacceptable risks to workers, neighbours and other offsite 
receptors, and to ensure compliance with Policies SP16 and EN8 
of the Neath Port Talbot Local Development Plan. 

 
6  If the development is to be built in phases, then a detailed phasing 

scheme shall be submitted to and approved in writing to the local 
planning Authority prior to the commencement of any development. 
The scheme shall provide the following: 
a) A plan showing the phases 
b) A revised construction method 
statement in accordance with condition 5 which takes into 
consideration the phasing 
c) Elevations and proposed finish of any temporary surface, 
d) Details of any temporary means of enclosure 
e) Details of any temporary public realm or landscaping. 
f) Details of any temporary service yard arrangements 
g) Details of any temporary highway works required 
h) Details of and temporary drainage works. 

Tudalen113



Reason 
In the interest of clarity, visual amenity and highway and pedestrian 
safety and to ensure the development complies with Policies TR2 
and BE1 of the Neath Port Talbot Local Development Plan. 

 
7  No development shall take place until a potable water scheme to 

serve the site has been submitted to and approved in writing by the 
Local Planning Authority. The scheme shall demonstrate that the 
existing water supply network can suitably accommodate the 
proposed development site. If necessary a scheme to reinforce the 
existing public water supply network in order to accommodate the 
site shall be delivered prior to the occupation of any building. 
Thereafter, the agreed scheme shall be constructed in full and 
remain in perpetuity.  

 
Reason: 
To ensure the site is served by a suitable potable water supply and 
to ensure the development complies with Policy BE1 of the Neath 
Port Talbot Local Development Plan. 

 
Action Conditions 
 
8  Prior to beneficial use of the proposed development commencing, 

a verification report which demonstrates the effectiveness of the 
agreed remediation works carried out in accordance with condition 
5 shall have been submitted to and agreed in writing by the Local 
Planning Authority. 

 
Reason: 
To ensure that risks from land contamination to the future users of 
the land and neighbouring land are minimised, together with those 
to controlled waters, property and ecological systems, and to 
ensure that the development can be carried out safely without 
unacceptable risks to workers, neighbours and other offsite 
receptors and to ensure compliance with Policies SP16 and EN8 of 
the Neath Port Talbot Local Development Plan. 

 
9  In the event that contamination is found at any time when carrying 

out the approved development that was not previously identified, 
work on site shall cease immediately and shall be reported in 
writing to the Local Planning Authority. A Desk Study, Site 
Investigation, Risk Assessment and where necessary a 
Remediation Strategy must be undertaken in accordance with the 

Tudalen114



following document:- Land Contamination: A Guide for Developers 
(WLGA, WAG & EAW, July 2006). This document shall be 
submitted to and agreed in writing with the Local Planning 
Authority. Prior to occupation of the development, a verification 
report which demonstrates the effectiveness of the agreed 
remediation, shall be submitted to and agreed in writing with the 
Local Planning Authority. 
 
Reason: 
To ensure that risks from land contamination to the future users of 
the land and neighbouring land are minimised, together with those 
to controlled waters, property and ecological systems, and to 
ensure that the development can be carried out safely without 
unacceptable risks to workers, neighbours and other off site 
receptors, and to ensure compliance with Policies SP16 and EN8 
of the Neath Port Talbot Local Development Plan. 

 
10  Notwithstanding the submitted details, and prior to the occupation 

of any development hereby approved, details of the security gate 
design and control arrangements shall be submitted to and 
approved in writing by the Local Planning Authority The scheme 
shall be fully implemented prior to the first beneficial use of the 
service yard and retained as such thereafter. 
 
Reason 
In the interest of highway and pedestrian safety and visual amenity 
and to ensure compliance with Policies BE1 and TR2 of the Neath 
Port Local Development Plan. 

 
11 The materials to be used in the construction of the external surfaces 

of the development hereby permitted shall be as detailed on the 
approved plans. 

 
Reason 
In the interests of visual amenity of the area and to ensure the 
development complies with Policy BE1 of the Neath Port Talbot 
Local Development Plan. 

 
12  All works to be constructed on the public highway shall be subject 

to Road Safety Audits, stages 1 to 4 in accordance with HD19/03 
of the Design Manual for Roads and Bridges. Each stage of the 
Road Safety Audit shall be submitted for approval in writing by the 
Local Planning Authority. All issues highlighted at each stage shall 

Tudalen115



be addressed to the written approval of the Local Planning 
Authority within 3 months of approval of that stage of the Road 
Safety Audit . 

 
Reason 
In the interest of highway and pedestrian safety and to ensure 
compliance with Policy TR2 of the Neath Port Talbot Local 
Development Plan.  

 
13  Notwithstanding the submitted details, prior to the occupation of 

any unit hereby approved, a detailed Service Yard Management 
Plan (SYMP) shall be submitted to and approved in writing by the 
LPA. The SYMP shall include details of how the service yard will 
operate during and after construction, and shall also adhere to the 
following: 
a) The time slot of each commercial delivery for each retail unit 
using the service yard area. 
b) The allocated off site holding area for any commercial delivery 
vehicle that arrive at a time outside their allocated slot. 
c) How commercial deliveries will be managed to avoid any 
commercial delivery vehicle waiting on the public highway. 
d) Details of Staff parking (if any) 
e) The location of all waste and storage areas, details of any 
enclosure and how they are to be managed within the service yard 
area. 
f) The service yard area must be being kept clear of any bins/waste 
or storage containers unless within an authorised area identified 
within point e g) Method of the collection of waste for the retail unit 
accessing the service yard area. 
h) The nomination of a co-ordinator to operate and control the 
agreed Delivery Management Plan for each retail unit using the 
service yard area. 
i) The service yard area must be kept clear of any staff/customer 
and residential parking at all times; 
j) No customer/staff or residential vehicles shall be permitted to 
drive through the service yard area at any time. 
k) No commercial delivery vehicles shall be permitted to park in the 
service area beyond their delivery time slot. 
l) No deliveries by Heavy Goods Vehicles (vehicles over 3500kg 
maximum gross weight) shall be made outside of the hours 
07:00hrs to19:00hrs)  
m) The implementation of a quiet delivery policy.  

Tudalen116



In addition to the above the SYMP shall ensure that all vehicles can 
manoeuvre in and out of the yard safely, without conflict and in a 
forward gear. The approved SYMP construction stage shall be 
adhered to during the construction phase, and the SYMP post 
construction shall being implemented prior to the first beneficial use 
of the development and adhered to thereafter. 
 
Reason 
In the interest of highway and pedestrian safety and to ensure the 
service yard operates effectively and efficiently and to ensure 
compliance with Policies TR2 and BE1 of the Neath Port Talbot 
Local Development Plan. 

 
14  Prior to the first beneficial use of any unit hereby approved, a traffic 

management scheme shall have been submitted to and approved 
in writing by the LPA, and the approved scheme implemented in 
accordance with the agreed details and retained as such thereafter. 

 
Reason: 
In the interest of highways and pedestrian safety and to ensure 
compliance with Policy TR2 of the Neath Port Talbot Local 
Development Plan. 

 
15  Prior to first beneficial use of the development hereby approved a 

hard/soft landscaping scheme (containing a majority of native 
and/or wildlife friendly species) shall be submitted to and approved 
in writing by the Local Planning Authority. The scheme shall include 
details and location of all trees and species of shrubs to be used 
within the public realm, which shall be predominantly of local 
provenance and wildlife friendly, and details of the green wall 
planting. All hard landscaping works in the approved details shall 
be carried out prior to the first beneficial use of the development. 
All planting, seeding or turfing comprised in the approved details of 
soft landscaping shall be carried out in the first planting and seeding 
season following the occupation of the buildings or the completion 
of the development hereby permitted, whichever is the sooner and 
any trees which within a period of five years from the completion of 
the development die, are removed or become seriously damaged 
or diseased shall be replaced in the next planting season with 
others of similar size and the same species, unless the Local 
Planning Authority gives written consent to any variation. 

 

Tudalen117



Reason 
In the interests of maintaining a suitable scheme of landscaping to 
protect the visual amenity of the area, and to ensure the 
development complies with Policies SP15 and BE1 of the Neath 
Port Talbot Local Development Plan. 

 
16 A landscape management plan, including management 

responsibilities and maintenance schedules for all landscaped 
areas, shall be submitted to and approved in writing by the Local 
Planning Authority prior to the first beneficial use of the 
development. The landscape management plan shall be carried out 
as approved and retained as such thereafter. 

 
Reason 
In the interest of visual amenity, and to ensure the long term 
management and maintenance of all landscaped areas, and to 
ensure the development complies with Policies SP15 and BE1 of 
the Neath Port Talbot Local Development Plan. 

 
17 Prior to the first beneficial use of any unit a minimum of 2 artificial 

nesting sites for birds shall be erected on the building to the 
following specifications 
Swift Nest Box Specification: 
Wide box with small slit shaped entrance hole. Must be placed 
under or close to roofs, at least 5m from the ground. 
Dimensions: H150 x W340 x D150mm 
or in the form of manufactured bird bricks incorporated into the 
fabric of the building and retained as such thereafter. 
 
Reason 
In the interest of biodiversity, and to mitigate to loss of bird 
nesting/foraging habitats under the Habitats Regulations (amended 
2012) and to accord with Policy SP15 of the adopted Neath Port 
Talbot Local Development Plan. 

 
18 Prior to the first occupation of any development a scheme shall be 

submitted to and approved in writing for the long-term monitoring 
of the parking provision within the multi-storey car park, adjoining 
the application site. This scheme shall include the method and 
regularity of data collection, and triggers for any mitigation 
submissions and implementation will also be set out within the 
submitted details, should the data show that there are capacity 
issues that are resulting in congestion within the highway network. 

Tudalen118



The scheme as approved shall be fully implemented in accordance 
with these approved details within 12 months of the first occupation 
of the first unit. 

 
Reason 
In the interests of Highway and pedestrian safety, and the free flow 
of traffic within the town centre and to ensure compliance with 
Policy TR2 of the Neath Port Talbot Local Development Plan. 

 
19  Prior to the first occupation of any unit, a draft welcome pack shall 

be submitted to and approved in writing by the Local Planning 
Authority in relation to sustainable travel. The packs as approved 
shall be provided to occupiers prior to first occupation, and updated 
on an annual basis until such time that the development is fully 
occupied. Any new or subsequent occupier shall also be provided 
with these packs upon taking occupation of any unit thereafter. 

 
Reason 
To promote active travel and to reduce the impacts of the 
development upon the local highway network and surrounding 
neighbourhood by reducing reliance on the private car for journeys 
to and from the site, in the interests of sustainable development, 
and to accord with Policy SP20 of the Neath Port Talbot Local Plan. 

 
20  Unless the applicant provides an assessment to show that the solar 

array is not viable, prior to the first beneficial use of the 
development a scheme detailing a roof mounted solar PV array as 
recommended within the Energy Assessment (dated April 2020), 
shall be submitted to and approved in writing by the Local Planning 
Authority. The scheme shall also include a timeframe for its 
implementation. The Solar PV array shall be implemented in 
accordance with the agreed details and retained as such thereafter. 

 
Reason 
To ensure this major development implements energy conservation 
and efficiency measures in accordance with LDP Policy SP18. 

 
21 Should any springs or ground water seepage be encountered on 

site, works in that area shall cease until a scheme for collection and 
disposal of the water has been submitted to and approved in writing 
by the Local Planning Authority. The scheme shall include timings 
for the works to be implemented. The scheme shall be implemented 

Tudalen119



in accordance with the agreed details and retained as such 
thereafter. 

 
Reason 
In the interest of drainage of ground water and to ensure no 
pollution of or detriment to the environment, and to ensure 
compliance with Policies SP16 and EN8 of the Neath Port Talbot 
Local Development Plan. 

 
22 The combined noise rating level of plant/machinery at the 

development shall not exceed 5 dB(A) below background noise 
level. The noise levels shall be determined at the nearest noise-
sensitive premises or at another location that is deemed suitable by 
the Authority. Measurements and assessments shall be made in 
accordance with "BS 4142:2014 Methods for rating and assessing 
industrial and commercial sound". 
In the event of noise complaints being received, the Local Authority 
may require the applicant to undertake a noise assessment in 
accordance with BS4142. The methodology shall be agreed with 
the Local Authority. A copy of the noise assessment report shall be 
submitted to the Local Authority, and if the report includes 
recommendations; the recommendations shall be implemented. 

 
Reason 
In the interests of local amenity, and to ensure compliance with 
Policies SP16, EN8 and BE1 of the Neath Port Talbot Local 
Development Plan. 

 
Regulatory Conditions 
 
23 There shall be no vehicular access or parking within the service 

yard, apart from the access for delivery/servicing vehicles, stopping 
and unloading. There shall be no external storage whatsoever, 
outside of the identified refuse storage areas. 

 
Reason 
In the interests of highway and pedestrian safety, and the free 
movement of service and delivery vehicles within the service yard 
area and to ensure the development complies with Policy TR2 of 
the Neath Port Talbot Local Development Plan. 

 
 

Tudalen120



24 The commercial units hereby approved shall only be open to 
customers between the hours of 07.00 am to 11pm. 

 
Reason 
In the interests of residential amenity and to ensure the 
development complies with Policies BE1 and EN8 of the Neath Port 
Talbot Local Development Plan. 

 
25 Construction operations shall be limited to 08:00-18:00 Mon-Fri, 

08:00-13:00 Saturday, and no construction operations shall take 
place on Sunday and Public Holidays without the prior approval of 
the Local Planning Authority. 

 
Reason: 
To protect the amenity of the locality, especially for people living 
and/or working nearby, in accordance with Policies EN8 and BE1 
of the Neath Port Talbot Local Development Plan. 

 
26  All ground floor windows and doors fronting onto the public highway 

shall only open inwards . 
 

Reason 
In the interest of highway and pedestrian safety and to ensure 
compliance with Policies BE1 and TR2 of the Neath Port Talbot 
Local Development Plan. 

  
27 Any gates fronting onto the highway shall be of a type which open 

inwards only, can be seen through and maintained as such 
thereafter. 

 
Reason 
In the interest of highway and pedestrian safety and to ensure 
compliance with Policy TR2 of the Neath Port Talbot Local 
Development Plan. 

 
28 The 5 trees identified within the Tree report (dated October 2018) 

located within Area 1 that are to be retained shall be protected 
during construction in accordance with BS5837:2012 Trees in 
relation to design, demolition and construction.  
 
Reason 
To ensure the trees are protected during construction in the interest 
of visual amenity, and to ensure the development complies with 

Tudalen121



Policies SP15 and BE1 of the Neath Port Talbot Local 
Development Plan. 

 
29  There must be no interference, alteration or diversion of any ditch, 

watercourse, stream or culvert crossing or bordering the site unless 
the Local Planning Authority has given its written approval to such 
works. 
 
Reason 
To safeguard land drainage and to ensure compliance with Policies 
SP16 and EN8 of the Neath Port Talbot Local Development Plan. 

 
30  All development on site shall be undertaken strictly in accordance 

with the Construction Management Plan and Waste and Resource 
Management Plan. 

 
Reason: 
In the interests of local amenity, and to ensure compliance with 
Policies SP16, EN8 and BE1 of the Neath Port Talbot Local 
Development Plan. 

 
31  All windows/doors leading to an area where music is being 

provided shall remain closed whilst music is being provided. 
 

Reason 
In the interests of local amenity, and to ensure compliance with 
Policies SP16, EN8 and BE1 of the Neath Port Talbot Local 
Development Plan. 

 
32 Music noise shall not exceed 5 dB (A) below background noise 

level. The noise levels shall be determined at the nearest noise-
sensitive premises or at another location that is deemed suitable by 
the Authority. (If required, this may be demonstrated by 
measurement or calculation) 

 
Reason 
In the interests of local amenity, and to ensure compliance with 
Policies SP16, EN8 and BE1 of the Neath Port Talbot Local 
Development Plan. 

 
 
 

Tudalen122



33  All development on the site shall be undertaken strictly in 
accordance with the Noise Planning Report -Hydrock April 2020, 
Noise Assessment April 2020 and Acoustic Design Strategy (April 
2020). 

 
Reason 
In the interests of local amenity, and to ensure compliance with 
Policies SP16, EN8 and BE1 of the Neath Port Talbot Local 
Development Plan. 

 
34  Notwithstanding the Town and Country Planning (Use Classes) 

Order 1987, (or in any provision equivalent to that Class in any 
statutory instrument revoking and re-enacting that Order with or 
without modification) the ground floor commercial units shall be A1 
or D1 only. 

 
Reason 
In the interests of the vitality, viability and attractiveness of this 
designated retail centre to ensure compliance with Policy R2 of the 
Neath Port Talbot Local Development Plan. 

Tudalen123



Mae’r dudalen hon yn fwriadol wag



SECTION A – MATTERS FOR DECISION 
 
Planning Applications Recommended For Approval 

 

APPLICATION NO: P2020/0538 DATE: 18/06/2020 

PROPOSAL: Construction of Technology Centre, parking, 
landscaping and associated works. 

LOCATION: Land Adjacent To Technium Centre, Central Avenue, 
Baglan Bay Energy Park, SA12 7AX 

APPLICANT: Neath Port Talbot Council 

TYPE: Regulation 3 (Council Development) 

WARD: Baglan 

 
SITE AND CONTEXT 
 
The application site comprises a section of grassland adjacent to the 
Baglan Bay Innovation Centre which is situated to the east and the 
Hydrogen R&D Centre to the south. To the north and west are areas of 
grassland and vegetation. The surrounding area is comprised of a mix of 
various employment uses. Access to the site would off Central Avenue 
and serves the existing Innovation Centre. 
 
The surrounding area is comprised of a mix of employment uses given 
that the area is designated within the NPT LDP as existing employment 
area Baglan Energy Park. The site sits on the southern side of the M4 
and the main body of Baglan which is predominantly residential in 
character.  

 
Figure 1: Location of proposed development 

Tudalen125

Eitem yr Agenda5



DESCRIPTION OF DEVELOPMENT 
 
This is a full application made under Regulation 31 for the construction of 
the ‘Swansea Bay Technology Centre’, a three storey energy positive 
building located adjacent to the existing innovation centre which will 
provide office/lab space for start-up businesses.  
 
The Technology Centre is proposed to be delivered as part of the 
Swansea Bay City Deal and will provide a range of high quality flexible 
office space to support start-up companies and indigenous business 
growth with a focus on the innovation and R&D sectors. 
 
The building is of a contemporary design and would be orientated north 
to south and sited to the west and at a right angle to the adjacent existing 
Innovation Centre and measures 53.5 metres by 18.3 metres by 13.8 
metres high.  
 
The design of the Technology Centre will incorporate building materials 
to establish it as a ‘building as a power station’ and demonstrate how this 
technology can be incorporated into an industrial building.  As the building 
is designed around the theme of an energy positive building, photovoltaic 
panels are proposed on the south, west and east facades, with additional 
materials including dark metal cladding panels, together with coloured 
window reveals. Photovoltaic panels will also be sited on the roof, hidden 
from view behind a high parapet.  
 
The proposal also incorporates the following elements:  
 

 Outdoor sitting area 

 Covered cycle store - provision for 16 cycle spaces 

 Swales 

 Expansion of parking area avoiding medium and significant 
ecology zone 

 Bin storage - with fencing and planting as a screen 

 Sprinkler tank with planting as a screen 

 Condenser with planting as a screen 

 Maintenance path 

 Biodiversity buffer 

 Plant and Bin storage for the existing building 
 

                                           
1 Town and Country Planning General Regulations 1992 (SI 1992/1492) - Consents issued under Regulation 3 
are for the benefit of the Council as applicant only. 

Tudalen126



The extended arc shaped car park comprising approximately 102 car 
spaces, including electric vehicle charging points would be located to the 
south of the building. A screened bin storage area is proposed to the 
south west and to the east a more densely planted area for amenity 
space including seating area for use by the future occupiers of the 
building. Two covered bicycle stands provide space for 20 bikes.  
 
One swale will run along the western edge to the detention basin at the 
rear of the development, another runs along the southern edge and will 
include a mix of grass and wildflower species. 
 

Figure 2:  Artists impressions showing the proposed development 
 

 
 

 
 

All plans / documents submitted in respect of this application can be 
viewed on the Council’s online register.    

Tudalen127

http://appsportal.npt.gov.uk/ords/idocs12/f?p=Planning:2:0::NO::P2_REFERENCE:P2020/0538


PRE-APPLICATION CONSULTATION  
 
In accordance with the Town and Country Planning (Development 
Management Procedure) (Wales) (Amendment) Order 2016, statutory 
Pre-Application Consultation (PAC) was carried out by the developer.  
 
The consultation exercise took place between 20th May 2020 and the 17th 
June 2020. The consultation involved displaying a site notice and 
notifying adjoining landowners and occupiers, together with Ward 
members, and specialist consultees.  
 
In addition to the specialist and community consultees, no responses 
were received from the public.  
 
PLANNING HISTORY 
 
The application site has the following relevant planning history: - 
 

 P2014/0423   Request for screening opinion under Regulation 5 of 
the Town and Country Planning (Environmental Impact 
Assessment) (England &Wales) Regulations 1999 (as amended) in 
respect of bridge and link road. Issued 31/5/13 
 

 P2013/0525 Construction of Baglan Energy Park link road and 
bridge and construction of highway between roads 3 and 4 Baglan 
Energy Park Approved 6/12/13  
 

 P2008/1227  Consultation under Section 36 of the Electricity Act 
1989 to construct and operate a gas fired combined cycle gas 
turbine power plant Approved 23/2/11 
 

 P2007/0251  Construction of renewable energy centre comprising 
of a hydrogen production facility and research/demonstration 
facility  Approved 17/7/07 
 

 P2002/0302 Broadband technium (B1) office building with 
associated car parking and landscaping  Approved 18/6/2002 
 

CONSULTATIONS 
 
Head of Engineering and Transport (Highways): No objection subject 
to conditions  
 

Tudalen128



Head of Engineering and Transport (Drainage): No objection. 
 
Contaminated Land Officer:  No objection, subject to conditions  
 
CADW: No objection  
 
NRW: No objection  
 
National Grid Plant Protection: No reply, therefore no observations to 
make. 
 
Coal Authority: No objection  
 
Welsh Water: No objection, subject to condition  
 
Crime Prevention Advisor: No objections details of design to be 
included within the development. 
 
Environmental Health (Noise): No objection, subject to conditions  
 
Environmental Health (Air Quality): No observations to make  
 
Biodiversity: No objection subject to conditions  
 
Health and Safety Executive: does not advise, on safety grounds, 
against the granting of planning permission in this case. 
 
GGAT: No objection  
 
REPRESENTATIONS 
 
The neighbouring properties were consulted on 23rd June 2020.  
 
The application also advertised in the South Wales Evening Post on the 
25th June 2020 and on site on 26th June 2020. 
 
In response, to date no representations have been received. 
 
  

Tudalen129



REPORT 
 
The Well-being of Future Generations Act (Wales) 2015 places a duty on 
the Council to take reasonable steps in exercising its functions to meet 
its sustainable development (or wellbeing) objectives. This report has 
been prepared in consideration of the Council’s duty and the “sustainable 
development principle”, as set out in the 2015 Act. In reaching the 
recommendation set out below, the Council has sought to ensure that the 
needs of the present are met without compromising the ability of future 
generations to meet their own needs.  
 
National Planning Policy: 
 
The following Technical Advice Notes  are also of relevance:- 
 

 Technical Advice Note (TAN) 5 - Nature Conservation and Planning  

 Technical Advice Note (TAN) 12 - Design 

 Technical Advice Note (TAN) 15 -  Development and Flood Risk  

 Technical Advice Note (TAN) 18 - Transport  
 
Local Planning Policy: 
 
The Development Plan for the area comprises the Neath Port Talbot 
Local Development Plan which was adopted in January 2016, and within 
which the following policies are of relevance: 
 
Strategic Policies 
 

 Policy SP1  Climate Change 

 Policy SP2  Health  

 Policy SP3  Sustainable communities 

 Policy SP4 Infrastructure 

 Policy SP5  Development in the Coastal Corridor Strategy 
Area 

 Policy SP11  Employment Growth 

 Policy SP15 Biodiversity and Geodiversity 

 Policy SP16  Environmental Protection 

 Policy SP17  Minerals 

 Policy SP18  Renewable and Low Carbon Energy 

 Policy SP19  Waste Management 

 Policy SP20 Transport Network 
 

Tudalen130

http://gov.wales/topics/planning/policy/tans/?lang=en
https://www.npt.gov.uk/PDF/ldp_written_statement_jan16.pdf#PAGE=35
https://www.npt.gov.uk/PDF/ldp_written_statement_jan16.pdf#PAGE=35
https://www.npt.gov.uk/PDF/ldp_written_statement_jan16.pdf#PAGE=37
https://www.npt.gov.uk/PDF/ldp_written_statement_jan16.pdf#PAGE=41
https://www.npt.gov.uk/PDF/ldp_written_statement_jan16.pdf#PAGE=45
https://www.npt.gov.uk/PDF/ldp_written_statement_jan16.pdf#PAGE=45
https://www.npt.gov.uk/PDF/ldp_written_statement_jan16.pdf#PAGE=61
https://www.npt.gov.uk/PDF/ldp_written_statement_jan16.pdf#PAGE=72
https://www.npt.gov.uk/PDF/ldp_written_statement_jan16.pdf#PAGE=74
https://www.npt.gov.uk/PDF/ldp_written_statement_jan16.pdf#PAGE=76
https://www.npt.gov.uk/PDF/ldp_written_statement_jan16.pdf#PAGE=78
https://www.npt.gov.uk/PDF/ldp_written_statement_jan16.pdf#PAGE=80
https://www.npt.gov.uk/PDF/ldp_written_statement_jan16.pdf#PAGE=83


 
Topic Based Policies 

 

 Policy SC1 Settlement limits 

 Policy I1 Infrastructure Requirements 

 Policy OS1  Open Space Provision  

 Policy EC2  Existing Employment Areas  

 Policy EC3  Employment Area Uses  

 Policy EC4  Protection of Existing Employment Uses  

 Policy EN6 Important Biodiversity and Geodiversity Sites  

 Policy EN7  Important Natural Features 

 Policy EN8  Pollution and Land Stability  

 Policy M1  Development in Mineral Safeguarding Areas  

 Policy M2  Surface Coal Operations  

 Policy RE2  Renewable and Low Carbon Energy in New 
Development 

 Policy W3  Waste Management in New Development 

 Policy TR2  Design and Access of New Development  

 Policy BE1  Design  
 
 
Supplementary Planning Guidance: 
 
The following SPG were approved are of relevance to this application: - 
 

 Planning Obligations (October 2016) 

 Parking Standards (October 2016) 

 Baglan Energy Park Development Framework (October 2016) 

 Pollution (October 2016) 

 Open Space & Greenspace (July 2017) 

 Renewable and Low Carbon Energy (July 2017) 

 Design (July 2017) 

 Biodiversity and Geodiversity (May 2018) 
 
EIA Screening 
 
The application site does not exceed the Schedule 2 threshold for 
development of this type as outlined within the Environmental Impact 
Assessment Regulations. As such the application has not been 
screened.  
 

Tudalen131

https://www.npt.gov.uk/PDF/ldp_written_statement_jan16.pdf#PAGE=38
https://www.npt.gov.uk/PDF/ldp_written_statement_jan16.pdf#PAGE=39
https://www.npt.gov.uk/PDF/ldp_written_statement_jan16.pdf#PAGE=60
https://www.npt.gov.uk/PDF/ldp_written_statement_jan16.pdf#PAGE=63
https://www.npt.gov.uk/PDF/ldp_written_statement_jan16.pdf#PAGE=63
https://www.npt.gov.uk/PDF/ldp_written_statement_jan16.pdf#PAGE=64
https://www.npt.gov.uk/PDF/ldp_written_statement_jan16.pdf#PAGE=73
https://www.npt.gov.uk/PDF/ldp_written_statement_jan16.pdf#PAGE=73
https://www.npt.gov.uk/PDF/ldp_written_statement_jan16.pdf#PAGE=74
https://www.npt.gov.uk/PDF/ldp_written_statement_jan16.pdf#PAGE=77
https://www.npt.gov.uk/PDF/ldp_written_statement_jan16.pdf#PAGE=77
https://www.npt.gov.uk/PDF/ldp_written_statement_jan16.pdf#PAGE=80
https://www.npt.gov.uk/PDF/ldp_written_statement_jan16.pdf#PAGE=80
https://www.npt.gov.uk/PDF/ldp_written_statement_jan16.pdf#PAGE=82
https://www.npt.gov.uk/PDF/ldp_written_statement_jan16.pdf#PAGE=84
https://www.npt.gov.uk/PDF/ldp_written_statement_jan16.pdf#PAGE=87
https://www.npt.gov.uk/7315
https://www.npt.gov.uk/pdf/spg_planning_obligations_oct16.pdf
https://www.npt.gov.uk/PDF/spg_parking_standards_oct16.pdf
https://www.npt.gov.uk/PDF/spg_baglan_energy_park_oct16.pdf
https://www.npt.gov.uk/PDF/spg_pollution_oct16.pdf
https://www.npt.gov.uk/media/7239/spg_open_space_july17.pdf
https://www.npt.gov.uk/media/7241/spg_renewable_energy_july17.pdf
https://www.npt.gov.uk/media/7237/spg_design_july17.pdf
https://www.npt.gov.uk/media/9003/spg_biodiversity_geodiversity_may18.pdf


The proposed development is also not located within a zone of influence 
for any SAC, CSAC or Ramsar sites and as such it is considered that an 
Appropriate Assessment as set down within the Conservation of Habitats 
and Species Regulations 2017 is not required. 
 
Issues 
 
Having regard to the above, the main issues to consider in this application 
relate to the principle of development, impact on visual amenity and the 
character of the area, the amenities of neighbouring properties, highway 
and pedestrian safety and the free flow of traffic, biodiversity, drainage, 
flooding, and pollution control including noise and contamination   
 
Principle of Development 
 
The primary objective of PPW is to ensure that the planning system 
contributes towards the delivery of sustainable development and 
improves the social, economic, environmental and cultural well-being of 
Wales, as required by the Planning (Wales) Act 2015, the Well-being of 
Future Generations (Wales) Act 2015 and other key legislation. PPW and 
the National Development Framework (NDF) set out how the planning 
system at a national, regional and local level can assist in delivering these 
requirements through Strategic Development Plans (SDPs) and Local 
Development Plans (LDPs).  
 
Sustainable development is defined as:  
 
“the process of improving the economic, social, environmental and 
cultural well-being of Wales by taking action, in accordance with the 
sustainable development principle, aimed at achieving the well-being 
goals. Acting in accordance with the sustainable development principle 
means that a body must act in a manner which seeks to ensure that the 
needs of the present are met without compromising the ability of future 
generations to meet their own needs. “  
 
Under Section 2 – People and Places – Achieving Well Being Through 
Placemaking, 5 Key Planning Principles are highlighted, under the 
general heading of Achieving the Right Development in the Right Place 
which are:  
 

1. Growing our economy in a sustainable manner  
2. Making best use of resources  
3. Facilitating Accessible and Healthy Environments  

Tudalen132



4. Creating and Sustaining Communities  
5. Maximising environmental protection and limiting environmental 

impact.  
 
Section 3 – Strategic and Spatial Choices states that effective strategic 
placemaking requires early collective consideration of placemaking 
issues at the outset, in the formulation of a development plan, or when 
developing specific proposals.  
 
Paragraph 3.3 emphasises that good design is fundamental to creating 
sustainable places where people want to live, work and socialise. Design 
is not just about the architecture of a building but the relationship between 
all elements of the natural and built environment and between people and 
places.  
 
Section 3.8 relates to how good design can help to ensure high 
environmental quality. Landscape and green infrastructure 
considerations are an integral part of the design process. Integrating 
green infrastructure is not limited to focusing on landscape and ecology, 
rather, consideration should be given to all features of the natural 
environment and how these function together to contribute toward the 
quality of places.  
 
Community safety is a key social consideration with the aim to produce 
safe environments that do not compromise on design quality in 
accordance with the cohesive communities’ well-being goal.  
 
Section 3.13 relates to existing infrastructure stating:  
 
“Existing infrastructure must be utilised and maximised, wherever 
possible. Where new infrastructure is necessary to mitigate transport 
impacts of a development and to maximise accessibility by sustainable 
non-car modes, it should be integrated within the development layout and 
beyond the boundary, as appropriate. This could include works to 
connect cycle routes within a site to a wider strategic cycling network or 
provision of bus priority measures on highway corridors serving a new 
development.”  
 
Section 4 – Active and Social Places defines those places which promote 
our social, economic, environmental and cultural well-being by providing 
well-connected cohesive communities. Places which are active and 
social contribute to the seven goals of the Well-being of Future 
Generations Act. The key issues in this theme include:  

Tudalen133



 

 assisting in the delivery of cohesive communities which will meet 
the needs and are accessible to all members of society, including 
older people;  

 tackling inequalities between communities, delivering services and 
jobs closer to where people live and acknowledging the importance 
of inclusive communities and the wider environment for good health 
and well-being;  

 improve sustainable access to services, cultural opportunities and 
recreation facilities to support people to adopt healthy, culturally 
fulfilled lifestyles  

 
Section 5 – Productive and Enterprising Places - Productive and 
Enterprising Places are those which promote our economic, social, 
environmental and cultural well-being by providing well-connected 
employment and sustainable economic development. These places are 
designed and sited to promote healthy lifestyles and tackle climate 
change. This is done by making them: easy to walk and cycle to and 
around; accessible by public transport; minimising the use of non-
renewable resources; and using renewable and low carbon energy 
sources.  
 
For planning purposes the Welsh Government defines economic 
development as the development of land and buildings for activities that 
generate sustainable long term prosperity, jobs and incomes. The 
planning system should ensure that the growth of output and employment 
in Wales as a whole is not constrained by a shortage of land for economic 
uses.  
 
Economic land uses include the traditional employment land uses 
(offices, research and development, industry and warehousing), as well 
as uses such as retail, tourism, and public services.  
 
Wherever possible, planning authorities should encourage and support 
developments which generate economic prosperity and regeneration. 
Sites identified for employment use in a development plan should be 
protected from inappropriate development. 
 
PPW 10 recognises that business clustering can be beneficial when 
developing land use planning. This occurs when businesses from the 
same or similar industry, or with a common interest, choose to locate in 
close proximity for mutual benefit. Often, clustering concerns high 
technology, innovative or research and development based companies. 

Tudalen134



Businesses can benefit from shared facilities, infrastructure, local pools 
of skilled and qualified labour, common supply chains and links to higher 
education.  
 
Planning authorities should ensure development plan policies are 
supportive of renewable and low carbon energy development in all parts 
of Wales.  
 
In determining applications for the range of renewable and low carbon 
energy technologies, planning authorities should take into account:  

 

 the contribution a proposal will make to meeting identified Welsh, 
UK and European targets;  

 the contribution to cutting greenhouse gas emissions; and  

 the wider environmental, social and economic benefits and 
opportunities from renewable and low carbon energy development.  

 
Planning authorities should give significant weight to the Welsh 
Government’s targets to increase renewable and low carbon energy 
generation, as part of our overall approach to tackling climate change and 
increasing energy security. 
 
 
The site is located within existing employment area Baglan Energy Park 
within which uses will be restricted in accordance with Policy EC3 which 
states:  
 
“Within allocated and existing employment areas, unless otherwise 
specified and where appropriate, uses will be restricted as follows:  
 

  Uses within classes B1, B2 and B8;  

 Ancillary facilities or services which support and complement the 
wider role and function of the primary employment use; and  

 

 Commercial services unrelated to class B….”  
 
The proposed development is use Class B1 and will not cause any 
adverse impacts on the overall function of the employment area. The 
proposal is located within the existing Baglan Bay Innovation Centre 
wider grounds and is an expansion to the existing site use. The proposal 
is therefore considered to be beneficial to the existing employment use 
and will provide approximately 250 full time equivalent jobs.  

Tudalen135



 
The Technology Centre will also deliver on the objectives fo the Swansea 
Bay City Deal to deliver a hybrid building providing a range of high quality 
flexible office space to support start-up companies and indigenous 
business growth with a focus on the innovation and R&D sector, while 
incorporating building materials to establish it as a ‘building as a power 
station’ and demonstrate how this technology can be incorporated into 
an industrial building. 

The proposal is therefore considered to be wholly compliant with PPW10, 
Technical Advice Notes and Policies SP3 (Sustainable Communities), 
SC1 (Settlement Limits) and EC3 (Employment Area Uses) of the 
Council’s Local Development Plan. As such the principle of development 
is acceptable subject to detailed design considerations. 
 
Impact on Visual Amenity and Character 
 
Strategic Policy SP21 seeks to conserve and enhance the built 
environment and historic heritage, with Policy BE 1 - Design – expecting 
all development proposals to demonstrate high quality design which fully 
takes into account the natural, historic and built environmental context 
and contributes to the creation of attractive, sustainable places.  The 
Policy then provides the following criteria which need to be met where 
relevant: - 
 

1. It  complements  and  enhances  the  character  and  appearance  
of  the  site,  building  or  area  in  terms  of  siting,  appearance,  
scale,  height,  massing  and  elevation treatment; 

2. It  respects  the  context  of  the  site  and  its  place  within the local 
landscape, including its impact on  the  important  arterial  gateways  
into  the  County  Borough,  its  effects  on  townscape  and  the  
local  historic and cultural heritage and it takes account  of  the  site  
topography  and  prominent  skylines  or  ridges; 

3. It utilises materials appropriate to its surroundings  and  
incorporates  hard  and  soft  landscaping  and  screening where 
appropriate; 

4. It  would  not  have  a  significant  adverse  impact  on  highway 
safety, the amenity of occupiers of adjacent  land or the community; 

5. Important  local  features  (including  buildings,  amenity  areas,  
green  spaces  and  green  infrastructure,  biodiversity  and  

Tudalen136



ecological  connectivity)  are  retained and enhanced as far as 
possible; 

6. It  achieves  and  creates  attractive,  safe  places  and  public 
spaces, taking account of ‘Secured by Design’  principles  
(including  where  appropriate  natural  surveillance,  visibility,  well-
lit  environments  and areas of public movement); 

7. It  plays  a  full  role  in  achieving  and  enhancing  an  integrated 
transport and communications network  promoting  the  interests  of  
pedestrians,  cyclists  and public transport and ensures linkages 
with the  existing surrounding community; 

8. It  uses  resources,  including  land  and  energy,  as  efficiently as 
possible through: 

a. Making  the  best  and  most  efficient  use  of  the  land  
available  through  being  of  appropriate  density  taking  into  
account  the  character  and appearance of the area, normally 
a minimum of  35 dwellings per hectare in the Coastal 
Corridor  Strategy Area or a minimum of 30 dwellings per  
hectare in the Valleys Strategy Area; 

b. The layout and form of the development does not  preclude  
the  reasonable  use  of  other  adjacent  land; 

c. Developing  brownfield  land  in  preference  to  greenfield 
land where possible; 

d. Minimising building exposure while maximising solar gain. 

9. Its drainage systems are designed to limit surface  water run-of and 
food risk and prevent pollution; 

10. The  layout  and  design  of  the  development  achieves inclusive 
design by ensuring barrier free  environments,  allowing  access  by  
all  and  making  full provision for people with disabilities. 

 
Technical Advice Note 12: Design, July 2014, also refers to the need to 
consider local context and character, but at a broad level. In reference to 
the layout of development on page 19 states that; 

 
4.11 “Scale - of development in relation to surroundings, including 
height, width and length of each building proposed within the 
development; how the massing of the proposal contributes to the 
existing hierarchy of development to reinforce character; how the 
mass and height impacts on privacy, sunlight and microclimate; 

Tudalen137



and how height impacts on the attractiveness and safety of 
neighbouring public space.” 
 

4.12 “Layout of development - how the layout makes the 
development integrate with its surroundings whilst taking into 
consideration the orientation of the building to maximise energy 
efficiency and connectivity (the ways in which routes and open 
spaces within the development are provided, situated and 
orientated in relation to each other and to buildings and spaces 
outside the development); how the external area contributes 
towards the development and is used to make the development a 
more sustainable development; how is the chosen site the best 
location and how it links into adjacent uses.” 
 

Local Planning Authorities should ensure that the proposed 
developments should not have an unacceptable impact upon the 
character and amenity of an area. 
 
The site is located within an area allocated for employment use within the 
LDP which comprises buildings of various designs .The site is relatively 
flat in profile and is well screened by vegetation from the public highway, 
however to break down the overall massing of the building different 
elements of glazing have been incorporated into the design. It is 
considered that the proposed design, scale and massing of the proposal 
complements that of the adjacent Innovation Centre and incorporates the 
design principles identified in the Supplementary Planning Guidance – 
Baglan Energy Park Development Framework.  
 
Materials 
 
The building has been designed with a modern appearance with the 
proposed materials have been chosen for their durability, robustness and 
high quality. As the building is designed around the theme of energy 
positive building, photovoltaic panels dominate on the south, west and 
east facades, with the use elsewhere of dark metal cladding panels on 
the north and east façade and on the ground floor level on the south and 
west facades. Various window sizes have been utilised and the reveals 
are to be coloured which will provide depth to the building. In respect of 
the roof, PVs will be hidden from view behind a high parapet.  
 
The resulting building will have a simple yet contemporary appearance 
which will reflect the aspirations for high quality development in the 
Baglan Energy Park, while also delivering on a primary purpose of 
delivering an energy positive building.  

Tudalen138



Accessibility  
 
There will be a level entrance into the building together with a level 
access pathway around its perimeter to ensure full compliance with DDA 
and accessibility requirements under Part M of the Building Regulations.   
 
Accordingly, it is concluded that the proposals accords with Policy BE1 
of the Neath Port Talbot Local Development Plan, and reflects the 
aspirations for design quality within Planning Policy Wales and Technical 
Advice Note 12: Design (2016) 
 
Impact on Amenity 
 
During construction the proposal will have an impact, albeit temporary in 
nature on the occupiers of the Technology Centre. However, the 
submitted Construction Method Statement and Baseline Noise Survey 
Report details how any potential noise, vibration and disturbance will be 
controlled. These have been assessed by the Environmental Health 
Officer who has raised no objection to the proposal.  
 
In summary therefore, it is considered that the development will not have 
any unacceptable impacts on existing users of the adjacent building and 
the proposal therefore accords with policy EN8 of the LDP. 
 
Parking and Access Requirements and Impact on Highway Safety 
 
Policy TR2 identifies that proposals will only be permitted where there 
are appropriate levels of parking and cycling facilities are provided and 
that the development is accessible by a range of travel means, including 
public transport and safe cycle and pedestrian routes.  
 
Policy BE1 requires, amongst other things, that new development has no 
significant adverse impact on highway safety, with Policy TR2 
emphasising that development proposals will only be permitted where all 
of the stated criteria are satisfied, including that “(1) The development 
does not compromise the safe, effective and efficient use of the highway 
network and does not have an adverse impact on highway safety or 
create unacceptable levels of traffic generation; 
 
The proposal will make use of the wider site access off Central Avenue 
and its use together with the proposed parking requirements have been 
assessed in the submitted Transport Assessment. The proposal includes 
the provision of approximately 102 No parking spaces which includes 5 

Tudalen139



disabled spaces. The adopted SPG standards require B1 office uses 
(over 1000 sq.m) within Zones 2 and 3 to provide 1 space per 30m². The 
proposal would therefore require 125 car parking spaces. Whilst the 
proposal falls short by 23 spaces, these are maximum standards and it 
is nevertheless considered that there is capacity within the existing car 
park to accommodate this shortfall. In addition, the site is sustainably 
located with access to public transport, which together with the provision 
of cycle facilities will encourage use of other modes of transport.  
 
The Transport Assessment considers the trip generation and concludes 
that the existing junctions will operate within capacity. Given the sites 
designation as an employment site the surrounding highway network has 
been developed to accommodate such development. The Head of 
Engineering and Transport has assessed the submitted TA and raised 
no objection to the proposal subject to the imposition of conditions in 
respect of compliance with the submitted Travel Plan and the car park 
being provided prior to the occupation of the building.  
 
It is considered that the proposals would accord with Policies SP20 and 
TR2 of the Neath Port Talbot Local Development Plan.  
 
Land Contamination 
 
Policy EN8 states that proposals which would be likely to have an 
unacceptable adverse effect on health, biodiversity and/or local amenity 
or would expose people to unacceptable risk due to the following will not 
be permitted: 

 Air pollution; 

 Noise pollution; 

 Light pollution; 

 Contamination; 

 Land instability; 

 Water (including groundwater) pollution. 

Proposals which would create new problems or exacerbate existing 
problems detailed above will not be acceptable unless mitigation 
measures are included to reduce the risk of harm to public health, 
biodiversity and/or local amenity to an acceptable level. 

Tudalen140



The Local Authority’s Land Contamination Officer has undertaken an 
assessment of the submitted Phase 1 Ground Conditions Desk Study, 
Geotechnical and Geoenvironmental Report and report entitled "Detailed 
ground gas risk assessment :Swansea Bay Technology Centre dated 
12th June 2020 and advises that the latter report  includes the results of 
4 additional gas monitoring visits, which is welcomed, however she has 
raised concerns regarding the ground gas risk assessment for the site, 
with BH3 has being identified as an anomaly.  
 
As the made ground has been discounted as a source of gas and BH3 is 
the only borehole not screened in the made ground she considers that 
there is not enough supporting evidence to suggest that this data is an 
anomaly.  It is her understanding that the flooding of a well is likely to 
push gas out of the well rather than increase the concentrations and as 
such she is concerned that the actual gas concentrations could be higher.  
Also, if this is a suggestion that the methane is dissolved in the 
groundwater it may also be necessary to consider the groundwater itself 
as a source of ground gas.   
 
If there were concerns about the installation of the well and its relevance 
to the CSM it is considered that another well should have been installed 
as removing the data for BH3 removes 1/3 of the available gas monitoring 
data for the site.  Although methane concentrations in BH1 and BH2 are 
not significantly elevated, oxygen concentrations in these wells are 
extremely depleted suggesting that the oxygen is being displaced by 
something. 
 
The report states that there doesn’t appear to be any correlation between 
flow rates and barometric pressure, however, the highest recorded flow 
for each borehole was on the 2nd March, which was the only 
measurements taken during a low pressure event.  Guidance suggests 
that barometric pressure should be provided for two days before and two 
days after the monitoring, however, as this information has not been 
provided she is unable to confirm whether this low pressure recording 
was taken during falling barometric pressure as guidance suggests it 
should for a worst case scenario, however, it does seem to suggest that 
barometric pressure is having an impact on the flow rate contrary to what 
is stated in the report (paragraph 3.4.2). Whilst tide heights have been 
included in the data table that were sourced from tidetimes.co.uk, there 
is no interpretation of whether or not the monitoring was carried out 
during high or low tide using this data.   
 

Tudalen141



In order to demonstrate a worst case scenario the monitoring should be 
targeting at least one visit during a high tide on a day of low barometric 
pressure. Whilst she acknowledges that the borehole itself could be 
creating a pathway to the underlying peat deposits, which could also be 
the source of methane, however, piled foundations are likely to act in a 
similar way. It is accepted that the report has identified this pathway, 
however, she considers that this pollutant linkage in the Conceptual Site 
Model does not support the argument to remove the data from BH3.  The 
report hasn’t calculated a site specific gas screening value for the site as 
required to identify a characteristic situation for the gas regime.   
 
For the reasons outlined above, additional information is required to be 
satisfied that the risk from ground gas has been adequately 
characterised. As a consequence it is recommended that conditions in 
respect of an assessment of contamination, remediation scheme, 
verification report and unexpected contamination are imposed.  
 
Drainage 
 
The development will require SABS approval and is to be incorporated 
as an intrinsic part of the site layout a sustainable drainage system, which 
will both deliver in terms of drainage, but also enhance biodiversity and 
create landscape value and diversity within this site.  
 
This is to be consented as part of a separate consenting process by the 
Authority’s SABs approval body.  
 
Welsh Water advises that the site is crossed by a 1000mm combined 
public sewer  and it appears the proposed development would be situated 
outside the protection zone of the public sewer measured 5 metres either 
side of the centreline which indicates proposals to discharge foul and 
surface water flows to existing private networks and in principle offer no 
objection subject to the imposition of a condition requiring the foul 
drainage system to be completed prior to occupation and that no further 
surface water or land drainage shall connect to the public sewerage 
system.  
 
However, based on the integration of this sustainable drainage system 
into the site layout, and in enhancing the biodiversity of the site, it is 
considered that the proposals accord with the overarching sustainability 
principles set within Planning Policy Wales, and the Local Development 
Plan.  
 

Tudalen142



Flooding  
 
In considering the principle of development a material consideration is 
the sites location within zone C1. Within Zone C1 development can take 
place subject to application of a justification test, including acceptability 
of consequences. The proposed use is considered to be a less vulnerable 
development as it is employment B1.  
 
The justification tests set out in TAN: 15 are as follows:  
 
i. “Its location in zone C is necessary to assist, or be part of, a local 
authority regeneration initiative or a local authority strategy required to 
sustain an existing settlement1; or,  

ii. Its location in zone C is necessary to contribute to key employment 
objectives supported by the local authority, and other key partners, to 
sustain an existing settlement or region;  
and,  
iii. It concurs with the aims of PPW and meets the definition of previously 
developed land (PPW fig 2.; )and,  

iv. The potential consequences of a flooding event for the particular type 
of development have been considered, and in terms of the criteria 
contained in sections 5 and 7 and appendix 1 found to be acceptable.”  
 
The site is allocated for employment use, the development of which is 
necessary to assist in the local authority’s strategy for regeneration and 
to sustain an existing land use. The proposal will contribute to key 
employment objectives providing approximately 250 full time equivalent 
jobs. The proposal concurs with the aims of PPW10 particularly the aims 
set out in section 5 relating to productive and enterprising places. The 
section highlights that wherever possible, planning authorities should 
encourage and support developments which generate economic 
prosperity and regeneration. The proposal will also be supportive towards 
business clustering locating businesses, often, high technology, 
innovative or research and development-based companies within close 
proximity to each other for mutual benefit. Whilst the proposal is not 
located on previously developed land it is within an area designated for 
employment use. 
 
The potential consequences of a flooding event for the particular type of 
development have been fully considered in the submitted Flood 
Consequences Assessment (FCA) and which has been assessed by 
NRW who have advised that based on the latest modelled flood 
information they hold for this location, the site is considered to be free 

Tudalen143



from fluvial flooding in the1% (1 in 100 year), 1% (1 in 100 year) +CC and 
0.1% (1 in 1000 year) annual probability fluvial flood outline. The site is 
also considered to be free from tidal flood risk in the 0.1% (1 in 1000 year) 
+CC annual probability tidal flood outline, as a consequence they have 
raised no objection with regards to fluvial and tidal flood risk. 
 
As such the proposal is considered to comply with the justification tests 
and acceptability criteria and is in accord with the advice contained within 
TAN 15.  
 
Biodiversity and Ecology.  
 
Technical Advice Note 5: Nature Conservation and Planning states that: 
 
Biodiversity, conservation and enhancement is an integral part of 
planning for sustainable development. The planning system has an 
important part to play in nature conservation. The use and development 
of land can pose threats to the conservation of natural features and 
wildlife. Past changes have contributed to the loss of integrity of habitat 
networks through land-take, fragmentation, severance, disturbance, 
hydrological changes and adverse impacts. 
 
But development can also present significant opportunities to enhance 
wildlife habitats and enjoyment and understanding of the natural heritage. 
The planning system needs to be watchful of the cumulative effects of a 
series of small, perhaps occasional, apparently insignificant losses from 
the natural world, which can combine to seriously deplete the natural 
heritage, including essential hydrological and ecological system; small 
scale opportunities for habitat creation and enhancement can be 
significant and can build into major contributions over time. 
 
In addition, it states that the development control process is a critical 
stage in delivering the protection and enhancement of nature 
conservation by PPW. The following can help to achieve these 
objectives: 
 

 Adopting the five point approach to decision-making- information, 
avoidance, mitigation, compensation and new benefits; 

 Ensuring that planning applications are submitted with adequate 
information, using early negotiation, checklists, requiring ecological 
surveys and appropriate consultation; 

 Securing necessary measures to protect, enhance, mitigate and 
compensate through planning conditions and obligations; 

Tudalen144



 Carrying out effective enforcement; 

 Identifying ways to build nature conservation into the design of the 
development. 

 
TAN 5 confirms that through the use of conditions, the delivery of a 
number of positive benefits to biodiversity beyond those of simply 
avoiding adverse effects as possible, including: 
 

 The submission and agreement of a landscape scheme so that 
greater attention can be given to issues such as species 
composition; 

 The maintenance of landscape planting for a five year period, or 
longer, where the need for this can be justified; 

 Habitat enhancement; 

 The restoration and aftercare of a site where a positive approach 
to restoration and after-use required by conditions can produce 
significant biodiversity benefits in terms of habitat creation and 
enhancement. 
 

The application is accompanied by an Ecological Assessment and 
Addendum which identified the following habitats to be present on the 
site: 
 

 Wet woodland/willow carr 

 Standing and running water 

 Tall herb, scrub and semi improved neutral grassland mosaic  

 Semi improved neutral grassland; and  

 Scrub 
 
The Assessment includes the results of surveys carried out in respect of 
the following: 
 

 Mammal Survey, specifically for otter, bats and check for badger 

 Reptile Survey  

 Bird Survey  

 Botanical Survey  
 
In addition, a wild bird habitat and SINC/S7 and LBAP habitats and 
species survey has been carried out.  
 
With regards to bats, the assessment states that there is potential to 
support foraging and commuting bats and recommends that the lighting 

Tudalen145



scheme should be designed to minimize light spill on areas of woodland. 
There was no evidence of badgers on the site and the assessment 
concluded the site is unsuitable for sett formation. In addition, there is 
limited opportunity for Otters. Two species of reptile were recorded 
namely grass snake and common lizard. The Assessment recommends 
that an Ecological Clerk of Works is present on site during site clearance 
plus habitat mitigation including hibernacula creation will mitigate for the 
small loss in habitat. No fully protected bird species are known or 
suspected of breeding within the site, although suitable breeding habitat 
exists for Cetti’s Warbler in areas of marginal scrub. The areas of scrub 
are the most important breeding habitats for high priority species such as 
Song thrush Bullfinch. It is suggested that vegetation clearance only 
takes place between September and February. 
 
A small number of native bluebells were recorded in the mitigation area 
verges but such areas will remain unaffected by the development. No 
plant species of European significance or S7 and UK Plant Species were 
recorded. A 50% loss of grassland has been identified. 
 
The Biodiversity Officer has raised no objection subject to all work to be 
carried out in accordance with the Addendum to the Preliminary 
Ecological Assessment Update June 2020 and under the supervision of 
an Ecological Clerk of Works (ECW), two hibernacula and 10 artificial bird 
boxes being installed on site in agreement with the Ecological Clerk of 
Works.  
 
Having regard to the above, it is considered that the proposals include 
appropriate mitigation measures and biodiversity enhancements and 
accords with PPW10, Technical Advice Note 5(Nature Conservation and 
Planning) and Policies SP15 (Biodiversity and Geodiversity), Policies 
ENV6 and ENV7 of the LDP. 
 
Trees 
 
A Tree Survey has been submitted in support of the application and 
provides a detailed assessment of the trees and hedgerows on the site. 
The Report identifies a small number of trees (2 individual trees and 5 
small tree groups) and approximately 28 metres of hedgerow are to be 
removed to facilitate the development. Nearly all the trees to be removed 
are low quality trees (Category C). The removal of one blue category tree 
(Scots Pine) is proposed, but compensatory planting can mitigate its loss. 
It is considered that subject to compliance with the tree protection details 

Tudalen146



outlined within the Report the development will not have an adverse 
impact on those trees which are to be retained.  
 
The Aboricultural Officer has raised no objection to the proposal and 
advises that the submitted landscaping scheme and specifications for 
this site includes adequate information on ground preparation, planting 
methods and post planting maintenance and meets the necessary criteria 
for a landscaping scheme of this size and type. 
 
Cultural Heritage Impact  
 
Planning Policy Wales explains that it is important that the planning system 
looks to protect, conserve and enhance the significance of historic assets. 
This will include consideration of the setting of an historic asset which 
might extend beyond its curtilage. Any change that impacts on an historic 
asset or its setting should be managed in a sensitive and sustainable way. 
 
Technical Advice Note 24: The Historic Environment elaborates by 
explaining that when considering development proposals that affect 
scheduled monuments or other nationally important archaeological 
remains, there should be a presumption in favour of their physical 
preservation in situ, i.e. a presumption against proposals which would 
involve significant alteration or cause damage, or would have a significant 
adverse impact causing harm within the setting of the remains. 
 
PPW also explains that local authorities should value, protect, conserve 
and enhance the special interests of parks and gardens and their settings 
included on the register of historic parks and gardens in Wales and that 
the effect of a proposed development on a registered park or garden or its 
setting should be a material consideration in the determination of a 
planning application. 
 
The submissions indicate the presence of 10 Scheduled Monuments and 
a Registered Park and Garden within 3km, but all are sufficiently distant 
to ensure there would be no impact on the settings of these designated 
heritage assets. 
 
Impact on Mineral Resource  
 
It is noted that the site is located within a Mineral Safeguarding Area 
under Policy M1 of the adopted LDP (sandstone). Policy M1 looks to 
safeguard mineral resources as they are finite and any development will 

Tudalen147

https://gov.wales/sites/default/files/publications/2019-02/planning-policy-wales-edition-10.pdf
http://gov.wales/topics/planning/policy/tans/tan-24/?lang=en


need to meet criteria which ensures they are not sterilised or their 
extraction hindered. 
 
For this development, it is considered that, given the site’s location within 
the settlement limits, it is very unlikely that any mineral extraction would 
be acceptable in this location. Moreover, as identified above the site is 
within an allocated employment site which would indicate it would meet 
criterion 4 (overriding need for the development). 
 
Accordingly, there is no objection to the principle of development on 
mineral safeguarding / Policy M1 grounds. 
 
Renewable Energy in New Development 
 
Policy RE2 - Renewable energy and low Carbon development in new 
Development, requires proposals with a total floor space of 1,000 sq.m 
or more to submit an Energy Assessment to determine the feasibility of 
incorporating such a scheme and where viable implement the scheme. 
 
As such a Renewable Energy Assessment has been submitted as part 
of the application which concludes that the implementation of passive 
design and energy efficiency measures, alongside the inclusion of a 
significant amount of PV, allows the building to achieve energy positive 
operation. The proposal would therefore comply with Policy RE2 of the 
Neath Port Talbot Local Development Plan. 
 
Waste Management 
 
Policy W3 – Waste Management in New Development states it should be 
demonstrated that provision is made for the design, layout storage and 
management of the waste generated by the development both during the 
construction phase and occupation. Industrial or commercial 
development proposals that would generate in excess of 1,000 tonnes of 
waste per annum will be required to produce a Site Waste Management 
Plan. 
 
A detailed Waste Management Plan has been submitted in support of the 
development, which would ensure the construction of the development 
complies with the requirements of this policy. Furthermore, details of the 
bin storage areas have been provided to ensure that the finished building 
complies with site waste management. 
 

Tudalen148



Open Space  
 
Policy OS1 (Open Space Provision) states that in the case of 
employment or commercial development proposals of over 1,000 sq.m, 
provision will be sought for associated amenity space.  The explanatory 
text emphasises (at 5.1.57) that this is to allow employees to access 
outdoor amenity space close to the workplace in the interests of health 
and well-being.  
 
The submitted scheme provides for an amenity area of 88sq. m. located 
adjacent to the eastern elevation. The provision of this area is considered 
to meet the Policy requirements, albeit the provision and retention of this 
area (including provision of appropriate seating, access and any 
necessary privacy screening) will need to be conditioned. 
 
CONCLUSION 
 
The decision to recommend planning permission has been taken in 
accordance with Section 38 of The Planning and Compulsory Purchase 
Act 2004, which requires that, in determining a planning application the 
determination must be in accordance with the Development Plan unless 
material considerations indicate otherwise.  The Development Plan 
comprises the Neath Port Talbot Local Development Plan (2011–2026) 
adopted January 2016. 
 
It is considered that the proposed development, represents an 
appropriate form of development that would have no unacceptable 
impact on highway and pedestrian safety, flooding, the setting of a 
scheduled ancient monument, foul and surface water discharges, or 
ecological issues. Hence, the proposed development would be in 
accordance with Policies SP1, SP2, SP3, SP4, SP5, SP11, SP15, SP16, 
SP17, SP18, SP19, SP20, SC1, I1, OS1, EC2, EC3, EC4, EN6, EN7, 
M1, M2, RE2, W3, TR2 and BE1 of the Neath Port Talbot Local 
Development Plan. 
 
It is further considered that the decision complies with the Council’s well-
being objectives and the sustainable development principle in 
accordance with the requirements of the Well-being of Future 
Generations (Wales) Act 2015.  
  
  
 
 

Tudalen149



RECOMMENDATION:   Approval with conditions 
 
Time Limit Conditions 
 
(1)The development hereby permitted shall be begun before the 
expiration of five years from the date of this permission. 
Reason 
To comply with the requirements of Section 91 of the Town and Country 
Planning Act 1990. 
 
 
Approved Plans 
 
(2) The development shall be carried out in accordance with the following 
approved plans and documents: 
 
Site Location Plan  - 26X003-IBI-ZZ-XX-DR-A-10-0002 P02 Site Plan 
26X003-URB-XX-XX-DR-L-90-0002-P07 (003) 
Landscape Masterplan - 26X003-URB-XX-XX-DR-L-90-0001 P07  
Sitewide Landscape Masterplan - 26X003-URB-XX-XX-DR-L-90-0002 
P07  
Soft Landscape Plan 1 of 3 - 26X003-URB-XX-XX-DR-L-90-0005 P07  
Soft Landscape Plan 2 of 3 - 26X003-URB-XX-XX-DR-L-90-0006 P07  
Soft Landscape Plan 3 of 3 - 26X003-URB-XX-XX-DR-L-90-0007 P067 
Master Plant Schedule - 26X003-URB-XX-XX-SH-L-90-0008 P04  
Tree Retention/ Removal Plan 1 of 3 - 26X003-URB-XX-XX-DR-L-90-
0010 P07  
Tree Retention/ Removal Plan 2 of 3 - 26X003-URB-XX-XX-DR-L-90-
0011 P07 
Tree Retention/ Removal Plan 3 of 3 - 26X003-URB-XX-XX-DR-L-90-
0012 P07  
Tree Pit Detail - 26X003-URB-XX_XX-DR-L-90-0015 P02  
Tree Pit Plan  
26X003-URB-XX_XX-DR-L-90-0016 P04 - Hard Landscape Plan 1 of 2  
26X003-URB-XX_XX-DR-L-90-0020 P03 - Hard Landscape Plan 2 of 2  
26X003-URB-XX_XX-DR-L-90-0021 P03 - Hard Surface Details  
26X003-URB-XX_XX-DR-L-90-0022 P03 - Edging Plan  
26X003-URB-XX_XX-DR-L-90-0023 P02 - Street Furniture Plan  
26X003-URB-XX_XX-DR-L-90-0025 P03 - Street Furniture Details  
26X003-URB-XX_XX-DR-L-90-0026 P03 - Fencing Plan  
26X003-URB-XX_XX-DR-L-90-0030 P03 - Ecology Plan  
26X003-URB-XX_XX-DR-L-90-0035 P03 - Elevations Sheet 1  
26X003-IBI-ZZ-EL-DR-A-25-0505 P02 - Elevations Sheet 2  

Tudalen150



26X003-IBI-ZZ-EL-DR-A-25-0506 P02 - Bin Enclosure Plan  
26X003-IBI-ZZ-XX-DR-A-25-0503 P02 - Plant Enclosure Plan  
26X003-IBI-XX-DR-A-25-0511 P02 - Existing Innovation Centre 
Condenser Plan - 26X003-IBI-XX-DR-A-25-0512 P02  
Site Section - 26X003-IBI-ZZ-SE-DR-A-25-0513 P02  
Sections Sheet 1 - 26X003-IBI-ZZ-SE-DR-A-25-0507 P02  
Sections Sheet 2 - 26X003-IBI-ZZ-SE-DR-A-25-0508 P02  
Ground Floor Plan - 26X003-IBI-ZZ-00-DR-A-25-0500 P02  
First Floor Plan - 26X003-IBI-ZZ-01-DR-A-25-0501 P02  
Second Floor Plan - 26X003-IBI-ZZ-02-DR-A-25-0502 P02  
Roof Plan - 26X003-IBI-ZZ-RF-DR-A-25-0504 P02 
Engineering Sections - 26X000-HYD-XX-XX-DR-C-90-0212  
Engineering Plan - 26X000-HYD-XX-XX-DR-C-90-0500 P02  
Drainage Plan - 26X000-HYD-XX-XX-DR-C-90-0600 P03  
External Lighting Plan - 26X000-HYD-01-00-DR-E-63-0010 P04  
Vision Splay Plan - 26X003-HYD-XX-XX-DR-C-90-2300 
Design and Access Statement Rev 2 - IBI  
Planning Statement  
PAC Report and Appendices  
Construction Method Statement/ Project Execution Plan (Includes 
Pollution Prevention Plan and Piling Method Statement)  
Phasing Plan  
Site Waste Management Plan  
Ground Conditions Desk Study  
Geotechnical and Geo-environmental Report  
Detailed Gas Risk Assessment  
Flood Consequences Assessment  
Baseline Noise Survey  
Phase 1 Ecology Report  
Addendum to Phase 1 Ecology Report  
Tree Survey  
Energy Assessment  
Transport Assessment  
Travel Plan  
 
Reason 
In the interest of clarity. 
 
  

Tudalen151



Pre-Commencement Conditions 
 
(3) Prior to any development commencing on site, the developer must do 
the following:- 
 a)Notify the Local Planning Authority in writing that you intend to 
commence development by submitting a Formal Notice under Article 24B 
of the Town and Country Planning (Development Management 
Procedure) (Wales) Order 2012 (DMPWO) in the form set out in 
Schedule 5A (a newly inserted Schedule) of the DMPWO (or in a form 
substantially to the like effect); and 
b)Display a Site Notice (as required by Section 71ZB of the 1990 Act) in 
the form set out in Schedule 5B (a newly inserted Schedule) of the 
DMPWO (or in a form substantially to the like effect), such Notice to be 
firmly affixed and displayed in a prominent place, be legible and easily 
visible, and be printed on durable material. Such Notice must thereafter 
be displayed at all times when development is being carried out. 
Reason: 
To comply with procedural requirements in accordance with Article 24B 
of the Town and Country Planning (Development Management 
Procedure) (Wales) Order 2012 (DMPWO) and Section 71ZB of the 
Town and Country Planning Act 1990. 
 
(4) Prior to the commencement of work on site, notwithstanding the 
submitted information, a scheme to assess the nature and extent of any 
contamination shall be submitted to and agreed in writing with the Local 
Planning Authority. The investigation and risk assessment must be 
undertaken by competent persons in accordance with the following 
document:- Land Contamination: A Guide for Developers (WLGA, WAG 
& EAW, July 2012) and shall be submitted as a written report which shall 
include:  
 
(i)a survey of the extent, scale and nature of contamination;  
(ii)an assessment of the potential risks to:  
• human health, 
• ground waters and surface waters 
• adjoining land, 
• property (existing or proposed) including buildings, crops, livestock, 
pets, woodland and service lines and pipes, • ecological systems, • 
archaeological sites and ancient monuments;  
(iii) an appraisal of remedial options, and proposal of the preferred 
remedial option(s).  
 
Reason:  

Tudalen152



To ensure that risks from land contamination to the future users of the 
land and neighbouring land are minimised, together with those to 
controlled waters, property and ecological systems, and to ensure that 
the development can be carried out safely without unacceptable risks to 
workers, neighbours and other offsite receptors. 
 
 
(5) No development shall commence on site until a remediation scheme 
to bring the site to a condition suitable for the intended use by removing 
any unacceptable risks to human health, buildings, other property and 
the natural and historic environment shall be prepared and submitted to 
and agreed in writing with the Local Planning Authority. The scheme shall 
include all works to be undertaken, proposed remediation objectives, 
remediation criteria and site management procedures. The measures 
proposed within the remediation scheme shall be implemented in 
accordance with an agreed programme of works.  
 
Reason:  
To ensure that risks from land contamination to the future users of the 
land and neighbouring land are minimised, together with those to 
controlled waters, property and ecological systems, and to ensure that 
the development can be carried out safely without unacceptable risks to 
workers, neighbours and other offsite receptors, and to ensure 
compliance with Policies SP16 and EN8 of the Neath Port Talbot Local 
Development Plan 
 
Action Conditions 
.  
(6) Prior to beneficial use of the proposed development commencing, a 
verification report which demonstrates the effectiveness of the agreed 
remediation works carried out in accordance with condition 5 shall have 
been submitted to and agreed in writing by the Local Planning Authority.  
  
Reason:  
To ensure that risks from land contamination to the future users of the 
land and neighbouring land are minimised, together with those to 
controlled waters, property and ecological systems, and to ensure that 
the development can be carried out safely without unacceptable risks to 
workers, neighbours and other offsite receptors and to ensure 
compliance with Policies SP16 and EN8 of the Neath Port Talbot Local 
Development Plan. 
 

Tudalen153



(7) Prior to their use in the construction of the development hereby 
permitted, details and/or samples of the materials to be used in the 
construction of the external surfaces of the development shall have been 
submitted to and approved in writing by the Local Planning Authority. 
Development shall be carried out in accordance with the approved 
details. 
 
Reason: 
In the interest of the visual amenity of the area and to ensure the 
development complies with Policy BE1 of the Neath Port Talbot Local 
Development Plan. 
 
(8) No building shall be occupied until the foul drainage system for the 
site has been completed in accordance with the approved details. 
Thereafter no further surface water and/or land drainage shall be allowed 
to connect directly or indirectly with the public sewerage system. 
 

Reason:  
To prevent hydraulic overloading of the public sewerage system, to 
protect the health and safety of existing residents and ensure no pollution 
of or detriment to the environment. 
 
(9) The landscaping works shall be carried out in accordance with the 
approved details during the first planting and seeding seasons 
immediately following the occupation of the building or the completion of 
the development, whichever is the sooner; and any trees or plants which 
within a period of 5 years from the completion of the development die, 
are removed or become seriously damaged or diseased shall be replaced 
in the next planting season with others of similar size and species.  
 
Reason: 
In the interests of maintaining a suitable scheme of landscaping to protect 
the visual amenity of the area, to maintain the special qualities of the 
landscape and habitats through the protection, creation and 
enhancement of links between sites and their protection for amenity, 
landscape and biodiversity value, and to ensure the development 
complies with Policies SP15 and BE1 of the Neath Port Talbot Local 
Development Plan. 
 
 
 
 

Tudalen154



(10) Prior to first beneficial use, a Landscape Management Plan, 
including management responsibilities and maintenance, for all 
landscaped areas shall have been submitted to and approved in writing 
by the Local Planning Authority. The landscape management plan shall 
be implemented and adhered to in accordance with the approved details 
thereafter. 
 
Reason: 
In the interest of visual amenity, and to ensure the long term management 
and maintenance of all landscaped areas that lie outside of the curtilage 
of individual properties, and to ensure the development complies with 
Policies SP15 and BE1 of the Neath Port Talbot Local Development Plan. 
 
(11) All retained trees that may be directly affected by the proposed 
development, including encroachment into Root Protection Areas, shall 
be adequately protected as detailed in the Arboricultural Report by 
ArbTS. The erection of fencing for the protection of any retained tree shall 
be undertaken before any equipment, machinery or materials are brought 
on to the site for the purposes of the development, and shall be 
maintained until all equipment, machinery and surplus materials have 
been removed from the site. Nothing shall be stored or placed in any area 
fenced in accordance with this condition and the ground levels within 
those areas shall not be altered, nor shall any excavation be made, 
without the written consent of the local planning authority.  

 
Reason: 
 
To ensure all existing trees are protected throughout the construction of 
the development, in the interest of visual amenity, and to ensure the 
development complies with Policies SP15 and BE1 of the Neath Port 
Talbot Local Development Plan. 
 
(12) The approved car parking scheme as detailed on Drg 26X003-URB-
XX-XX-DR-L-90-0002-P07 (003) shall be completed and marked out 
prior to the first beneficial occupation of any part of the development and 
shall remain available for such use in perpetuity.  
 
Reason: 
In the interest of highway safety and to ensure the development complies 
with Policy TR2 of the Neath Port Talbot Local Development Plan.  
 
 

Tudalen155



(13) Prior to the installation of any external lighting at the site (including 
lighting used during the construction period) a scheme of lighting - to 
include location and intensity of illumination - shall be submitted to and 
approved in writing by the Local Planning Authority.  The site shall 
thereafter only be lit in accordance with the agreed scheme. 
  
Reason: 
In the interest of amenity and to prevent any unacceptable light spillage 
in the interest of biodiversity and protected species, and to accord with 
Policies BE2 and SP15 of the adopted Neath Port Talbot Local 
Development Plan. 
 
(14) Prior to first beneficial use of the development hereby permitted the 
covered  cycle parking identified on  Drawing No 26X003-URB-XX-XX-
DR-L-90-0002-P07 (003) shall be provided and retained as such 
thereafter. 
Reason 
To ensure the promotion of sustainable means of transport. 
 
(15) Prior to the first beneficial use of the building the amenity area as 
shown on Drawing No 26X003-URB-XX-XX-DR-L-90-0002-P07 (003) 
shall be provided together with any required seating and privacy 
screening and retained as such thereafter.  
Reason  
To ensure provision of outdoor amenity space for employees in 
accordance with Policy OS1 of the Local Development Plan, 
 
(16) In the event that contamination is found at any time when carrying 
out the approved development that was not previously identified, work on 
site shall cease immediately and shall be reported in writing to the Local 
Planning Authority. A Desk Study, Site Investigation, Risk Assessment 
and where necessary a Remediation Strategy must be undertaken in 
accordance with the following document:- Land Contamination: A Guide 
for Developers (WLGA, WAG & EAW, July 2006). This document shall 
be submitted to and agreed in writing with the Local Planning Authority. 
Prior to occupation of the development, a verification report which 
demonstrates the effectiveness of the agreed remediation, shall be 
submitted to and agreed in writing with the Local Planning Authority.  
   
Reason: To ensure that risks from land contamination to the future 
users of the land and neighbouring land are minimised, together with 
those to controlled waters, property and ecological systems, and to 
ensure that the development can be carried out safely without 

Tudalen156



unacceptable risks to workers, neighbours and other off site receptors, 
and to ensure compliance with Policies SP16 and EN8 of the Neath Port 
Talbot Local Development Plan. 
 
(17) All works including the installation of 2 hibernacula and 10 artificicial 
bird boxes  shall be carried out in accordance with  the Addendum to the 
Preliminary Ecological Assessment June 2020 and under the 
supervission of an Ecological Clerk of Works  
Reason: 
To ensure that the ecological mitigation is overseen by an appropriately 
competent ecologist, and to ensure the development complies with Policy 
EN7 of the Neath Port Talbot Local Development Plan. 
 
Regulatory  
 
(17)All development on site shall be undertaken strictly in accordance 
with the Construction Environmental Management Plan and the Baseline 
Noise Survey Report.  
  
Reason: 
To protect the amenity of the locality, especially for people working 
nearby, in accordance with Policies BE1 and EN8 of the adopted Neath 
Port Talbot Local Development Plan. 
 
(18) The Travel Plan as approved shall be fully implemented so long as 
any part of the development is occupied.  
 
Reason:  
In the interests of promoting sustainable transport and to ensure the 
development complies with Policy SP20 of the Neath Port Talbot Local 
Development Plan.  
 

Tudalen157



Mae’r dudalen hon yn fwriadol wag


	Agenda
	3 Cais Rhif. P2020/0362 - Nant Helen a'r Tir Amgylchynol
	SECTION A – MATTERS FOR DECISION

	Planning Applications Recommended For Approval

	APPLICATION NO: P2020/0362
�
	DATE: 22/05/2020
�
	PROPOSAL:	Construction of complementary restoration earthworks to create 2 looped landform platforms (part in cutting an part on embankment) with associated drainage infrastructure and areas of landscaping and habitat creation to create a flexible and adaptable area of land that could be used for a variety of uses including agriculture, nature conservation, leisure, tourism and industrial, research and development/business uses (potentially including a proposed rail testing, research and development and storage facility). (Cross-boundary application - see Powys CC Application ref. 20/0738/FUL)
�
	LOCATION:	Land at and surrounding the Nant Helen Open Cast Coal Site, Powys, and Onllwyn Distribution Centre, Neath PortTalbot
�
	APPLICANT:	Mr Rob Thompson, Celtic Energy Ltd,
�
	TYPE:	Full Plans
�
	WARD:	Onllwyn (also affecting Seven Sisters)
�
	BACKGROUND INFORMATION

	This proposal relates to a significant development site within the Dulais Valley which straddles the Neath Port Talbot ad Powys administrative border.  The site is largely within Powys but sections along the southern boundary are within Neath Port Talbot. Therefore, an identical application has been made to Powys CC, which is to be reported to PCC’s Planning, Taxi Licensing and Rights of Way Committee on 27th July 2020 (the outcome of which will be verbally reported to Members at Committee).

	While this report largely seeks to address only those matters which affect the land within the administrative boundary o Neath Port Talbot, due to the size of the development and the complexities associated with such a cross-boundary application, notably the assessment of the ‘planning balance’, the report also inevitably incorporates overarching assessments of impact which relate to the whole development and thus to both NPT and Powys (and the Brecon Beacons National Park beyond).  

	SITE AND CONTEXT

	The application site comprises land at and surrounding the existing Nant Helen Open Cast Coal Site (OCCS), Powys, and Onlwyn Washery Distribution Centre, Neath Port Talbot.  The plan at Figure 1 below identifies the extent of the overall site and that area of land lying within NPT (to which this application relates).

	The application site is located approximately 1.1km east of Penrhos; 1km east of Cae’r-bont; 100m south of Caehopkin; 75m south of Abercrave; 150m south-west of Coelbren; 350m north-west of Onllwyn and 450m north of Seven Sisters. The Brecon Beacons National Park lies to the north, the closest point being some 90m from the application site.  The Nant Llech SSSI lies within the National Park at approximately 115m to the north of the application site (Powys) boundary.

	Figure 1: Site Location Plan (NPT boundary in red, Powys boundary in dotted red line)

	The application site as a whole (i.e. PCC and NPT) covers an area of some 416 h ectares and forms part of the Celtic Enegy Ltd landholding at the Nant Helen Opencast Coal Mine. A substantial area covering the western half of the application site has been subject to opencast coal working of the Middle Coal Measures west of the Pwllau Bach Fault, starting with the Abercrave/ Gwaunton site between 1963 and 1973. Opencast mining at the Nant Helen series of sites (south of Abercrave/Gwaunton), began in 1986 and has moved in a westerly direction up until the present day. In the period between 1972 and 1982 opencast mining was undertaken in the Lower Coal Measures (east of the Pwllau Bach Fault) at the Onllwyn site which is in the eastern half of the application site.

	Celtic Energy Ltd currently operate the Nant Helen Remainder Opencast Coal mine which covers the western end of the applcation site and further land to the west. The current opencast excavation void is located outside the application site, but the overburden storage mounds, the coal preparation plant, stocking area, offices and workshops are located within the application site (in Powys’s administrative area). 

	Coal extraction operations will cease in 2021 at which point Celtic Energy Ltd will be required to restore the land in acordance with the approved restoration scheme.

	The area of NPT land covered by this application does not lie within the Nant Helen OCCS site.

	The site has a number of designated and non-designated historic assets within or nearby, of which the asset of most signficance in itself and due to the potential impacts, is ‘The Tramroad at Ystradgynlais (Claypon’s Extension) (CH001)’ which is a nationally important earthwork dating to the 1830s designated as a Scheduled Ancient Monument (SM), and located on the boundary between Powys and NPT.

	The southern area of the site is crossed by high voltage overhead lines with associated towers running roughly parallel o each other, the northern line carries Western Power Distribution’s (WPD) 132kV cables, the southern line carries National Grid’s (NG) 400kV cables.  

	A part of the site (in Powys) also falls within the Mynydd-y-Drum Common over which Commoners rights are currently suspeded. In addition, a number of Public Rights of Way cross the site but these are currently suspended due to the ongoing opencast coaling operation. 

	The SUSTRANS National Cycle Route 43 Celtic Trail East follows the northern and western boundary of the site. Access to he site is gained from the A4221 at Coelbren, along a 1.2km access road which heads west before turning south towards the office/workshop area. There is also an internal haul road link which runs south from the office/workshop area before turning east towards Onllwyn Washery. 

	DESCRIPTION OF DEVELOPMENT

	Although outside of the NPT administrative area, it is of note that the Nant Helen OCCS amended restoration scheme was aproved by Powys CC on 8th June 2020 (subject to a Section 106 Agreement) and the purpose of this application at this time is that in combination they will create a flexible and adaptable landform that would be suitable for a variety of end uses including agriculture, nature conservation, leisure, tourism and industrial, research and development/business uses (potentially including a proposed rail testing, research and development and storage facility). It should be noted that the timing of this application seeks to ensure that the construction of the landform and the restoration of the surface mine can be undertaken in tandem as there are significant cost benefits to undertaking the work at the same time.

	Engineering Operations

	The proposed development (taken as a whole) includes a combination of cuttings and embankments, with associated drainageworks, creating a loop form (inner and outer loop) that integrates with the restored land created following the completion of existing coal mining operations. The materials for the earthworks would all originate on site and represent a cut volume of approximately 3,255,000m³, of which 1,765,000m³ will be used for the construction of the embankments and the remainder will form part of the restoration of the Opencast Coal site. As these numbers would suggest, the majority of the proposed loops are in cutting but there is a significant section of embankment proposed along the northern section of the outer loop. Small sections of embankment are required in the south, east and west but their height is relatively limited (9m, 10m and 3m respectively).

	The finished levels can be found on the following links :-

	 Finished Levels 1

	 Finished Levels 2

	 Finished levels 3  

	 Finished Levels 4

	The extent of ‘cuttings’ and ‘embankments’ (fill) are shown on Figure 2 below, with typical sections shown at the followng link: -

	 Track embankment and cutting typical sections

	Figure 2:	Cuttings and Embankments Aerial (NOTE: The ‘red line’ shown is NOT the application site boundary for the curret application which is correctly identified on Figure 1 above)

	/

	The earthworks include embankment gradients of typically 1:3 and cuttings typically 1:2.5, with some 1:1 gradient cuttin in rock. The northern embankment  (in Powys) extends to over 40m in height and the deepest cutting is 15-20m deep.

	It should be stressed that although the application site overlaps with the latest coal mine boundary, the restoration sceme still proposes restoration to a mix of agriculture (upland common and enclosed pasture), woodland/hedgerows and nature conservation habitats. 

	Proposed After Uses

	As referred to above, the engineering works would provide a flexible and adaptable landform which has the potential to fcilitate the land as a whole being used for a variety of end uses including agriculture, nature conservation, leisure and tourism.

	It would also potentially facilitate industrial, research and development/business uses including a proposed rail testin, research and development and storage facility being promoted by Welsh Government. In this respect it is notable that the proposal seeks to enable and de-risk that potential development whilst at the same time provide opportunities for recreation, leisure, agriculture and nature conservation should such a proposal not come forward.

	Key components of such a rail facility could include an external loop for high speed performance endurance testing, togeher with a lower speed internal loop for testing rail equipment, and to facilitate the potential use as rail test tracks, track gradients need to be no steeper than 1:100 gradient, whilst the connection from the main railway line is to be no steeper than 1:50 and the earthworks have thus been designed with that in mind. 

	To enable the potential for test tracks to be established on the site to the speed and length required, a number of optins have been considered in terms of horizontal and vertical alignment, considering topographical variation and to avoid diverting both NR and WPD overhead cables.  Alignments have been identified which keep away from the NG overheads, traverses under the WPD overheads but avoids the towers and follow existing topographical features to reduce the scale of the earthworks as much as possible. Due to the speeds to be tested and therefore the horizontal alignment of the track, together with the position of the scheduled ancient monument in the south, avoiding this feature is not feasible.

	Whilst the landform created would allow for future leisure, tourism and industrial opportunities, which could include inustrial uses such as a proposed rail testing, research and development and storage facility, these are not proposed in this application and would be subject to separate planning applications in the future. In this respect, the creation of the proposed landform while facilitating the necessary landform for such a proposal, in no way prejudges planning applications which may be submitted for future uses which would have to be considered on their merits. The proposed landform has to be considered on its merits.

	Notwithstanding the potential rail use, the proposed earthworks would thus provide a comprehensive, flexible and adaptabe landform across the entire site that could support a wide range of future uses including agriculture, woodland and nature conservation and/or amenity, leisure, tourism and employment. The proposed earthworks would also provide a landform that is compatible with various leisure opportunities, such as mountain biking, walking and other outdoor pursuits complementing the site's location close to 'waterfall country' and the wider Brecon Beacons National Park.

	Ultimately, Celtic Energy's intention is for the proposed earthworks to provide a flexible landform that maximises optios for the beneficial reuse of land associated with Nant Helen Surface Mine, whilst ensuring not to preclude appropriate future uses that are yet to fully emerge with any degree of certainty. In this respect it is important to note that the restoration of the surface mine is time-bound and the applicant wishes to carry out the earthworks at the same time as restoration in order to minimise cost and disturbance. The intention is also to enable and de-risk the rail proposal but in the knowledge that if that proposal does not materialise the landform will facilitate other forms of development.  However, at this juncture the Authority is specifically being asked to consider only the acceptability of a flexible and adaptable landform which integrates with the approved surface mine restoration scheme.

	Timescales

	With the exception of the Northern Embankment (located in Powys), works are proposed to be carried out between 0600 and 200 hours Monday to Friday, and 0700 to 1300 on Saturday with no working on Sundays (which is the existing site operation times for the opencast mine). Due to the closer proximity of the northern embankment to residential receptors (in PCC), works on this area would be restricted to between the hours of 07:00 and 18:00 (weekdays) and between 08:00 and 13:00 hours on Saturday.

	On the assumption that the Complementary Restoration Earthworks would take place at the same time as the works needed toreturn some of the overburden back into the void on the site (part of the restoration requirements includes the reduction in height of the overburden mound that currently exists to the east of the existing void), together with the required site preparation works (ecological, archaeological and drainage works), this would result in a combined works programme of 73 weeks (approx. 18 Months) with approximately 300-600 on-site vehicle movements a day (internal movements).  

	Common Land / Rights of Way

	A part of the site also falls within the Mynydd-y-Drum Common over which Commoners’ rights are currently suspended. In adition, a number of Public Rights of Way cross the site but these are currently suspended due to the ongoing opencast coaling operation. It is intended to restore the common land (a separate legal process will need to be undertaken to seek common land consent for these works) and to reinstate the Public Rights of Way (with possible diversions where appropriate).  

	SUPPORTING INFORMATION

	The application has been identified as an EIA application as defined by the Town and Country Planning (Environmental Impct Assessment) (Wales) Regulations 2017, (‘the EIA Regulations’) and an Environmental Statement (ES) has been provided. The EIA process aims to ensure that any significant effects arising from a development are systematically identified, assessed and presented to help local planning authorities in determining planning applications. If measures are required to minimise or reduce effects then these are clearly identified.

	The submitted Environmental Statement (comprising non-technical summary, main text and technical appendices) has identifed ‘the baseline conditions’, and assessed the potential effects of the development, in relation to:

	o Socio-Economic

	o Water Environment

	o Ground Conditions

	o Biodiversity

	o Cultural Heritage

	o Landscape and Visual Impact

	o Noise and Vibration

	o Cumulative effects

	The ES and all other supporting information is available to view on the Council’s Online register. The assessment below as had regard to all environmental information submitted within the ES along with the comments of statutory consultees on the information supplied, and the comments, observations and representations provided by members of the public have been taken into consideration in the recommendation. 

	NEGOTIATIONS

	Discussions in respect of the site in connection with this earthworks application and potential subsequent application fr a rail testing facility have been ongoing for some time with Celtic as landowner, and as part of a Joint venture between NPT, Powys CC and Welsh Government.

	As part of these discussions, a decision was made by the landowner to submit this planning application in advance to crete the necessary platform which, subject to planning permission, would undoubtedly add significantly to the ‘business case’ for bringing forward the rail testing facility at the site.

	PLANNING HISTORY

	The Nant Helen OCCS has a detailed planning history, primarily (but not wholly) relating to land in the Powys administraive boundary, dating back to 1996, including (but not limited to) the following: -

	 N1996/0112 (NPT)
�
	Extract coal by open cast methods incl. Washing of coal bearing material (access only in Neath b.cl. Area). Approved 01.1.1997
�
	 P2001/0405 (NPT)
�
	Vary condition 1 of previous planning application P96/0112 - to extend the period in which the development is begun unti 31st July 2003
�
	 P/2011/0217 (PCC)
�
	Western extension to Nant Helen surface mine for the purposes of coal extraction along with completion of coaling at exiting site and associated ancillary development including restoration and subsequent aftercare of the full development site - Planning Permission Granted subject to S106 Agreement – 9th March 2012
�
	 PP 106-98-005/PP 106-12-001 (PCC)
�
	Nant Helen Extension – Planning permission Granted at Appeal – 21st July 1998
�
	 18/1070/REM (PCC)
�
	Section 73 application to vary condition 2 of P/2011/0217 to allow an extension to time to allow extraction of all the cal and completion of restoration. 

	PCC resolved to grant subject to section 106 agreement (outstanding)
�
	 19/1899/REM (PCC)
�
	Variation of condition 45 of planning approval 18/1070/REM to allow for a revised restoration scheme.

	Planning Permission Granted subject to a Section 106 Agreement – 8th June 2020
�
	In addition, a Scoping Opinion for the proposed Global Centre of Rail Excellence (GCRE) was issued in November 2019 (NPTref. P2019/5455 ; Powys CC App. No:19/1619/SC).

	CONSULTATIONS

	Neath Port Talbot Internal Consultees

	Environmental Health (Air Quality) - Notes that the EIA has scoped out air quality for the following reasons: 

	The nearest sensitive receptors are located approximately 500m away from proposed dust generating activities. In human halth terms, background annual PM10 concentrations are low (9-10ug/m3). There is a very low risk that air quality objectives will be exceeded by the proposed activities provided that good practice measures are followed. An assessment of mineral dust impacts on human health receptors is screened out. 

	The mineral type at the proposed site is soft rock according to the British Geological Survey. Due to the nearest sensitve receptors being more than 500m away from the proposed dust generating activities and the low background annual PM10 concentration it is considered that, in accordance to the IAQM mineral dust guidance (IAQM 2016, Guidance on the Assessment of Mineral Dust Impacts for Planning), a detailed dis-amenity dust impact assessment is not required.”

	Based on previous knowledge of receiving complaints from Heol y Felin when the Nant Helen mounds were being formed (shifing of overburden) raises no objection but recommends that opencast style bowsers be used to minimise dust emissions in the same manner has been the case at Celtic Energy’s opencast sites (such matters to be addressed through the CEMP)

	Environmental Health (Land Contamination)	  - After reviewing the Environmental Statement and in particular Chapter 6 Grund Conditions and its associated appendix (Land at Nant Helen and Onllwyn Coal Washery Geotechnical and Geoenvironmental Desk Study). Noting that the proposal may relate to a proposed Global Rail Centre of Excellence, nevertheless emphasis that the site could be used as public amenity land which from a land contamination point of view would be considered much more sensitive. This would then need a desk study with a conceptual site model based on the most sensitive potential end use. Accordingly raises no objections subject to imposition of contaminated land conditions due to the need for contaminated land reports based on the specific end use.

	In addition, while the application indicates that all backfilling will take place with site won material, recommends a cndition preventing the importation of material unless it is approved in writing first so that we could ensure that it is chemically suitable for whatever the end use would be. 

	Environmental Health (Noise) - 	raises no objections subject to a robust Construction Environmental Management Plan (CEM).

	Countryside & Wildlife (Ecology) -  A combined response has been issued on behalf of the NPT and Powys Ecologists, whichis summarised as follows: -

	The ES identifies that a full suite of ecology surveys have been undertaken for the site and surrounding vicinity over te 2018 and 2019 survey seasons and the assessment of the findings and impacts has been undertaken following current recognised guidelines with surveys being undertaken at the optimal time of the year with the effort employed appropriate for the nature and scale of the site affected by the proposed development.

	In addition to the surveys identified above consideration was given to the potential for the proposed development to reslt in negative impacts – directly or indirectly – to statutory designated sites in accordance with Regulation 63 of the Conservation of Habitats and Species Regulations 2017 (as amended) including European Sites: -Coedydd Nedd a Mellte SAC – with two compartments approximately 4.2km and 6.7km east of the proposed development site; Cwm Cadlan SAC – 9.5km east of the proposed development site; and Blaen Cynon SAC – 6 compartments, with the closest being approximately 10.4km east of the proposed development site.

	Having reviewed the report and associated information they are satisfied with the approach and scope of the HRA Screenin Assessment and agree with the conclusion that there would be no likely significant effect to the SACs and their associated features either alone or in combination with other plans or projects and that no further assessment under the Conservation of Habitats and Species Regulations 2017 (as amended) would be required.

	It is noted that NRW have identified in their response dated 18th June 2020 that subject to the outlined pollution prevetion measures being implemented the proposed development would not be likely to damage the features for which the Nant Llech SSSI is designated and have recommended that a pre-commencement condition requiring the submission of a detailed Construction Environmental Management Plan is included. We agree with this recommendation and consider that this requirement is necessary in order to ensure the development complies with the requirements of PCC LDP Policy DM2 and NPTC LDP Policies EN6 and EN7.

	The conclusions regarding the lack of potential for impacts to the other SSSIs identified within 15km of the proposal isconsidered to be acceptable.  They are also content that the conclusion of no negative impacts to locally designated SINCs is appropriate.

	Having reviewed the evidence and assessment provided with regards to the area identified as PAWS Ancient Woodland habita on the Ancient Woodland Inventory we are satisfied that the habitat present does not actually meet the requirements which would qualify it as ancient woodland habitat and therefore would not require the level of protection afforded to habitats of this type under National and Local Planning Policies and is instead dealt with in terms of general woodland habitat loss. It is also recommended that the Applicant approaches NRW with the supporting evidence submitted with this application to request that the area identified as PAWS is removed from the Ancient Woodland Inventory to avoid future confusion.

	€

	The ES identifies that the construction and associated site clearance with regards to the proposed development will resut in the loss of existing habitat within the site boundary including habitats of conservation significance. Table 7.13 of the ES identifies the extent of habitat loss as a result of baseline and restored site which totals 87.6 Ha as well as extent of habitats to be created (of greater value) and habitats to be enhanced which totals 226.12 Ha. With the exception of semi-improved acid grassland the extent of habitats of note present on the site which will be lost as a result of the proposed development have been identified as being re-created/enhanced over an area which exceeds the area that would be lost. 

	The ES identifies that the long term maintenance and monitoring of newly established habitat and other habitats which wil be retained and protected will be detailed within an Ecological Management and Monitoring Plan (EMMP),  and it is therefore recommended that a condition to secure the submission of a detailed EMMP building on the principles outlined in Section 7.20 of the ES for approval by the LPA is included to ensure compliance with Powys LDP Policy DM2 and NPTC LDP Policies EN6 and EN7– it is recommended that the condition states that the EMMP covers a period of 25 years.

	€

	The assessment and identified mitigation for target species are considered to be appropriate, and it is noted that thereis a need for an Invasive Non-Native Species Management Plan to ensure control and prevention of spreading of INNS during and post construction. No objections subject to submission of detailed versions of the EMMP, CEMP, INNSMP and EPP through pre-commencement planning conditions – it is recommended that the EMMP covers a period of 25 years.

	Given the proposed development description identifies that the resulting development could be used for a variety of usesincluding agriculture, nature conservation, leisure, tourism and industrial, research and development/business uses (potentially including a proposed rail testing, research and development and storage facility) the EMMP should pay particular attention to the risk of ‘double handling’ in relation to any future development proposed.

	€

	In conclusion, having reviewed the information and associated assessments submitted to support the application it is conidered that the proposed development would not result in the loss of biodiversity in the long term subject to implementation of the proposed mitigation and enhancement measures through detailed pre-commencement conditions.

	Head of Engineering & Transport (Highways) advises as follows: -

	This application is supported by an Environmental Statement (ES). Table 2.2 of the E.S. makes clear that the transport cnsiderations in relation to the project have been “scoped out” as the proposals will not require materials to be either imported in or exported from the site and as such, the vehicular impacts on the surrounding highway network are considered to be minimal. The ES does not however, consider or quantify the level of plant and operatives that will be required to undertake the works and it does not clarify where such movements will occur. Further detail/clarification on this matter is requested.

	Have subsequently confirmed that if all traffic is to remain within the site and there is no increase in traffic to and rom the publically maintained highway then they have no objection and do not need a condition.

	Head of Engineering & Transport (Drainage) advises that SuDs Approval Body (SAB) approval will be required prior to any ork commencing. 

	Public Rights of Way - Note that NPT has a bridleway (BR26 Dulais Higher) that travels along the old tramway that’s alsoa listed structure.  This bridleway is also registered on the Powys Definitive Map so it’s on 2 Definitive maps which is very unusual. We also have 1 footpath that is within the site boundary (FP15 Dulais Higher) although this can be accommodated quite easily if its affected at all.

	Powys will need to divert their path network and should Bridleway 26 also require diverting they can also deal with thisas it’s theirs as well as ours, which could also include our footpath 15 should that need realigning.  The diversion order should be confirmed before works affecting footpaths. 

	Given the cross-boundary issues, the following response from the PCC Countryside Access & Recreation Officer is also notd: 

	The developer has identified that a number of public rights of way cross the site and will be affected by the proposed erthworks, being footpaths 40, 19, 90, 49, 7, 11 and 17 and bridleway 45.

	Most of these paths are currently suspended via an Order under the Opencast Coal Order. During construction, an additionl temporary closure of parts of bridleway 45 and footpath 19 will be required, to ensure public safety. The public rights of way that are suspended under the Opencast Coal Order are to be reinstated as part of the revised restoration scheme for  the Nant Helen opencast coal site. As the applicant has identified, the earthworks will impact on the reinstated routes of the paths, due to the gradient of the slopes of the earthwork. Legal diversions will be required to allow for the earthworks to be constructed.

	Planning permission does not, in itself, grant permission for the diversion of a public right of way; a separate legal pocess must be followed, which requires the making and confirmation of a public path Order. As noted in the Environmental Statement, the options for diverting these paths are under consideration and will be subject of a pubic consultation exercise. The proposed earthwork must not be constructed over the existing lines of the paths, until such time as the legal diversion process is complete as it is an offence to develop over the line of a public right of way.

	In addition, the proposed earthworks will affect registered commons BCL78 (Mynydd-y-Drum) and BCL136 (Land near Abercrav Station.) There are grazing rights recorded in the Register of Common Land as being exercisable over BCL78 (Mynydd-y-Drum) common; no grazing rights are registered over BCLI36 (Land near Abercrave Station.)

	Both commons benefit from a right of access on foot for recreation, under the Countryside and Rights of Way Act 2000, alhough the Nant Helen opencast coal site area is excepted from that right of access.

	Common land does benefit from a high degree of legal protection. Under section 38 of the Commons Act 2006, it is unlawfu for 'restricted works' to take place on common land without prior consent. Construction of the earthworks and associated drainage is likely to constitute restricted works: a separate legal process will need to be undertaken to seek common land consent for these works.

	External Consultees

	Natural Resources Wales advise that they have reviewed the information submitted including the following documents:

	 Nant Helen Complementary Restoration Earthworks  Environmental Statement. Arup, April 2020 - in particular Chapters 5 n 6, 7, 9 and 11 with associated appendices and figures.

	 Nant Helen Complementary Restoration Earthworks - Planning Statement - Arup, April 2020.

	 Nant Helen Complementary Restoration Earthworks - Drainage Strategy - Arup, April 2020.

	 Planning drawings CG1020 to CG1023 P01, Proposed Finished Levels - Arup, 06/12/2019

	 Planning drawing CG1024 P01, Proposed track embankment and cuttings cross section - Arup, 06/12/2019

	They advise that they continue to have significant concerns with the proposed development as submitted; have provided ladscape impact advice which will be material to consideration of the application; and recommend that we should only grant planning permission if we attach a condition requiring a Construction Environmental Management Plan (CEMP) and include the following document within the conditions identifying approved plans and documents on the decision notice:

	 Arup, 4th May 2020, Environment Statement

	 Arup, 29th April 2020, Appendix 3B, Outline Construction Environmental Management Plan.

	Welsh Government Department for Economy and Infrastructure raise no objection but in order to ensure that there are no sgnificant impacts to the trunk road network during the construction phase, directs that the following condition is applied to any consent:

	Prior to development a Construction Traffic Management Plan (TMP) shall be submitted to and approved by the Local Plannig Authority in consultation with Welsh Government (Transport), as highway authority for the Trunk Road Network (TRN) in Wales. The TMP shall detail the proposals for the movement of the 300-600 identified construction traffic trips to site with regard to proposed delivery routes and timing on the network.

	NOTE: Following clarification from the applicants that the 300-600 traffic movements referred to are on-site traffic movments, they have advised that they have no significant concerns on the trunk road network and their request for a directed condition is withdrawn. 

	Powys County Council	No observations received as the impacts are being considered in detail under the identical applicaton made to that authority.

	Brecon Beacons National Park Authority (BBNPA) notes (in summary – see their detailed Decision Letter) that the site meaures 416 hectares and is circa 100m from the Brecon Beacons National Park Authority (NPA) boundary at its closest point. 

	BBNPA identify (that Section 63 of the Environment Act (1995) sets out the statutory purposes of the National Park as folows: -

	 To conserve and enhance the natural beauty, wildlife and cultural heritage of the National Park; and

	 To promote opportunities for the public understanding and enjoyment of the special qualities of the National Park

	In accordance with section 62(2) of the Environment, any relevant Authority shall have regard to National Park purposes hen performing any functions in relation to, or so as to affect, land in a National Park. The Special Qualities of the National Park may be significantly impacted by development proposals on the fringes of the National Park. PPW states that "planning authorities have a statutory duty to have regard to National Parks and AONB purposes.

	The submitted Environmental Statement (ES) includes a Landscape Visual Impact Assessment (LVIA) which concludes that thee will be significant adverse visual impacts during construction on 14 viewpoints (out of 18), 5 of which are noted to be recreational receptors within the National Park.  On completion of the works (year 1), significant adverse visual effects are noted on 8 viewpoints (out of 18), 3 of which are noted to be recreational receptors within the National Park.

	Given that significant adverse visual effects on the National Park are outlined in the ES from the north (areas within Pwys County) the NPA has significant concerns with the impact the proposal will have on the special qualities of the National Park from this direction — namely the National Park's 'sweeping grandeur and outstanding natural beauty' and 'working, living "patchwork" of contrasting patterns, colours, and textures' special qualities. These impacts around the northern areas may be significant for a considerable length of time, in advance of any landscape mitigation establishing. 

	Whilst it is up to the decision-maker regarding how the requirement on planning authorities to give regard to the purposs of the National Park and the National Park's identified special qualities are taken into account in determining this cross-boundary planning application, it is recommended that the decision-maker requests further information from the applicant to understand the visual impacts upon the National Park (from the north which is most relevant for Powys County Council's decision) and that a detailed and an effective landscape mitigation strategy is provided as part of this planning application.

	The Coal Authority has reviewed the proposals and confirm that the application site falls within the defined DevelopmentHigh Risk Area. The Coal Authority records indicate the presence of recorded shallow coal mining; coal seams of workable thickness that may have been historically worked at shallow depth by illicit means, 73no. recorded mine entries (shafts and adits) and the site is within the boundary of a site from which coal has been removed by surface mining (opencast) methods.

	The Coal Authority considers that an in-depth assessment of coal mining legacy has been undertaken by the applicant's tehnical consultants: ARUP. Therefore as per their recommendations, the exact ground conditions should be confirmed in order to inform the extent of remedial / mitigatory measures required to ensure that the development platforms are suitable for the development proposed and will be safe and stable for each respective land use (Planning Policy Wales paras 6.9.23 — 27). 

	The Coal Authority has no objections to this proposal subject to the LPA imposing a suitably worded condition to secure he site investigations as recommended by ARUP — Section 15.3 of Appendix 6A: Environmental Statement, May 2020).

	Dwr Cymru Welsh Water notes that the proposed development site lies adjacent to a strategic asset in the form of a 500mmtrunk watermain located to the west and north, along with various other public sewer and watermain assets. In this instance whilst it does not appear any part of the site lies within the protection zone of the 500mm watermain, measured 6 metres either side of the centreline, the site is located within the boundary of the permission granted for the wider restoration scheme of Nant Helen Surface Mine (Ref: 19/1899/REM) and in this respect we remind of the requirements of conditions 23 – 30, relating to water management, alongside conditions relating to blasting and vibration (15 – 19).  Therefore offer no objection in principle subject to inclusion of Condition and Advisory Notes to ensure no detriment to existing residents or the environment and to Dwr Cymru Welsh Water's assets.

	CADW notes that the Environmental Statement (ES) has identified that the proposed development will have a minor, but notsignificant, impact on the setting of scheduled monument Bryn Llechwen Ring Cairn (reference BR327) and whilst there may be temporary impacts on the settings of the other scheduled monuments these will cease once the development is completed.  

	The ES also explains that there will be a direct and permanent, major adverse impact on the scheduled Tramroad at Ystradynlais (GM399). This adverse impact will be significant and is contrary to national planning policy contained in section 6.1.24 of Planning Policy Wales 2018.  Therefore, your authority will need to weigh this direct significantly adverse impact against the economic and other benefits. It is for the local planning authority to weigh our assessment against all the other material considerations in determining whether to approve planning permission. 

	Glamorgan Gwent Archaeological Trust (GGAT) –  State that the ES work was undertaken to an agreed methodology, stated inthe Written Scheme of Investigation (November 2019), and meets the current professional standards.  The proposal will require historic environment mitigation.

	In assessing the information concerning the historic environment, historic assets of both designated and non-designated tatus were identified. The Scheduled Monument of the Tramroad at Ystradgynlais (Cadw reference GM399) will be directly affected by elements of the proposal with a significant adverse effect, and as noted within the document, Scheduled Monument Consent must be obtained from Cadw prior to any development works to the Scheduled Monument, and we understand that the SMC application is in process. Should SMC be granted then any subsequent archaeological mitigation should be undertaken to an agreed methodology within a written scheme.

	Non-designated historic assets within the development boundary that will be affected are listed in the assessment and ESchapter, and detailed in the mitigation section 8.10 and the tables 8.2a&b, and 8.4. This details that areas named would be subject to an archaeological strip, map and record, with a watching brief on Areas B and C (i.e. those unaffected by the modern mining operations). For those features which fall within GGAT’s area and remit, we concur with the proposed mitigation and recommendations and recommend that the programme of archaeological work as mitigation should be undertaken to an agreed methodology within a written scheme, to be submitted to us as the archaeological advisors to Neath Port Talbot. This is following the Welsh Government Legislation and Policy. We therefore recommend a condition to be attached to any consent granted, recommending the submission of the written scheme and the programme of work to be implemented.

	This will ensure detailed contingency arrangements, including the provision of sufficient time and resources to ensure tat any archaeological features or finds that are located are properly investigated and recorded; it should include provision for any sampling that may prove necessary, post-excavation recording and assessment and reporting and possible publication of the results.

	REPRESENTATIONS

	190 individual letters of notification were sent out to properties in and around Onllwyn / Seven Sisters on 22nd May 202.  In addition, numerous site notices were displayed in prominent locations in Onllwyn and Seven Sisters on 22nd May 2020 (as well as the associated publicity undertaken by Powys CC on their application).  

	The application was also advertised in the Evening Post on 27th May 2020 as an EIA development, affecting Public Rights f Way.

	In response, to date one representation has been received by NPT, albeit that letter has been submitted by a resident wh appears to be from Powys (and focussing on that area).  Nevertheless as it has quoted this NPT application the issues raised are summarised as follows: -

	 Serious concerns regarding the lack of transparency for community consultation.

	 There has been limited notification to a few select households by post I have since heard and no opportunity for otherrsidents of the ward to link in with their local community and county borough councillors to request socially distanced opportunities to discuss and consider any proposals;  whether furloughed or working flat out throughout, covid measures has not allowed communities to meet as freely as needed to process complex proposals that are likely to have 2 to 3 decades of effect on our local community and quality of lives.

	 There has not been the opportunity for a site visit by local community councillors with key people, experts and full cmunity engagement.

	 The current proposal seems pre-empt WAG’s plans for GCRE but there are grave concerns re the size of the proposed embakent directly above Caehopkin and Brooklands Terrace re continued sloping and in the event of any future spillage due to construction failure and the proposed embankment sitting on top of historic coal mining activity which could add to any potential instability.

	 Further the ‘lagoons’ pose further threat to instability of these embankments in the event of any leakage and water eneing the embankment structure. The proposal to open old waterways, which were made redundant during the first phase of restoration, increases the possibility of flooding in the village and surrounding areas; Caehopkin already suffers from excessive run-off water and there does not seem to be a permanent commitment to the maintenance of these waterways.

	 Common land should be re-instated to its original state, as per contractual agreement when consent for open cast minin nd coal washing was originally given, as it is questionable whether the local community would wish to embrace the WAG final proposal when it becomes fully aware of the actual impact that the currently proposed site preparations are pre-empting.

	€

	PRE-APPLICATION CONSULTATION (PAC)

	As a ‘major’ development, the applicant undertook formal public consultation in accordance with the requirements of the lanning (Wales) Act 2015 and the Town and Country Planning (Development Management Procedure) Order 2012 (as amended), such period running from 18th February to 16th March 2020 (extended to 25th March in response to a request by one of the statutory consultees).

	The consultation was extensive and involved information being sent out to: 

	 182 community consultees, including 142 local ward members and chief officers of both Powys County Council and Neath Pr Talbot County Borough Council and 40 community councillors at Onllwyn Community Council, Ystradynlais Town Council, Tawe Uchaf Community Council and Severn Sisters Community Council

	 Eight local stakeholders including two MPs, two AMs and other local stakeholder groups

	 Two landowners

	 902 residents;

	 25 businesses neighbouring the site; and

	 All relevant Statutory Consultees

	The applicant has provided the required Pre-Application Consultation Report (PAC) setting out who was consulted; how the were consulted; how they were informed about the consultation; the feedback received and how comments have been responded to or taken into account in the final application.

	REPORT

	National Policy

	The Well-being of Future Generations (Wales) Act 2015 (WFG) imposes a duty on public bodies to carry out ‘sustainable deelopment’ in accordance with the ‘sustainable development principle’. 

	“Sustainable development” means the process of improving the economic, social, environmental and cultural well-being of ales by taking action, in accordance with the sustainable development principle, aimed at achieving the well-being goals.

	‘Sustainable development principle’ means that Local Authorities must act in a manner which seeks to ensure that the nees of the present are met without compromising the ability of future generations to meet their own needs.

	In order to achieve this principle the Act introduces five ways of working to support decision making which ensures publc bodies take account of: 

	a. Long-term thinking – balancing the need to take action to address current issues with the need to the meet long term ees of Wales. 

	b. An integrated approach – considering how a body’s objectives may impact upon the social, economic, environmental and ulural well-being and considering how an individual body’s objectives impact upon other public bodies’ objectives.

	c. Engagement – involving the people and communities with an interest in the wellbeing objectives, engaging them in findngsustainable solutions. 

	d. Collaboration – acting collaboratively with other bodies, or different parts of a body acting together in a co-produciv way, to assist in the achievement of the body’s objectives.

	e. Preventative action – deploying resources to undertake action now in order to prevent problems occurring or getting wrs.  

	Well-being goals identified in the Act are: 

	 A prosperous Wales 

	 A resilient Wales

	 A healthier Wales 

	 A more equal Wales

	 A Wales of cohesive communities 

	 A Wales of vibrant culture and thriving Welsh language

	 A globally responsible Wales

	The Environment (Wales) Act 2016 has been designed to complement the WFG Act. It imposes a duty to require all public auhorities, when carrying out their functions in Wales, to seek to “maintain and enhance biodiversity” where it is within the proper exercise of their functions. In doing so, public authorities must also seek to “promote the resilience of ecosystems”. 

	Section 38 (6) of the Planning and Compulsory Purchase Act 2004, requires that, if regard is to be had to the developmen plan for the purpose of any determination to be made under the Planning Acts, the determination must be made in accordance with the plan unless material considerations indicate otherwise. 

	Building Better Places: The Planning System Delivering Resilient and Brighter Futures. 

	On 16th July 2020 the Welsh Government published Building Better Places: The Planning System Delivering Resilient and Brghter Futures which provides planning policy guidance for local planning authorities and the development industry on priorities for the planning system to deliver post Covid-19.

	The guidance is to be read in conjunction with PPW, which contains the principles and policies needed for Wales to recovr from Covid-19 in a positive manner, putting placemaking at the heart of future development. 

	It also empathises the importance of planning (and Planners) in the implementation of policies to aid in the recovery peiod, identifying opportunities, and bringing people together, thinking systemically and working strategically to shape the vision for better places and lead positive change.

	The guidance includes a WG a commitment to follow through on infrastructure obligations which will go a long way in ensuing that the developments envisioned are delivered and the wider public benefits are maximised.

	It also emphasises that development management decisions should focus on creating healthy, thriving active places with afocus on a positive, sustainable future for our communities.  The planning system has an important role in supporting healthier lifestyles and reducing inequalities. This includes both direct and indirect opportunities such as the allocation of land for health facilities, ensuring good design and barrier free development, jobs and skills, improving air quality, soundscapes and protecting and improving access to recreation and natural green spaces. These can provide both physical and mental health benefits, improve well-being and help to reduce inequality.

	WG will thus play its role in supporting the vibrancy of places and helping this people-focussed and placemaking-led recvery.

	National Planning Policy Context

	Members’ attention is drawn to the following relevant national and local planning policies together with supplementary gidance.

	Planning Policy Wales (Edition 10)

	PPW is supported by a series of more detailed Technical Advice Notes (TANs), of which the following are of relevance: -

	 TAN 5	Nature Conservation and Planning (2009)

	 TAN 11 	Noise (1997)

	 TAN 12 	Design (2016)

	 TAN 13 	Tourism (1997)

	 TAN 15 	Development and Flood Risk (2004)

	 TAN 16 – Sport, Recreation and Open Space (2009)

	 TAN 18 	Transport (2007)

	 TAN 20 	Planning and the Welsh Language (2017)

	 TAN 23 	Economic Development (2014)

	 TAN 24 	The Historic Environment (2017)

	Local Planning Policy Context

	Neath Port Talbot Local Development Plan

	The Development Plan for the NPT area comprises the Neath Port Talbot Local Development Plan which was adopted in Januar 2016, and within which the following policies are of relevance:

	Strategic Policies:

	 Policy SP1 	Climate Change

	 Policy SP2 	Health 

	 Policy SP3 	Sustainable communities

	 Policy SP4	Infrastructure

	 Policy SP6 	Development in the Valleys Strategy Area

	 Policy SP11 	Employment Growth

	 Policy SP14 	The Countryside and the Undeveloped Coast

	 Policy SP15	Biodiversity and Geodiversity

	 Policy SP16 	Environmental Protection

	 Policy SP20	Transport Network

	 Policy SP21 	Built Environment and Historic Heritage

	 Policy SP22 	Welsh Language

	Detailed Policies:

	 Policy SC1	Settlement limits

	 Policy I1		Infrastructure Requirements

	 Policy EC5 	Employment Uses in the Valleys 

	 Policy TO4 	Walking and Cycling Routes

	 Policy EN2 	Special Landscape Areas 

	 Policy EN6	Important Biodiversity and Geodiversity Sites 

	 Policy EN7 	Important Natural Features

	 Policy EN8 	Pollution and Land Stability 

	 Policy M1 	Development in Mineral Safeguarding Areas 

	 Policy M3 	Development in Mineral Buffer Zones 

	 Policy TR2 	Design and Access of New Development 

	 Policy TR3 	Safeguarding of Disused Railway Infrastructure 

	 Policy TR4 	Safeguarding Freight Facilities

	 Policy BE1 	Design 

	 Policy BE2 	Buildings of Local Importance 

	Supplementary Planning Guidance:

	The following SPG is of relevance to this application: -

	 Planning Obligations (October 2016)

	 Pollution (October 2016)

	 Open Space & Greenspace (July 2017)

	 Renewable and Low Carbon Energy (July 2017)

	 Design (July 2017)

	 Development and the Welsh Language (July 2017)

	 Landscape & Seascape (May 2018)

	 Biodiversity and Geodiversity (May 2018)

	 The Historic Environment (April 2019) (incl. Schedule of Buildings of Local Importance and SPG: Schedule of DesignatedCnal Structures)

	EIA and AA Screening

	The application site exceeds the Schedule 2 threshold for development of this type as outlined within the Environmental mpact Assessment Regulation, and as identified above the application has been accompanied by an Environmental Statement.

	The proposed development is not located within a zone of influence for any SAC, CSAC or Ramsar sites and as such it is cnsidered that an Appropriate Assessment as set down within the Conservation of Habitats and Species Regulations 2017 is not required. 

	ASSESSMENT

	Issues

	Having regard to the above, the main issues to consider in this application relate to the following: -

	 Landscape and visual impacts

	 Geotechnical / Land Stability Issues

	 Impacts on Local Amenity including nearby residential properties

	 Impacts on Cultural Heritage

	 Impact on highway safety and rights of way

	 Impacts on biodiversity

	 Ground water / contamination 

	 Common Land 

	 Socio-economic impact; and 

	 Whether any identified impacts are outweighed by any identified benefits of the development (i.e. the ‘planning balanc’

	Principle of Development

	The applicant states that the proposed earthworks would reconcile parcels of land that comprise the present day and wide past extents of coaling operations at Nant Helen Surface Mine. To all intents and purposes this includes land associated with the site’s western extent that will be restored at the end of current coaling operations and land associated with the site’s northern, eastern and southern extents that has already been restored following the end of past coaling operations.

	The applicant also considers that the proposed earthworks would provide a comprehensive, flexible and adaptable landformacross the entire site that could support a wide range of future uses including agriculture, woodland and nature conservation; and/or amenity, leisure, tourism and employment. 

	A core principle of achieving sustainable development is using previously developed land in preference to greenfield lan where possible. The applicant considers that most of the site associated with the present-day extent of the surface mine would satisfy the definition of previously developed land and consequently development of it would be broadly acceptable.  However this view is not accepted since in this case provision for restoration has either been made by the imposition of a planning condition or it is land where the remains of the activity have blended into the landscape over time so that they can reasonably be considered part of the natural surroundings. In both cases these are exclusions from the definition of previously developed land and the proposal cannot therefore be considered to be on ‘brownfield’ / previously developed land. 

	Nevertheless, the application proposes earthworks which are complementary to the Nant Helen site restoration and will inlude associated drainage infrastructure and areas of landscaping and habitat creation to create a flexible and adaptable area of land that could be used for a variety of uses including agriculture, nature conservation, leisure, tourism and industrial, research and development/business uses.

	LDP Policy SP6 sets out the main measures that will be taken to implement the strategy of reinvigorating the valleys are, noting that the local economy and communities will be enhanced and reinvigorated and the distinctive environment will be protected through measures including taking a flexible approach to encourage employment uses, an objective echoed by Policy SP11 (Employment Growth).

	Given its Valleys location and relationship to numerous communities surrounding the site, both in Neath Port Talbot and owys, this proposal is not only considered to accord with the wider objectives within PPW and the LDP to place sustainable placemaking at the heart of the planning process, and notably in the NPT Valleys area, but also the WG’s recent policy guidance Building Better Places: The Planning System Delivering Resilient and Brighter Futures which focusses on post Covid-19 recovery in Wales. In this respect, the scheme will deliver healthy, thriving active places with a focus on a positive, sustainable future for our communities. This would be whether it is focussed on leisure and tourism opportunities which improve access to recreation and natural green spaces, or through creation of direct and indirect opportunities for barrier free development, jobs and skills.

	In this respect, while this application does not propose specific tourism or industrial uses (that would require separat consent), agricultural, conservation or leisure uses on the new landform would amount to development appropriate for a countryside location which accords with the above national Policy objectives.  In this respect, the supporting text to Policy SC1 (settlement limits) emphasises that whether specific development proposals are appropriate or suitable outside settlement limits will be assessed with reference to the relevant topic policies within this Plan and national policy, while in principle the proposal is considered to accord with the objectives of Policies SP6 and SP11 to reinvigorate the Valleys.

	The acceptability of the proposals thus comes down primarily to an assessment of impacts.  While this largely considers he specific impacts of the works themselves, the reasoned justification behind submission of the application at this stage (relating to the potential for a rail centre of excellence at the site) is considered as part of the overall planning balance at the end of the assessment.

	Landscape and Visual Impacts

	PPW states that the countryside is a dynamic and multi-purpose resource. In line with sustainable development and the naional planning principles and in contributing towards placemaking outcomes, it must be conserved and, where possible, enhanced for the sake of its ecological, geological, physiographic, historical, archaeological, cultural and agricultural value and for its landscape and natural resources. 

	The need to conserve these attributes should be balanced against the economic, social and recreational needs of local comunities and visitors. Fostering adaptability and resilience will be a key aim for rural places in the face of the considerable challenge of maintaining the vibrancy of communities and availability of services as well as contributing to the Cohesive Communities well-being goal (para 3.34).

	PPW states that LANDMAP is an important information resource, methodology, and monitoring baseline for the landscapes ofWales, which can help inform planning for the sustainable management of natural resources in an area. LANDMAP describes and evaluates the physical, ecological, visual, cultural and historic aspects of the landscapes of Wales, and provides the basis of a consistent, quality assured national approach to landscape assessment (para 6.3.19).  

	PPW also states that where adverse effects on landscape character cannot be avoided, it will be necessary to refuse planing permission (para 6.3.4).

	The proposed development’s landscape and visual impact has been considered within Chapter 9 of the Environmental Statemet, its figures and appendices which include; Context Plan, ZTV Plan, Viewpoint Map, Landscape Character Area Plan and Viewpoint Photography; Assessment Methodology, LANDMAP Analysis, Baseline Environment and Assessment Tables. The ES advises that the impacts have been assessed based on worst-case winter conditions where screening by vegetation is least effective.

	Effects on landscape and visual receptors are closely related but separately assessed. Landscape receptors are its charateristics, key features and special qualities, and visual receptors are people and changes to their visual amenity. 

	Landscape Character

	Landscape Character Areas (LCA’s) are derived from existing landscape character assessments (where available) and from aalysis of LANDMAP aspect areas. 

	The part of the overall site within NPT is designated by the LDP as a Special Landscape Area (Policy EN2 refers) whereindevelopment “will only be permitted where it is demonstrated that there will be no significant adverse impacts on the features and characteristics for which the Special Landscape Area has been designated.”  The SLA does not extend into Powys CC, but the ES has assumed that the defining features and characteristics of the SLA would continue beyond the county boundary. 

	Other than a small area in the south eastern part of the site which extends into the Head of Dulais Valley Landscape Chaacter Area (medium value), the site falls within the Nant Helen Reclaimed Uplands Landscape Character Area, a landscape defined by past and present mining activity. Present mining activity dominates the north and eastern extents of the character area and there is evidence of previous mining activity to the south.  Areas of upland moorland with predominantly rough grassland and bracken landcover and further areas of marsh and grassland. Large areas are used for grazing. The overburden mound associated with the mining activity stands as a prominent and evidently man-made feature visible from the wider landscape. A number of PRoWs cross the character area, many of which are temporarily suspended through the mining site. Mining activity within the character area is a detractor from its use for recreational purposes. Pylons run from east to west along the southern extent of the character area and contribute to the overall large-scale industrial character. The Ystradgynlais Scheduled Monument Tramroad is further evidence of the industrial history of the character area and the importance of mining in the historical development of the wider landscape. The value of this Landscape Character Area is assessed as Low.

	In Powys, a small area of the north western part of the site also extends into the Wooded Tawe Valley Landscape Characte Area, which has a medium value.

	The ES assessment concludes that the Nant Helen Reclaimed Uplands LCA has the capacity to accommodate the Project withou affecting its overall integrity across much of the LCA, however it is susceptible to the loss of its key features. The LCA would experience a moderate adverse effect resulting from the proposed development, where earthworks would reduce the legibility of key features such as the Tramroad at Ystradgynlais and the alteration of previously restored land. During the construction phase the impact on the Wooded Tawe Valley (PCC) would be minor adverse and the impact on the Head of Dulais Valley (NPT) would be negligible.

	Post construction, the introduction of engineered earthworks will result in the loss of key features of the landscape chracter area such as the Tramroad at Ystradgynlais and landcover that has already been restored. However, in combination with the Nant Helen Restoration, the loss of restored landcover will be offset by the removal of the existing opencast void and creation of approved restoration landform, and loss of mining activity and the reduced prominence of the overburden mound and increased naturalistic character of the landform. In this respect the completed proposals in combination with proposals for restoring the surface mine, would plainly achieve betterment compared to the current environmental baseline and the negative effects these operations have on the landscape. 

	The proposed earthworks have been assessed in combination with proposals for restoring land currently subject to coalingoperations at Nant Helen Surface Mine. The mine currently dominates and has a significant adverse effect on the area’s landscape character and fundamentally its restoration will improve the landscape character.   

	On balance, it is concluded that the earthworks in combination with the restoration of Nant Helen Surface Mine will havea mix of adverse and beneficial effects on the landscape character area and any adverse construction phase effects will be sufficiently limited in temporal scope and are considered acceptable.  

	Visual Impact

	The Environmental Statement (ES) considers 18 different viewpoints surrounding the site, of which three (VP16, 17 and 18are within NPT – see Figure 3 below). The methodology for the assessment considers the sensitivity of the receptor, the magnitude of change and the significance of the effect. The overall significance of effect is based on the combined overall magnitude of change as a result of the completion of both the Project and Nant Helen Restoration.

	The NPT Viewpoints are as follows: -

	 Viewpoint 16	View north / north-west from properties on the A1049. This viewpoint is representative of views experiencdby residential receptors.

	 Viewpoint 17 	View west from Onllwyn, Cemetery. This viewpoint is representative of visitors to the cemetery 

	 Viewpoint 18 	View north from Sarn Helen Roman Road and Byway 28/39.N.Hi/1, along the ridge of Hirfynydd. This viewpoitis representative of recreational users of the footpath.

	/

	Figure 3: Viewpoints (Extract from ES)

	Construction Impacts

	The ES identifies the extent of impacts at construction (during the 73 week construction period) on the viewpoints withi NPT as follows: -

	Table 1: Potential Visual Effects due to Construction Impacts

	Receptor
�
	Sensitivity 

	of Receptor
�
	Magnitude

	(prior to

	mitigation)
�
	Significance

	(prior to

	mitigation)
�
	VP16
�
	Medium
�
	High (Adverse)
�
	Major (Adverse)
�
	VP17
�
	Medium
�
	Low (Adverse)
�
	Moderate (Adverse)
�
	VP18
�
	High
�
	High (Adverse)
�
	Major (Adverse)
�
	For example, at VP16 construction will be visible within 500m of the viewpoint and there will be direct views of constrution activity which will be visible across a wide section of the view, and will be extended beyond the existing Nant Helen restoration programme. The overall significance of effect is thus considered to be Major (Adverse).

	At VP17 construction activity will be visible within 250m of the viewpoint, with the closest construction activity beingthe construction of the retaining wall to the north (albeit with intervening vegetation filtering views).  Other works will be visible including excavation and transportation of material from the prominent overburden mound.

	For VP18, due to the central location of the site in the wider panorama, in combination with the Nant Helen Restoration orks, the overall magnitude of change will be High (Adverse) with excavation and transportation of material from the prominent overburden mound visible.

	On Completion

	The ES identifies the extent of impacts at on completion on the viewpoints within NPT as follows: -

	Table 2: Potential Visual Effects due to the on completion impacts of the Project.

	Receptor
�
	Sensitivity 

	of Receptor
�
	Magnitude

	(prior to

	mitigation)
�
	Significance

	(prior to

	mitigation)
�
	VP16
�
	Medium
�
	Negligible (Beneficial)
�
	Negligible (Beneficial)
�
	VP17
�
	Medium
�
	Negligible (Adverse)
�
	Negligible (Adverse)
�
	VP18
�
	High
�
	Low (Beneficial)
�
	Minor (Beneficial)
�
	The above impacts are ‘prior to mitigation’, and the ES notes that the incorporation of mitigation would result in reducd significance of effects and a slight reduction in adverse effects within the first 5 years due to mitigation planting. Once mitigation planting has established in 10 – 15 years it is anticipated there will be no residual significant landscape and visual effects.

	The ES also states that once the future use of the earthworks has been established, the development of a Landscape Stratgy is recommended to ensure the surrounding landscape is fit for purpose and gives consideration to the local landscape character.  While a significant focus will be on the planting of the northern embankment  (given the National Park impacts described below) the landscape strategy will be expected to consider the whole of the site including areas in NPT.

	Having regard to Policy EN2 (and general countryside protection policies) it is thus concluded the landscape and visual mpacts of the development, while major (adverse) during construction, would – even prior to mitigation – not have a significantly adverse impact on the features and characteristics for which the Special Landscape Area has been designated, such that the proposal would comply with Policy EN2.

	Impact on National Park

	PPW confirms that planning authorities have a statutory duty to have regard to National Park’s purposes. This duty applis in relation to all activities affecting National Parks, whether those activities lie within, or in the setting of, the designated areas. The designated landscapes should be drivers of the sustainable use and management of natural resources in their areas, and planning authorities should have regard to their identified special qualities in the exercise of their functions and any relevant management plans (para 6.3.5). 

	In this case the site is on the periphery of the Brecon Beacons National Park which is located approximately 96m away frm the development at its closest point, and therefore, while the impacts arising from the development are predominantly (if not wholly) due to the site extent within Powys, the Authority will nevertheless need to have regard to the impact on the National Park both directly and on its setting. 

	In this respect both NRW and BBNPA have expressed concerns in relation to its visual impact when viewed from the Brecon eacons National Park.  BBNPA state that the proposals would be prominent from several areas within BBNP which are of high scenic quality and sensitivity, with the Environmental Statement (ES) confirming that there would be significant adverse visual effects on views from the BBNP (specifically viewpoints 1, 2, 3, 4, 5 and 11) and towards the BBNP (specifically viewpoint 18 in NPT) during construction. 

	These effects will result from the visibility of construction activity. Receptors will have views of the removal of conierous woodland plantation on the northern side of the opencast mining site and overburden mound. The transportation and placement of material for the formation of the embankment will be visible to the east. To the south-east, direct views of the excavation works for the cutting will be visible, this includes the removal of material from the south-eastern corner of the overburden mound. 

	The ES also confirms that there would be major adverse visual effects on views from viewpoint 5 (within BBNP) and moderae adverse visual effects from 5 other locations, 3 of which are in BBNP (specifically viewpoints 2, 3 and 4) immediately after completion of the construction period. 

	The loss of woodland plantation and mature vegetation / field boundaries to the south of the A4221 will be noticeable. Te view will instead comprise the grassed slope of the northern embankment of the Project that changes the gradient of the topography. There will be a noticeable difference in the scenic quality of the view due to the loss of complexity and the introduction of engineered form.

	The proposed mitigation planting of the northern slopes of the northern embankment will help integrate the development ito the surrounding landscape at approximately 15+ years, which the applicant states could be accelerated if larger stock is used for planting which would lead to a perceptible integration of the engineered landform within the first 5 years.  However BBNPA are not convinced that this would be the case. In addition NRW considers that to be effective, the planting needs at least 15 years to establish in order to achieve a non-significant effect on the National Park, which is largely due to the challenges of establishing trees and shrubs on colliery spoil. Therefore, they request a condition to provide for a minimum 15 year period to achieve the desired effect. However, even after 15 years, assuming all mitigation planting has established successfully, NRW considers that this will leave an engineered rather than more naturalistic landform.  Indeed BBNPA agree that the planting would reduce but not totally alleviate the significance of adverse effects until at least year 15.

	The assessment recommends that a detailed Landscape Strategy is developed, which will be key to the establishment of thetree and woodland planting that ensure the successfulness of the mitigation planting becoming adequately established on colliery spoil. While a significant focus will be on the planting of the northern embankment  the landscape strategy will be expected to consider the whole of the site including areas in NPT.

	While BBNPA has recommended that the proposed Ecological Management and Monitoring Plan (EMMP) and landscape strategy shuld be combined into one Landscape Ecological Management Plan (LEMP) to ensure consistency in delivering the mitigation objectives, Officers consider that these should be retained as two separate documents albeit they would work together to deliver on the required ecological and landscape objectives.

	Given the comments of NRW, BBNPA and notably the Council ecologists, it is considered reasonable the landscape strategy/lan should cover a period of 20 years (5 years establishment plus 15) given that it would potentially take that long to mitigate the impacts and also include a mechanism for its extension should the planting need longer term management to achieve the desired effect.  This is therefore the subject of an appropriately worded condition.

	It is thus clear that there will be an adverse visual impact of receptors in the BBNP during construction and potentiall for at least 15 years post-construction. That impact must be given significant weight in the planning balance to be applied in this case.

	Brecon Beacons National Park Authority has significant concern that the proposal will have adverse impacts on one of theNational Park's statutory purposes namely "to conserve and enhance the natural beauty, wildlife and cultural heritage of the National Park". The NPA also have significant concern that the proposal will adversely impact on two of the Special Qualities of the Park — its "sweeping grandeur and outstanding natural beauty" and the "working, living "patchwork" of contrasting patterns, colours, and textures". 

	It should be noted that PPW states that in National Parks or AONBs, special considerations apply to major development prposals which are more national than local in character. Major developments should not take place in National Parks or AONBs except in exceptional circumstances. This may arise where, after rigorous examination, there is demonstrated to be an overriding public need, refusal would be severely detrimental to the local economy and there is no potential for locating the development elsewhere or meeting the need in some other way. Any construction and restoration must be carried out to high environmental standards. 

	Consideration of applications for major developments should therefore include an assessment of: 

	• the need for the development, in terms of national considerations and the impact of permitting it or refusing it upon h local economy; 

	• the cost of and scope for providing the development outside the designated area or meeting the need for it in some othrway; and 

	• any detrimental effect on the environment and the landscape, and the extent to which that could be moderated and/or miiated. (para 6.3.10).

	It therefore stands to reason that if these exceptions would apply inside National Parks then they can also reasonably b applied to developments in areas which may impact on the setting of National Parks. 

	Accordingly the harm arising from the development in landscape and visual terms  - which as concluded above would be advrse for the first 15 years -  will thus need to form part of the overall assessment of the proposals (‘the planning balance’ – see later in report).

	Geotechnical / Land Stability Issues

	PPW10 recognises that development can result in instability which may affect both the development itself and the land surounding it (para 6.9.22). 

	It states that when considering development proposals planning authorities should take into account the nature, scale an extent of ground instability which may pose direct risks to life and health, buildings and structures, or present indirect hazards associated with ground movement, including mine entry collapse. Slopes, embankments, cuttings and underground cavities can themselves be put at risk from inappropriate neighbouring development and, where relevant, land stability should be addressed, and appropriate mitigation measures secured to protect both existing assets and proposed development itself (para 6.9.23). 

	PPW10 also recognises that made ground, the presence of tips and shallow coal workings are extensive in some parts of Waes and their proximity to the surface could present potential instability risk to future development (para 6.9.24). 

	PPW10 therefore states that planning decisions will need to take into account: 

	• the potential hazard that instability could create to the development itself, to its occupants and to the local enviromnt; and 

	• the results of a specialist investigation and assessment by the developer to determine the stability of the ground andt identify any remedial measures required to deal with any instability (para 6.9.25) 

	PPW10 concludes that where acceptable measures can overcome instability, planning permission may be granted subject to cnditions specifying the necessary measures. If instability cannot be overcome satisfactorily, the authority may refuse planning permission (para 6.9.27). 

	The geological impact and potential hazards of the proposed development has been considered within Chapter 6: Ground Conitions of the Environmental Statement and its appendices.  The potential impact/hazards have been assessed in the context of geological, land instability, contamination and remedial requirements. It is recognised that ground water and surface water have a close interrelationship with geology, but these are considered separately in this report within the Hydrological section below.  

	It is noted that significant public concern has been expressed by Powys residents on the Powys application regarding thesize, height and stability of the proposed embankment along the northern boundary and the perceived danger that embankment poses to the residents of Caehopkin and users of the Sustrans Cycle Route (in particular) should it fail. That perceived danger has given rise to speculation of possible outcomes comparable with the Aberfan Mining Disaster of 1966. Objectors refer to the long history of underground and surface mining, sloping ground, drainage issues and surface ground conditions as the basis for their concerns about the stability of the proposed embankment.

	Although the majority of such issues do not affect the land within NPT, nevertheless the following assessment (as due tobe reported to PCC) is included for purposes of clarity: 

	The concerns of local people in relation to the stability of the embankment above their properties are understood. Howevr, it must be noted that this proposal is not comparable to the situation of the coal tip which gave way and resulted in the Aberfan Mining Disaster over 50 years ago. The Inquiry into the Aberfan Mining Disaster identified specific reasons why that disaster occurred, primarily (but not exclusively) relating to construction methods, the lack of drainage infrastructure and the composition of some of the material within the tip. Some 50 years on there is a greater understanding of the technical engineering requirements for tips and embankments and detailed consideration will be required in relation to ground conditions and construction methods. It should be noted that a significant number of roads are successfully built every year on embankments with varying underlying ground conditions.

	The desk-based assessment undertaken in Chapter 6 of the Environmental Statement has identified the ground conditions exected beneath the embankment – old mine workings and mine entries; opencast backfill of varying depths; the stratigraphy of the undisturbed areas of the Middle and Lower Coal Measures Formations and the local hydrology. Parts of the site have been extensively worked through surface mining activities since c.1946 with opencast activities still ongoing within the Nant Helen site.  Coal mining activities have constantly altered the topography of the site over the last century and the geological environment is varied with many features largely pertaining to coal mining, such as outcropping, entries, drifts, shafts and seams. It is accepted that all these features can potentially create land instability that could constrain the proposed development if not properly considered. 

	The submitted assessment considers that sufficient published information is available to create a preliminary ground modl and identify the required mitigation measures. The assessment concludes that no constraining geological features have been identified and suggests that planning conditions would be an appropriate mechanism for securing the detailed design and ongoing monitoring of both ground instability and contamination on completion of the proposed earthworks. This is considered by the applicant to be sufficient at the initial design stage to inform the environmental impact assessment. It also acknowledges that specific intrusive and non-intrusive ground investigations may be required to inform the detailed geotechnical design of the proposed scheme.

	The detailed geotechnical design of the scheme would ensure slope stability of the ground, cuttings and embankments are dequate for the selected development option. The design would consider ground hazards associated with historical mine workings and subsidence due to potential change in groundwater conditions. This would include a detailed mining and hydrogeological impact assessment, and potentially treatment of shallow mine workings. Should mine workings treatment be required any impacts on hydrogeology would be assessed through detailed studies on design mitigation. The requirement for the Local Authority to approve a detailed geotechnical design can be imposed by condition which will ensure the appropriate safeguards are in place. The design will also consider the stability of the former opencast backfill of the Abercraf/ Gwaunton site, although having been in situ for over 45 years it is anticipated that any ground settlement associated with the opencast activity will have long since ceased. 

	The above assessment demonstrates that even for the substantial engineering operations on the northern embankment, detaied geotechnical and drainage solutions can be conditioned to provide the required level of certainty that there would be no unacceptable impacts arising from the operations.  Accordingly, and given that the extent of ‘cut and fill’ on the NPT side is limited, as are the nearby areas in Powys’ area, it is concluded that sufficient information has been submitted to demonstrate that there are technical solutions capable of ensuring ground stability is remediated where necessary. Conditions are thus imposed to address such matters.

	Impact on Coal

	The Coal Authority has confirmed that the application site falls within the defined Development High Risk Area, and thattheir records indicate the presence of recorded shallow coal mining; coal seams of workable thickness that may have been historically worked at shallow depth by illicit means, c.73no. recorded mine entries (shafts and adits) and the site is within the boundary of a site from which coal has been removed by surface mining (opencast) methods.

	Whilst the Coal Authority has made no specific comments on the proposed restoration works, as the proposal is to includethe construction of a landform that could be used for a number of purposes once restored (ES section 6.3.1), they advise that the applicant will need to ensure that all coal mining legacy has been fully assessed and all risks mitigated to ensure any future platforms for built development are suitable for the development proposed and will be safe and stable (Planning Policy Wales paras 6.9.23 – 27).  

	They further note that the applicant’s technical consultants (ARUP) have carried out an in-depth review of extensive rane of coal mining / geological information and highlight the risks associated with former mining activities as ‘risk zones’ (ES Figure 8) and in relation to the design of any potential testing track (Appendix 6A of the ES - Section 9).   Accordingly they welcome the comments made (Section 15.3) that both intrusive and non-intrusive works are to be undertaken in order to confirm the exact ground conditions (to include location / condition of mine entries; alignments of opencast highwall(s)) and to inform the extent of remedial actions required (including layout to avoid mine entries / opencast highwalls) to mitigate the risks to the future development at this site.  Subject to conditions to secure such site investigations (as recommended by ARUP – Section 15.3 of Appendix 6A: Environmental Statement, May 2020), they therefore offer no objections.

	They further advise that the nature and extent of the ground investigations and any subsequent treatment works will requre the Coal Authority’s written consent (from their Permitting team) prior to commencement of the works as part of the permitting process. 

	Land Contamination

	In relation to land contamination, PPW10 states that where land contamination issues arise, the planning authority will equire evidence of a detailed investigation and risk assessment prior to the determination of the application to enable beneficial use of land, unless it can already be established that remedial measures can be employed. Where it is known that acceptable remedial measures can overcome contamination, planning permission may be granted subject to conditions specifying the necessary measures and the need for their implementation, including provision for remediating any unexpected contamination which may arise during construction (para 6.9.19)  

	Features of made ground and backfilling of mining excavations could contain contamination, especially considering the exensive period of mining operations at the site which could have included contamination arising from fuel spillages etc. During construction any likely significant effects will come from transporting potentially contaminated material including residue from plant and machinery that can pollute the environment, both onsite and offsite where there are pathways to external receptors. It has been considered that by using best practice measures within an industry standard Construction and Environmental Management Plan the significance of effects during construction will be mitigated to negligible.  After completion, any land contamination encountered during construction will have been remediated and therefore the final landform, left undisturbed, will not pose a risk to human or environmental health.  

	The Contaminated Land Officers from both NPT and Powys have liaised and raise no objections.  Nevertheless, they also noe that while the proposal may relate to a proposed Global Rail Centre of Excellence, the site could be used as public amenity land which from a land contamination point of view would be considered much more sensitive. Accordingly, this would need a desk study with a conceptual site model based on the most sensitive potential end use. This can be conditioned to ensure the appropriate reports are based on the specific end use.

	In addition, while the application indicates that all backfilling will take place with site won material, a condition isrecommended preventing the importation of material unless it is approved in writing first so that we could ensure that it is chemically suitable for whatever the end use would be. 

	NRW has reviewed the Desk Study within the ES from which they note that further site investigation for land contaminatio will be undertaken. While suggesting that targeted sampling in areas of known contamination risk is undertaken, they state that the controlled waters at this site are not of the highest environmental sensitivity and therefore have not provided detailed site-specific advice or comments with regards to land contamination issues. They recommend that the requirements of PPW and the Environment Agency Guiding Principles for Land Contamination (GPLC 1, 2, and 3), March 2010, should be followed. 

	Having regard to the above, it is considered that subject to conditions, the proposed development would raise no signifiant detrimental impact to the wider environment, and through suitable remediation would not result in harm to the quality of controlled waters or human health. The proposal therefore broadly accords with Policies SP16 and EN8 of the Local Development Plan.

	Impact on Amenity

	Policy EN 8 seeks to ensure that any proposals which would be likely to have an unacceptable adverse effect on health, bodiversity and/or local amenity or would expose people to unacceptable risk will not be permitted.  This includes from noise pollution.

	In specific reference to developments which could create noise, TAN 11 states at Paragraph 8 that "Local planning authorties must ensure that noise generating development does not cause an unacceptable degree of disturbance. They should also bear in mind that if subsequent intensification or change of use results in greater intrusion, consideration should be given to the use of appropriate conditions.”

	Noise Impacts – Construction

	The proposed development’s impact in respect of noise has been assessed within Chapter 10: Noise and Vibration of the Enironmental Statement.   The assessment of significant environmental effects has focused on impacts arising from construction of the proposed northern embankment (in Powys) and identified 5 sensitive receptors for which assessments are made, all of which are to the north of the site (as shown on Figure 4 below) and in Powys. Receptor 1 is at Caehopkin, Receptor 2 is at Brooklands Terrace, Receptor 3 is at the Scout Hall, Receptor 4 is at Cefn Byrle and Receptor 5 is at Llwyncelyn Cottages. 

	/

	Figure 4 : Nearest (assessed) Noise Sensitive Residential Receptors

	The potential for noise disturbance at residential receptors due to heavy plant and equipment that could be used during onstruction (notably of the embankment) has been considered in line with the recommendations of BS 5228, Part 1, 2009. Under this approach, the adverse impact threshold at an existing residential dwelling is given as 65 dB Laeq during normal weekday working hours (0700 to 1900 hours) and between 0700 and 1300 hours on Saturday. The proposed hours of working for the construction of the embankment fall within these hours and therefore these levels are considered to be the maximum that should apply to those works.

	Noise levels have been predicted based upon the construction plant sound power level and typical percentage on-times, wih corrections applied to allow for distance, reflections and screening attenuation where appropriate. Without mitigation, the noise levels predicted at Receptors 2, 3, 4 and 5 (57, 60, 54, 51dB respectively) were well within the 65dB threshold but 66dB was predicted at Receptor 1 in Caehopkin. A noise fence measuring approximately 50m in length and 5m in height is therefore proposed between the embankment and receptor 1. This mitigation reduces the predicted noise level at receptor 1 to 61dB. 

	The operation of the Nant Helen Surface Mine is subject to a noise condition which specifies the following:  

	‘Noise arising from operations at the site as measured at any noise sensitive location shall not exceed background (LA90 plus 10dB LAeq,1hr or 55dB LAeq,1hr (free field), whichever is the lesser, during normal working hours (0700 to 1900 hours Monday to Friday excluding Bank/Public Holidays and 08.00 and 12.00 hours on Saturdays). At all other times the noise arising from operations at the site shall not exceed 42dB LAeq, 1hr (free field) at any noise sensitive location.’ 

	Within the ES, the only identified significant noise impacts arising from construction are in Powys’s administrative are, although with mitigation on the perimeter of the site (in the form of a 5m screen referred to above) noise levels to receptor 1 would be controlled and prevent a significant effect.  Such matters are, however, dealt with by PCC in their assessment / report, along with specific working hours restrictions on development in that area (which are imposed on this application only for purposes of consistency).

	Looking specifically at properties within NPT, the ES (10.3.3) indicates that residential properties located on the soutern side of the site boundary (i.e. in NPT) were not assessed due to the distance separation between the main embankment construction works and the residential properties.  It states that “it is unlikely the embankment construction works would result in a significant effect at residential properties located in these areas”.  

	Nevertheless, the Council’s EHO has liaised with the applicants’ noise consultants in respect of the potential for impacs on residents in NPT related to the construction of the southern embankment in the southern end of the site boundary which is relatively close to the residential properties on Onllwyn Road (see figure 5 below).

	/

	Figure 5: Proximity of southern embankment to Onllwyn

	In response, the consultants have clarified that in the ES no significant effect was identified at receptor 4 (see Figur 4 above) where an approximate shortest distance used for the assessment was 95m. The predicted construction noise levels at Receptor 4 is about 10dB lower than the threshold level.  Therefore they have stated that the construction activities associated with the works in the southern area is unlikely to exceed the threshold levels at the residential properties on Onllwyn Road, directly facing the site based on the following assumptions: 

	€

	 The footprint of the southern embankment is relatively smaller than the northern embankment, therefore it is likely siiar or less construction activities would be undertaken in this area;

	 On the existing ground profile across the site, it is understood the geometry in this area is similar to the north; an

	 An approximate shortest horizontal distance between the southern earthworks and those properties on Onllwyn Road is 18m

	Subject to a robust CEMP being submitted under condition (a draft having been submitted to date), the Council’s EHO has onfirmed he is satisfied with the consultants submissions and thus the impacts during construction.

	Noise Impacts – After Use

	In terms of the potential after use for the site, it is considered that only the potential rail testing facility would b likely to have impacts on residential receptors or users of the public rights of way, although any such impacts are neither assessed nor up for consideration as part of this application.  Leisure after uses (such as walking, cycling and horse riding) would, by their very nature, open up the site for public benefit but would lead to greater enjoyment of the area without having any demonstrable impact on the amenity of nearby properties.

	Noise – Conclusion

	In view of the foregoing, subject to the inclusion of a condition requiring a robust CEMP (including working hours) to cntrol construction and operational activities in the interests of local amenity, it is considered that the proposal would not lead to unacceptable levels of noise to warrant refusal of the application on these grounds such that the development would accords with Policy EN8 of the Local Development Plan.

	Air Quality

	For the construction phase, the most important consideration is dust, since without appropriate mitigation, dust could cuse temporary soiling of surfaces, particularly windows, cars and laundry.   In respect of such matters the ES advises as follows: -

	The nearest sensitive receptors within NPT are located approximately 500m away from proposed dust generating activities.In human health terms, background annual PM10 concentrations are low (9-10ug/m3). There is a very low risk that air quality objectives will be exceeded by the proposed activities provided that good practice measures are followed. An assessment of mineral dust impacts on human health receptors is screened out. 

	The mineral type at the proposed site is soft rock according to the British Geological Survey. Due to the nearest sensitve receptors being more than 500m away from the proposed dust generating activities and the low background annual PM10 concentration it is considered that, in accordance to the IAQM mineral dust guidance (IAQM 2016, Guidance on the Assessment of Mineral Dust Impacts for Planning), a detailed dis-amenity dust impact assessment is not required.”

	It is recognised that the principal sources of dust are likely to be associated with the excavation and deposit of soil nd overburden and the movement of vehicles within the site.  In this respect mineral dust coarser than 10µm may constitute a ‘nuisance’ due to soiling of surfaces but does not pose a risk to human health. Fine particles of 10µm or less, referred to as PM10 can be inhaled and depending on the concentrations and the nature of the particles, they can be associated with health impacts. The very fine particles of 2.5µm or less are referred to as PM2.5. 

	There are no statutory or recommended levels of dust deposition which constitute an acknowledged nuisance, but 200 mg/m²day is often quoted as a threshold for nuisance dust. Large dust particles, which make up the greatest proportion of dust emissions from this type of earthwork proposal (up to 95%) will largely deposit within 100m of the source. Intermediate particles can travel further but it is unlikely that adverse impacts will occur at distances in excess of 250m. Fine particles can travel further from the source so for PM10 the potential human receptors within 500m are considered. 

	While the Council’s Air Quality Officer raises no objections to the development, he does note that based on previous knoledge of receiving complaints from Heol y Felin when the Nant Helen mounds were being formed (shifting of overburden), he would recommend that opencast style bowsers are used to minimise dust emissions in the same manner has been the case at Celtic Energy’s opencast sites. Such matters can be adequately addressed through the submission of a Dust Management Action Plan which along with a condition requiring approval of a final Construction Environmental Management Plan (CEMP) which would include dust management controls, would ensure the proposal would be acceptable in terms of air quality and accord with Policy EN8 of the Local Development Plan.

	Impact on Heritage Assets

	The Historic Environment (Wales) Act (2016) stands at the centre of�an integrated suite of legislation, policy, advice ad guidance for the�historic environment, with National policy incorporated within Chapter 6 of Planning Policy Wales (Edition 10) and guidance in Technical Advice Note 24: The Historic Environment (May 2017.

	In addition to the above, Cadw has the following guidance which is of relevance to this proposal: -

	• Conservation Principles for the Sustainable Management�of the Historic Environment in Wales - sets out six principles o conservation, including that historic assets will be managed to sustain their values and that understanding the significance of assets is vital. 

	• Heritage Impact Assessment in Wales – emphasises principles for creating a Heritage Impact Statement, in particular th eed for ‘sufficient information to enable both the significance of the asset and the impact of change to be understood’.

	• Setting of Historic Assets in Wales - explains what setting is, how it contributes to the significance of a historic ast and why it is important.

	PPW states that the planning system must take into account the Welsh Government’s objectives to protect, conserve, promoe and enhance the historic environment as a resource for the general well-being of present and future generations (para 6.1.5). Therefore, any decisions made through the planning system must fully consider the impact on the historic environment and on the significance and heritage values of individual historic assets and their contribution to the character of place (para 6.1.9)

	TAN 24: The Historic Environment, elaborates by explaining that there is a presumption against proposals which will havea significant impact on the setting of remains.

	The relevant Policies in the NPT LDP are: -

	• Policy SP21 Built Environment and Historic Heritage;

	• Policy BE 1: Design;

	Additionally, heritage issues are addressed by the Council’s approved Historic Environment SPG (adopted April 2019).

	The proposed development’s heritage impact has been considered within the Chapter 8: Cultural Heritage of the Environmenal Statement and its appendices; which include a Historic Environment Baseline Assessment, Written Scheme of Investigation submitted to Clwyd-Powys Archaeological Trust and Glamorgan Gwent Archaeological Trust, and a pre-application enquiry submitted to CADW, along with subsequent responses.  

	Affected Historic Assets

	Section 8 of the ES identifies 113 heritage assets (listed buildings, scheduled monuments and a historic park and garden within the inner and outer study areas, of which there is one SM and 35 non-designated heritage assets located within the site boundary (NPT & PCC).  Also located particularly close to the site is the Bryn Llechwen ring cairn (BR327), a funerary monument probably of Bronze Age date.  Additionally, eight historic landscape areas were identified within or in proximity to the site.

	Of the above, the asset of most significance in itself and due to the potential impacts, is ‘The Tramroad at Ystradgynlas (Claypon’s Extension) (CH001)’ which is a nationally important earthwork dating to the 1830s designated as a Scheduled Monument (SM). Potential impacts are on the SM and its setting. The Tramroad is 6.44km in length and runs from Ystradgynlais across Mynydd y Drum through the application site towards where the Onllwyn Washery is today. The extent of the SM in the location of the site is shown on figure 6 below (being located on the joint boundary of NPT and PCC), which also shows designated heritage assets (extracted from the ES Fig 8.1).

	The tramroad was built using a hybrid of horse-drawn and steam-driven technology, making it a historically significant fat of engineering, and formed part of the Brecon Forest Tramroad which was a vitally important route for the movement of raw materials for the flourishing iron trade in the area. 

	The ES acknowledges that it is a heritage asset of high value whose National importance is derived from its potential toenhance and illustrate our knowledge and understanding of the raw materials transportation network from nineteenth century iron industries. 

	/ 

	Figure 6: Designated Heritage Assets

	Potential Effects on Historic Assets

	Section 8 of the ES identifies those aspects of the Project which may have an effect on cultural heritage assets includig:

	• Ground preparation work, including the removal of topsoil prior to the building up of embankments;

	• The excavation of cuttings;

	• The excavation of trenches for drainage works;

	• The alteration of the setting of heritage assets.

	Impact on Tramroad / Scheduled Monument

	Given that the extent of site within NPT is limited, the primary heritage impact for this report to address concerns theimpact on the scheduled tramroad (and its setting), with the alignment of the proposed earthworks intersecting the Tramroad SM at limited intervals along the southern extent of the application site.

	The proposed earthworks would cross the Scheduled Monument near its eastern end, permanently burying 450m section of it,with three drainage pipes also required to be installed across the Scheduled Monument where the embankment crosses it. Trenches, circa 2.1m in width and 15m in length would also be cut into the surface of the Scheduled Monument prior to its burial. It is noted, however, that the exact details will be subject to Scheduled Monument Consent.

	The extent of the works are identified on figures 7 and 8 below.

	/

	Figure 7 : 

	/

	Figure 8 : 

	Although the 450m stretch would equate to only 7% of the monument’s entire 6.44km length, the cutting of the trenches an the burial under the embankment would interfere with the existing linear nature of the feature and lead to a loss of legibility as well as the removal of part of its physical fabric. Given the archaeological and historical values of this monument, the ES identifies that this would constitute a permanent major adverse significance of effect.

	In order to mitigate this, no topsoil would be removed during the construction of the embankment and any benches require to provide the necessary gradient would be cut outside of the scheduled area. Although the Scheduled Monument would remain largely intact beneath the new embankment, there would be an interruption in its legibility, with the east and western sections of it divided. This would have an adverse effect on how the monument can be understood. 

	It is noted that the applicant’s agent has liaised with Cadw throughout the pre-application stages and as part of the sttutory Pre-Application Consultation (PAC) to identify the impacts and understand their views. In this respect, Cadw have consistently emphasised that the conservation of archaeological remains and their settings is a material consideration in determining a planning application, whether those remains are a scheduled monument or not. Where nationally important archaeological remains are likely to be affected by proposed development, there should be a presumption in favour of their physical protection in situ. It will only be in exceptional circumstances that planning permission will be granted if development would result in a direct adverse impact on a scheduled monument (or an archaeological site shown to be of national importance). (Paragraph 6.1.24 of Planning Policy Wales (Edition 10). 

	Moreover Technical Advice Note 24: The Historic Environment further states that there is a primary presumption against poposals which would involve significant alteration or cause damage, or would have a significant adverse impact causing harm within the setting of the remains.  

	To that extent, the socio-economic section below summarises some clearly defined positive impacts associated with a potetial rail proposal and a leisure/recreation/tourism end use for the site in terms of employment and economic regeneration transformative impacts which the applicant considers indicate that exceptional circumstances arise in this case.

	Cadw’s formal response on this application has reiterated such earlier advice, noting that the ES explains that there wil be a direct and permanent, major adverse impact on the scheduled Tramroad at Ystradgynlais (GM399).  Accordingly they further state that “this adverse impact will be significant and is contrary to national planning policy contained in section 6.1.24 of Planning Policy Wales 2018.  Therefore, your authority will need to weigh this direct significantly adverse impact against the economic and other benefits”.

	In this respect they note that Planning Policy Wales explains that it is important that the planning system looks to proect, conserve and enhance the significance of historic assets. This will include consideration of the setting of an historic asset which might extend beyond its curtilage. Any change that impacts on an historic asset or its setting should be managed in a sensitive and sustainable way.

	Having regard to the above it is of note that, irrespective of any planning permission that may be forthcoming for this evelopment, the works identified above to the Scheduled Monument cannot lawfully be undertaken until such time as Scheduled Monument Consent (SMC) is granted by the Welsh Ministers.  

	During the PAC process Cadw stated that they had “significant concerns about the permanent major adverse and significantimpact on the Scheduled Monument of the tramroad at Ystradynlais unless the scheme is redesigned”, considering the proposals to be contrary to TAN 24 and PPW.  Cadw thus “recommended that the scheme is redesigned” and the application for a Scheduled Monument Consent (SMC) be “made before submitting the planning application to ensure the setting is acceptable”.  

	In light of the above concerns the agent continues to liaise with Cadw and is currently preparing the application for SM to allow Cadw to fully consider this matter. 

	The ES has identified that physical constraints on the site, together with fundamental design parameters associated withthe potential rail test track proposal, have dictated the proposed earthworks design and ultimately made it impossible to implement the rail proposal (should it be granted) and avoid the monument in its entirety. In the leisure/tourism development scenario, however there is more scope to design facilities such that the monument is left undisturbed.

	Cadw’s formal response on the current application has thus now stated that each Authority “will need to weigh this direc significantly adverse impact against the economic and other benefits. It is for the local planning authority to weigh our assessment against all the other material considerations in determining whether to approve planning permission”. 

	For the purpose of this assessment, however, it is considered that the identified major adverse effects for this applicaion would only be outweighed in the event that Cadw is satisfied with the justification for such works (through the SMC process).  In this respect, it is considered that the extent of works and leisure afteruse proposed by the current application would not constitute the necessary exceptional circumstances to outweigh the harm to the heritage asset, and thus development (in the scheduled area) would be contrary to PPW and TAN24.  

	Nevertheless, the earthworks proposed under this application also form part of potential enabling works to facilitate inustrial uses including the Welsh Government’s proposed rail testing, research and development and storage facility, called the Global Centre of Rail Excellence (GCRE). The Pre-Application Consultation (PAC) for that project is due in August / September 2020, and an application to both LPAs is due to be made shortly after closing of the PAC period.

	Such an industrial proposal could potentially provide the additional justification for the works to the Scheduled Monumet necessary to amount to exceptional circumstances - albeit it is emphasised that this does not form part of this application and would require careful and detailed assessment at application stage.  As detailed elsewhere in this report, facilitating the approval of the required earthworks at this stage would provide such a rail project with the greatest opportunity for success through enabling advanced earthworks to be undertaken. Refusing the application on the basis of impact on the scheduled area would therefore potentially fatally undermine the potential to deliver such a project in future, with its likely substantial economic and other benefits. 

	In this respect, while the extent of works close to the SM would have no unacceptable impact on its setting, in the absece of such exceptional justification (which can only be considered under the later application), or SMC being issued, it is concluded that works should not be allowed within the scheduled area of the SM.  

	This, however, is considered to be easy to address through the imposition of a Grampian condition that will prevent any orks that will impact upon the scheduled area until such time as SMC has been granted.  This means that Cadw will retain control over the works to the scheduled area, but will also allow for permission to be granted at this stage and for works to continue on the earthworks under this application outside of the scheduled area, and for such works within the scheduled area to then be implemented swiftly following any issue of SMC (should it be forthcoming).  

	Such a condition will also afford the applicants the opportunity, should SMC not be forthcoming, to apply under that conition for amendments to the landform in that area (including drainage, landscaping etc.), thus allowing further assessment and public scrutiny of impacts of the changed landscape but without the need for a formal application (under s73).

	Archaeological monitoring would also be required during construction to ensure that no physical damage is done to the Sceduled Monument during construction.

	In terms of its historic landscape setting, LANDMAP shows that almost all of the site is within the Onllwyn Historic Lanscape Area – which includes both modern and historic extraction. It has been evaluated as of low value. In terms of its archaeological setting the area is known to have had small to medium scale extraction in the post-medieval and modern periods. There is no evidence that any features of importance have survived at ground level.  

	Settings of other Scheduled Monuments

	Six other Scheduled Monuments, all prehistoric in date, have been identified as having the site within their settings.  he closest of these, the Bryn Llechwen ring cairn, is located c130m west of the site (in PCC) and there is the potential for an adverse effect arising from the change to the cairn’s setting as it would have clear views across the entire site. 

	The ES identifies that there would be no permanent effects on the cairn arising from the creation of the Project, howeve during construction and until the embankments have grassed over, there would be a temporary adverse effect resulting from the increased noise, lighting and appearance of construction activities happening only a short distance from the cairn. Overall there would be a minor magnitude of impact, resulting in a temporary minor adverse significance of effect. This is not significant.

	Cadw has confirmed that they have no concerns about the impact on the Bryn Lechwen Ring Cairn (BR327) as a temporary impct on setting will cease once development is completed.

	Impact on Listed Buildings 

	Section 66 of the Planning (Listed Buildings and Conservation areas) Act 1990 requires Authorities considering applicatins for planning permission which affect a listed building to have special regard to certain matters, including the desirability of preserving the setting of the building.

	The ES identified 18 heritage assets as requiring further assessment in relation to impacts arising from changes to thei setting (section A4.1.32 of Appendix 8A heritage Desk based Assessment) 10 of which are scheduled monuments (and as such an assessment of the setting has been made by Cadw), the remaining 8 are listed buildings of which 7 are within Powys County Council and one within NPT.

	The ES has made an assessment on the setting of these assets, which is accepted and on which basis, and having special rgard to the s66 matters, it is concluded that the setting of the identified listed buildings would not be harmed by the proposal.

	Other Matters

	In addition to the known heritage assets within the site there is the potential for previously unrecorded archaeologicalremains to be removed during construction. While the archaeological potential for much of the site is negligible, due to past open cast mining, two areas in the north and south of the site (Areas B and C, Figure 8.4) were identified with greater potential. In both cases, 19th and 20th century mining activities were identified, which make the potential for archaeological remains pre-dating the post-medieval period unlikely. However, there is a high potential for archaeological remains of late post-medieval and modern date within these areas. 

	The full details of any archaeological mitigation should be agreed with the archaeological advisors of GGAT (and CPAT inPowys) and be undertaken under an agreed Written Scheme of Investigation approved by CPAT and GGAT and carried out by an appropriately qualified archaeological contractor.

	Impact on Non-Designated Heritage Assets

	While there are other archaeological remains (non-designated assets) within the site (see figure 9 below) notably for NP the majority are outside of the current site boundary.  Moreover, the ES identifies that there would only be a minor adverse significance of effect.  GGAT raise no objections to such impacts subject to the conditions detailed above.

	/

	Figure 9 : Non-Designated Heritage Assets

	Heritage - Conclusion

	The above assessment emphasises that the degree of impacts arising from the development on designated and non-designatedheritage assets would not be significant in the majority of circumstances.  The exception to this is the impact on the scheduled tramroad, which is considered to be permanent and significant adverse.  Moreover, the benefits of this development, while not insignificant in themselves and as part of the potential industrial after use, would at this time not amount to the exceptional circumstances necessary to justify the permanent works required to create the land platform in the scheduled area.

	Nevertheless, with the exception of the actual works affecting the tramroad, the development would not have any unacceptble adverse impacts, and having regard to the benefits of granting permission for the earthworks as a flexible landform for future use, and for the potential rail centre delivery timescales, this assessment recommends that planning permission is granted subject to a specific Grampian condition which precludes any works within the scheduled area (together with an option to submit alternative details of the amended landform in and around this area should SMC not be granted) alongside other archaeological conditions to protect the archaeological resource.

	Parking and Access Requirements and Impact on Highway Safety

	Welsh Government Transport initially directed that a condition be imposed requiring a Construction Traffic Management Pln (TMP) to be submitted to and approved by the Local Planning Authority on the basis that 300-600 vehicle movements were proposed per day. The applicant has subsequently clarified that these movements are internal site movements and the proposals will not generate any significant additional traffic on the highway. 

	As a consequence, WG have confirmed that the direction to impose the condition is therefore removed, a stance which the ouncil’s highway Officer agrees with.

	The existing access road (in Powys) will be retained and any change to the number of vehicle movements is considered to e minimal as the activity will be carried out in combination with the proposed restoration works, without any significant change in the number of items of plant or plant operatives.

	Accordingly there are no highway objections to the proposed development.

	Impact on Public Access and Common Land

	The proposed development’s impact on public access has been assessed within Chapter 4: Public Rights of Way (PRoW) and Cmmon Land of the Environmental Statement.  Impact has been assessed in the context of the PRoW that cross the site and the extent of common land associated with Mynydd-y-Drum that falls within the site’s boundary.  

	In Planning Policy Wales, PRoW and other publicly accessible recreational areas that are natural or semi natural in charcter, such as Common Land, are treated as forms of green infrastructure, collectively with other features of a similar nature including wildlife corridors. 

	PPW also specifically identifies Common land as a finite resource that should not be developed unnecessarily. Access to t should not be prevented or impeded unnecessarily to ensure its proper management (para 6.3.17). It should be noted that, in addition to planning permission, certain works which prevent or impede access to or over common land or involve new resurfacing require consent from Welsh Ministers.

	National Planning policy requires that green infrastructure is treated as being important in facilitating opportunities or people to improve their health and wellbeing. The planning system should protect and enhance green infrastructure assets and networks on this basis.  The PRoW and common land are predominantly located within Powys but extend into Neath Port Talbot, albeit beyond the limits of the site. Notwithstanding that, the contiguity of features and uninterrupted cross boundary usage by the public will be important to preserve.  

	Many of the PRoW were suspended or diverted to facilitate the operation of Nant Helen Surface Mine. The Environmental Sttement includes the suspension order and mapping which was applied for by Celtic Energy under Section 15 of the Opencast Coal Act 1958 to suspend some routes and to provide alternative routes. These have been in place since 1997. Access to the Common Land has also been extended by legal agreements in place between the Commoners and the applicant.

	Both PRoW and common land suspension conditions are expected to persist during construction of the proposed development nd potential for further adverse effects are therefore limited during this time. Post completion, the baseline used for assessment is that created by the restored state of Nant Helen Surface Mine, reinstating both access to common land, and PRoW in accordance with the definitive map.    

	The proposed earthworks would in the applicants’ view complement the restoration scheme, allowing for the reinstatement f PRoW and common land access to re-establish the function of the site as an area of public use for recreation, alongside commoner use for agriculture. 

	Some of the PRoW will not be reinstated along their historical alignment and modest diversions will be required to faciltate the earthworks. It is not considered that these diversions will undermine the holistic function of the PRoW network or impinge on public rights of access, whether within or across the site, or where PRoW may form contiguous links beyond. . A statutory process for the diversion of the definitive routes will however have to be followed. Notwithstanding statutory processes required, it is not considered the there is any conflict with policies within the Local Development Plan.

	Specifically in respect of rights of way within the NPT boundary, the Rights of Way Officer has advised that there is a ridleway (BR26 Dulais Higher) that travels along the old tramway (scheduled monument) which is also registered on the Powys Definitive Map (being on 2 Definitive maps is very unusual).  There is also a footpath within the site boundary (FP15 Dulais Higher).  Both of these are shown on the plan extract below.

	/

	Figure 10: Rights of Way in NPT

	In Powys a number of public rights of way cross the site and will be affected by the proposed earthworks, being footpath 40, 19, 90, 49, 7, 11 and 17 and bridleway 45. Most of these paths are currently suspended via an Order under the Opencast Coal Order. During construction, an additional temporary closure of parts of bridleway 45 and footpath 19 will be required to ensure public safety. 

	The public rights of way that are suspended under the Opencast Coal Order are to be reinstated as part of the revised retoration scheme for the Nant Helen opencast coal site. As the applicant has identified, the earthworks will impact on the reinstated routes of the paths, due to the gradient of the slopes of the earthwork. Legal diversions will be required to allow for the earthworks to be constructed. Such legal diversions can include any proposal relating to NPTs PROW network as above.

	In terms of timescales, it is of note that planning permission does not, in itself, grant permission for the diversion o a public right of way; a separate legal process must be followed which requires the making and confirmation of a public path Order. As noted in the Environmental Statement, the options for diverting these paths are under consideration and will be subject of a pubic consultation exercise. The proposed earthwork must not be constructed over the existing lines of the paths, until such time as the legal diversion process is complete as it is an offence to develop over the line of a public right of way.

	In addition, the proposed earthworks will affect registered commons BCL78 (Mynydd-y-Drum) and BCL136 (Land near Abercrav Station.) There are grazing rights recorded in the Register of Common Land as being exercisable over BCL78 (Mynydd-y-Drum) common; no grazing rights are registered over BCLI36 (Land near Abercrave Station). Both commons benefit from a right of access on foot for recreation, under the Countryside and Rights of Way Act 2000, although the Nant Helen opencast coal site area is excepted from that right of access.

	Common land does benefit from a high degree of legal protection. Under section 38 of the Commons Act 2006, it is unlawfu for 'restricted works' to take place on common land without prior consent. Construction of the earthworks and associated drainage is likely to constitute restricted works: a separate legal process will need to be undertaken to seek common land consent for these works. 

	Biodiversity / Ecology 

	The proposed development’s impact on biodiversity has been assessed within Chapter 7: Biodiversity of the Environmental tatement and its appendices which include an extensive collection of habitat and species surveys, reports and figures. 

	The Chapter documents survey work undertaken in relation to habitats and species in addition to reporting the value of rceptors and assessing the effects arising from the site construction (and associated enabling works such as vegetation clearance), and the operation of the proposed development. The chapter also documents measures to mitigate and compensate these effects. Enhancement measures, which go beyond mitigating effects, are also identified. The residual effects following the inclusion of these measures are then assessed.

	Impact has been assessed in the context of designated sites, the habitats present within the application site, the biodiersity that it supports currently (to inform impacts during construction) and would subsequently support after Nant Helen Surface Mine has ceased operations and the land has been restored.  

	‘Notable’ species and habitats considered include species and habitats of principal importance for the purpose of maintaning and enhancing biodiversity in relation to the requirements of Section 7 of the Environment (Wales) Act 2016. This is in addition to any species considered to be of significance for nature conservation such species listed in red data books, the Royal Society for the Protection of Birds (RSPB) ‘Birds of Conservation Concern’ lists and or Local Biodiversity Action Plans (LBAPs).

	Policy on biodiversity is based on a range of European directives transposed into UK legislation that make provision fordesignated European sites (SSSI, SACs, SPAs and Ramsar) and regulations for controlling the effects of development.  It is also based on a range of national legislation not necessarily borne out of European directives, but domestic drivers.  

	Planning Policy Wales bases its policy position on the Environment (Wales) Act 2016, which was introduced to maintain an where possible enhance biodiversity and the resilience of ecosystems (Section 6 Duty). PPW sets out that planning authorities must seek to maintain and enhance biodiversity in the exercise of their functions. This means that development should not cause any significant loss of habitats or populations of species, locally or nationally and must provide a net benefit for biodiversity.

	Subsequent guidance issued by Welsh Government has clarified that in light of the PPW and the Environment (Wales) Act 206, where biodiversity enhancement is not proposed as part of an application, significant weight will be given to its absence, and unless other significant material considerations indicate otherwise it will be necessary to refuse permission.

	Within the LDP, Policies SP15, EN6 and EN7 seek to protect, conserve, enhance and manage biodiversity and geodiversity ad, where harm is unavoidable, to ensure effective mitigation measures are required to ensure there is no reduction in the overall value of the area or feature; and to protect important natural features.

	Protected Sites - Special Areas of Conservation (SAC) / Sites of Special Scientific Interest (SSSI)

	The site is an active surface coal mine and there are no designated sites within its boundary. There are several designaed sites beyond, Coedydd Nedd a Mellte SAC is 4.3km from the site and Cwm Cadlan SAC is 9.5km from the site. The potential effects on these sites arising from the proposed development, whether during construction or after completion, are negligible due to the lack of source-pathway-receptor linkages.  NRW and both Council Ecologists agree with the conclusion that there would be no likely significant effect to the SACs and their associated features either alone or in combination with other plans or projects and that no further assessment under the Conservation of Habitats and Species Regulations 2017 (as amended) would be required.

	The same is true for all bar one of the SSSI within 5km of the site. The Nant Llech SSSI is the only one that is hydroloically connected to the site and as such there is potential for the site to be affected by pollution events and surface water run-off containing high sediment loads. In light of the nature of the proposed development the ES concludes that any adverse effects would be temporary, and reversible. Pollution control measures have been identified within the ES and Appendix 3B – Outline Construction Environmental Management Plan, the outline measures identified are considered acceptable and appropriate to minimise the risk of impacts from the proposed development. It is noted that NRW have identified in their response that subject to the outlined pollution prevention measures being implemented the proposed development would not be likely to damage the features for which the Nant Llech SSSI is designated and have recommended that a pre-commencement condition requiring the submission of a detailed Construction Environmental Management Plan is included should the Authority be minded to approve the application. The Council Ecologists agree with this recommendation and consider that this requirement is necessary in order to ensure the development complies with the requirements of LDP Policies SP16, EN6 and EN8.

	Locally-Designated SINCs

	There are 5 SINCs within 2km of the site but there is significant spatial and physical separation between the site from hese SINCs, and as such no effects (either direct or indirect) are considered likely.  The Council Ecologists are satisfied that this conclusion is appropriate.

	Ancient Woodland

	There are a number of areas of ancient woodland, within 1 km of the site and there is one area of recorded PAWS ancient oodland within the (Powys) site boundary.  However, the submitted evidence would suggest that the area of conifer plantation to be lost as a result of the project is not PAW as it was worked in the 1970s as part of the Abercrave/Gwaunton surface mine and therefore any ground flora, soils and seed beds have been destroyed. The woodland has been demonstrated to be on backfilled material/overburden and not, in-situ woodland soils.  The Council Ecologists have reviewed the evidence and assessment provided with regards to the area identified as PAWS Ancient Woodland habitat on the Ancient Woodland Inventory and are satisfied that the habitat present does not actually meet the requirements which would qualify it as ancient woodland habitat and therefore would not require the level of protection afforded to habitats of this type under National and Local Planning Policies and is instead dealt with in terms of general woodland habitat loss.

	Habitats

	Past habitat surveys associated with the consenting of the current operations at the site indicated the presence of planation woodland, broadleaved woodland, hedgerows, scrub, acid marshy/grassland, mire, ephemeral/short perennial, watercourses and standing water. Recent habitat surveys indicated little change besides fluctuating water levels within water bodies and the extension of mining operations. 

	Earthworks will result in habitat loss, where cuttings and embankments are constructed. In addition, temporary works suc as construction compounds and access may require habitat loss. Habitat loss will directly affect notable habitats, protected and notable species known to occur within, and adjacent to, the site. Indirect effects to species may also occur such as reduced breeding and foraging success, as a result of reduced habitat availability, and which may lead to extinction where populations are small and or isolated. Habitat loss is not anticipated to directly or indirectly affect any protected sites in the wider area. 

	The revised restoration scheme (Figure 1.2) includes the creation of new habitats within parts of the site including aci grassland, enclosed pasture and broadleaved woodland. As such, these areas of the site will be re-established as acid grassland (once the restoration scheme commences).  The restoration scheme (Figure 1.2) also details the retention of existing habitats namely acid grassland and waterbodies (as shown on the restoration plan), as well as purple moor grassland and heathland (shown on the Phase 1 plan) within the site boundary. These habitats will be lost during construction.  

	Thirty-eight habitat types were identified within the site boundary.  Habitats lost within the site boundary during consruction would total 72.03ha in area. The proposed earthworks would interface with the approved mine restoration scheme in such a way that would lead to a loss of an additional 12.21ha of habitat that would have otherwise been retained. Severance and fragmentation of habitat would cause indirect effects over an area of 3.35ha leading to a total habitat loss of 87.59ha.  

	Through mitigation, any adverse residual impacts from the construction of the proposed development can be minimised and ring about enhancements compared to the existing site context. Proposals to restore land after coaling operations have ceased will provide a mosaic of habitats and waterbodies that in and of themselves enhance biodiversity. To mitigate the proposed earthworks interface with this, and to ensure the cumulative effect maintains this enhancement, a series of pre-site clearance and construction measures are proposed.  

	A habitat creation and restoration plan illustrates a series of notable habitats to be created include fen-mire, heathlad, waterbodies and broadleaved woodland, in areas currently of less nature conservation value or which will be disturbed during the works.  The design facilitates the creation of a habitat mosaic using a varied landform. This includes the creation of shallow scrapes of varying sizes within the small enclosed area in the south east of the site, and immediately north of this, which will facilitate the establishment of wetlands and aquatic emergent vegetation, and likely shallow peat (over time).  The re-profiled overburden mound within the larger enclosed area, will facilitate the establishment of heathland on its slopes and marshy grassland on its plateau. To compensate for likely impacts on the fen-mire habitat (and mosaic of open water and wet heath), because of hydrology changes from the project, it is proposed that a similar habitat complex could be created within the site and secured by planning condition.  Tree planting of native broadleaved tree species is proposed in the north western corner of the site (in an area of existing conifer), in an area designated as plantation on ancient woodland, therefore improving the nature conservation value of this woodland and providing connectivity to new planting proposed as part of the approved restoration plan. In combination, measures to create and enhance habitat will benefit an area of approximately 226ha. 

	The Council Ecologists note that the ES identifies that the long term maintenance and monitoring of newly established haitat and other habitats which will be retained and protected will be detailed within an Ecological Management and Monitoring Plan (EMMP), and the proposals with regards to creation and enhancement of habitats to address the identified habitat loss as a result of the proposed development are considered to be appropriate and acceptable. In addition the principles outlined with regards to the EMMP are considered to be acceptable and it is therefore recommended that a condition to secure the submission of a detailed Ecological Management and Monitoring Plan building on the principles outlined in Section 7.20 of the ES for approval by the LPA is included to ensure compliance with LDP Policies EN6 and EN7 which it is recommended that the condition states that the EMMP covers a period of 25 years.

	Impact on Protected Species

	The ES has incorporated an assessment and associated species survey reports including Bats, riparian mammals, dormouse ad amphibians, along with an evaluation of impacts on important ecological receptors. Details of the identified impacts and proposed mitigation have been summarised in Table 7.14 (Appendix 7O of the ES). 

	The Council Ecologists have advised that the assessment and identified mitigation are considered to be appropriate with egards to the impacts identified for each species considered. Section 7.20 of the ES identifies the production of detailed CEMP, Ecological Management and Monitoring Plan (EMMP) and Ecological Protection Plan (EPP) and outlines measures which would be implemented to deliver the identified mitigation measures. The outline measures include pre-commencement surveys for breeding birds, bats, otter, badger and reptiles, implementation of a reptile trapping and translocation programme, identification of species translocation protocols, Ecological Clerk of Works supervision, protection of retained habitats. 

	Based on the survey results and the mitigation measures proposed, NRW has also confirmed that they are satisfied that th proposal is unlikely to affect European Protected Species (EPS), however the potential for species such as bats and otters to be present could not be fully discounted.  Noting that due to the nature and scale of the proposal works will be carried out at different phases, they agree with the recommendations made in section 7.20 of the ES that pre-construction surveys for bats and otter will be required to establish whether these species are going to be affected. Pre-construction surveys will form part of the CEMP.

	The Council Ecologists have similarly concluded that subject to the implementation of the identified mitigation and enhacement measures within a EMMP, CEMP and EPP, the proposals would comply with national and LDP Policies. However it is essential that submission of detailed versions of these documents are secured through appropriately worded pre-commencement planning conditions including appropriate details of mitigation, monitoring and remediation protocols.  Further that the management and monitoring plans will need to be of sufficient duration to ensure establishment of the relevant habitats/features of ecological value and in this repect they recommended that the EMMP covers a period of 25 years.

	Biosecurity

	NRW has advised that biosecurity is a material consideration owing to the nature and location of the proposal. In this cse, biosecurity issues concern Invasive Non Native Species (INNS) due to Extended Phase 1 Habitat Survey confirming the presence of Japanese knotweed (Fallopia japonica), montbretia (Crocosmia x crocosmiiflora), wall cotoneaster (Cotoneaster horizontalis) and rhododendron (Rhododendron ponticum). 

	While the locations of the INNS identified in the survey are outside of the planning application boundary, there is potetial for some of these species to become established in the development site prior to construction commencing. Therefore, it is necessary to consider the potential effects and prepare accordingly.

	They further note that while the PAC report stated that an INNS Management Plan will be produced as part of the CEMP, th outline CEMP (Arup, April 2020) is not included. Accordingly they state that the INNS Management Plan should be integrated within the CEMP and its submission and implementation secured via Condition.

	Biodiversity Conclusion

	Having regard to the above assessment, it is concluded that the impacts of the development both during and post construcion and ongoing future management and monitoring can address the impacts on biodiversity to an acceptable degree. Accordingly, it is concluded that subject to the submission of a CEMP, EMO and EPP and associated supportive documents to ensure necessary management measures are agreed prior to commencement of development, or phase of development and implemented for the protection of the environment during construction, the proposed development would broadly accord with the policy objectives of PPW and with LDP Policies SP16, EN6 and EN7.

	Ground Water / Hydrological Impact (sustainable drainage, water quality and flood risk)

	The proposed development’s impact on the water environment has been assessed within Chapter 5: Water Environment of the ubmitted Environmental Statement. For the purposes of the ES, the water environment has been considered to comprise the following elements within the study area:  

	 The water quality and hydromorphology of surface waters;  

	 Groundwater quality, level and flow;  

	 Terrestrial ecosystems that are dependent on groundwater; and   

	 Flood risk to and resulting from the project.

	As for the geotechnical section above, significant public concern has been expressed (by Powys residents) about the impat of inadequate drainage on the stability of the proposed northern embankment as well as the exacerbation of surface water flooding currently being experienced in areas to the north of the site, especially Caehopkin. 

	Concern has also been expressed about the potential impact from the two water features to be created by the Nant Helen Oencast Mine Restoration Scheme. However, these features have already been approved as part of the mine restoration scheme and fall outside of the application site (and NPT boundary). 

	Planning Policy Wales generally requires the location of development to account for the sustainable management of natura resources, ensuring resilience in the context of environmental risks, such as those posed by flooding, water quality and water ecosystems, mitigating any negative effects accordingly.  

	It also states that planning authorities should be aware of the risk of surface water flooding, usually caused by heavy ainfall, and ensure developments are designed and planned to minimise potential impacts. Development should not cause additional run-off, which can be achieved by controlling surface water as near to the source as possible by the use of SuDS (para 6.6.27). The Drainage Officer has confirmed that SuDS will be required in this case and that pre-application discussions in respect of the required application are ongoing.

	The site is located almost entirely in the headwaters of the Afon Tawe and Afon Dulais catchments, with a very small are to the east of the site draining to the Afon Pyrddin catchment. The larger part of the site drains towards the Afon Tawe to the north, with the southern part of the site draining to the Afon Dulais to the south. 

	The northern half of the site sitting within the Tawe catchment contains several small unnamed streams which drain in a ortherly direction towards the River Tawe. The River Tawe is the largest watercourse within the vicinity of the site and flows roughly from east to west approximately 500m to the north of the site boundary.

	The southern half of the site sits within the Dulais catchment. The River Dulais flows roughly from east northeast to wet southwest. The Dulais is fed by several tributaries most of which are unnamed. One of the tributaries, the Nant Ystalwyn, originates in the southwestern corner of the site and flows in a south-westerly direction towards its convergence with the Dulais. A collection of other unnamed tributary streams, which originate within the southern and central portions of the site, flow in a southerly direction to their respective convergences with the River Dulais. 

	The drainage from the existing Nant Helen Mine site is managed via a series of lagoons and settlement ponds prior to disharge into surrounding watercourses. These discharges are controlled by NRW under an Environmental Permit. However, during restoration the position will change and the ES concludes that there is little to be gained in using the current situation as a baseline.

	The baseline for the assessment is created by the approved restored land profile and features associated with Nant HelenSurface Mine, comprising: 

	 Six watercourses restored from before coaling operations began; 

	 Introduction of two new wetlands; 

	 Introduction of attenuation ponds that will discharge to watercourses at greenfield run off rates or below greenfield u off rates; 

	 Removal of ponds associated with mine workings; and

	 Removal of drainage ditches associated with mine workings.   

	Having established the baseline position the ES considers the following additional elements of the proposed development hat have the potential to impact the water environment include:  

	 culverts to tributaries of the River Tawe and River Dulais and drainage ditches;  

	 cascading features associated with the culverts;  

	 diversions to drainage ditches on site; and  

	 removal or relocation of ponds. 

	The impact of these features has been assessed in the context of surface water quality, ground water quality and flood rsk. These are assessed following the source – pathway – receptor approach, a recognised best practice methodology.   

	Surface Water Quality 

	The most likely sources of surface water impacts are: 

	a. Disturbance of silt/soil generating surface runoff with high sediment concentrations (mobilised suspended solids); 

	b. Accidental spillage of fuels, oils and chemicals (e.g. concrete, plant fuels/oils, lubricants, hydraulic fluids and foaing solids such as litter) resulting in pollution of watercourses and potential impacts on fish; and  

	c. Dewatering discharges containing high levels of suspended solids.

	Groundwater Quality 

	Sources of potential pollutants to groundwater include accidental spills (e.g. fuel from vehicle/plant), silt laden wates from excavation activities or from water contaminated during specific activities, such as concrete pouring/washing. Potential pathways for these pollutants include movement of earth and excavation causing creation of new pathways, direct infiltration at source or in the case of spillages, infiltration from the surface water features during periods of low flow.

	Flood Risk 

	The site is classified as being at low risk of flooding from coastal and fluvial sources. Areas at risk of fluvial floodng are localised to the areas adjacent to the River Tawe, River Nant Llech and River Dulais, outside of the site boundary. Although the earthworks will involve changes to ground levels, it is not considered that this will present a flood risk to the proposed development as the site is not within an area deemed as high flood risk. Surface water run-off has the potential to exacerbate the risk of flooding at the River Tawe, River Nant Llech and River Dulais, however, site run-off will be captured within the attenuation features and discharged at greenfield run-off rates, or to a lower discharge rate as specified for particular catchments as part of the restoration scheme.   This will be dealt with via SuDS.

	The most likely sources of hydrological impacts relate to the direct physical modifications to surface water features inluding: 

	a) culverts to tributaries of the River Tawe and River Dulais and drainage ditches;  

	b) cascading features associated with the culverts;  

	c) diversions to drainage ditches on site; and  

	d) removal or relocation of ponds and drainage ditches. The modifications are detailed in the Drainage Strategy that hasben submitted in support of the planning application. 

	Design Mitigation 

	There are several measures built into the proposed development which seek to minimise the impact on the water environmen. These measures include: 

	 Attenuation features installed as part of the drainage design to collect surface water run-off, the features will be rsricted to discharge at greenfield run off rate or to a lower discharge rate as specified for the restoration scheme; and 

	 Maintaining vegetation adjacent to the streams within the redline boundary is necessary to reduce flows and prevent moiisation of soils. 

	It is concluded in the ES that by using best practice measures within an industry standard Construction and Environmenta Management Plan (CEMP) the significance of effects on water quality and flood risk during construction will be negligible.  An outline CEMP is submitted with the application but a condition requiring a fully detailed CEMP to be submitted and approved by the LPA is recommended

	After completion, the earthworks are not considered to have an impact on surface water quality, groundwater quality or food risk. Therefore, any significant impacts are limited to the effect of the earthworks on hydromorphology and how surface water flows over the land.  

	Introducing culverts, cascading features and diverting ditches will change the drainage solution underpinning the designof the approved Nant Helen Mine restoration. Mitigation will be required within the detailed design of the embankment and these details will be required by condition, and there is no reason to believe at this stage that an adequate and acceptable drainage design cannot be provided. Ongoing maintenance of the system provided will be the responsibility of the landowner.

	NRW has confirmed that as surface water drainage from the site will be discharged via a variety of methods into the loca water course network and infiltration to natural ground will occur on the rest of the site, they have no objection.

	In terms of groundwater and surface water, it is expected that the proposed scheme will have no adverse impact and is anicipated to be beneficial on the basis that the surface water drainage element of the scheme will be designed to reduce the current flooding being experienced at Caehopkin.

	Cumulative Effects

	The ES has also considered whether there would be any cumulative effects in respect of other projects under constructionor permitted within the scheme�area, as consideration needs to be given as to whether in combination these impacts would result in greater impacts than they would, should they occur independently.

	The only projects of note were the Nant Helen Restoration works (committed development), and the Global Centre of Rail Ecellence (GCRE) (likely development). 

	The restoration scheme for the site is linked to the planning consent of the open cast coal mine at Nant Helen and is threfore development that is committed. Moreover, as the restoration is committed to take place the baseline for the ES in any event is in most cases the restored site. Consequently, it is accepted that the assessment for the Nant Helen Complementary Restoration Earthworks has already included consideration of the restoration works into the assessment. 

	In respect of the potential ‘Global Centre of Rail Excellence’, as identified earlier in this report, the GCRE is a Wels Government proposed Scheme which would use the Nant Helen Complementary Restoration Earthworks as the basis for the development of a rail testing facility. Should the GCRE project be moved forward, there would likely be environmental effects that would need to be considered cumulatively with those of Nant Helen. However, at this stage, it is accepted that it is not appropriate to avoid making any assumptions within this assessment in regards to cumulative effects. 

	Socio-Economic Impact

	The socio-economic assessment within the submitted ES provides an overview of the economic impacts which would arise fro the proposed development which, it is emphasised, relates at this time only to the creation of a flexible and adaptable landform which integrates with the approved restoration scheme for the surface mine. The current after uses would be agriculture and nature conservation, however, the landform is intended to be flexible and adaptable in order to enabling some form of future development and that aspiration needs to be afforded some weight, especially given that this would accord with the underlying objectives within Planning Policy Wales for sustainable development and creation of healthy, thriving active places with a focus on a positive, sustainable future for our communities.   The potential after uses are noted in the description of development and must therefore be considered when looking long-term and in considering the possible socio-economic benefits.

	Socio and economic benefits of a proposal underpin both national and local planning policies for sustainable development The scope of the assessment includes potential impacts and effects arising during construction of the development and its after use.

	This section seeks to identify and assess the proposed socio-economic benefits arising from the development, but membersshould note that the overall ‘planning balance’ is considered at the end, having regard to the identified impacts of the development throughout this report.

	It is of particular note that this proposal is considered an enabling development which has the potential benefit of de-isking any proposal for a Global Centre of Rail Excellence (GCRE) that may come forward in the future. It has to be stressed that this proposal does not consider the acceptability or otherwise of a specific GCRE development and in no way seeks to prejudge any planning application that may be made for such a facility in the future. However, it is noted in the description of development as a potential end-use and must be considered when considering the landform proposed, especially since it is clear that the landform has primarily (but not exclusively) been designed with such an end use in mind as a fundamentally important part of the wider economic and business case for such a centre to be located on this site.

	The applicants have thus presented within their submissions the positive impacts associated with a GCRE proposal in term of employment and economic regeneration locally and the potentially transformative impacts across the rail industry for Wales, UK-wide and beyond and set out the wide reaching benefits of Celtic Energy’s vision for a leisure/recreational/tourism legacy end use for the site

	GCRE End Use Benefits

	There are several industry-specific issues that a GCRE rail test and research facility (wherever it is located) will addess which principally are:

	• Supporting UK train manufacturers and encouraging the establishment of further UK manufacturing facilities and capacit.
	• Supporting the development of a UK digital railway industry by providing high quality and safe testing facilities for iital signalling, train control and asset management technologies.

	• Delivering high-tonnage endurance testing of railway infrastructure particularly track and structures. Such a facilitywll enable infrastructure to be rapidly tested and verified and would be unique in Europe, potentially attracting customers from around the world.

	• Removing risk from the introduction of new trains and other assets by allowing them to be thoroughly tested prior to itoduction.  This would avoid the need for new trains, etc to be tested on the national network or rushed into service before all performance risks had been dealt with (note issues with new inter-city trains; certain electrification assets; and projects such as Crossrail).

	• Tackling ever-rising costs across the rail sector by allowing new technologies to be effectively tested and commissiondrather than committing them to operations before they are fully developed.

	The submissions have emphasised that the UK does not possess anything approaching such a high-quality facility as that panned under the GCRE proposal.  It therefore has the potential to not only to solve some fundamental industry issues, but to deliver wide-reaching benefits across a broad spectrum including the local community, the UK (and European) railway industry and the Welsh and UK Governments.

	There are essentially six main components to the proposal that form an integrated rail infrastructure project, which in ombination, would make this a unique facility in the UK and Europe. Those components in summary are:

	• Infrastructure Testing

	• Vehicle Rolling Stock Testing

	• Maintenance and Refurbishment

	• Research and Development

	• Decommissioning

	• Power and Energy

	• Education and Training

	Government’s recent Rail Sector Deal has identified the potential of the UK rail industry for driving innovation, employent and exports.  Government is also aware of the urgent need to improve efficiency, performance and capacity across the UK’s railways. The test facilities and associated R&D activities at the proposed GCRE would be instrumental in both establishing UK industry at the leading edge of modern railway technology and enhancing performance, increasing efficiency and removing risk from the introduction of new trains and digital management and control technologies. 

	Within this broad economic context which has seen the outline business case recently submitted to the UK Government, it s of note that the current application (as opposed to any future application for a GCRE) forms a fundamental part of the advanced planning for such a facility, and of the business case put forward through the welsh Government to the UK Government for such a facility to be developed in the South Wales valleys, with all its obvious socio-economic benefits.  Simply put, approving such earthworks at this time, and allowing these to be undertaken as part of a comprehensive and co-ordinated development alongside the Nant Helen OCCS restoration, places the GCRE project at a significant benefit of delivering the benefits described below.  And yet failing to do so would quite probably prejudice the opportunity to do so, given that this application is made by the landowners (Celtic) who are willing to undertake such works as part of their joint venture with WG.

	In terms of benefits, the applicant states that making provision for a landform that would facilitate a GCRE facility atthis site will potentially assist in delivering great benefits to the local community, with over 100 permanent jobs be created at the facility alone, some of which would be highly qualified positions for research and development and skilled engineering workers. In addition, there would also be direct construction jobs, and in terms of Gross Value Added (GVA) the total 10-year benefits plus construction will deliver between £31m and £70m to the regional economy (2020 prices).”

	Potentially, GCRE would thus not only bring high-quality employment to a deprived area, but also help to reduce the prodctivity gap which exists between the region and the rest of the UK. For example, in 2016 the GVA per head in Powys and Neath Port Talbot was around £17k, compared to the UK average of £27k. 

	In addition, the facility would boost the importance of South Wales in the national railway industry and create opportunties for local colleges and universities to become more active in railway research and training. For example, Coleg y Cymoedd, with its Centre of Excellence for Railway Training, could benefit greatly from GCRE by giving its students second-to-none practical experience.

	GCRE would also generate a consistent flow of inward investment into Wales, contributing to policy goals by the DfT of “nhancing our global competitiveness by making Britain a more attractive place to trade and invest” (Transport Investment Strategy, 2017) and the Welsh Government by “promoting and protecting Wales’ place in the world” (Wales National Strategy, 2017).

	GCRE would be a unique facility not just in the UK, but in Europe, with European railway organisations accelerating thei R&D investments through programmes such as the EU-supported Shift2Rail, the need for testing facilities is increasing, especially for infrastructure, which is currently not available anywhere on the continent. By building (or in this case facilitating / enabling) GCRE now the facility could position itself as a leader in the field of railway infrastructure testing, attracting investment from all over Europe and beyond.

	Within the context of R&D investments, it is also noted that the UK Government sees the decarbonisation of transport as ritical and the rail industry of significance in achieving a net-zero economy by 2050.To deliver on this objective, the strategy identifies the importance of taking up new technologies and the requirement for investment in both rail infrastructure and rolling stock. GCRE would provide a testbed for new, green railway technologies, hence helping the UK to becoming net-zero by 2050.  This also demonstrates that GCRE is in line with the Well-being for Future Generations Act.

	Tourism / Leisure End Use Benefits

	On the completion of restoration and following the cessation of coal extraction at Nant Helen and processing at the adjaent Onllwyn Washery, approximately 170 jobs (mostly local) will be lost. In wishing to ensure a long-term and sustainable socio-economic legacy for the site, Celtic Energy has been actively engaging with PCC and NPTCBC on setting out the vision for a regeneration strategy for the site and the wider locality. 

	In this respect, a rail industry proposal is not the only option put forward under this application, since if the GCRE dvelopment does not happen for whatever reason there are alternative uses put forward in the form of Tourism/Leisure End Use Benefits. 

	The site lies close to several settlements within NPT and Powys and a key foundation of the applicant’s vision is the fat that the application site sits adjacent to the National Park and enjoys excellent road access from several entry points into the locality from the strategic road network. There is a clear opportunity here to take advantage of those locational benefits to establish a visitor destination that can help to both complement existing resources, help extend the season, whilst also relieve pressure on more traditional ’honey pot’ locations within the national park itself.

	The vision for the development also focuses around a leisure and tourism offer that includes visitor accommodation whichwill both help create employment, retain spend and lengthen the season through a 30-60-bedroom hotel along with self-catering holiday lodges nestled in the landscape. 

	This accommodation offer is one that could come forward separately but also alongside the GCRE proposal as it would be acomplementary use and one that could be master planned accordingly into the site. The in-combination benefits to the economy in terms of serving the rail test facility and activity-based tourism including walking, cycling and horse riding both on the landform being proposed and in the surrounding area are clear and strengthens the business case for the market/investment potential.

	There is immense pressure on the National Park with high visitor numbers and this development has a clear role to play i alleviating some of that pressure by developing a destination based around outdoor leisure activities offering a broad package of ‘play and stay’ cycling, walking and horse riding which in turn deepens the activity tourism focus of the area.  

	Overall, the potential socio-economic impact is multi-faceted and could be transformational in impact.

	Section 106 Planning Obligations

	Local Development Plan Policy SP 4 (Infrastructure) states that “Developments will be expected to make efficient use of xisting infrastructure and where required make adequate provision for new infrastructure, ensuring that there are no detrimental effects on the area and community. Where necessary, Planning Obligations will be sought to ensure that the effects of developments are fully addressed in order to make the development acceptable”.

	Policy I1 (Infrastructure Requirements) then states that “In addition to infrastructure improvements necessary to make adevelopment acceptable in health, safety and amenity terms, additional works or funding may be required to ensure that, where appropriate, the impact of new development is mitigated. 

	In this case, and in view of the type and form of development proposed in this location and its potential end uses, it i considered that there is no requirement for any planning obligations to make the development acceptable in planning terms.

	OVERALL ASSESSMENT – ‘THE PLANNING BALANCE’

	PPW10 refers to the need to assess the Sustainable Benefits of Development and (at 2.24) emphasises that Planning authorties should ensure that social, economic, environmental and€cultural benefits are considered in the decision-making process and assessed in accordance with the five ways of working to ensure a balanced assessment is carried out to implement the Well-being of Future Generations Act and the Sustainable Development Principle. 

	Paragraph 3.34 of PPW states the countryside is a dynamic and multi-purpose resource. In line with sustainable developmet and the national planning principles and in contributing towards placemaking outcomes, it must be conserved and, where possible, enhanced for the sake of its ecological, geological, physiographic, historical, archaeological, cultural and agricultural value and for its landscape and natural resources. The need to conserve these attributes should be balanced against the economic, social and recreational needs of the local communities and visitors.

	There may be occasions when one benefit of€a development proposal outweighs others, and in such cases robust evidence shuld be€presented to support these decisions, whilst seeking to€maximise contributions against all the well-being goals.

	Key factors in the assessment process include:

	 Social Considerations,  including: - who are the interested and affected people and communities; who will benefit and ufer any impacts from the proposal; what are the short and long-term consequences of the proposal on a community; 

	 Economic Considerations including: - the numbers and types of long term jobs expected to be created or retained; whethr and how far, the development will help redress economic disadvantage or support regeneration priorities, for example by enhancing local employment opportunities 

	 Cultural Considerations including: - how far the proposal supports the conditions that allow for the use of the Welsh aguage; whether or not the development protects areas and assets of cultural and historic significance; have cultural considerations and their relationships with the tourism industry been appropriately maximised; 

	 Environmental Considerations including: - will important features of the natural and built environment be protected an nhanced; are the environmental impacts of development on health and amenity limited to acceptable levels and the resilience of ecosystems improved; 

	At 2.26 it further refers to the need to have an integrated approach to balancing priorities against policy on an indiviual basis, which enables the full range of costs and benefits over the lifetime of development to be taken into account.

	Section 5 of PPW10 provides further emphasis on the need to develop ‘Productive and Enterprising Places’ which promote or economic, social, environmental and cultural well-being by providing well-connected employment and sustainable economic development.

	The role of the Local Planning Authority is therefore to balance the weight to be attributed to each of the positive andnegative impacts of the development and come to a balanced conclusion as to whether the development is acceptable or not.

	Balancing Environmental, Social and Economic Impacts

	The assessment above has concluded (amongst other things) that: -

	 the proposed development would not result in the loss of biodiversity in the long term subject to implementation of th roposed mitigation and enhancement measures which can be required by condition;

	 Amenity impacts from noise and dust are temporary during construction and can be adequately controlled via planning codtions in order to avoid significant negative impacts;

	 While some of the PRoW will not be reinstated along their historical alignment and modest diversions will be required ofacilitate the earthworks, it is not considered that these diversions will undermine the holistic function of the PRoW network or impinge on public rights of access, whether within or across the site, or where PRoW may form contiguous links beyond. Moreover, a statutory process for the diversion of the definitive routes will however have to be followed in relation to PRoWs and in relation to temporary disturbance via engineering works on Common Land.

	However, as described earlier in this report the proposed development will have adverse local impacts, notably in respec of the following: -

	 Landscape / Visual Impacts - the assessment has identified major adverse visual impact for at least 15 years when viewdfrom the north and Brecon Beacons National Park in particular, and also from VP18 (within NPT) in views across the site towards the National Park. This will potentially have adverse impacts on one of the National Park's statutory purposes namely "to conserve and enhance the natural beauty, wildlife and cultural heritage of the National Park". The NPA also have significant concern that the proposal will adversely impact on two of the Special Qualities of the Park — its "sweeping grandeur and outstanding natural beauty" and the "working, living "patchwork" of contrasting patterns, colours, and textures".

	While the magnitude and severity of such impacts will soften over time through strategic landscaping (controlled by condtion), and could subsequently be mitigated by year 15, it has to be accepted that the development will introduce large-scale and permanent landscape and visual change.

	 Heritage Impacts - The development as proposed would have a major adverse impact on the Tramroad Scheduled Monument, wt the loss of a section of the earthwork under the new embankment leading to a loss of legibility as well as the removal of part of its physical fabric. Given the archaeological and historical values of this monument, this would constitute a permanent major adverse significance of effect. For the purpose of this assessment it has been concluded that the extent of works and agricultural/nature conservation after use proposed by the current application would not constitute the necessary exceptional circumstances to outweigh the harm to the heritage asset, and thus development (in the scheduled area) would be contrary to PPW and TAN24.  

	A future proposal such as the GCRE could potentially provide the additional justification for the works to the ScheduledMonument necessary to amount to exceptional circumstances - albeit it is emphasised that this does not form part of this application and would require careful and detailed assessment at application stage.  

	In this respect, in the absence of such exceptional justification (which can only be considered under the later applicaton), or SMC being issued, it is concluded that works should not be allowed within the scheduled area of the SM at this juncture.  However, the report has also concluded that the major adverse impacts would be mitigated through the imposition of a Grampian condition that will prevent any works that will impact upon the scheduled area until such time as the Welsh Government has issued Scheduled Monument Consent for such works.  Accordingly, while it is recommended that planning permission is issued for the development (based on the overall consideration of impacts, including the ‘balance’ within this part of the assessment) such adverse impacts would only arise in the event WG is satisfied with the detailed case put forward under the Scheduled Monument application (which will have regard to the economic case for the GCRE referred to below).

	It should also be noted that Cadw’s formal response stated that each Authority “will need to weigh this direct significatly adverse impact against the economic and other benefits. It is for the local planning authority to weigh our assessment against all the other material considerations in determining whether to approve planning permission”. 

	Set against these significant impacts, however, are the potential wider economic benefits that would arise from the projct.  In this respect, for planning purposes the Welsh Government defines economic development as “the development of land and buildings for activities that generate sustainable long term prosperity, jobs and incomes”.

	Having regard to the above and all identified impacts within this report, the following matters are of particular note ad should be given appropriate weight in the ‘planning balance’: - 

	 The proposal in combination with the amended Nant Helen restoration scheme would provide a flexible landform that can eused or adapted for a diverse set of future uses. This could range from the traditional agriculture, woodland and nature conservation uses, to amenity, leisure and tourism uses (including the potential for future tourist accommodation to add to the existing offering within the BBNP) that would be designed to help take visitor pressure off the BBNP.  In this regard the landform would also make an ideal bridleway / footpath for walking, cycling and horse riding.

	There are considered to be benefits in providing a flexible and adaptable landform as a legacy of opencast mining develoments, which has the potential to benefit the wider communities in NPT, Powys and the Brecon Beacons, providing long-term benefits in terms of recreation/leisure and the contribution those opportunities make to well-being.  Such uses will positively contribute towards the WG vision for creation of healthy, thriving active places with a focus on a positive, sustainable future for our communities.  

	 As outlined in the socio-economic section above, an opportunity has arisen to provide a development which would potentaly enable future development of national importance. At the same time as the Government is seeking a site for a Global Centre of Rail Excellence the Nant Helen Surface Mine is coming to an end. The Nant Helen site happens to have an existing rail link which is essential, along with an adjacent washery which provides the opportunity for associated built development for such a facility; earthworks can be aligned with site restoration thereby reducing costs; the land area is of sufficient scale to facilitate future development of a potential GCRE or future leisure uses, and the site is in the ownership of a single owner which simplifies any land deals necessary. This opportunity is unlikely to occur elsewhere in the Country. The only other site under consideration for a GCRE facility is understood to be in the north of England.

	 This application is part of a programme of applications (which commenced with the amended restoration scheme for Nant een and will conclude with a future application for a GCRE).  Facilitating the approval of the platform necessary for GCRE at this stage would not only provide such a rail project with the greatest opportunity for success through enabling advanced earthworks to be undertaken, but would demonstrate to potential organisations and partners that a significant obstacle to such development has been removed, thus providing a greater degree of certainty that such a project can be delivered at the site.

	 It is anticipated that a planning application for the GCRE will be out to public consultation at the end of summer 202,with an application following shortly thereafter.

	 Conversely, refusing the application on the basis of the identified impacts would potentially fatally undermine the poetial to deliver such a project in future.As set out in the socio-economic section above, the potential economic benefits of the GCRE proposal are significant and if the GCRE does not materialise the proposed landform provides other opportunities for the regeneration of this area.

	As part of the generally positive and permissive National Policy context, Technical Advice Note 23 (Economic Development emphasises (2.1.2) that where economic development would cause environmental or social harm which cannot be fully mitigated, careful consideration of the economic benefits will be necessary.  It further notes that “there will of course be occasions when social and environmental considerations will outweigh economic benefit”, but then emphasises the need to answer the following three questions in order to help clarity and balance the economic, social and environmental issues. 

	1. Alternatives: if the land is not made available (i.e. the application is refused), is it likely that the demand couldbemet on a site where development would cause less harm, and if so where?

	In this case, no viable alternative sites have been identified in Wales for a proposed rail centre of excellence, and itis understood one possible alternative site exists only in the North of England.

	2. Jobs accommodated: how many direct jobs will be based at the site?

	It is difficult to quantify at this stage how many direct jobs would be created as this is an enabling development whichseeks to de-risk future development aspirations. What can be said with some confidence however is that the potential to create direct jobs would be significantly greater if this development is approved.

	3. Special merit: would the development make any special contribution to policy objectives?

	TAN23 states that industrial development in a disadvantaged area could help fight social exclusion, improve run-down plaes and create job opportunities for people at high risk of unemployment. In addition, PPW advises that the planning system should particularly support the low-carbon economy, innovative business / technology clusters. Developments that will provide space for these categories of businesses count as making special policy contributions. This development is seen as an enabler to a potential GCRE project which would support low carbon transport initiatives.

	Accordingly, in balancing the key planning issues, considerable weight has to be given to the role of the proposed earthorks in providing a comprehensive, flexible and adaptable landform across the entire site. 

	Post Covid-19 Recovery

	The above arguments are considered to be put into even greater focus at the present time, with the application considere against a backdrop of the Covid-19 pandemic.  In this respect it is notable that on 16th July 2020 the Welsh Government published Building Better Places: The Planning System Delivering Resilient and Brighter Futures which provides planning policy guidance for local planning authorities and the development industry on priorities for the planning system to deliver post Covid-19.

	Notably the guidance includes a WG a commitment to follow through on infrastructure obligations which will go a long wayin ensuring that the developments envisioned are delivered and the wider public benefits are maximised, and commitment that WG will play its role in supporting the vibrancy of places and helping this people-focussed and placemaking-led recovery.

	Most pertinent to the economic benefits considered above, it states as follows: -

	“Through effective planning we can create a more resilient Wales where social, economic and environmental inequalities ae identified and effectively addressed to create a more resilient and brighter future for all. This is a once in a generation opportunity for planning to have a positive effect on the future wellbeing of people in Wales and these policy considerations should be applied immediately to ensure we affect change in the most positive way possible.”

	Within this immediate context, and one which has seen the Valley communities especially hard hit (see NPT Community Impat Assessment), the opportunities that could come forward as a result of granting planning permission for this development are significant and, in the case of the GCRE have a hugely positive effect on the future wellbeing of people in this part of Wales.  

	In this regard, and having particular regard to the advice in PPW and TAN23, along with the recent guidance on post Covi-19 recovery in Wales: Building Better Places: The Planning System Delivering Resilient and Brighter Futures, and having considered the likely significant effects of the development on the environment – which can largely be mitigated by conditions -  it is concluded that in the overall planning balance the proposal to create a flexible and adaptable landform in this location on a site previously worked for coal extraction would  meet with sustainable place-making objectives while also having the potential to create significant social, economic, cultural and environmental benefits which would contribute towards ‘reinvigorating the Valleys’, and outweigh the identified impacts caused by the development.

	CONCLUSION

	The decision to recommend planning permission has been taken in accordance with Section 38 of The Planning and Compulsor Purchase Act 2004, which requires that, in determining a planning application the determination must be in accordance with the Development Plan unless material considerations indicate otherwise.  The Development Plan comprises the Neath Port Talbot Local Development Plan (2011–2026) adopted January 2016.  In addition, the Council, in accordance with Section 3(3) of the Town and Country Planning (Environmental Impact Assessment) (Wales) Regulations 2016, has taken all the environmental information into consideration.

	Having particular regard to the advice in PPW and TAN23, along with the recent guidance on post Covid-19 recovery in Wals: Building Better Places: The Planning System Delivering Resilient and Brighter Futures, and having considered the likely significant effects of the development on the environment – which can largely be mitigated by conditions -  it is concluded that in the overall planning balance the proposal to create a flexible and adaptable landform in this location on a site previously worked for coal extraction would  meet with sustainable place-making objectives while also having the potential to create significant social, economic, cultural and environmental benefits which would contribute towards ‘reinvigorating the Valleys’, and outweigh the identified impacts caused by the development.

	Accordingly, the proposed development is in accordance with Policies SP1, SP2, SP3, SP4, SP6, SP11, SP14, SP15, SP16, SP0, SP21, SP22, SC1, I1, EC5, TO4, EN2, EN6, EN7, EN8, M1, M3, TR2, TR3, TR4, BE1, BE2

	RECOMMENDATION	APPROVE subject to the conditions listed below

	Time Limits

	1. The development shall begin no later than five years from the date of this decision. 

	Reason: 

	To comply with the requirements of Section 91 of the Town and Country Planning Act 1990.

	Approved Plans

	2. The development hereby permitted shall be carried out in accordance with the following documents and plans or as othewie modified by any revisions or by other conditions, schemes or approvals by the Local Planning Authority: 

	 Planning Application Validated on 15th May 2020. 

	 Planning Statement – April 2020

	 Environmental Statement (including Figures and Appendices) – May 2020. 

	 Drainage Strategy – April 2020

	 Proposed Finished Levels - Plans 1, 2, 3 and 4

	 Proposed Track Embankment and Cutting Cross Section (Drawing No CG1024)

	 Cae-Hopkin and Brooklands Terrace Embankments, Cefn Byrle Cutting: Plan and Sections (Drawing No CG1063)

	Reason: Required to be imposed pursuant to Section 71ZA of the Town and Country Planning Act 1990 (as amended).

	Pre-Commencement Conditions

	3. Before beginning any development at the site, you must do the following: -

	a) Notify the Local Planning Authority in writing that you intend to commence development by submitting a Formal Notice nder Article 24B of the Town and Country Planning (Development Management Procedure) (Wales) Order 2012 (DMPWO) in the form set out in Schedule 5A (a newly inserted Schedule) of the DMPWO (or in a form substantially to the like effect); and 

	b) Display a Site Notice (as required by Section 71ZB of the 1990 Act) in the form set out in Schedule 5B (a newly insered Schedule) of the DMPWO (or in a form substantially to the like effect), such Notice to be firmly affixed and displayed in a prominent place, be legible and easily visible, and be printed on durable material. Such Notice must thereafter be displayed at all times when development is being carried out. 

	Reason: 

	To comply with procedural requirements in accordance with Article 24B of the Town and Country Planning (Development Manaement Procedure) (Wales) Order 2012 (DMPWO) and Section 71ZB of the Town and Country Planning Act 1990.

	NOTE: Templates of the required Notice and Site Notice are available to download at www.npt.gov.uk/planning

	4. No development shall take place (including demolition, ground works, and vegetation clearance) until such time as a DstManagement Action Plan has been submitted to and approved in writing by the Local Planning Authority. The approved plan shall be implemented at all times for the duration of site preparation and construction of the earthworks hereby approved.  

	Reason: To protect the living conditions of nearby residents in compliance with Policies SP2, SP16 and EN8 of the LDP.

	5. No development shall take place (including demolition, ground works, and vegetation clearance) until such time as a Nis Monitoring and Management Action Plan has been submitted to and approved in writing by the Local planning Authority. The approved plan shall be implemented at all times for the duration of site preparation and construction of the earthworks hereby approved.  

	Reason: To protect the living conditions of nearby residents in compliance with Policies SP2, SP16 and EN8 of the LDP.

	6. No development shall commence or be undertaken within the area identified in green on plan NPT1/PCC1 until such time s he Welsh Ministers have formally issued Scheduled Monument Consent for all works within that area affecting the Scheduled Monument known as the Tramroad at Ystradgynlais (CH001).

	Should Scheduled Monument Consent not be forthcoming for such works, no later than one year following commencement of deelopment (as notified under condition 3), or such other period that may be agreed in writing by the Local Planning Authority, the developer shall submit to the Local Planning Authority for written approval full details, including levels, drainage and landscaping, of an alternative landform which excludes development inside the scheduled area and ties into the adjacent earthworks.  Development shall be undertaken in full compliance with the amended plans approved under this condition which for the purposes of clarity shall supersede any other plans which relate and identify the degree of disturbance to the SM within the identified area on plan NPT1/PCC1.

	Reason: 

	Since the works proposed within the scheduled area of the tramroad at Ystradgynlais and within its immediate setting do ot currently amount to the exceptional circumstances necessary to justify such development under PPW and TAN24, and will therefore only be acceptable on the formal issuing of Scheduled Monument Consent by Welsh Ministers, such consent process considering at that time all matters material to their assessment.

	7. No works shall commence on the construction development shall take place (including demolition, ground works, and vegtaion clearance) until such time as the applicant, or their agents or successors in title, has secured the implementation of a programme of archaeological work in accordance with a written scheme of investigation, which has been submitted by the applicant and approved in writing by the Local Planning Authority.  The archaeological programme of work will be undertaken and completed in accordance with the relevant Standards and Guidance laid down by the Chartered Institute for Archaeologists. A copy of the resulting report should be submitted to the Local Planning Authority. After approval by the Local Planning Authority, a copy of the report and resulting archive should also be sent to the Historic Environment Record Officer, Glamorgan Gwent Archaeological Trust for inclusion in the regional Historic Environment Record and the National Monuments Record, RCAHMW. 

	Reason: To protect the historic environment in compliance with Policy BE2 of the LDP.

	8. No development shall take place (including demolition, ground works, and vegetation clearance) until a detailed Constucion Environmental Management Plan (CEMP) has been submitted to and approved in writing by the local planning authority. The CEMP must include (but not be limited to) the following:

	 Risk assessment of potentially damaging construction activities.

	 Construction Methods: details of materials, how waste generated will be managed.

	 General Site Management: details of the construction programme including timetable, details of site clearance, detailso site construction drainage, containment areas, implementation of appropriately sized buffer zones between storage areas (of spoil, oils, fuels, concrete mixing and washing areas) and any watercourse and surface water drain.

	 Resources Management: details of fuel and chemical storage and containment, details of waste generation and its manageet, details of water consumption, wastewater, and energy use.

	 Practical measures (both physical measures and sensitive working practices) to avoid or reduce impacts during construcin (may be provided as a set of method statements).

	 Pollution Prevention Plan: demonstrating how relevant Guidelines for pollution Prevention and best practice will be imlmented, including details of emergency spill procedures and incident response plan.

	 Invasive Non-Native Species Management Plan.

	 Details of task and security lighting to avoid disturbance of habitats of importance to crepuscular or nocturnal specis

	 Responsible persons and lines of communication and emergency contact details.

	 Use of protective fences, exclusion barriers and warning signs.

	The approved CEMP shall be adhered to and implemented throughout the site preparation and construction period strictly i accordance with the approved details.

	Reason: 

	To comply with Neath Port Talbot Council Policies SP15, SP16, EN6 and EN7 in relation to the Natural Environment and mee the requirements of Planning Policy Wales (Edition 10, December 2018), TAN 5: Nature Conservation and Planning and Part 1 Section 6 of the Environment (Wales) Act 2016

	9. No development shall take place (including ground works and vegetation clearance) until an Ecological Protection Plan(EP) has been submitted to and approved in writing by the local planning authority. The EPP shall include the following.

	 Risk assessment of potentially damaging construction activities.

	 Details of Pre-commencement Surveys, including methodologies and timing.

	 Identification of “biodiversity protection zones”.

	 Reptile trapping and relocation method statement including details of receptor sites.

	 Vascular Plant Species translocation method statements (specifically common wintergreen, lesser bulrush, floating bur-ed, greater tussock sedge and spiked water milfoil, royal fern and viviparous fescue).

	 Practical measures (both physical measures and sensitive working practices) to avoid or reduce impacts to retained feaues of ecological importance during construction (may be provided as a set of method statements).

	 The location and timing of sensitive works to avoid harm to ecological features of importance.

	 The times during construction when specialist ecologists need to be present on site to oversee works.

	 Responsible persons and lines of communication.

	 The role and responsibilities on site of an ecological clerk of works (ECoW) or similarly competent person.

	 Use of protective fences, exclusion barriers and warning signs.

	The approved EPP shall be adhered to and implemented throughout the construction period strictly in accordance with the pproved details.

	Reason: 

	To comply with Neath Port Talbot Council Policies SP15, SP16, €EN6 and EN7 in relation to the Natural Environment and met the requirements of Planning Policy Wales (Edition 10, December 2018), TAN 5: Nature Conservation and Planning and Part 1 Section 6 of the Environment (Wales) Act 2016

	10. No development shall take place (including ground works, and vegetation clearance) until a detailed 25 year Ecologicl Mnagement and Monitoring Plan (EMMP) has been submitted to, and approved in writing by, the local planning authority. The purpose of the plan shall be to detail the habitat creation and enhancement, management and monitoring protocols as outlined in Section 7.20 of the Nant Helen Complementary Restoration Earthworks Environmental Statement produced by Ove Arup & Partners Ltd dated 4th May 2020. The content of the EMMP must include (but not be limited to) the following:

	 Purpose and conservation objectives for the proposed works.

	 Review of site potential and constraints.

	 Detailed design(s) and/or working method(s) to achieve stated objectives.

	 Extent and location/area of proposed works on appropriate scale maps and plans.

	 Type and source of materials to be used where appropriate.

	 Timetable for implementation demonstrating that works are aligned with the proposed phasing of development.

	 Persons responsible for implementing the works.

	 Details of initial aftercare and long-term maintenance.

	 Aims and objectives of monitoring to match the stated purpose.

	 Identification of adequate baseline conditions prior to the start of development.

	 Appropriate success criteria, thresholds, triggers and targets against which the effectiveness of the various conservain measures being monitored can be judged.

	 Methods for data gathering and analysis.

	 Location of monitoring.

	 Timing and duration of monitoring – appropriate to the habitat/feature concerned.

	 Responsible persons and lines of communication

	 Review, and where appropriate, publication of results and outcomes.

	A Report describing the results of monitoring shall be submitted to the local planning authority at intervals identifiedin the EMMP. The report shall also set out (where the results from monitoring show that conservation aims and objectives are not being met) how contingencies and/or remedial action will be identified, agreed with the local planning authority, and then implemented so that the development still delivers the fully functioning biodiversity objectives of the originally approved scheme. The EMMP will be implemented in accordance with the approved details.

	Reason: 

	To comply with Neath Port Talbot Council Policies SP15, SP16, EN6 and EN7 in relation to the Natural Environment and mee the requirements of Planning Policy Wales (Edition 10, December 2018), TAN 5: Nature Conservation and Planning and Part 1 Section 6 of the Environment (Wales) Act 2016

	11. No development, demolition, earth moving shall take place or material or machinery brought onto the site until protetiv fencing and warning signs have been erected on site in accordance with the approved Construction Environmental Management Plan and Ecological Protection Plan. All protective fencing and warning signs will be maintained during the construction period in accordance with the approved details.

	Reason: To comply with Neath Port Talbot Council Policies SP15, SP16, EN6 and EN7 in relation to the Natural Environmentand meet the requirements of Planning Policy Wales (Edition 10, December 2018), TAN 5: Nature Conservation and Planning and Part 1 Section 6 of the Environment (Wales) Act 2016

	12. No development shall take place (including ground works, and vegetation clearance) until a Materials Handling Stratey hs been submitted to and approved in writing by the Local Planning Authority. The Strategy shall make provision for the stripping, conservation, management, storage and re-spreading of all topsoil and subsoil resources, and shall ensure that there is no importation of material unless it is first approved in writing by the local planning authority.

	Reason: To ensure that natural resources existing on the site are managed to avoid loss and/or destruction, ensure all mterial that might be required to be brought onto the site is chemically suitable for the proposed end use, and to ensure accordance with Policy EN8 of the Local Development Plan.  

	13. No development shall commence until a preliminary investigation and assessment of the nature and extent of contaminaionaffecting the application site area has been submitted to and approved in writing by the local planning authority. This investigation and assessment must be carried out by or under the direction of a suitably qualified competent person, in accordance with extant guidance and best practice, and shall assess any contamination on the site, whether or not it originates on the site. 

	The report of the findings shall include: 

	 A desk study 

	 A non-intrusive site reconnaissance 

	 Formulation of an initial conceptual model 

	 A preliminary risk assessment 

	If the preliminary risk assessment identifies there are potentially unacceptable risks a detailed scope of works for an ntrusive investigation, including details of the risk assessment methodologies, must be prepared by a suitably qualified competent person. The contents of the scheme and scope of works are subject to the approval in writing of the local planning authority. 

	All work and submissions carried out for the purposes of this condition must be conducted in accordance with DEFRA and te Environment Agency’s ‘Model Procedures for the Management of Land Contamination, CLR 11’ and the WLGA document ‘Development of Land Affected by Contamination: A Guide for Developers’ (2012). 

	Reason: 

	To ensure that risks from land contamination to the future users of the land and neighbouring land are minimised, togethr with those to controlled waters, property and ecological systems, and to ensure that the development can be carried out safely without unacceptable risks to workers, neighbours and other offsite receptors in accordance with Policy EN8 of the Local Development Plan.  

	14. No development shall take place until a site investigation of the nature and extent of contamination has been carrie ou, by a suitably qualified competent person, in accordance with a methodology which has previously been submitted to and approved in writing by the local planning authority. A written report of the findings of the site investigation shall be made available to the local planning authority before any development begins. 

	The written report should include an appraisal of remedial options and identification of the most appropriate remediatio option(s) for each relevant pollutant linkage. The report is subject to the written approval of the local planning authority. 

	Reason: 

	To ensure that risks from land contamination to the future users of the land and neighbouring land are minimised, togethr with those to controlled waters, property and ecological systems, and to ensure that the development can be carried out safely without unacceptable risks to workers, neighbours and other offsite receptors in accordance with Policy EN8 of the Local Development Plan.  

	15. If the presence of contamination is confirmed in the report required by Condition 15 above, no development shall tak plce until a detailed remediation scheme to bring the site to a condition suitable for the intended use by removing any unacceptable risks to human health, buildings, other property and the natural and historical environment shall be prepared and submitted to and approved in writing by the local planning authority. The scheme shall include all works to be undertaken, proposed remediation objectives, remediation criteria, timetable of works and site management procedures. The measures proposed within the remediation scheme shall be implemented in accordance with an agreed programme of works The scheme must ensure that the site will not qualify as contaminated land under Part 2A of the Environmental Protection Act 1990 and The Contaminated Land (Wales) Regulations 2006, as amended by The Contaminated Land (Wales) (Amendment) Regulations 2012, in relation to the intended use of the land after remediation. The detailed remediation scheme should not be submitted until written approval for Condition 14 has been received from the local planning authority. 

	Reason: 

	To ensure that risks from land contamination to the future users of the land and neighbouring land are minimised, togethr with those to controlled waters, property and ecological systems, and to ensure that the development can be carried out safely without unacceptable risks to workers, neighbours and other offsite receptors, and to ensure compliance with Policies SP16 and EN8 of the Neath Port Talbot Local Development Plan.

	16. All work and submissions carried out for the purposes of this condition must be conducted in accordance with DEFRA ad te Environment Agency’s ‘Model Procedures for the Management of Land Contamination, CLR 11’ and the WLGA document ‘Development of Land Affected by Contamination: A Guide for Developers’ (2012). 

	Reason: 

	To ensure that risks from land contamination to the future users of the land and neighbouring land are minimised, togethr with those to controlled waters, property and ecological systems, and to ensure that the development can be carried out safely without unacceptable risks to workers, neighbours and other offsite receptors in accordance with Policy EN8 of the Local Development Plan.  

	Action Conditions

	17. Works shall not commence on the northern embankment, until such time as a Landscape Strategy and associated scheme o Ladscape Mitigation Planting – which shall include but not be limited to the northern face of the embankment as shown on Figure 9.16: Landscape Mitigation – has been submitted to and approved in writing by the Local Planning Authority. Such landscape strategy shall cover a period of no less than 20 years, and shall include a mechanism for review and extension in the event planting has not mitigated the impacts on the National Park to the extent identified in the Environmental Statement. The scheme shall be implemented in accordance with the approved details.

	Reason: 

	To ensure that an appropriate scheme of planting is provided to mitigate the visual impact of the earthworks, both from he Brecon Beacons National Park and from Neath Port Talbot and Powys area and to ensure compliance with Policy BE1 of the Local Development Plan.  

	18. Any remediation scheme submitted in relation to Condition 16 shall be subject to a monitoring and maintenance schemeto nclude monitoring the long-term effectiveness of the proposed remediation over a period of duration to be agreed in writing with the local planning authority and the provision of reports on the same must be prepared, both of which are subject to the approval in writing of the local planning authority. 

	The initial report shall be submitted within six months following the completion of the measures identified in the remedation scheme and the achievement of the remediation objectives, reports that demonstrate the effectiveness of the monitoring and maintenance carried out must be produced and submitted to the local planning authority. 

	This must be conducted in accordance with DEFRA and the Environment Agency's 'Model Procedures for the Management of Lan Contamination, CLR 11. 

	Reason: 

	To ensure that risks from land contamination to the future users of the land and neighbouring land are minimised, togethr with those to controlled waters, property and ecological systems, and to ensure that the development can be carried out safely without unacceptable risks to workers, neighbours and other offsite receptors in accordance with Policy EN8 of the Local Development Plan.  

	19. In the event that contamination is found at any time when carrying out the approved development that was not previouly dentified, work on site shall cease immediately and shall be reported in writing to the Local Planning Authority. A Desk Study, Site Investigation, Risk Assessment and where necessary a Remediation Strategy must be undertaken in accordance with the following document:- Land Contamination: A Guide for Developers (WLGA, WAG & EAW, July 2006). This document shall be submitted to and agreed in writing with the Local Planning Authority. Prior to occupation of the development, a verification report which demonstrates the effectiveness of the agreed remediation, shall be submitted to and agreed in writing with the Local Planning Authority. 

	Reason: 

	To ensure that risks from land contamination to the future users of the land and neighbouring land are minimised, togethr with those to controlled waters, property and ecological systems, and to ensure that the development can be carried out safely without unacceptable risks to workers, neighbours and other off site receptors, and to ensure compliance with Policies SP16 and EN8 of the Neath Port Talbot Local Development Plan.

	Regulatory Conditions

	20. Except in an emergency which shall be notified to the Local Planning Authority as soon as practicable, development, hic includes the starting up of plant and machinery, or other activities associated with the development (other than water pumping, servicing, environmental monitoring, maintenance and testing of plant) authorised or required by this permission shall be limited to 0600 - 2200hrs Monday to Friday and 0700 - 1300hrs on Saturdays. 

	Reason: 

	To protect the living conditions of nearby residents in compliance with Policies SP2, SP16 and EN8 of the LDP.

	21. Notwithstanding condition 19 above, works related to the construction of the northern embankment, including all groud wrks involving excavations, shall be limited to the following times, between 07.00 to 18.00 hours Mondays to Fridays (excluding Bank/Public Holidays) and 08.00 to 13.00 hours on Saturdays.

	Reason: 

	This condition is included to ensure consistency with the associated decision of Powys County Council, and to protect th living conditions of nearby residents.

	22. Noise arising from operations at the site as measured at any noise sensitive location shall not exceed background (L90)plus 10dB LAeq,1hr or 55dB LAeq,1hr (free field), whichever is the lesser, during normal working hours (0700 to 1900 hours Monday to Friday excluding Bank/Public Holidays and 08.00 and 12.00 hours on Saturdays). At all other times the noise arising from operations at the site shall not exceed 42dB LAeq, 1hr (free field) at any noise sensitive location. 

	Reason: 

	To protect the living conditions of nearby residents in compliance with Policies SP2, SP16 and EN8 of the LDP.

	23. Notwithstanding the noise level limits set out in Condition 21, between 08:00 and 18:00 Mondays to Fridays (excludin Bak/Public Holidays) and 08:00 and 12.00 the level of noise from operations consisting of the construction of the northern embankment shall not exceed the following levels, measured as dB LAeq,1hr (free field), at the noise sensitive locations specified below (as identified on Figure 10.1: Noise Sensitive Receptors for Northern Embankment): -

	Receptor 1 - 61

	Receptor 2 - 57

	Receptor 3 – 60

	Receptor 4 – 54 

	These levels shall apply only between 08.00 to 18.00 hours Mondays to Fridays (excluding Bank/Public Holidays) and 08.00to 12.00 hours on Saturdays

	Reason: This condition is included to ensure consistency with the associated decision of Powys County Council, and to prtect the living conditions of nearby residents.

	24. Any approved remediation scheme must be carried out in accordance with its terms prior to the commencement of develomen other than that required to carry out remediation. The local planning authority must be given two weeks written notification of commencement of the remediation scheme works. 

	If during the course of development any contamination is found that has not been identified in the site investigation, aditional measures for the remediation of this source of contamination shall be submitted to and approved in writing by the local planning authority. The remediation of the site shall incorporate the approved additional measures before the development is occupied. 

	Following completion of the measures identified in the approved remediation scheme, a verification report that demonstraes the effectiveness of the remediation carried out must be produced and is subject to the approval in writing of the local planning authority. The verification report contents must be agreed with the local planning authority before commencement of the remediation scheme. 

	All work and submissions carried out for the purposes of this condition must be conducted in accordance with DEFRA and te Environment Agency’s ‘Model Procedures for the Management of Land Contamination, CLR 11’ and the WLGA document ‘Development of Land Affected by Contamination: A Guide for Developers’ (2012). 

	Reason: 

	To ensure that risks from land contamination to the future users of the land and neighbouring land are minimised, togethr with those to controlled waters, property and ecological systems, and to ensure that the development can be carried out safely without unacceptable risks to workers, neighbours and other offsite receptors in accordance with Policy EN8 of the Local Development Plan.  

	Word Bookmarks
	Dear_Sir
	FAO:_Steve_Ball
	Our_ref:_NPT0557/JBHD____ARCHAEOLOGICAL_


	4 Cais Rhif. P2020/0486 – Canol Tref Castell-nedd
	SECTION A – MATTERS FOR DECISION

	Planning Applications Recommended For Approval

	APPLICATION NO: P2020/0486
�
	DATE: 05/06/2020
�
	PROPOSAL:	Leisure Centre, incorporating Swimming pool, health suite and gym with ancillary cafe, 6 commercial units (A1,D1 uses) plus first floor public library. Together with associated service yard, public realm and landscaping improvements.
�
	LOCATION:	Land At Water Street, Neath
�
	APPLICANT:	Neath Port Talbot Council
�
	TYPE:	Regulation 3 (Council Development)
�
	WARD:	Neath North
�
	SITE AND CONTEXT

	The site is located within Neath Town Centre, as designated under Policies R1 and R2 of the Neath Port Talbot Local Deveopment Plan.

	The site extends to both the area of the former multi-storey car park, Wilko, and Tesco Metro Stores, which have been deolished, extending from Wind Street through to Fairfield Way, and encompasses Fairfield Way itself to the side of the existing Wilko store, which was constructed under Phase 1 of this regeneration scheme. 

	The site is bounded to the east by Prince of Wales Drive which provides one of the main circulatory routes around the Ton Centre, and provides access to the south of the site to the multi-storey car park.  The site area incorporates proposed public realm improvements to Water Street to the West. 

	Plan 1 below identifies the position of the development within the town centre.

	Plan 1: Location of proposed development

	/

	BACKGROUND

	Previously full planning permission was granted for the demolition of the Magistrates Court and adjacent demountable buidings, and the development of a 4 deck, 604 space multi-storey car park, 1 No. Retail unit (Class A1), and Shop mobility unit; together with associated permanent and temporary public realm improvements. 

	€

	In addition outline planning permission was granted for the demolition of existing multi-storey car park (incorporating ilkinson and Tesco) and the Greyhound PH, and the development of 9 No. Retail units (Class A1); 7 No. Retail/Food and Drink units (Classes A1/A3); 2 No. Retail/office units (Classes A1/A2); 1 No. Office/Community facility unit (Class B1/A2/D1), and up to 31 No. Residential Units, together with associated public realm improvements, reconfigured service yard and car parking.

	€

	Development of the first phase (granted full planning permission) has been completed. This includes the existing Wilko Sore and Multi-storey car park. 

	A further phase of that development, was granted full planning permission under P2016/0654 on the 9th January 2017 for a3 Storey mixed use block comprising 6 commercial units (Class A1/A2/A3 with 12 No. residential units and associated works, including changes to existing service yard and public realm improvements.

	In addition off site highway works to Water Street have being undertaken that allow for the stopping up of Fairfield Waywhilst retaining access and Parking to those properties on Water Street, and access for service vehicles to the service yard serving Boots and other stores sited within the town centre. 

	A more recent planning permission ref. P2018/1024 for ‘Redevelopment of Neath town centre consisting of 8 No. A1 retail nits and 1 No. first floor unit (A1,A3 or D2 use) together with associated service yard and hard and soft landscaping’ was granted planning permission on 12th February 2019, although the proposals within this application are intended to supersede such development scheme.

	DESCRIPTION OF DEVELOPMENT

	This is a full application made under Regulation 3� for the next phase of the Neath Town Centre redevelopment.

	In total the development will provide 7,082 sq m of development providing a new leisure centre, with swimming pool, gym,health suite and ancillary café with 6 commercial units, plus library, together with service yard, and public realm 

	At ground floor (5375 sq.m.) the development provides swimming pool, health suite and café, plus 6 commercial units, andfoyer to first floor. 

	At first floor the development proposes an additional 1,707m2 of floor space (First floor Gym within the leisure centre,and library over Units 3-6) with separate access onto the main Water Street frontage to Unit 7 serving the library. 

	An illustration of how the proposed development would look is shown below.

	Illustration 1: Artists impression showing the proposed development

	/

	All plans / documents submitted in respect of this application can be viewed on the Council’s online register.  

	PRE-APPLICATION CONSULTATION 

	In accordance with the Town and Country Planning (Development Management Procedure) (Wales) (Amendment) Order 2016, stattory Pre-Application Consultation (PAC) was carried out by the developer. 

	The consultation exercise took place between 23rd April and the 26th May 2020. The consultation involved notifying localresidents within the surrounding area, together with Ward members, and specialist consultees. 

	In addition to statutory consultees, twenty six public responses were received, which have been outlined in the Pre-Applcation Consultation Report at section 4.3.

	PLANNING HISTORY

	The application site has the following relevant planning history: -

	 P2013/0863
�
	Full Planning Application for the demolition of the Magistrates Court and adjacent demountable buildings, and the develoment of a 4 deck, 604 space multi-storey car park, 1 No. Retail unit (Class A1), and Shop-mobility unit; together with associated permanent and temporary public realm improvements. 

	Outline Planning Application for the demolition of existing multi-storey car park (incorporating Wilkinson and Tesco) an the Greyhound PH, and the development of 9 No. Retail units (Class A1); 7 No. Retail/Food and Drink units (Classes A1/A3); 2 No. Retail/office units (Classes A1/A2); 1 No. Office/Community facility unit (Class B1/A2/D1), and up to 31 No. Residential Units, together with associated public realm improvements, reconfigured service yard and car parking.

	Approved 13th Nov 2013.

	 P2014/0196
�
	Details pursuant to discharge Condition 6 (Alignment of access and exit to car park) of planning permission P2013/0863 (pproved on the 12/11/2013)

	Approved 7th March 2014.

	 P2014/0638
�
	Details pursuant to Condition 5 (Site Waste Management Plan) of Planning Permission P2013/863 (Approved on the 13/11/13) 28th July 2014

	 P2014/0639
�
	Details pursuant to Condition 14 (Surface Water Drainage Strategy for Phase 1) of Planning Permission P2013/863 (Approve on the 13/11/13). Approved 24th October 2014

	 P2014/0651
�
	Details pursuant to Condition 4 (Construction method statement) of Planning Permission P2013/0863 (Approved on the 12/1113)

	Approved 16th October 2014.

	 P2014/0824
�
	Details pursuant to Condition 17  (Bat and Bird Boxes) of Planning Permission P2013/0863 (Approved on the 13/11/13)

	Approved 16th September 2014

	 P2014/927
�
	Details pursuant to the discharge of Condition 2 (External Materials) of Planning Permission P2013/0863 (Approved on the13/11/13)

	Approved 3rd October 2014

	 P2015/0083
�
	Non-material amendment to Planning Permission P2013/0863 (Approved on the 24/09/2013) for the reduction of car parking saces from 604 to 594, widening of exit door to stair tower, alteration to vehicular car park entrance, removal of feature structure at pedestrian access to car park plus removal of Conditions 18, 19 and 20 in respect of BREEAM.

	Approved 29th May 2015.

	 P2015/0354
�
	Variation of Condition 3 (Timing of installation of advance car parking capacity signage) of Planning Permission P2013/063 (Approved on the 13/11/13) 

	Approved 9th July 2015

	 P2015/0545
�
	Details pursuant to Conditions 2, 8, 10,15  (Service bay layout, landscaping, street lighting and external materials: Meh screen) of Planning Permission P2013/0863 (Approved on the 13/11/13)

	Approved 7th July 2015

	 P2016/0654
�
	3 Storey mixed use block comprising 6 commercial units (Class A1/A2/A3 with 12 No. residential units and associated work, including changes to existing service yard and public realm improvements.

	Approved 9th January 2017

	 P2018/0765   
�
	3 storey mixed use block comprising of 5 commercial units (Class A1/A3) with 12 No residential units and associated work, including changes to existing service yard and public realm improvements.

	Approved 6th November 2018

	 P2018/1024
�
	Redevelopment of Neath town centre consisting of 8 No. A1 retail units and 1 No. first floor unit (A1,A3 or D2 use) togeher with associated service yard and hard and soft landscaping

	Approved 12th February 2019
�
	CONSULTATIONS

	Neath Town Council: No reply, therefore no observations to make. 

	Head of Engineering and Transport (Highways): No objection subject to conditions 

	Head of Engineering and Transport (Drainage): No objection, SABs application required

	Contaminated land: No objection, subject to conditions 

	Gwent Glamorgan Archaeological Trust: No objection 

	Welsh Water: No objection, subject to condition 

	Crime Prevention Advisor: No objections details of design to be included within the development.

	Environmental Health (Noise): No objection, subject to conditions 

	Biodiversity: No objection subject to conditions 

	REPRESENTATIONS

	The neighbouring properties were consulted on 9th June 2020.  Site notices were also displayed on that date, with the aplication also advertised in the South Wales Evening Post on the 9th June 2020. 

	In response, to date no representations have been received.

	REPORT

	The Well-being of Future Generations Act (Wales) 2015 places a duty on the Council to take reasonable steps in exercisin its functions to meet its sustainable development (or wellbeing) objectives. This report has been prepared in consideration of the Council’s duty and the “sustainable development principle”, as set out in the 2015 Act. In reaching the recommendation set out below, the Council has sought to ensure that the needs of the present are met without compromising the ability of future generations to meet their own needs. 

	National Planning Policy:

	The main thrust of Planning Policy Wales (Edition 10, December 2018) is that retail and commercial centres are hubs of scial and economic activity and the focal point for a diverse range of services which support the needs of local communities. They are highly accessible to different modes of transport and are the most sustainable locations for new development.

	Para 4.3.18 States “The Welsh Government operates a ‘town centres first’ policy in relation to the location of new retai and commercial centre development.”

	The Welsh Government identifies a number of overarching objectives for retail and commercial centres, which planning autorities should aim to deliver through their development plan and development management decisions ensuring their maximum contribution to the well-being goals.

	The planning system must:

	 promote viable urban and rural retail and commercial centres as the most sustainable locations to live, work, shop, soilise and conduct business;

	 sustain and enhance retail and commercial centres’ vibrancy, viability�and attractiveness; and

	 Improve access to, and within, retail and commercial centres by all modes of transport, prioritising walking, cycling n public transport

	The following Technical Advice Notes  are also of relevance:-

	 TAN 2 	Planning and Affordable Housing (2006)

	 TAN 4 	Retailing and Commercial Development (2016)

	 TAN 12 	Design (2016)

	 TAN 21 	Waste (2014)

	 TAN 23 	Economic Development (2014)

	 TAN 24 	The Historic Environment (2017)

	Local Planning Policy:

	The Development Plan for the area comprises the Neath Port Talbot Local Development Plan which was adopted in January 206, and within which the following policies are of relevance:

	Strategic Policies

	 Policy SP1 	Climate Change

	 Policy SP2 	Health 

	 Policy SP3 	Sustainable communities

	 Policy SP4	Infrastructure

	 Policy SP5 	Development in the Coastal Corridor Strategy Area

	 Policy SP10	Open Space

	 Policy SP12 	Retail

	 Policy SP16 	Environmental Protection

	 Policy SP18 	Renewable and Low Carbon Energy

	 Policy SP19 	Waste Management

	 Policy SP20	Transport Network

	 Policy SP21 	Built Environment and Historic Heritage

	Topic Based Policies

	 Policy SC1	Settlement limits

	 Policy I1	Infrastructure Requirements

	 Policy CCRS1Coastal Corridor Regeneration Schemes 

	 Policy OS1 	Open Space Provision 

	 Policy R1 	Retail Allocations 

	 Policy R2 	Proposals Within Retail Centres 

	 Policy EN8 	Pollution and Land Stability 

	 Policy RE2 	Renewable and Low Carbon Energy in New Development

	 Policy W3 	Waste Management in New Development

	 Policy TR2 	Design and Access of New Development 

	 Policy BE1 	Design 

	 Policy BE2 	Buildings of Local Importance 

	Supplementary Planning Guidance:

	The following approved SPG  are of relevance to this application: -

	 Planning Obligations (October 2016)

	 Parking Standards (October 2016)

	 Pollution (October 2016)

	 Open Space & Greenspace (July 2017)

	 Renewable and Low Carbon Energy (July 2017)

	 Design (July 2017)

	 Biodiversity and Geodiversity (May 2018)

	Transforming Towns

	Transforming Towns is a Welsh Government Initiative to encourage investment within town centres, for businesses, housing leisure facilities, commercial premises or community facilities. The scheme has been launched to increase viability, and to increase footfall and the attractiveness of town centers for multiple uses, thereby removing its reliance on retail alone, but complementing it with other uses that attract people and businesses into centres that have seen decline due to the changing retail market.  

	The Transforming Towns package includes measures to increase footfall by making sure the public sector locate services i town centre locations, tackle empty buildings and land to help bring them back into use, and greening our town centres.

	Towns are vital to environmental, economic, social and cultural well-being in Wales –around 40% of our population live i small towns of less than 20,000 people but nearly everyone identifies emotionally with a town – or city – in some way.

	Many towns are struggling in the wake of declining retail sales and the way we use town centres has changed.

	To help breathe new life into town centres, the Welsh Government unveiled a new ‘Town Centre First’ approach, which mean locating services and buildings in town centres wherever possible. As part of this approach, all Welsh Government departments will put the health and vibrancy of town centres as the starting point for their location decision-making processes.

	Utilising this approach, the public sector is also being encouraged to support towns by locating offices, facilities andservices within them in order to drive footfall and create or sustain vibrancy.

	Town centres play a vital role in Wales, and they have long been a hub of day-to-day life. However, it is no secret thatthey have faced huge difficulties in recent years in the wake of retail closures, online shopping, public sector cutbacks and continued lack of investment.

	The Town Centre First approach, which will ensure that their strategic importance is considered in any new planning and nvestment decisions. Local authorities recognise the value of town centres for whole communities, which is why many councils have decided to open new civic offices, public sector offices, one stop shops, or schools in their local town centres.

	Although a town centre location will not be appropriate for all services and facilities, this approach will ensure that hese locations are given primary consideration, and that any decisions for locating elsewhere should be backed by evidence.

	EIA Screening

	The application site exceeds the Schedule 2 threshold for development of this type as outlined within the Environmental mpact Assessment Regulations. As such the application has been screened. 

	The findings of the screening report were that the scale and nature of the potential impacts associated with the developent both alone and in combination with other developments within the area would not be of a type that would require the carrying out of an Environmental Impact Assessment or the subsequent submission of an Environmental Statement in support of the application

	The proposed development is also not located within a zone of influence for any SAC, CSAC or Ramsar sites and as such itis considered that an Appropriate Assessment as set down within the Conservation of Habitats and Species Regulations 2017 is not required.

	ISSUES

	Having regard to the above, the main issues to consider in this application relate to the principle of development, impat on visual amenity and the character of the area, the amenities of neighbouring properties, highway and pedestrian safety and the free flow of traffic, biodiversity, and pollution control including noise and nuisance. 

	Principle of Development

	The principle of development has already been established with the granting of outline planning permission for the redevlopment of Neath town centre under planning application P2013/0863 in November 2013. This area was identified on the master plan as Block A which allowed for 8,662 sq.m. for retail use, a figure which included development in the area proposed under this application for ‘future development’. 

	The retail impact statement identifies that the previous hybrid application set out to assess the quantity of developmen proposed and a qualitative on the existing provision, and demand identified to enhance the existing centre. 

	The main conclusions of that report are;

	 The new Neath Town Centre development will provide a wide range of benefits for Neath Town Centre;

	 It will provide much needed additional quality retail floor space, of appropriate size for current retailer needs, theey helping Neath to extend its offer and choice.

	 It will deliver new and improved anchor stores. 

	 It will deliver new improved customer facilities, including modern parking, modern shop mobility and a modern shoppingevironment.

	 It will extend the town centre offer and create a much needed circular route linking to other retail and non-retail anhrs for the town centre.

	 It will provide a highly visible and impactful retail statement for the town centre.

	 It will complement and enhance the performance of existing retail offers including the Market Hall, Morrisons, M&S andetablished streets.

	 The development will secure new retailers for the town and extend the choice and offer for its customer base. The deveoment is of sufficient size to build on the attraction of Neath Town Centre, to generate additional trips, recapture lost expenditure and new users.

	 However it is also contained in size and is fully sustainable within the 2017 comparison goods available expenditure.

	 It is also fully compliant with both local and national planning policy and aspirations.

	The development as approved in 2013 remains extant and the quantum of development in respect of retail and other commercal floor space can be developed out, subject to the submission of a reserved matters application.�

	This application seeks full planning permission, taking into account the demand from retailers currently interested in apresence within the centre, and advice from retail consultants on the scale of unit size appropriate. But in addition it now also provides a mix of potential uses, and notably a new destination Leisure Facility which will encourage activity and visitor to the town centre, in line with the emerging Welsh Government ‘Transforming Towns’ agenda. 

	It is considered that the uses requested as part of this application, providing a modern leisure facility within the heat of the town centre, together with A1 retail and D1 leisure complementary uses at ground floor, together with a first floor use, which will provide a new library facility for the town would provide a significant enhancement to the existing town centre, and one that lies in close proximity to parking and public transport.

	The relocation of the leisure centre and library into the heart of this new phase of development within the town centre,will wholly accord with the objectives underlying this emerging strategy, and compliment other retail and commercial uses, together with enhanced public realm, and landscaping. That together with 21st century parking provision within the new multi-storey car park, and a location that is accessible to sustainable means of public transport, and for pedestrians, provide a destination with multiple uses that will enhance the offer available within the existing town centre, and increase its variety, its vitality and viability, and its standing within the retail hierarchy of the region. 

	It is therefore considered that the provision of further development within the designated town centre, of a scale that ould provide a mix of uses, will attract visitors and modern retailers and commercial operators to this established centre, would complement the scale and offer of the commercial development within Neath and:

	 Encourage existing visitors to visit more often.

	 Encourage non-Neath users to visit and encourage repeat visits.�Recapture leaked expenditure

	 Complement existing trade without impacting on existing trade or other centres.

	 Result in an overall positive enhancement of public realm and visitor expectance.

	As such it would accord with TAN 4 Retail and Town Centres, and Policies R1 and R2 of the Neath Port Talbot Local Develoment Plan.

	In addition the development is located within settlement limits as defined by Policy SC1 – Settlement Limits where develpment that is proportionate in scale and form to the role and function of the settlement as set out in the settlement hierarchy will be acceptable in principle.

	The site is part of an area designated as a mixed use regeneration scheme (CCRS 1/1) and allocated as a housing site undr Policy H1 Housing. This proposal is for retail and leisure development but part of the wider site is to remain which could be developed in the future for residential use, and there are other areas of the wider allocation remaining to deliver the residential element of the allocation. The proposal is therefore considered to be in accordance with Policy H1.

	The site is also located with Neath Town Centre which is covered by Policy R2 Proposals within Retail Centres. In this cse the site partly fronts on to a designated primary shopping street (Water Street). A1 retail units are proposed to front this street, which is in accordance with Policy R2. Details of the design of these units is detailed later within this report.

	Taking into account the above it is considered that the principle of development is acceptable, subject to the impacts o the development being considered acceptable in accordance with the other policies set out within the LDP.

	Impact on Visual Amenity and Character

	The key objective behind the masterplan proposals was to regenerate this particular area of the town centre and in doingso stimulate economic activity and commercial enterprise in the town while delivering significant improvements in place making and public realm provision. This was achieved through the masterplan proposals, featuring the reorganisation of this block of the town centre, reorganising and enhancing traffic and pedestrian flows in the process.

	This application seeks to deliver a new sense of place making, while creating high quality public realm, exhibiting apprpriate proportions and scale which integrate the new development into the phase 1 development and provide a high quality development to further enhance the town centre, characterised by and consistent with Neath’s character, which consists of a series of linked, sometimes different buildings in a terrace to create an interesting and stimulating street scene.

	From a commercial perspective this would create a destination lined with active frontages to bring a new dynamic to the own centre, and provide a logical flow of pedestrians around the town centres, linking to existing transport and parking hubs. 

	As members will be aware, the Phase 1 scheme was opened to the public in 2014, and  comprised a new store for the relocaion of Wilko’s and a multi storey car park as well as defining a new public realm route in the form  of a wide plaza space – beginning the connection from the Civic Centre to Wind Street and the remainder of the town centre; with the new Wilko’s retail unit starting to define the new frontage line to accommodate and inform future phases of development down to the junction with Wind Street.

	The development exhibited appropriate levels of scale and massing relative to each frontage and juxtaposition with neighouring properties within the established streetscene, whilst creating a new contemporary addition to this, reflecting the evolving nature of leisure and retail within the UK, whilst being sympathetic to the local character and traditions in the area. 

	The alignment of the public realm and shopping environment  was as important  a design feature as the buildings themselvs this, and this has necessarily also informed the frontage alignment of the Phase 2 proposals, and the proposals put forward for the extended and enhanced areas of public realm under this application.

	/

	The retail elements of the new proposals seek to continue and, more significantly, evolve and refine the design principls, character and design parameters inherent within the Phase 1 built scheme.  The theme of continuity occurs throughout both the layout and elevations – in both scale and composition. Whilst allowing a variation within the length of this terrace to ensure that the rhythm of the existing pattern of the historic centre is respected.  Given the significance and nature of its use, the leisure centre necessarily exhibits a completely different form and scale while maintaining character and continuity with the adjacent retail units via relationship of external finishes, particularly the plaza elevation. 

	Town centres should provide high quality place making – the public realm and street scene provide the network of routes,connections and nodes which are enclosed and defined by the buildings which line and front them. The proposals continue the public realm plaza from the Civic Centre and Phase 1 through to the intersection of the plaza and Wind Street.  The development frontage alignment along the plaza continues the Phase 1 alignment between Units 1 to 6, ensuring consistency of public route, street definition and enclosure.  The frontage to the leisure centre sits in a different plane to that of the retail units; this differing alignment, along with the other buildings fronting and forming the intersection with Wind Street, creates a new node within the Town Centre and is of appropriate scale and proportion as a space taking into account the heights and character of the enclosing building frontages.  This node space also forms a ‘breathing space’ in the street pattern and provides a gentle funnelling effect from the Civic Centre route into the Wind Street intersection.  It is considered appropriate to provide accessible parking provision along Wind Street, which is achieved within the red line with the leisure centre frontage being set back from Wind Street accordingly.  From a technical perspective this also provides further ‘breathing space’ in relation to the underground sewer pipework and additional clearance from the subterranean basement areas of now-demolished buildings.

	The form and spatial definition within the layout provided in the street scene and public realm represents an evolution f the original town centre masterplan proposals, and has both responded to, and developed, the principles set out therein. This enhances the public realm provision in providing safe, secure and attractive routes and node points as further improvements to the network and street pattern within the town centre.  In doing so, the layout and, in particular, key frontages along the plaza and the return on Wind Street, provide both appropriately scaled enclosure to the public realm but also attractive active frontage opportunities for retailers and occupiers, which are vital features in today’s competitive retail markets.  The leisure centre presents its entrance and café at the key corner of the plaza and Wind Street; the opportunity exists to provide al fresco style seating and tables on the plaza as the café’s external space.

	Along Wind Street, the proposal for the leisure centre ends on the approach to Prince of Wales Drive.  The corner area btween Wind Street and Prince of Wales Drive is allocated for a visual amenity soft landscaped area which will also incorporate the requirements arising out of the SuDS regulations.  This area will be securely enclosed, with a highly visually permeable fence or railings on the back of the widened public footpath at the front of the landscaped area and backed at the rear interface with the service yard by a solid and secure high fence.  This area will only be accessible for authorised maintenance personnel from within the service yard area. 

	A 2m wide ‘shadow gap’ between the end of the leisure centre on Wind Street and the landscaped area will permit safe andsecure access for staff, access to a dedicated staff cycle park shelter and also provides a critical underground services route linking the existing Wind Street infrastructure to this regeneration proposal. This route will be secured with an appropriate solid gate set back slightly from the end elevation of the leisure centre.  

	The overall design of the built form represents a progressive evolution of Phase 1.  Key considerations of height, scaleand massing have been integrated with appearance, texture and finishes to create a set of development proposals which cohesively and comfortably sit within the town centre context.

	Units 1-7

	The town centre is generally characterised by a series of relatively small building units and accompanying frontages, threby providing a human scale to the built environment.  The frontages naturally vary in width and height, and therefore overall proportions also vary however, while being distinctive they relate to each other as a series of cohesive street scene enclosures.

	The proposals for the retail units seek to continue and evolve this characteristic.  While exhibiting a wide overall frotage area onto the public realm plaza, the overall mass and scale of the frontage has been broken down to create a series of related, linked, yet distinctly separate and rhythmical elevational forms, representing the unit configuration behind the frontages as illustrated clearly on the floor plan layouts.  The architectural philosophy has been to evolve the Phase 1 built development, while still exhibiting human scale elements and proportions, thereby creating an interesting yet separate frontages linked through their overall composition fronting onto the plaza space.

	/

	The design of the retail units has a series of horizontal parapets across Units 1 to 6 reflecting Phase 1.  The entranceto Unit 7 is via a separate, slightly recessed lobby enclosure; this is reflected by a lower parapet height and noticeable entrance composition.  This also serves to differentiate between Phase 1 and the evolved Phase 2 development.  

	The main 1st floor Unit 7 floorspace is defined elevationally by a large horizontal picture window positioned in a stron enclosing frame feature clad with a diagonal pattern shingle system.  This creates a distinctive feature in the façade composition and will ensure that visual connections between the 1st floor occupier operation and the public plaza below will ensue, assisting with overlooking while providing an active frontage opportunity at the upper floor levels.

	Leisure Centre

	The leisure centre generally occupies the site previously allocated as Retail Units 1 and 2 in the ‘old’ Phase 2 scheme. A series of design strategy options have been explored, including organogram and relationship diagrams, to inform the proposal.  The main entrance and other key public areas e.g. café needed to front onto the main plaza and there has been a strong desire to align the pool and its distinctive roof form along Wind Street, providing interest and definition to the street scene.  

	Relevant guidance has been utilised in assessing the design options available, most notably and primarily the relationshp between the entrance, changing, pool entry on the one hand and the relationship between main pool, learner pool and public seating areas on the other.  The location of the gym has also been an important consideration – not only its relationship within the floorplan configuration but also the private vs public debate about visibility into gyms from outside weighed up against privacy and security, particularly in today’s climate.  The team considered and explored whether the pool could be rotated 90 degrees from the final proposal and what that did to the plan layout and external appearance.  This was not considered to be a valid approach.  The team also explored various layouts for the ‘flipping’ of the main pool and learner pool and corresponding upper floor layout together with assessments as to whether the gym should be located at the front of the scheme or rear.

	The leisure centre proposal consists of two floors of accommodation, together with a small basement area for pool and bulding plant at the rear.  The ground floor footprint length is longer from the plaza to the soft landscaped area but has narrowed so that the main frontage to Wind Street has been ‘pulled in’ to permit space for angled, chevron-type accessible parking bays in close proximity to the main entrance and café.

	The ground floor primarily comprises entrance, café, wet changing, main pool, learner pool and public seating.  The firs floor comprises the gym, dry changing and two flexible and different sized multi-purpose studios.

	The entrance and café front the plaza, with the café located at the corner with Wind Street, permitting external seatingon the piazza, providing life and activity on the plaza in this location.  The pool is aligned along the Wind Street frontage with changing and ancillary areas set on the inside of the plan adjacent the retail units.  The pool location allows provision of an interesting elevational composition along Wind Street, including upper level windows to allow light into the pool area while maintaining privacy for pool users.  At first floor level, the large 100 station gym fronts the plaza with visual connectivity achieved through the introduction of a large picture window.  Along the internal side of the leisure centre at the upper floor level sit the two multi-purpose studios and the corresponding dry change facilities.  The pool hall itself is full height from ground floor level to underside of roof.

	The mass of the leisure centre is defined externally by a distinctive feature curved roof profile; to provide a cohesiveform sitting over a strong linear ground floor envelope.  A strong horizontal strip of curtain walling glazing on the Wind Street frontage creates the device of the roof appearing to float over the wall below, an appropriate use of solid and void in this context.  Roof-lights located over the pool area will allow natural light to flood the pool volume, providing an attractive environment for pool users.  

	The different mass, scale and appearance of the leisure centre also serves to address the node point within the public ralm and provides an appropriate sense of enclosure and height against this larger public space.

	Materials

	The proposed range of materials and finishes again represents an evolution from the Phase 1 development, featuring panel of masonry, stone facings or feature stonework, high quality cladding façade panels; all of which will be non-combustible of fire retardant graded, together with glazed shopfronts and entrance doors.  The feature leisure centre roof will be a natural curved standing seam system with raised rib profile.  Of particular significance will be the nature and high quality detailing at the junctions of the various components, providing a visually pleasing series of related detailing while delivering the levels of technical performance required of external materials and finishes including longevity and durability parameters.  Materials have been proposed which satisfy BREEAM criteria in conjunction with other key criteria including ease of minimum maintenance, durability, longevity and resistance to the environmental conditions. 

	Accessibility 

	All entrances to the leisure centre and adjacent units will be flush with the external plaza paving surfaces to ensure fll compliance with DDA and accessibility requirements under Part M of the Building Regulations.  Given the significant level differences along the plaza and Wind Street frontages, coupled with the objective of creating a smooth, continuous plaza surface uninterrupted by flat plateaus and noticeable slopes, the units will exhibit a series of stepped floor slab levels to ensure a flush entrance approach in each unit.  The leisure centre reconciles the main entrance area with the café and ability to sit out on the piazza as the café’s external space.

	Accordingly, it is concluded that the proposals will reflect the overall design principles set in Phase 1 and further enance the overall experience for visitors and the public realm within the Town centre, which accords with Policy BE1 of the Neath Port Talbot Local Development Plan, and reflects the aspirations for design quality within Planning Policy Wales and Technical Advice Note 12: Design (2016)

	Impact on Residential Amenity

	There are residential properties within proximity to the development, both sporadic residential flats and houses within he town centre itself, and larger areas of residential development to the opposite side of Prince of Wales Drive. 

	The proposed development will be significantly lower than the previous multi-storey development that previously existingon the majority of the site, and the building line at the rear is set a greater distance from Prince of Wales Drive than the former building. As such the overall physical impact of the development in terms of overlooking or overshadowing is minimal, and it is not considered that there will be any unacceptable impacts. 

	Noise

	The application site is located within the town centre however there are residential premises that bound the applicationboundary and the teaching rooms of a Primary School and a church are located less than 50 metres away.€

	The application has been assessed by the Local Authority’s Environmental Health Section who has advised that he is satisied with the submitted Noise reports which adequately address the key elements of noise impact for both the construction and operational phases of the development. 

	In relation to potential noise and nuisance from the construction, a construction and traffic management plan will ensur that deliveries and noise and disturbance from this are minimised.  

	Whilst all construction will lead to disturbance these impacts are transient in nature and short lived. Nevertheless, thre will be controls within the construction method statement which will ensure these impacts are minimised, to appropriate levels. In addition a management plan for the service yard use, including consideration of quiet delivery strategies, will be imposed, ensuring that servicing for these units will minimise any potential disruption. 

	The reports also considers the impact the development will have on the surrounding area; the impact the surrounding areawill have on the development; and the impact of noise and vibration transmission within the units themselves.€ The Environmental Health Officer agrees with the suggested conditions/standards proposed and contained within the Report and he is satisfied that operational noise e.g. from the gym and deliveries, plant and fixed noise and construction noise have been considered in detail by the applicant and appropriate mitigation is proposed. However, to protect current receptors within the vicinity of the development a condition is suggested to control noise from plant and machinery. In respect of the potential noise impact from internal sport and leisure facility he advises that music should be considerably below background noise levels and recommends conditions are imposed on any consent requiring music noise to be no greater than 5 dB(A) and windows to remain closed when music is playing. 

	Subject to these conditions, the proposal is considered acceptable and accords with Policies SP16, EN8 and BE1 of the Neth Port Talbot Local Development Plan.

	Parking and Access Requirements and Impact on Highway Safety

	Policy TR2 identifies that proposals will only be permitted where there are appropriate levels of parking and cycling failities are provided and that the development is accessible by a range of travel means, including public transport and safe cycle and pedestrian routes. 

	Insofar as this site is located within the town centre where there are several public car parks, the main bus station, tain station, and pedestrianised area of the town centre, the proposal is considered to be easily accessible by a wide range of transport and therefore considered to comply with the above.

	In terms of the impacts from the proposed development; this can be split into construction and post occupation phases. 

	Construction

	During the construction phase a suitable construction and traffic management plan (CTMP) will be implemented to ensure tat disruption to existing businesses and residential properties from construction traffic including deliveries will be minimised. For example, deliveries and traffic avoiding peak times, especially school pick up and drop off periods. This will ensure that disruption is minimised and that the free flow of traffic around this confined construction site are minimised. 

	Post Occupation

	Upon occupation of each unit, the applicant has advised that welcome packs to each operator addressing the following maters will be provided;

	 Promotion of active travel

	 Supporting public transport. 

	 Managing parking and traffic. 

	These packs will promote sustainable transport, and public transport, providing incentive, examples and key sources of iformation.

	It is also proposed to provide post monitoring of the development, especially the use of the adjoining mufti-storey car ark. This will take the form of data collection on the use and capacity of the car park, with suitable triggers for mitigation measures to be implemented to address any issues of congestion arising from any capacity issues going forward.

	The Head of Engineering and Transport has assessed the submitted TA which is the same as that previously submitted and i satisfied that the proposed development will generate less traffic and will be below the trips threshold already approved in the original TA and that staff and visitors will use existing facilities within the town centre together with other modes of transport. Consequently, he has raised no objection to the proposal subject to the imposition of conditions in respect of a condition survey of the existing highway prior to the storage of any materials or plant, Road Safety Audit and Management Plan for the operation of the Yard which will service all buildings in terms of deliveries. 

	It is considered that subject to the mitigation and controls highlighted within this report, that can be dealt with throgh the imposition of suitable conditions, the proposals would accord with Policies SP20 and TR2 of the Neath Port Talbot Local Development Plan. 

	Drainage

	Surface Water 

	The application is accompanied by a Drainage Strategy Statement which confirms that surface water will be disposed of inline with SAB requirements and as such The Head of Engineering and Transport (Drainage) has raised no objection to the proposal subject to conditions in respect of ground water seepage, alteration of any ditch, watercourse or culvert, foul and surface water are discharged separately and drainage of adjoin land is unaffected by the development. 

	Welsh Water advises that the proposed development is positioned outside the protection zone of the aforementioned publicsewerage assets and acknowledges surface water flows will discharge to a culvert as detailed in the Drainage Statement. No objection is raised by them to in respect of surface water. 

	Foul sewerage

	Welsh Water has raised no objection subject to the imposition of appropriately worded informatives. 

	Water Supply 

	Welsh Water advises that the site is crossed by a number of public sewerage assets and, in order to establish what wouldbe required to serve the development with an adequate water supply, it will be necessary for the developer to fund the undertaking of a hydraulic modelling assessment on the water supply network and suggests that a suitably worded condition is attached to any consent requiring the submission of a potable water scheme. 

	Land Contamination

	Policy EN8 states that proposals which would be likely to have an unacceptable adverse effect on health, biodiversity an/or local amenity or would expose people to unacceptable risk due to the following will not be permitted:

	 Air pollution;

	 Noise pollution;

	 Light pollution;

	 Contamination;

	 Land instability;

	 Water (including groundwater) pollution.

	Proposals which would create new problems or exacerbate existing problems detailed above will not be acceptable unless mtigation measures are included to reduce the risk of harm to public health, biodiversity and/or local amenity to an acceptable level.

	The Local Authority’s Land Contamination Officer advises that the site is in close proximity to land formally used as a extile and products manufacturer and an animal production process whilst the site was previously used as builders’ yard. A Contamination Statement has been submitted with the application and assessed by the Land Contamination Officer who has raised no objection to the proposal subject to conditions requiring an assessment of the nature and extent of contamination, remediation scheme, verification report and unexpected contamination.

	Biodiversity and Ecology

	The proposed development has been supported by an ecological assessment which shows the development will incorporate addtional and replacement landscaping and tree planting within the public realm, and this planting will be of a type that is of local provenance and wildlife friendly, to ensure that this does not only enhance the visual appearance of the street scene, but also provides enhancement for ecological reasons.

	Further enhancements are proposed through the introduction a Sustainable drainage scheme that will incorporate water feaures, including an area to the rear of the buildings adjoining the proposed service yard where a surface water detention basin will be developed, that provides opportunities for enhancement through planting and habitat creation together with the provision of bird boxes to the building. 

	The Local Authority’s Biodiversity Officer has assessed the proposal and has no objection subject to conditions relatingto bird nesting provision and landscaping. These recommendations can all be imposed via suitably worded conditions. As such it is considered that the proposal would provide biodiversity enhancement opportunities within the town centre and as such the application is considered to be acceptable in ecological terms.

	Trees

	As part of the submission, a tree survey has been submitted. The only loss of trees are the four Birch trees in Area 2. ue to the scale of the development and the proposed replanting the loss of these trees will have a minor impact on the local landscape. They have recommend that the protection of the remaining five trees in Area 1 must be undertaken in accordance with BS5837:2012 Trees in relation to design, demolition and construction. This can be imposed via a condition.

	The trees to the rear of the site, in proximity to the proposed access to the service yard will need to be removed as pat of the development. Street tree planting will occur to both the Prince of Wales Drive frontage and to Water Street as part of wider hard and soft landscape scheme to be submitted that will consider the most appropriate native and wildlife friendly planting in this location and secured by a suitably worded condition can be imposed to secure the above enhancements.

	It is considered that subject to the completion of the development, incorporating the above matters, that the proposals ill enhance the biodiversity and ecological value of the site.

	Archaeology

	Glamorgan Gwent Archaeological Trust (GGAT) has advised that their records show that the proposed application is situate within the medieval town, with Water Street known to have been a major route through the town since 1557. The proposed application area has previously undergone extensive development, as evident from the historic Ordnance Survey maps dating from 1877 to 1935. The first edition OS map of 1877, shows the footprint of the Independent Chapel, which was built in 1849. The second edition OS map of 1899 depicts Woollen Mills, adjacent to the Chapel with numerous Post medieval buildings situated to the east and west, across the proposed development area, as also illustrated on the third and fourth edition maps of 1919 and 1935.

	They previously advised that the construction of the multi-storey car park at the site would have already had an adverseeffect on any potential archaeological remains that may have been present in the area. Therefore, it is considered that it is unlikely that significant archaeological structures or features will be encountered during the proposed works. As a result, there is unlikely to be an archaeological restraint to this proposed development and consequently have no objection to the proposal.

	Renewable Energy in New Development

	Policy RE2 - Renewable energy and low Carbon development in new Development, requires proposals with a total floor spaceof 1,000 sq.m or more to submit an Energy Assessment to determine the feasibility of incorporating such a scheme and where viable implement the scheme.

	As such a Renewable Energy Assessment has been submitted as part of the application which concludes that the provision o solar array(s) to the large roof area would be practicable (and locations for this are indicated on the submitted plans), and that this could form part of a larger town centre provision, and/or supply renewable energy to the development or other buildings within the immediate area. This matter is therefore made the subject of a condition requiring the submission of details and the implementation of a suitable scheme unless this is not viable. 

	The proposal would therefore comply with Policy RE2 of the Neath Port Talbot Local Development Plan subject to the impostion of the aforementioned condition.

	Waste Management

	Policy W3 – Waste Management in New Development states it should be demonstrated that provision is made for the design, ayout storage and management of the waste generated by the development both during the construction phase and occupation. Industrial or commercial development proposals that would generate in excess of 1,000 tonnes of waste per annum will be required to produce a Site Waste Management Plan.

	As such a Waste Management Plan has been submitted to show how waste will be dealt with, which aims to reduce waste by 1% and recycle where possible. It is considered that the Plan submitted satisfies the requirements of Policy WE3

	Section 106 Planning Obligations

	Local Development Plan Policy SP 4 (Infrastructure) states that “Developments will be expected to make efficient use of xisting infrastructure and where required make adequate provision for new infrastructure, ensuring that there are no detrimental effects on the area and community. Where necessary, Planning Obligations will be sought to ensure that the effects of developments are fully addressed in order to make the development acceptable”.

	Policy I1 (Infrastructure Requirements) then states that “In addition to infrastructure improvements necessary to make adevelopment acceptable in health, safety and amenity terms, additional works or funding may be required to ensure that, where appropriate, the impact of new development is mitigated. These requirements will include consideration of and appropriate provision for: Affordable housing; Open space and recreation facilities; Welsh language infrastructure (in language Sensitive Areas); Community facilities including community hubs; Biodiversity, environmental and conservation interests; Improving access to facilities and services including the provision of walking and cycling routes; Historic and built environment and public realm

	improvements; Community and public transport; Education and training.

	The Community Infrastructure Levy Regulations 2010 came into force on 6th April 2010 in England and Wales. They introducd limitations on the use of planning obligations (Reg. 122 refers). As of 6th April 2010, a planning obligation may only legally constitute a reason for granting planning permission if it is: 

	(a)  necessary to make the development acceptable in planning terms; 

	(b)  directly related to the development; and 

	(c)  fairly and reasonably related in scale and kind to the development. 

	In this case, the proposal relates to a planning application for the development of 8 commercial units (use class A1) an 1 unit (use class A1/A3/D2), 9 units in total.

	Having regard to the assessment above and the type and form of development proposed in this location, having regard to lcal circumstances and needs arising from the development, the only issue to consider relates to the provision of open space under Policy OS1 – Open Space Provision. 

	This Policy requires (for employment / commercial development proposals over 1000sq.m) provision for associated amenity pace (for staff), with the Open Space and Greenspace SPG stating that the level of requirement is related to the number of staff employed, as shown below:

	Category
�
	Requirement/1000 additional employees (hectares)
�
	Requirement/1000 additional employees

	(square meters)
�
	Requirement/ additional employee (square meters)
�
	Amenity Space
�
	0.55
�
	5,500
�
	5.5
�
	At this stage the likely number of staff is not known. In addition to the large grassed area adjacent to the enclosed sevice yard area, the development will enhance the associated public realm and provide ample opportunity for workers to relax and enjoy the town centre.   Accordingly, and having regard to the existing approval at the site which requires no such provision, it is considered that the open space needs of the workers would be met by the enhanced public realm proposed under this application, such that no further specific provision is required in this instance.

	CONCLUSION

	The decision to recommend planning permission has been taken in accordance with Section 38 of The Planning and Compulsor Purchase Act 2004, which requires that, in determining a planning application the determination must be in accordance with the Development Plan unless material considerations indicate otherwise.  The Development Plan comprises the Neath Port Talbot Local Development Plan (2011-2026) adopted January 2016.

	It is considered that the proposed development, having regard to the existing planning permission for retail developmentat the site, represents an appropriate form of development that would have significant benefits to the existing town centre through further leisure- and retail-led regeneration, and which would have no unacceptable impact on the amenities of neighbouring residents, visual amenity of the area or highway and pedestrian safety. Accordingly, the proposed development is in accordance with Policies SP1, SP2, SP3, SP4, SP5, SP10, SP12, SP16, SP19, SP20, SP21 SC1, EN8, I1, CCRS1, OS1, R1, R2, EN8, W3, TR2 and BE1 of the Neath Port Talbot Local Development Plan.

	It is further considered that the decision complies with the Council's well-being objectives and the sustainable developent principle in accordance with the requirements of the Well-being of Future Generations (Wales) Act 2015.

	RECOMMENDATION - Approve

	Conditions:- 

	Time Limit Conditions

	1 	The development hereby permitted shall be begun before the expiration of five years from the date of this permission.
	Reason

	To comply with the requirements of Section 91 of the Town and Country Planning Act 1990.

	List of Approved Plans

	2 	Development shall be carried out in accordance with the drawings hereby approved, unless otherwise agreed in writing y the local planning authority.

	Plans.

	A-90001 C01 Existing Site Plan

	A-90002 C02 Proposed Site Plan

	A-90003 C02 Proposed Site Plan - Roof

	A-00002 C02 LC Ground Floor Plan

	A-00003 C02 LC First Floor Plan

	A-00005 C02 LC Roof Plan

	A-00008 C02 Proposed Basement Plan

	A-00011 C02 Building Ground Floor Plan

	A-00012 C02 Building First Floor Plan

	A-00013 C02 Building Roof Plan

	A-00100 C02 Proposed Sections A and B

	A-00101 C02 Proposed Section C

	A-00200 C02 N & E Elevations

	A-00201 C02 SW & W Elevations

	A-00202 C02 SE Elevation

	A-00203 C02 Leisure Centre Elevations

	A-01300 C01 Illustrative Image 1

	A-01301 C02 Illustrative Image 2

	A-01302 C02 Illustrative Image 3

	Design and Access Statement

	Planning Statement

	PAC Report

	Transport Statement

	Travel Plan/Sustainable Transport Statement

	Retail Statement

	Noise Assessment

	Ecological Assessment

	Tree Survey Update

	Waste Management Plan

	Construction Management Plan

	Energy Assessment

	Land Contamination Report

	A-00200 C02 N & E Elevations

	A-00201 C02 SW & W Elevations

	A-00202 C02 SE Elevation

	A-00203 C02 Leisure Centre Elevations

	A-01300 C01 Illustrative Image 1

	A-01301 C02 Illustrative Image 2

	A-01302 C02 Illustrative

	Reason

	In the interest of clarity.

	Pre-Commencement Conditions

	3 	Prior to any development commencing on site, the developer must do the following:-

	a)Notify the Local Planning Authority in writing that you intend to commence development by submitting a Formal Notice uder Article 24B of the Town and Country Planning (Development Management Procedure) (Wales) Order 2012 (DMPWO) in the form set out in Schedule 5A (a newly inserted Schedule) of the DMPWO (or in a form substantially to the like effect); and b)Display a Site Notice (as required by Section 71ZB of the 1990 Act) in the form set out in Schedule 5B (a newly inserted Schedule) of the DMPWO (or in a form substantially to the like effect), such Notice to be firmly affixed and displayed in a prominent place, be legible and easily visible, and be printed on durable material. Such Notice must thereafter be displayed at all times when development is being carried out.

	Reason:

	To comply with procedural requirements in accordance with Article 24B of the Town and Country Planning (Development Manaement Procedure) (Wales) Order 2012 (DMPWO) and Section 71ZB of the Town and Country Planning Act 1990.

	4 	No development shall commence on site until an assessment of the nature and extent of contamination affecting the appication site area has been submitted to and approved in writing by the Local Planning Authority. This assessment must be carried out by or under the direction of a suitably qualified competent person in accordance with BS10175 (2011) 'Investigation of Potentially Contaminated Sites Code of Practice' and shall assess any contamination on the site, whether or not it originates on the site. The report of the findings shall include:

	(i) a desk top study to identify all previous uses at the site and potential

	contaminants associated with those uses and the impacts from those

	contaminants on land and controlled waters. The desk study shall establish a 'conceptual site model' (CSM) which identifes and assesses all identified potential source, pathway, and receptor linkages;

	(ii) an intrusive investigation to assess the extent, scale and nature of contamination which may be present, if identifed as required by the desk top study;

	(iii) an assessment of the potential risks to:

	- human health,

	- groundwater and surface waters

	- adjoining land,

	- property (existing or proposed) including buildings, crops, livestock, pets,

	woodland and service lines and pipes,- ecological systems,

	- archaeological sites and ancient monuments; and

	- any other receptors identified at (i)

	(iv) an appraisal of remedial options, and justification for the preferred remedial option(s).

	Reason:

	To ensure that information provided for the assessment of the risks from land contamination to the future users of the lnd, neighbouring land, controlled waters, property and ecological systems is sufficient to enable a proper assessment, and to ensure compliance with Policies SP16 and EN8 of the Neath Port Talbot Local Development Plan.

	5 	No development shall commence on site until a remediation scheme to bring the site to a condition suitable for the inended use by removing any unacceptable risks to human health, buildings, other property and the natural and historic environment shall be prepared and submitted to and agreed in writing with the Local Planning Authority. The scheme shall include all works to be undertaken, proposed remediation objectives, remediation criteria and site management procedures. The measures proposed within the remediation scheme shall be implemented in accordance with an agreed programme of works.

	Reason: To ensure that risks from land contamination to the future users of the land and neighbouring land are minimised together with those to controlled waters, property and ecological systems, and to ensure that the development can be carried out safely without unacceptable risks to workers, neighbours and other offsite receptors, and to ensure compliance with Policies SP16 and EN8 of the Neath Port Talbot Local Development Plan.

	6 	If the development is to be built in phases, then a detailed phasing scheme shall be submitted to and approved in wriing to the local planning Authority prior to the commencement of any development. The scheme shall provide the following:

	a) A plan showing the phases

	b) A revised construction method

	statement in accordance with condition 5 which takes into consideration the phasing

	c) Elevations and proposed finish of any temporary surface,

	d) Details of any temporary means of enclosure

	e) Details of any temporary public realm or landscaping.

	f) Details of any temporary service yard arrangements

	g) Details of any temporary highway works required

	h) Details of and temporary drainage works.

	Reason

	In the interest of clarity, visual amenity and highway and pedestrian safety and to ensure the development complies withPolicies TR2 and BE1 of the Neath Port Talbot Local Development Plan.

	7 	No development shall take place until a potable water scheme to serve the site has been submitted to and approved in riting by the Local Planning Authority. The scheme shall demonstrate that the existing water supply network can suitably accommodate the proposed development site. If necessary a scheme to reinforce the existing public water supply network in order to accommodate the site shall be delivered prior to the occupation of any building. Thereafter, the agreed scheme shall be constructed in full and remain in perpetuity. 

	Reason:

	To ensure the site is served by a suitable potable water supply and to ensure the development complies with Policy BE1 o the Neath Port Talbot Local Development Plan.

	Action Conditions

	8 	Prior to beneficial use of the proposed development commencing, a verification report which demonstrates the effectivness of the agreed remediation works carried out in accordance with condition 5 shall have been submitted to and agreed in writing by the Local Planning Authority.

	Reason:

	To ensure that risks from land contamination to the future users of the land and neighbouring land are minimised, togethr with those to controlled waters, property and ecological systems, and to ensure that the development can be carried out safely without unacceptable risks to workers, neighbours and other offsite receptors and to ensure compliance with Policies SP16 and EN8 of the Neath Port Talbot Local Development Plan.

	9 	In the event that contamination is found at any time when carrying out the approved development that was not previousy identified, work on site shall cease immediately and shall be reported in writing to the Local Planning Authority. A Desk Study, Site Investigation, Risk Assessment and where necessary a Remediation Strategy must be undertaken in accordance with the following document:- Land Contamination: A Guide for Developers (WLGA, WAG & EAW, July 2006). This document shall be submitted to and agreed in writing with the Local Planning Authority. Prior to occupation of the development, a verification report which demonstrates the effectiveness of the agreed remediation, shall be submitted to and agreed in writing with the Local Planning Authority.

	Reason:

	To ensure that risks from land contamination to the future users of the land and neighbouring land are minimised, togethr with those to controlled waters, property and ecological systems, and to ensure that the development can be carried out safely without unacceptable risks to workers, neighbours and other off site receptors, and to ensure compliance with Policies SP16 and EN8 of the Neath Port Talbot Local Development Plan.

	10 	Notwithstanding the submitted details, and prior to the occupation of any development hereby approved, details of th security gate design and control arrangements shall be submitted to and approved in writing by the Local Planning Authority The scheme shall be fully implemented prior to the first beneficial use of the service yard and retained as such thereafter.

	Reason

	In the interest of highway and pedestrian safety and visual amenity and to ensure compliance with Policies BE1 and TR2 o the Neath Port Local Development Plan.

	11	The materials to be used in the construction of the external surfaces of the development hereby permitted shall be asdetailed on the approved plans.

	Reason

	In the interests of visual amenity of the area and to ensure the development complies with Policy BE1 of the Neath Port albot Local Development Plan.

	12 	All works to be constructed on the public highway shall be subject to Road Safety Audits, stages 1 to 4 in accordanc with HD19/03 of the Design Manual for Roads and Bridges. Each stage of the Road Safety Audit shall be submitted for approval in writing by the Local Planning Authority. All issues highlighted at each stage shall be addressed to the written approval of the Local Planning Authority within 3 months of approval of that stage of the Road Safety Audit .

	Reason

	In the interest of highway and pedestrian safety and to ensure compliance with Policy TR2 of the Neath Port Talbot LocalDevelopment Plan. 

	13 	Notwithstanding the submitted details, prior to the occupation of any unit hereby approved, a detailed Service Yard anagement Plan (SYMP) shall be submitted to and approved in writing by the LPA. The SYMP shall include details of how the service yard will operate during and after construction, and shall also adhere to the following:

	a) The time slot of each commercial delivery for each retail unit using the service yard area.

	b) The allocated off site holding area for any commercial delivery vehicle that arrive at a time outside their allocatedslot.

	c) How commercial deliveries will be managed to avoid any commercial delivery vehicle waiting on the public highway.

	d) Details of Staff parking (if any)

	e) The location of all waste and storage areas, details of any enclosure and how they are to be managed within the servie yard area.

	f) The service yard area must be being kept clear of any bins/waste or storage containers unless within an authorised ara identified within point e g) Method of the collection of waste for the retail unit accessing the service yard area.

	h) The nomination of a co-ordinator to operate and control the agreed Delivery Management Plan for each retail unit usin the service yard area.

	i) The service yard area must be kept clear of any staff/customer and residential parking at all times;

	j) No customer/staff or residential vehicles shall be permitted to drive through the service yard area at any time.

	k) No commercial delivery vehicles shall be permitted to park in the service area beyond their delivery time slot.

	l) No deliveries by Heavy Goods Vehicles (vehicles over 3500kg maximum gross weight) shall be made outside of the hours 7:00hrs to19:00hrs) 

	m) The implementation of a quiet delivery policy. 

	In addition to the above the SYMP shall ensure that all vehicles can manoeuvre in and out of the yard safely, without coflict and in a forward gear. The approved SYMP construction stage shall be adhered to during the construction phase, and the SYMP post construction shall being implemented prior to the first beneficial use of the development and adhered to thereafter.

	Reason

	In the interest of highway and pedestrian safety and to ensure the service yard operates effectively and efficiently andto ensure compliance with Policies TR2 and BE1 of the Neath Port Talbot Local Development Plan.

	14 	Prior to the first beneficial use of any unit hereby approved, a traffic management scheme shall have been submittedto and approved in writing by the LPA, and the approved scheme implemented in accordance with the agreed details and retained as such thereafter.

	Reason:

	In the interest of highways and pedestrian safety and to ensure compliance with Policy TR2 of the Neath Port Talbot Loca Development Plan.

	15 	Prior to first beneficial use of the development hereby approved a hard/soft landscaping scheme (containing a majoriy of native and/or wildlife friendly species) shall be submitted to and approved in writing by the Local Planning Authority. The scheme shall include details and location of all trees and species of shrubs to be used within the public realm, which shall be predominantly of local provenance and wildlife friendly, and details of the green wall planting. All hard landscaping works in the approved details shall be carried out prior to the first beneficial use of the development. All planting, seeding or turfing comprised in the approved details of soft landscaping shall be carried out in the first planting and seeding season following the occupation of the buildings or the completion of the development hereby permitted, whichever is the sooner and any trees which within a period of five years from the completion of the development die, are removed or become seriously damaged or diseased shall be replaced in the next planting season with others of similar size and the same species, unless the Local Planning Authority gives written consent to any variation.

	Reason

	In the interests of maintaining a suitable scheme of landscaping to protect the visual amenity of the area, and to ensur the development complies with Policies SP15 and BE1 of the Neath Port Talbot Local Development Plan.

	16	A landscape management plan, including management responsibilities and maintenance schedules for all landscaped areas shall be submitted to and approved in writing by the Local Planning Authority prior to the first beneficial use of the development. The landscape management plan shall be carried out as approved and retained as such thereafter.

	Reason

	In the interest of visual amenity, and to ensure the long term management and maintenance of all landscaped areas, and t ensure the development complies with Policies SP15 and BE1 of the Neath Port Talbot Local Development Plan.

	17	Prior to the first beneficial use of any unit a minimum of 2 artificial nesting sites for birds shall be erected on te building to the following specifications

	Swift Nest Box Specification:

	Wide box with small slit shaped entrance hole. Must be placed under or close to roofs, at least 5m from the ground.

	Dimensions: H150 x W340 x D150mm

	or in the form of manufactured bird bricks incorporated into the fabric of the building and retained as such thereafter.
	Reason

	In the interest of biodiversity, and to mitigate to loss of bird nesting/foraging habitats under the Habitats Regulation (amended 2012) and to accord with Policy SP15 of the adopted Neath Port Talbot Local Development Plan.

	18	Prior to the first occupation of any development a scheme shall be submitted to and approved in writing for the long-erm monitoring of the parking provision within the multi-storey car park, adjoining the application site. This scheme shall include the method and regularity of data collection, and triggers for any mitigation submissions and implementation will also be set out within the submitted details, should the data show that there are capacity issues that are resulting in congestion within the highway network. The scheme as approved shall be fully implemented in accordance with these approved details within 12 months of the first occupation of the first unit.

	Reason

	In the interests of Highway and pedestrian safety, and the free flow of traffic within the town centre and to ensure comliance with Policy TR2 of the Neath Port Talbot Local Development Plan.

	19 	Prior to the first occupation of any unit, a draft welcome pack shall be submitted to and approved in writing by theLocal Planning Authority in relation to sustainable travel. The packs as approved shall be provided to occupiers prior to first occupation, and updated on an annual basis until such time that the development is fully occupied. Any new or subsequent occupier shall also be provided with these packs upon taking occupation of any unit thereafter.

	Reason

	To promote active travel and to reduce the impacts of the development upon the local highway network and surrounding neihbourhood by reducing reliance on the private car for journeys to and from the site, in the interests of sustainable development, and to accord with Policy SP20 of the Neath Port Talbot Local Plan.

	20 	Unless the applicant provides an assessment to show that the solar array is not viable, prior to the first beneficia use of the development a scheme detailing a roof mounted solar PV array as recommended within the Energy Assessment (dated April 2020), shall be submitted to and approved in writing by the Local Planning Authority. The scheme shall also include a timeframe for its implementation. The Solar PV array shall be implemented in accordance with the agreed details and retained as such thereafter.

	Reason

	To ensure this major development implements energy conservation and efficiency measures in accordance with LDP Policy SP8.

	21	Should any springs or ground water seepage be encountered on site, works in that area shall cease until a scheme for ollection and disposal of the water has been submitted to and approved in writing by the Local Planning Authority. The scheme shall include timings for the works to be implemented. The scheme shall be implemented in accordance with the agreed details and retained as such thereafter.

	Reason

	In the interest of drainage of ground water and to ensure no pollution of or detriment to the environment, and to ensurecompliance with Policies SP16 and EN8 of the Neath Port Talbot Local Development Plan.

	22	The combined noise rating level of plant/machinery at the development shall not exceed 5 dB(A) below background noiselevel. The noise levels shall be determined at the nearest noise-sensitive premises or at another location that is deemed suitable by the Authority. Measurements and assessments shall be made in accordance with "BS 4142:2014 Methods for rating and assessing industrial and commercial sound".

	In the event of noise complaints being received, the Local Authority may require the applicant to undertake a noise assesment in accordance with BS4142. The methodology shall be agreed with the Local Authority. A copy of the noise assessment report shall be submitted to the Local Authority, and if the report includes recommendations; the recommendations shall be implemented.

	Reason

	In the interests of local amenity, and to ensure compliance with Policies SP16, EN8 and BE1 of the Neath Port Talbot Locl Development Plan.

	Regulatory Conditions

	23	There shall be no vehicular access or parking within the service yard, apart from the access for delivery/servicing vhicles, stopping and unloading. There shall be no external storage whatsoever, outside of the identified refuse storage areas.

	Reason

	In the interests of highway and pedestrian safety, and the free movement of service and delivery vehicles within the serice yard area and to ensure the development complies with Policy TR2 of the Neath Port Talbot Local Development Plan.

	24	The commercial units hereby approved shall only be open to customers between the hours of 07.00 am to 11pm.

	Reason

	In the interests of residential amenity and to ensure the development complies with Policies BE1 and EN8 of the Neath Pot Talbot Local Development Plan.

	25	Construction operations shall be limited to 08:00-18:00 Mon-Fri, 08:00-13:00 Saturday, and no construction operationsshall take place on Sunday and Public Holidays without the prior approval of the Local Planning Authority.

	Reason:

	To protect the amenity of the locality, especially for people living and/or working nearby, in accordance with Policies N8 and BE1 of the Neath Port Talbot Local Development Plan.

	26 	All ground floor windows and doors fronting onto the public highway shall only open inwards .

	Reason

	In the interest of highway and pedestrian safety and to ensure compliance with Policies BE1 and TR2 of the Neath Port Tabot Local Development Plan.

	27	Any gates fronting onto the highway shall be of a type which open inwards only, can be seen through and maintained assuch thereafter.

	Reason

	In the interest of highway and pedestrian safety and to ensure compliance with Policy TR2 of the Neath Port Talbot LocalDevelopment Plan.

	28	The 5 trees identified within the Tree report (dated October 2018) located within Area 1 that are to be retained shal be protected during construction in accordance with BS5837:2012 Trees in relation to design, demolition and construction. 

	Reason

	To ensure the trees are protected during construction in the interest of visual amenity, and to ensure the development cmplies with Policies SP15 and BE1 of the Neath Port Talbot Local Development Plan.

	29 	There must be no interference, alteration or diversion of any ditch, watercourse, stream or culvert crossing or bordring the site unless the Local Planning Authority has given its written approval to such works.

	Reason

	To safeguard land drainage and to ensure compliance with Policies SP16 and EN8 of the Neath Port Talbot Local Developmen Plan.

	30 	All development on site shall be undertaken strictly in accordance with the Construction Management Plan and Waste ad Resource Management Plan.

	Reason:

	In the interests of local amenity, and to ensure compliance with Policies SP16, EN8 and BE1 of the Neath Port Talbot Locl Development Plan.

	31 	All windows/doors leading to an area where music is being provided shall remain closed whilst music is being provide.

	Reason

	In the interests of local amenity, and to ensure compliance with Policies SP16, EN8 and BE1 of the Neath Port Talbot Locl Development Plan.

	32	Music noise shall not exceed 5 dB (A) below background noise level. The noise levels shall be determined at the nearet noise-sensitive premises or at another location that is deemed suitable by the Authority. (If required, this may be demonstrated by measurement or calculation)

	Reason

	In the interests of local amenity, and to ensure compliance with Policies SP16, EN8 and BE1 of the Neath Port Talbot Locl Development Plan.

	33 	All development on the site shall be undertaken strictly in accordance with the Noise Planning Report -Hydrock April2020, Noise Assessment April 2020 and Acoustic Design Strategy (April 2020).

	Reason

	In the interests of local amenity, and to ensure compliance with Policies SP16, EN8 and BE1 of the Neath Port Talbot Locl Development Plan.

	34 	Notwithstanding the Town and Country Planning (Use Classes) Order 1987, (or in any provision equivalent to that Clas in any statutory instrument revoking and re-enacting that Order with or without modification) the ground floor commercial units shall be A1 or D1 only.

	Reason

	In the interests of the vitality, viability and attractiveness of this designated retail centre to ensure compliance wit Policy R2 of the Neath Port Talbot Local Development Plan.


	5 Cais Rhif. P2020/0538 - Canolfan Tecniwm
	SECTION A – MATTERS FOR DECISION

	Planning Applications Recommended For Approval

	APPLICATION NO: P2020/0538
�
	DATE: 18/06/2020
�
	PROPOSAL:	Construction of Technology Centre, parking, landscaping and associated works.
�
	LOCATION:	Land Adjacent To Technium Centre, Central Avenue, Baglan Bay Energy Park, SA12 7AX
�
	APPLICANT:	Neath Port Talbot Council
�
	TYPE:	Regulation 3 (Council Development)
�
	WARD:	Baglan
�
	SITE AND CONTEXT

	The application site comprises a section of grassland adjacent to the Baglan Bay Innovation Centre which is situated to he east and the Hydrogen R&D Centre to the south. To the north and west are areas of grassland and vegetation. The surrounding area is comprised of a mix of various employment uses. Access to the site would off Central Avenue and serves the existing Innovation Centre.

	The surrounding area is comprised of a mix of employment uses given that the area is designated within the NPT LDP as exsting employment area Baglan Energy Park. The site sits on the southern side of the M4 and the main body of Baglan which is predominantly residential in character. 

	/

	Figure 1: Location of proposed development

	DESCRIPTION OF DEVELOPMENT

	This is a full application made under Regulation 3� for the construction of the ‘Swansea Bay Technology Centre’, a threestorey energy positive building located adjacent to the existing innovation centre which will provide office/lab space for start-up businesses. 

	The Technology Centre is proposed to be delivered as part of the Swansea Bay City Deal and will provide a range of high uality flexible office space to support start-up companies and indigenous business growth with a focus on the innovation and R&D sectors.

	The building is of a contemporary design and would be orientated north to south and sited to the west and at a right ange to the adjacent existing Innovation Centre and measures 53.5 metres by 18.3 metres by 13.8 metres high. 

	The design of the Technology Centre will incorporate building materials to establish it as a ‘building as a power statio’ and demonstrate how this technology can be incorporated into an industrial building.  As the building is designed around the theme of an energy positive building, photovoltaic panels are proposed on the south, west and east facades, with additional materials including dark metal cladding panels, together with coloured window reveals. Photovoltaic panels will also be sited on the roof, hidden from view behind a high parapet. 

	The proposal also incorporates the following elements: 

	 Outdoor sitting area

	 Covered cycle store - provision for 16 cycle spaces

	 Swales

	 Expansion of parking area avoiding medium and significant ecology zone

	 Bin storage - with fencing and planting as a screen

	 Sprinkler tank with planting as a screen

	 Condenser with planting as a screen

	 Maintenance path

	 Biodiversity buffer

	 Plant and Bin storage for the existing building

	The extended arc shaped car park comprising approximately 102 car spaces, including electric vehicle charging points woud be located to the south of the building. A screened bin storage area is proposed to the south west and to the east a more densely planted area for amenity space including seating area for use by the future occupiers of the building. Two covered bicycle stands provide space for 20 bikes. 

	One swale will run along the western edge to the detention basin at the rear of the development, another runs along the outhern edge and will include a mix of grass and wildflower species.

	Figure 2:  Artists impressions showing the proposed development

	/

	/

	All plans / documents submitted in respect of this application can be viewed on the Council’s online register.  �

	PRE-APPLICATION CONSULTATION 

	In accordance with the Town and Country Planning (Development Management Procedure) (Wales) (Amendment) Order 2016, stattory Pre-Application Consultation (PAC) was carried out by the developer. 

	The consultation exercise took place between 20th May 2020 and the 17th June 2020. The consultation involved displaying  site notice and notifying adjoining landowners and occupiers, together with Ward members, and specialist consultees. 

	In addition to the specialist and community consultees, no responses were received from the public. 

	PLANNING HISTORY

	The application site has the following relevant planning history: -

	 P2014/0423   Request for screening opinion under Regulation 5 of the Town and Country Planning (Environmental Impact Asssment) (England &Wales) Regulations 1999 (as amended) in respect of bridge and link road. Issued 31/5/13

	 P2013/0525 Construction of Baglan Energy Park link road and bridge and construction of highway between roads 3 and 4 Bgan Energy Park Approved 6/12/13 

	 P2008/1227  Consultation under Section 36 of the Electricity Act 1989 to construct and operate a gas fired combined cyl gas turbine power plant Approved 23/2/11

	 P2007/0251  Construction of renewable energy centre comprising of a hydrogen production facility and research/demonstrton facility  Approved 17/7/07

	 P2002/0302 Broadband technium (B1) office building with associated car parking and landscaping  Approved 18/6/2002

	CONSULTATIONS

	Head of Engineering and Transport (Highways): No objection subject to conditions 

	Head of Engineering and Transport (Drainage): No objection.

	Contaminated Land Officer:  No objection, subject to conditions 

	CADW: No objection 

	NRW: No objection 

	National Grid Plant Protection: No reply, therefore no observations to make.

	Coal Authority: No objection 

	Welsh Water: No objection, subject to condition 

	Crime Prevention Advisor: No objections details of design to be included within the development.

	Environmental Health (Noise): No objection, subject to conditions 

	Environmental Health (Air Quality): No observations to make 

	Biodiversity: No objection subject to conditions 

	Health and Safety Executive: does not advise, on safety grounds, against the granting of planning permission in this cas.

	GGAT: No objection 

	REPRESENTATIONS

	The neighbouring properties were consulted on 23rd June 2020. 

	The application also advertised in the South Wales Evening Post on the 25th June 2020 and on site on 26th June 2020.

	In response, to date no representations have been received.

	REPORT

	The Well-being of Future Generations Act (Wales) 2015 places a duty on the Council to take reasonable steps in exercisin its functions to meet its sustainable development (or wellbeing) objectives. This report has been prepared in consideration of the Council’s duty and the “sustainable development principle”, as set out in the 2015 Act. In reaching the recommendation set out below, the Council has sought to ensure that the needs of the present are met without compromising the ability of future generations to meet their own needs. 

	National Planning Policy:

	The following Technical Advice Notes  are also of relevance:-

	 Technical Advice Note (TAN) 5 - Nature Conservation and Planning 

	 Technical Advice Note (TAN) 12 - Design

	 Technical Advice Note (TAN) 15 -  Development and Flood Risk 

	 Technical Advice Note (TAN) 18 - Transport 

	Local Planning Policy:

	The Development Plan for the area comprises the Neath Port Talbot Local Development Plan which was adopted in January 206, and within which the following policies are of relevance:

	Strategic Policies

	 Policy SP1 	Climate Change

	 Policy SP2 	Health 

	 Policy SP3 	Sustainable communities

	 Policy SP4	Infrastructure

	 Policy SP5 	Development in the Coastal Corridor Strategy Area

	 Policy SP11 	Employment Growth

	 Policy SP15	Biodiversity and Geodiversity

	 Policy SP16 	Environmental Protection

	 Policy SP17 	Minerals

	 Policy SP18 	Renewable and Low Carbon Energy

	 Policy SP19 	Waste Management

	 Policy SP20	Transport Network

	Topic Based Policies

	 Policy SC1	Settlement limits

	 Policy I1	Infrastructure Requirements

	 Policy OS1 	Open Space Provision 

	 Policy EC2 	Existing Employment Areas 

	 Policy EC3 	Employment Area Uses 

	 Policy EC4 	Protection of Existing Employment Uses 

	 Policy EN6	Important Biodiversity and Geodiversity Sites 

	 Policy EN7 	Important Natural Features

	 Policy EN8 	Pollution and Land Stability 

	 Policy M1 	Development in Mineral Safeguarding Areas 

	 Policy M2 	Surface Coal Operations 

	 Policy RE2 	Renewable and Low Carbon Energy in New Development

	 Policy W3 	Waste Management in New Development

	 Policy TR2 	Design and Access of New Development 

	 Policy BE1 	Design 

	Supplementary Planning Guidance:

	The following SPG were approved are of relevance to this application: -

	 Planning Obligations (October 2016)

	 Parking Standards (October 2016)

	 Baglan Energy Park Development Framework (October 2016)

	 Pollution (October 2016)

	 Open Space & Greenspace (July 2017)

	 Renewable and Low Carbon Energy (July 2017)

	 Design (July 2017)

	 Biodiversity and Geodiversity (May 2018)

	EIA Screening

	The application site does not exceed the Schedule 2 threshold for development of this type as outlined within the Enviromental Impact Assessment Regulations. As such the application has not been screened. 

	The proposed development is also not located within a zone of influence for any SAC, CSAC or Ramsar sites and as such itis considered that an Appropriate Assessment as set down within the Conservation of Habitats and Species Regulations 2017 is not required.

	Issues

	Having regard to the above, the main issues to consider in this application relate to the principle of development, impat on visual amenity and the character of the area, the amenities of neighbouring properties, highway and pedestrian safety and the free flow of traffic, biodiversity, drainage, flooding, and pollution control including noise and contamination  

	Principle of Development

	The primary objective of PPW is to ensure that the planning system contributes towards the delivery of sustainable develpment and improves the social, economic, environmental and cultural well-being of Wales, as required by the Planning (Wales) Act 2015, the Well-being of Future Generations (Wales) Act 2015 and other key legislation. PPW and the National Development Framework (NDF) set out how the planning system at a national, regional and local level can assist in delivering these requirements through Strategic Development Plans (SDPs) and Local Development Plans (LDPs). 

	Sustainable development is defined as: 

	“the process of improving the economic, social, environmental and cultural well-being of Wales by taking action, in accodance with the sustainable development principle, aimed at achieving the well-being goals. Acting in accordance with the sustainable development principle means that a body must act in a manner which seeks to ensure that the needs of the present are met without compromising the ability of future generations to meet their own needs. “ 

	Under Section 2 – People and Places – Achieving Well Being Through Placemaking, 5 Key Planning Principles are highlighte, under the general heading of Achieving the Right Development in the Right Place which are: 

	1. Growing our economy in a sustainable manner 

	2. Making best use of resources 

	3. Facilitating Accessible and Healthy Environments 

	4. Creating and Sustaining Communities 

	5. Maximising environmental protection and limiting environmental impact. 

	Section 3 – Strategic and Spatial Choices states that effective strategic placemaking requires early collective considertion of placemaking issues at the outset, in the formulation of a development plan, or when developing specific proposals. 

	Paragraph 3.3 emphasises that good design is fundamental to creating sustainable places where people want to live, work nd socialise. Design is not just about the architecture of a building but the relationship between all elements of the natural and built environment and between people and places. 

	Section 3.8 relates to how good design can help to ensure high environmental quality. Landscape and green infrastructureconsiderations are an integral part of the design process. Integrating green infrastructure is not limited to focusing on landscape and ecology, rather, consideration should be given to all features of the natural environment and how these function together to contribute toward the quality of places. 

	Community safety is a key social consideration with the aim to produce safe environments that do not compromise on desig quality in accordance with the cohesive communities’ well-being goal. 

	Section 3.13 relates to existing infrastructure stating: 

	Section 4 – Active and Social Places defines those places which promote our social, economic, environmental and culturalwell-being by providing well-connected cohesive communities. Places which are active and social contribute to the seven goals of the Well-being of Future Generations Act. The key issues in this theme include: 

	 assisting in the delivery of cohesive communities which will meet the needs and are accessible to all members of sociey including older people; 

	 tackling inequalities between communities, delivering services and jobs closer to where people live and acknowledging h importance of inclusive communities and the wider environment for good health and well-being; 

	 improve sustainable access to services, cultural opportunities and recreation facilities to support people to adopt helhy, culturally fulfilled lifestyles 

	Section 5 – Productive and Enterprising Places - Productive and Enterprising Places are those which promote our economic social, environmental and cultural well-being by providing well-connected employment and sustainable economic development. These places are designed and sited to promote healthy lifestyles and tackle climate change. This is done by making them: easy to walk and cycle to and around; accessible by public transport; minimising the use of non-renewable resources; and using renewable and low carbon energy sources. 

	For planning purposes the Welsh Government defines economic development as the development of land and buildings for actvities that generate sustainable long term prosperity, jobs and incomes. The planning system should ensure that the growth of output and employment in Wales as a whole is not constrained by a shortage of land for economic uses. 

	Economic land uses include the traditional employment land uses (offices, research and development, industry and warehouing), as well as uses such as retail, tourism, and public services. 

	Wherever possible, planning authorities should encourage and support developments which generate economic prosperity andregeneration. Sites identified for employment use in a development plan should be protected from inappropriate development.

	PPW 10 recognises that business clustering can be beneficial when developing land use planning. This occurs when busineses from the same or similar industry, or with a common interest, choose to locate in close proximity for mutual benefit. Often, clustering concerns high technology, innovative or research and development based companies. Businesses can benefit from shared facilities, infrastructure, local pools of skilled and qualified labour, common supply chains and links to higher education. 

	Planning authorities should ensure development plan policies are supportive of renewable and low carbon energy developmet in all parts of Wales. 

	In determining applications for the range of renewable and low carbon energy technologies, planning authorities should tke into account: 

	 the contribution a proposal will make to meeting identified Welsh, UK and European targets; 

	 the contribution to cutting greenhouse gas emissions; and 

	 the wider environmental, social and economic benefits and opportunities from renewable and low carbon energy developmet 

	Planning authorities should give significant weight to the Welsh Government’s targets to increase renewable and low carbn energy generation, as part of our overall approach to tackling climate change and increasing energy security.

	The site is located within existing employment area Baglan Energy Park within which uses will be restricted in accordanc with Policy EC3 which states: 

	“Within allocated and existing employment areas, unless otherwise specified and where appropriate, uses will be restrictd as follows: 

	 Uses within classes B1, B2 and B8; 

	 Ancillary facilities or services which support and complement the wider role and function of the primary employment us;and 

	 Commercial services unrelated to class B….” 

	The proposed development is use Class B1 and will not cause any adverse impacts on the overall function of the employmen area. The proposal is located within the existing Baglan Bay Innovation Centre wider grounds and is an expansion to the existing site use. The proposal is therefore considered to be beneficial to the existing employment use and will provide approximately 250 full time equivalent jobs. 

	The Technology Centre will also deliver on the objectives fo the Swansea Bay City Deal to deliver a hybrid building provding a range of high quality flexible office space to support start-up companies and indigenous business growth with a focus on the innovation and R&D sector, while incorporating building materials to establish it as a ‘building as a power station’ and demonstrate how this technology can be incorporated into an industrial building.

	The proposal is therefore considered to be wholly compliant with PPW10, Technical Advice Notes and Policies SP3 (Sustainble Communities), SC1 (Settlement Limits) and EC3 (Employment Area Uses) of the Council’s Local Development Plan. As such the principle of development is acceptable subject to detailed design considerations.

	Impact on Visual Amenity and Character

	Strategic Policy SP21 seeks to conserve and enhance the built environment and historic heritage, with Policy BE 1 - Desin – expecting all development proposals to demonstrate high quality design which fully takes into account the natural, historic and built environmental context and contributes to the creation of attractive, sustainable places.  The Policy then provides the following criteria which need to be met where relevant: -

	1. It  complements  and  enhances  the  character  and  appearance  of  the  site,  building  or  area  in  terms  of  stig,  appearance,  scale,  height,  massing  and  elevation treatment;

	2. It  respects  the  context  of  the  site  and  its  place  within the local landscape, including its impact on  the imortant  arterial  gateways  into  the  County  Borough,  its  effects  on  townscape  and  the  local  historic and cultural heritage and it takes account  of  the  site  topography  and  prominent  skylines  or  ridges;

	3. It utilises materials appropriate to its surroundings  and  incorporates  hard  and  soft  landscaping  and  screenin were appropriate;

	4. It  would  not  have  a  significant  adverse  impact  on  highway safety, the amenity of occupiers of adjacent  landorthe community;

	5. Important  local  features  (including  buildings,  amenity  areas,  green  spaces  and  green  infrastructure,  biodvesity  and  ecological  connectivity)  are  retained and enhanced as far as possible;

	6. It  achieves  and  creates  attractive,  safe  places  and  public spaces, taking account of ‘Secured by Design’  priciles  (including  where  appropriate  natural  surveillance,  visibility,  well-lit  environments  and areas of public movement);

	7. It  plays  a  full  role  in  achieving  and  enhancing  an  integrated transport and communications network  promotig the  interests  of  pedestrians,  cyclists  and public transport and ensures linkages with the  existing surrounding community;

	8. It  uses  resources,  including  land  and  energy,  as  efficiently as possible through:

	a. Making  the  best  and  most  efficient  use  of  the  land  available  through  being  of  appropriate  density  takng into  account  the  character  and appearance of the area, normally a minimum of  35 dwellings per hectare in the Coastal Corridor  Strategy Area or a minimum of 30 dwellings per  hectare in the Valleys Strategy Area;

	b. The layout and form of the development does not  preclude  the  reasonable  use  of  other  adjacent  land;

	c. Developing  brownfield  land  in  preference  to  greenfield land where possible;

	d. Minimising building exposure while maximising solar gain.

	9. Its drainage systems are designed to limit surface  water run-of and food risk and prevent pollution;

	10. The  layout  and  design  of  the  development  achieves inclusive design by ensuring barrier free  environments,  alowng  access  by  all  and  making  full provision for people with disabilities.

	Technical Advice Note 12: Design, July 2014, also refers to the need to consider local context and character, but at a boad level. In reference to the layout of development on page 19 states that;

	4.11	“Scale - of development in relation to surroundings, including height, width and length of each building proposed wthin the development; how the massing of the proposal contributes to the existing hierarchy of development to reinforce character; how the mass and height impacts on privacy, sunlight and microclimate; and how height impacts on the attractiveness and safety of neighbouring public space.”

	4.12	“Layout of development - how the layout makes the development integrate with its surroundings whilst taking into cosideration the orientation of the building to maximise energy efficiency and connectivity (the ways in which routes and open spaces within the development are provided, situated and orientated in relation to each other and to buildings and spaces outside the development); how the external area contributes towards the development and is used to make the development a more sustainable development; how is the chosen site the best location and how it links into adjacent uses.”

	Local Planning Authorities should ensure that the proposed developments should not have an unacceptable impact upon the haracter and amenity of an area.

	The site is located within an area allocated for employment use within the LDP which comprises buildings of various desins .The site is relatively flat in profile and is well screened by vegetation from the public highway, however to break down the overall massing of the building different elements of glazing have been incorporated into the design. It is considered that the proposed design, scale and massing of the proposal complements that of the adjacent Innovation Centre and incorporates the design principles identified in the Supplementary Planning Guidance – Baglan Energy Park Development Framework. 

	Materials

	The building has been designed with a modern appearance with the proposed materials have been chosen for their durabilit, robustness and high quality. As the building is designed around the theme of energy positive building, photovoltaic panels dominate on the south, west and east facades, with the use elsewhere of dark metal cladding panels on the north and east façade and on the ground floor level on the south and west facades. Various window sizes have been utilised and the reveals are to be coloured which will provide depth to the building. In respect of the roof, PVs will be hidden from view behind a high parapet. 

	The resulting building will have a simple yet contemporary appearance which will reflect the aspirations for high qualit development in the Baglan Energy Park, while also delivering on a primary purpose of delivering an energy positive building. 

	Accessibility 

	There will be a level entrance into the building together with a level access pathway around its perimeter to ensure ful compliance with DDA and accessibility requirements under Part M of the Building Regulations.  

	Accordingly, it is concluded that the proposals accords with Policy BE1 of the Neath Port Talbot Local Development Plan,and reflects the aspirations for design quality within Planning Policy Wales and Technical Advice Note 12: Design (2016)

	Impact on Amenity

	During construction the proposal will have an impact, albeit temporary in nature on the occupiers of the Technology Cente. However, the submitted Construction Method Statement and Baseline Noise Survey Report details how any potential noise, vibration and disturbance will be controlled. These have been assessed by the Environmental Health Officer who has raised no objection to the proposal. 

	In summary therefore, it is considered that the development will not have any unacceptable impacts on existing users of he adjacent building and the proposal therefore accords with policy EN8 of the LDP.

	Parking and Access Requirements and Impact on Highway Safety

	Policy TR2 identifies that proposals will only be permitted where there are appropriate levels of parking and cycling failities are provided and that the development is accessible by a range of travel means, including public transport and safe cycle and pedestrian routes. 

	Policy BE1 requires, amongst other things, that new development has no significant adverse impact on highway safety, wit Policy TR2 emphasising that development proposals will only be permitted where all of the stated criteria are satisfied, including that “(1) The development does not compromise the safe, effective and efficient use of the highway network and does not have an adverse impact on highway safety or create unacceptable levels of traffic generation;

	The proposal will make use of the wider site access off Central Avenue and its use together with the proposed parking reuirements have been assessed in the submitted Transport Assessment. The proposal includes the provision of approximately 102 No parking spaces which includes 5 disabled spaces. The adopted SPG standards require B1 office uses (over 1000 sq.m) within Zones 2 and 3 to provide 1 space per 30m². The proposal would therefore require 125 car parking spaces. Whilst the proposal falls short by 23 spaces, these are maximum standards and it is nevertheless considered that there is capacity within the existing car park to accommodate this shortfall. In addition, the site is sustainably located with access to public transport, which together with the provision of cycle facilities will encourage use of other modes of transport. 

	The Transport Assessment considers the trip generation and concludes that the existing junctions will operate within capcity. Given the sites designation as an employment site the surrounding highway network has been developed to accommodate such development. The Head of Engineering and Transport has assessed the submitted TA and raised no objection to the proposal subject to the imposition of conditions in respect of compliance with the submitted Travel Plan and the car park being provided prior to the occupation of the building. 

	It is considered that the proposals would accord with Policies SP20 and TR2 of the Neath Port Talbot Local Development Pan. 

	Land Contamination

	Policy EN8 states that proposals which would be likely to have an unacceptable adverse effect on health, biodiversity an/or local amenity or would expose people to unacceptable risk due to the following will not be permitted:

	 Air pollution;

	 Noise pollution;

	 Light pollution;

	 Contamination;

	 Land instability;

	 Water (including groundwater) pollution.

	Proposals which would create new problems or exacerbate existing problems detailed above will not be acceptable unless mtigation measures are included to reduce the risk of harm to public health, biodiversity and/or local amenity to an acceptable level.

	The Local Authority’s Land Contamination Officer has undertaken an assessment of the submitted Phase 1 Ground ConditionsDesk Study, Geotechnical and Geoenvironmental Report and report entitled "Detailed ground gas risk assessment :Swansea Bay Technology Centre dated 12th June 2020 and advises that the latter report  includes the results of 4 additional gas monitoring visits, which is welcomed, however she has raised concerns regarding the ground gas risk assessment for the site, with BH3 has being identified as an anomaly. 

	As the made ground has been discounted as a source of gas and BH3 is the only borehole not screened in the made ground se considers that there is not enough supporting evidence to suggest that this data is an anomaly.  It is her understanding that the flooding of a well is likely to push gas out of the well rather than increase the concentrations and as such she is concerned that the actual gas concentrations could be higher.  Also, if this is a suggestion that the methane is dissolved in the groundwater it may also be necessary to consider the groundwater itself as a source of ground gas.  

	If there were concerns about the installation of the well and its relevance to the CSM it is considered that another wel should have been installed as removing the data for BH3 removes 1/3 of the available gas monitoring data for the site.  Although methane concentrations in BH1 and BH2 are not significantly elevated, oxygen concentrations in these wells are extremely depleted suggesting that the oxygen is being displaced by something.

	The report states that there doesn’t appear to be any correlation between flow rates and barometric pressure, however, te highest recorded flow for each borehole was on the 2nd March, which was the only measurements taken during a low pressure event.  Guidance suggests that barometric pressure should be provided for two days before and two days after the monitoring, however, as this information has not been provided she is unable to confirm whether this low pressure recording was taken during falling barometric pressure as guidance suggests it should for a worst case scenario, however, it does seem to suggest that barometric pressure is having an impact on the flow rate contrary to what is stated in the report (paragraph 3.4.2). Whilst tide heights have been included in the data table that were sourced from tidetimes.co.uk, there is no interpretation of whether or not the monitoring was carried out during high or low tide using this data.  

	In order to demonstrate a worst case scenario the monitoring should be targeting at least one visit during a high tide o a day of low barometric pressure. Whilst she acknowledges that the borehole itself could be creating a pathway to the underlying peat deposits, which could also be the source of methane, however, piled foundations are likely to act in a similar way. It is accepted that the report has identified this pathway, however, she considers that this pollutant linkage in the Conceptual Site Model does not support the argument to remove the data from BH3.  The report hasn’t calculated a site specific gas screening value for the site as required to identify a characteristic situation for the gas regime.  

	For the reasons outlined above, additional information is required to be satisfied that the risk from ground gas has bee adequately characterised. As a consequence it is recommended that conditions in respect of an assessment of contamination, remediation scheme, verification report and unexpected contamination are imposed. 

	Drainage

	The development will require SABS approval and is to be incorporated as an intrinsic part of the site layout a sustainabe drainage system, which will both deliver in terms of drainage, but also enhance biodiversity and create landscape value and diversity within this site. 

	This is to be consented as part of a separate consenting process by the Authority’s SABs approval body. 

	Welsh Water advises that the site is crossed by a 1000mm combined public sewer  and it appears the proposed development ould be situated outside the protection zone of the public sewer measured 5 metres either side of the centreline which indicates proposals to discharge foul and surface water flows to existing private networks and in principle offer no objection subject to the imposition of a condition requiring the foul drainage system to be completed prior to occupation and that no further surface water or land drainage shall connect to the public sewerage system. 

	However, based on the integration of this sustainable drainage system into the site layout, and in enhancing the biodivesity of the site, it is considered that the proposals accord with the overarching sustainability principles set within Planning Policy Wales, and the Local Development Plan. 

	Flooding 

	In considering the principle of development a material consideration is the sites location within zone C1. Within Zone C development can take place subject to application of a justification test, including acceptability of consequences. The proposed use is considered to be a less vulnerable development as it is employment B1. 

	The justification tests set out in TAN: 15 are as follows: 

	i. “Its location in zone C is necessary to assist, or be part of, a local authority regeneration initiative or a local athority strategy required to sustain an existing settlement1; or, 

	ii. Its location in zone C is necessary to contribute to key employment objectives supported by the local authority, andother key partners, to sustain an existing settlement or region; 

	and, 

	iii. It concurs with the aims of PPW and meets the definition of previously developed land (PPW fig 2.; )and, 

	iv. The potential consequences of a flooding event for the particular type of development have been considered, and in trms of the criteria contained in sections 5 and 7 and appendix 1 found to be acceptable.” 

	The site is allocated for employment use, the development of which is necessary to assist in the local authority’s stratgy for regeneration and to sustain an existing land use. The proposal will contribute to key employment objectives providing approximately 250 full time equivalent jobs. The proposal concurs with the aims of PPW10 particularly the aims set out in section 5 relating to productive and enterprising places. The section highlights that wherever possible, planning authorities should encourage and support developments which generate economic prosperity and regeneration. The proposal will also be supportive towards business clustering locating businesses, often, high technology, innovative or research and development-based companies within close proximity to each other for mutual benefit. Whilst the proposal is not located on previously developed land it is within an area designated for employment use.

	The potential consequences of a flooding event for the particular type of development have been fully considered in the ubmitted Flood Consequences Assessment (FCA) and which has been assessed by NRW who have advised that based on the latest modelled flood information they hold for this location, the site is considered to be free from fluvial flooding in the1% (1 in 100 year), 1% (1 in 100 year) +CC and 0.1% (1 in 1000 year) annual probability fluvial flood outline. The site is also considered to be free from tidal flood risk in the 0.1% (1 in 1000 year) +CC annual probability tidal flood outline, as a consequence they have raised no objection with regards to fluvial and tidal flood risk.

	As such the proposal is considered to comply with the justification tests and acceptability criteria and is in accord wih the advice contained within TAN 15. 

	Biodiversity and Ecology. 

	Technical Advice Note 5: Nature Conservation and Planning states that:

	Biodiversity, conservation and enhancement is an integral part of planning for sustainable development. The planning sysem has an important part to play in nature conservation. The use and development of land can pose threats to the conservation of natural features and wildlife. Past changes have contributed to the loss of integrity of habitat networks through land-take, fragmentation, severance, disturbance, hydrological changes and adverse impacts.

	But development can also present significant opportunities to enhance wildlife habitats and enjoyment and understanding f the natural heritage. The planning system needs to be watchful of the cumulative effects of a series of small, perhaps occasional, apparently insignificant losses from the natural world, which can combine to seriously deplete the natural heritage, including essential hydrological and ecological system; small scale opportunities for habitat creation and enhancement can be significant and can build into major contributions over time.

	In addition, it states that the development control process is a critical stage in delivering the protection and enhanceent of nature conservation by PPW. The following can help to achieve these objectives:

	 Adopting the five point approach to decision-making- information, avoidance, mitigation, compensation and new benefits

	 Ensuring that planning applications are submitted with adequate information, using early negotiation, checklists, requrng ecological surveys and appropriate consultation;

	 Securing necessary measures to protect, enhance, mitigate and compensate through planning conditions and obligations;

	 Carrying out effective enforcement;

	 Identifying ways to build nature conservation into the design of the development.

	TAN 5 confirms that through the use of conditions, the delivery of a number of positive benefits to biodiversity beyond hose of simply avoiding adverse effects as possible, including:

	 The submission and agreement of a landscape scheme so that greater attention can be given to issues such as species copsition;

	 The maintenance of landscape planting for a five year period, or longer, where the need for this can be justified;

	 Habitat enhancement;

	 The restoration and aftercare of a site where a positive approach to restoration and after-use required by conditions a produce significant biodiversity benefits in terms of habitat creation and enhancement.

	The application is accompanied by an Ecological Assessment and Addendum which identified the following habitats to be prsent on the site:

	 Wet woodland/willow carr

	 Standing and running water

	 Tall herb, scrub and semi improved neutral grassland mosaic 

	 Semi improved neutral grassland; and 

	 Scrub

	The Assessment includes the results of surveys carried out in respect of the following:

	 Mammal Survey, specifically for otter, bats and check for badger

	 Reptile Survey 

	 Bird Survey 

	 Botanical Survey 

	In addition, a wild bird habitat and SINC/S7 and LBAP habitats and species survey has been carried out. 

	With regards to bats, the assessment states that there is potential to support foraging and commuting bats and recommend that the lighting scheme should be designed to minimize light spill on areas of woodland. There was no evidence of badgers on the site and the assessment concluded the site is unsuitable for sett formation. In addition, there is limited opportunity for Otters. Two species of reptile were recorded namely grass snake and common lizard. The Assessment recommends that an Ecological Clerk of Works is present on site during site clearance plus habitat mitigation including hibernacula creation will mitigate for the small loss in habitat. No fully protected bird species are known or suspected of breeding within the site, although suitable breeding habitat exists for Cetti’s Warbler in areas of marginal scrub. The areas of scrub are the most important breeding habitats for high priority species such as Song thrush Bullfinch. It is suggested that vegetation clearance only takes place between September and February.

	A small number of native bluebells were recorded in the mitigation area verges but such areas will remain unaffected by he development. No plant species of European significance or S7 and UK Plant Species were recorded. A 50% loss of grassland has been identified.

	The Biodiversity Officer has raised no objection subject to all work to be carried out in accordance with the Addendum t the Preliminary Ecological Assessment Update June 2020 and under the supervision of an Ecological Clerk of Works (ECW), two hibernacula and 10 artificial bird boxes being installed on site in agreement with the Ecological Clerk of Works. 

	Having regard to the above, it is considered that the proposals include appropriate mitigation measures and biodiversityenhancements and accords with PPW10, Technical Advice Note 5(Nature Conservation and Planning) and Policies SP15 (Biodiversity and Geodiversity), Policies ENV6 and ENV7 of the LDP.

	Trees

	A Tree Survey has been submitted in support of the application and provides a detailed assessment of the trees and hedgeows on the site. The Report identifies a small number of trees (2 individual trees and 5 small tree groups) and approximately 28 metres of hedgerow are to be removed to facilitate the development. Nearly all the trees to be removed are low quality trees (Category C). The removal of one blue category tree (Scots Pine) is proposed, but compensatory planting can mitigate its loss. It is considered that subject to compliance with the tree protection details outlined within the Report the development will not have an adverse impact on those trees which are to be retained. 

	The Aboricultural Officer has raised no objection to the proposal and advises that the submitted landscaping scheme and pecifications for this site includes adequate information on ground preparation, planting methods and post planting maintenance and meets the necessary criteria for a landscaping scheme of this size and type.

	Cultural Heritage Impact 

	Planning Policy Wales explains that it is important that the planning system looks to protect, conserve and enhance the ignificance of historic assets. This will include consideration of the setting of an historic asset which might extend beyond its curtilage. Any change that impacts on an historic asset or its setting should be managed in a sensitive and sustainable way.

	Technical Advice Note 24: The Historic Environment elaborates by explaining that when considering development proposals hat affect scheduled monuments or other nationally important archaeological remains, there should be a presumption in favour of their physical preservation in situ, i.e. a presumption against proposals which would involve significant alteration or cause damage, or would have a significant adverse impact causing harm within the setting of the remains.

	PPW also explains that local authorities should value, protect, conserve and enhance the special interests of parks and ardens and their settings included on the register of historic parks and gardens in Wales and that the effect of a proposed development on a registered park or garden or its setting should be a material consideration in the determination of a planning application.

	The submissions indicate the presence of 10 Scheduled Monuments and a Registered Park and Garden within 3km, but all aresufficiently distant to ensure there would be no impact on the settings of these designated heritage assets.

	It is noted that the site is located within a Mineral Safeguarding Area under Policy M1 of the adopted LDP (sandstone). olicy M1 looks to safeguard mineral resources as they are finite and any development will need to meet criteria which ensures they are not sterilised or their extraction hindered.

	For this development, it is considered that, given the site’s location within the settlement limits, it is very unlikelythat any mineral extraction would be acceptable in this location. Moreover, as identified above the site is within an allocated employment site which would indicate it would meet criterion 4 (overriding need for the development).

	Accordingly, there is no objection to the principle of development on mineral safeguarding / Policy M1 grounds.

	Renewable Energy in New Development

	Policy RE2 - Renewable energy and low Carbon development in new Development, requires proposals with a total floor spaceof 1,000 sq.m or more to submit an Energy Assessment to determine the feasibility of incorporating such a scheme and where viable implement the scheme.

	As such a Renewable Energy Assessment has been submitted as part of the application which concludes that the implementaton of passive design and energy efficiency measures, alongside the inclusion of a significant amount of PV, allows the building to achieve energy positive operation. The proposal would therefore comply with Policy RE2 of the Neath Port Talbot Local Development Plan.

	Waste Management

	Policy W3 – Waste Management in New Development states it should be demonstrated that provision is made for the design, ayout storage and management of the waste generated by the development both during the construction phase and occupation. Industrial or commercial development proposals that would generate in excess of 1,000 tonnes of waste per annum will be required to produce a Site Waste Management Plan.

	A detailed Waste Management Plan has been submitted in support of the development, which would ensure the construction o the development complies with the requirements of this policy. Furthermore, details of the bin storage areas have been provided to ensure that the finished building complies with site waste management.

	Open Space 

	Policy OS1 (Open Space Provision) states that in the case of employment or commercial development proposals of over 1,00 sq.m, provision will be sought for associated amenity space.  The explanatory text emphasises (at 5.1.57) that this is to allow employees to access outdoor amenity space close to the workplace in the interests of health and well-being. 

	The submitted scheme provides for an amenity area of 88sq. m. located adjacent to the eastern elevation. The provision o this area is considered to meet the Policy requirements, albeit the provision and retention of this area (including provision of appropriate seating, access and any necessary privacy screening) will need to be conditioned.

	CONCLUSION

	The decision to recommend planning permission has been taken in accordance with Section 38 of The Planning and Compulsor Purchase Act 2004, which requires that, in determining a planning application the determination must be in accordance with the Development Plan unless material considerations indicate otherwise.  The Development Plan comprises the Neath Port Talbot Local Development Plan (2011–2026) adopted January 2016.

	It is considered that the proposed development, represents an appropriate form of development that would have no unaccepable impact on highway and pedestrian safety, flooding, the setting of a scheduled ancient monument, foul and surface water discharges, or ecological issues. Hence, the proposed development would be in accordance with Policies SP1, SP2, SP3, SP4, SP5, SP11, SP15, SP16, SP17, SP18, SP19, SP20, SC1, I1, OS1, EC2, EC3, EC4, EN6, EN7, M1, M2, RE2, W3, TR2 and BE1 of the Neath Port Talbot Local Development Plan.

	RECOMMENDATION: 		Approval with conditions

	Time Limit Conditions

	(1)The development hereby permitted shall be begun before the expiration of five years from the date of this permission.
	Reason

	To comply with the requirements of Section 91 of the Town and Country Planning Act 1990.

	Approved Plans

	(2) The development shall be carried out in accordance with the following approved plans and documents:

	Site Location Plan  - 26X003-IBI-ZZ-XX-DR-A-10-0002 P02 Site Plan 26X003-URB-XX-XX-DR-L-90-0002-P07 (003)

	Landscape Masterplan - 26X003-URB-XX-XX-DR-L-90-0001 P07 

	Sitewide Landscape Masterplan - 26X003-URB-XX-XX-DR-L-90-0002 P07 

	Soft Landscape Plan 1 of 3 - 26X003-URB-XX-XX-DR-L-90-0005 P07 

	Soft Landscape Plan 2 of 3 - 26X003-URB-XX-XX-DR-L-90-0006 P07 

	Soft Landscape Plan 3 of 3 - 26X003-URB-XX-XX-DR-L-90-0007 P067

	Master Plant Schedule - 26X003-URB-XX-XX-SH-L-90-0008 P04 

	Tree Retention/ Removal Plan 1 of 3 - 26X003-URB-XX-XX-DR-L-90-0010 P07 

	Tree Retention/ Removal Plan 2 of 3 - 26X003-URB-XX-XX-DR-L-90-0011 P07

	Tree Retention/ Removal Plan 3 of 3 - 26X003-URB-XX-XX-DR-L-90-0012 P07 

	Tree Pit Detail - 26X003-URB-XX_XX-DR-L-90-0015 P02 

	Tree Pit Plan 

	26X003-URB-XX_XX-DR-L-90-0016 P04 - Hard Landscape Plan 1 of 2 

	26X003-URB-XX_XX-DR-L-90-0020 P03 - Hard Landscape Plan 2 of 2 

	26X003-URB-XX_XX-DR-L-90-0021 P03 - Hard Surface Details 

	26X003-URB-XX_XX-DR-L-90-0022 P03 - Edging Plan 

	26X003-URB-XX_XX-DR-L-90-0023 P02 - Street Furniture Plan 

	26X003-URB-XX_XX-DR-L-90-0025 P03 - Street Furniture Details 

	26X003-URB-XX_XX-DR-L-90-0026 P03 - Fencing Plan 

	26X003-URB-XX_XX-DR-L-90-0030 P03 - Ecology Plan 

	26X003-URB-XX_XX-DR-L-90-0035 P03 - Elevations Sheet 1 

	26X003-IBI-ZZ-EL-DR-A-25-0505 P02 - Elevations Sheet 2 

	26X003-IBI-ZZ-EL-DR-A-25-0506 P02 - Bin Enclosure Plan 

	26X003-IBI-ZZ-XX-DR-A-25-0503 P02 - Plant Enclosure Plan 

	26X003-IBI-XX-DR-A-25-0511 P02 - Existing Innovation Centre Condenser Plan - 26X003-IBI-XX-DR-A-25-0512 P02 

	Site Section - 26X003-IBI-ZZ-SE-DR-A-25-0513 P02 

	Sections Sheet 1 - 26X003-IBI-ZZ-SE-DR-A-25-0507 P02 

	Sections Sheet 2 - 26X003-IBI-ZZ-SE-DR-A-25-0508 P02 

	Ground Floor Plan - 26X003-IBI-ZZ-00-DR-A-25-0500 P02 

	First Floor Plan - 26X003-IBI-ZZ-01-DR-A-25-0501 P02 

	Second Floor Plan - 26X003-IBI-ZZ-02-DR-A-25-0502 P02 

	Roof Plan - 26X003-IBI-ZZ-RF-DR-A-25-0504 P02

	Engineering Sections - 26X000-HYD-XX-XX-DR-C-90-0212 

	Engineering Plan - 26X000-HYD-XX-XX-DR-C-90-0500 P02 

	Drainage Plan - 26X000-HYD-XX-XX-DR-C-90-0600 P03 

	External Lighting Plan - 26X000-HYD-01-00-DR-E-63-0010 P04 

	Vision Splay Plan - 26X003-HYD-XX-XX-DR-C-90-2300

	Design and Access Statement Rev 2 - IBI 

	Planning Statement 

	PAC Report and Appendices 

	Construction Method Statement/ Project Execution Plan (Includes Pollution Prevention Plan and Piling Method Statement) 

	Phasing Plan 

	Site Waste Management Plan 

	Ground Conditions Desk Study 

	Geotechnical and Geo-environmental Report 

	Detailed Gas Risk Assessment 

	Flood Consequences Assessment 

	Baseline Noise Survey 

	Phase 1 Ecology Report 

	Addendum to Phase 1 Ecology Report 

	Tree Survey 

	Energy Assessment 

	Transport Assessment 

	Travel Plan 

	Reason

	In the interest of clarity.

	Pre-Commencement Conditions

	(3) Prior to any development commencing on site, the developer must do the following:-

	a)Notify the Local Planning Authority in writing that you intend to commence development by submitting a Formal Notice uder Article 24B of the Town and Country Planning (Development Management Procedure) (Wales) Order 2012 (DMPWO) in the form set out in Schedule 5A (a newly inserted Schedule) of the DMPWO (or in a form substantially to the like effect); and

	b)Display a Site Notice (as required by Section 71ZB of the 1990 Act) in the form set out in Schedule 5B (a newly insertd Schedule) of the DMPWO (or in a form substantially to the like effect), such Notice to be firmly affixed and displayed in a prominent place, be legible and easily visible, and be printed on durable material. Such Notice must thereafter be displayed at all times when development is being carried out.

	Reason:

	To comply with procedural requirements in accordance with Article 24B of the Town and Country Planning (Development Manaement Procedure) (Wales) Order 2012 (DMPWO) and Section 71ZB of the Town and Country Planning Act 1990.

	(4) Prior to the commencement of work on site, notwithstanding the submitted information, a scheme to assess the nature nd extent of any contamination shall be submitted to and agreed in writing with the Local Planning Authority. The investigation and risk assessment must be undertaken by competent persons in accordance with the following document:- Land Contamination: A Guide for Developers (WLGA, WAG & EAW, July 2012) and shall be submitted as a written report which shall include: 

	(i)a survey of the extent, scale and nature of contamination; 

	(ii)an assessment of the potential risks to: 

	• human health,

	• ground waters and surface waters

	• adjoining land,

	• property (existing or proposed) including buildings, crops, livestock, pets, woodland and service lines and pipes, • eological systems, • archaeological sites and ancient monuments; 

	(iii) an appraisal of remedial options, and proposal of the preferred remedial option(s). 

	Reason: 

	To ensure that risks from land contamination to the future users of the land and neighbouring land are minimised, togethr with those to controlled waters, property and ecological systems, and to ensure that the development can be carried out safely without unacceptable risks to workers, neighbours and other offsite receptors.

	(5) No development shall commence on site until a remediation scheme to bring the site to a condition suitable for the itended use by removing any unacceptable risks to human health, buildings, other property and the natural and historic environment shall be prepared and submitted to and agreed in writing with the Local Planning Authority. The scheme shall include all works to be undertaken, proposed remediation objectives, remediation criteria and site management procedures. The measures proposed within the remediation scheme shall be implemented in accordance with an agreed programme of works. 

	Reason: 

	To ensure that risks from land contamination to the future users of the land and neighbouring land are minimised, togethr with those to controlled waters, property and ecological systems, and to ensure that the development can be carried out safely without unacceptable risks to workers, neighbours and other offsite receptors, and to ensure compliance with Policies SP16 and EN8 of the Neath Port Talbot Local Development Plan

	Action Conditions

	. 

	(6) Prior to beneficial use of the proposed development commencing, a verification report which demonstrates the effectieness of the agreed remediation works carried out in accordance with condition 5 shall have been submitted to and agreed in writing by the Local Planning Authority. 

	Reason:	

	To ensure that risks from land contamination to the future users of the land and neighbouring land are minimised, togethr with those to controlled waters, property and ecological systems, and to ensure that the development can be carried out safely without unacceptable risks to workers, neighbours and other offsite receptors and to ensure compliance with Policies SP16 and EN8 of the Neath Port Talbot Local Development Plan.

	(7) Prior to their use in the construction of the development hereby permitted, details and/or samples of the materials o be used in the construction of the external surfaces of the development shall have been submitted to and approved in writing by the Local Planning Authority. Development shall be carried out in accordance with the approved details.

	Reason:

	In the interest of the visual amenity of the area and to ensure the development complies with Policy BE1 of the Neath Pot Talbot Local Development Plan.

	(8) No building shall be occupied until the foul drainage system for the site has been completed in accordance with the pproved details. Thereafter no further surface water and/or land drainage shall be allowed to connect directly or indirectly with the public sewerage system.

	Reason: 

	To prevent hydraulic overloading of the public sewerage system, to protect the health and safety of existing residents ad ensure no pollution of or detriment to the environment.

	(9) The landscaping works shall be carried out in accordance with the approved details during the first planting and seeing seasons immediately following the occupation of the building or the completion of the development, whichever is the sooner; and any trees or plants which within a period of 5 years from the completion of the development die, are removed or become seriously damaged or diseased shall be replaced in the next planting season with others of similar size and species. 

	Reason:

	In the interests of maintaining a suitable scheme of landscaping to protect the visual amenity of the area, to maintain he special qualities of the landscape and habitats through the protection, creation and enhancement of links between sites and their protection for amenity, landscape and biodiversity value, and to ensure the development complies with Policies SP15 and BE1 of the Neath Port Talbot Local Development Plan.

	(10) Prior to first beneficial use, a Landscape Management Plan, including management responsibilities and maintenance, or all landscaped areas shall have been submitted to and approved in writing by the Local Planning Authority. The landscape management plan shall be implemented and adhered to in accordance with the approved details thereafter.

	Reason:

	In the interest of visual amenity, and to ensure the long term management and maintenance of all landscaped areas that le outside of the curtilage of individual properties, and to ensure the development complies with Policies SP15 and BE1 of the Neath Port Talbot Local Development Plan.

	(11) All retained trees that may be directly affected by the proposed development, including encroachment into Root Protction Areas, shall be adequately protected as detailed in the Arboricultural Report by ArbTS. The erection of fencing for the protection of any retained tree shall be undertaken before any equipment, machinery or materials are brought on to the site for the purposes of the development, and shall be maintained until all equipment, machinery and surplus materials have been removed from the site. Nothing shall be stored or placed in any area fenced in accordance with this condition and the ground levels within those areas shall not be altered, nor shall any excavation be made, without the written consent of the local planning authority. 

	Reason:

	To ensure all existing trees are protected throughout the construction of the development, in the interest of visual ameity, and to ensure the development complies with Policies SP15 and BE1 of the Neath Port Talbot Local Development Plan.

	(12) The approved car parking scheme as detailed on Drg 26X003-URB-XX-XX-DR-L-90-0002-P07 (003) shall be completed and mrked out prior to the first beneficial occupation of any part of the development and shall remain available for such use in perpetuity. 

	Reason:

	In the interest of highway safety and to ensure the development complies with Policy TR2 of the Neath Port Talbot Local evelopment Plan. 

	(13) Prior to the installation of any external lighting at the site (including lighting used during the construction perod) a scheme of lighting - to include location and intensity of illumination - shall be submitted to and approved in writing by the Local Planning Authority.  The site shall thereafter only be lit in accordance with the agreed scheme.

	Reason:

	In the interest of amenity and to prevent any unacceptable light spillage in the interest of biodiversity and protected pecies, and to accord with Policies BE2 and SP15 of the adopted Neath Port Talbot Local Development Plan.

	(14) Prior to first beneficial use of the development hereby permitted the covered  cycle parking identified on  DrawingNo 26X003-URB-XX-XX-DR-L-90-0002-P07 (003) shall be provided and retained as such thereafter.

	Reason

	To ensure the promotion of sustainable means of transport.

	(15) Prior to the first beneficial use of the building the amenity area as shown on Drawing No 26X003-URB-XX-XX-DR-L-90-002-P07 (003) shall be provided together with any required seating and privacy screening and retained as such thereafter. 

	Reason 

	To ensure provision of outdoor amenity space for employees in accordance with Policy OS1 of the Local Development Plan,

	(16) In the event that contamination is found at any time when carrying out the approved development that was not previosly identified, work on site shall cease immediately and shall be reported in writing to the Local Planning Authority. A Desk Study, Site Investigation, Risk Assessment and where necessary a Remediation Strategy must be undertaken in accordance with the following document:- Land Contamination: A Guide for Developers (WLGA, WAG & EAW, July 2006). This document shall be submitted to and agreed in writing with the Local Planning Authority. Prior to occupation of the development, a verification report which demonstrates the effectiveness of the agreed remediation, shall be submitted to and agreed in writing with the Local Planning Authority. 

	Reason:	To ensure that risks from land contamination to the future users of the land and neighbouring land are minimised together with those to controlled waters, property and ecological systems, and to ensure that the development can be carried out safely without unacceptable risks to workers, neighbours and other off site receptors, and to ensure compliance with Policies SP16 and EN8 of the Neath Port Talbot Local Development Plan.

	(17) All works including the installation of 2 hibernacula and 10 artificicial bird boxes  shall be carried out in accorance with  the Addendum to the Preliminary Ecological Assessment June 2020 and under the supervission of an Ecological Clerk of Works 

	Reason:

	To ensure that the ecological mitigation is overseen by an appropriately competent ecologist, and to ensure the developmnt complies with Policy EN7 of the Neath Port Talbot Local Development Plan.

	Regulatory 

	(17)All development on site shall be undertaken strictly in accordance with the Construction Environmental Management Pln and the Baseline Noise Survey Report. 

	Reason:

	To protect the amenity of the locality, especially for people working nearby, in accordance with Policies BE1 and EN8 ofthe adopted Neath Port Talbot Local Development Plan.

	(18) The Travel Plan as approved shall be fully implemented so long as any part of the development is occupied. 

	Reason: 

	In the interests of promoting sustainable transport and to ensure the development complies with Policy SP20 of the NeathPort Talbot Local Development Plan. 



